PDF Version

[Printer-friendly - ideal for printing entire document]

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) – Early Consolidation

Published by Quickscribe Services Ltd.

Updated To: [includes B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1 amendments (effective September 1, 2023)]

Important: Printing multiple copies of a statute or regulation for the purpose of distribution without the written consent of Quickscribe Services Ltd. is strictly prohibited.

Quickscribe offers a convenient and economical updating service for those who wish to maintain a current collection of hard copy legislation. Go to www.quickscribe.bc.ca/hardcopy/ for more details.

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) – Early Consolidation

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

[includes B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1 amendments (effective September 1, 2023)]

Contents

PART 1 – Interpretation

Rule 1-1 – Interpretation

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Interpretation Act and Supreme Court Act
- 3. Titles and headings
- 4. Reference aids

Rule 1-2 – Citation and Application

- 1. Citation
- 2. Application
- 3. Waiver of rule by agreement
- 4. Petitions and applications
- 5. Enactments of Canada

Rule 1-3 – Object of Rules

- 1. Object
- 2. Proportionality

PART 2 – How To Make A Claim

Rule 2-1 – Choosing the Correct Form of Proceeding

- 1. Commencing proceedings by notice of civil claim
- 2. Commencing proceedings by petition or requisition
- 2.1 Estate proceedings
- 3. Procedures applicable to particular proceedings

Rule 2-2 – Tribunal Awards

- 1. Definition
- 2. Tribunal awards may be filed
- 3. Filing tribunal awards

PART 3 – Proceedings Started By Filing A Notice of Civil Claim

Rule 3-1 – Notice of Civil Claim

- 1. Notice of civil claim
- 2. Contents of notice of civil claim

Rule 3-2 – Serving and Renewing the Notice of Civil Claim

- 1. Renewal of original notice of civil claim
- 2. Further renewal of notice of civil claim
- 3. When renewal period begins
- 4. After renewal of notice of civil claim

Rule 3-3 – Responding to a Notice of Civil Claim

- 1. Filing a response to civil claim
- 2. Contents of response to civil claim
- 3. Period for filing response to civil claim
- 4. Payment into court when tender pleaded
- 5. Costs if defence of tender successful
- 6. Application for money paid into court
- 7. Tender in defamation action
- 8. Consequence if fact not responded to

Rule 3-4 – Counterclaim

- 1. Counterclaim
- 2. Counterclaim against another person
- 3. Identification of parties
- 4. Service of counterclaim
- 5. Response to counterclaim
- 6. Application of rules
- 7. If action stayed or discontinued
- 7.1 Separate trial of counterclaim
- 8. Judgment

Rule 3-5 – Third Party Claims

- 1. Making a third party claim
- 1.1 Plaintiff as defendant to counterclaim
- 2. Third party need not be party to original action
- 3. Pursuing a third party claim
- 4. When leave is required
- 5. Court may consider case plan order
- 6. Application for leave
- 7. Service
- 8. Application to set aside third party notice
- 9. Response to third party notice

- 10. When response to third party notice not required
- 11. Application of rules
- 12. Response to civil claim
- 13. Application for directions
- 14. Powers of court
- 15. Third party issues
- 16. Default of response to third party notice
- 17. Relief

Rule 3-6 – Reply

- 1. Service of reply
- 2. Pleading subsequent to reply
- 3. Failure to reply
- 4. No joinder of issue

Rule 3-7 – Pleadings Generally

Content of Pleadings

- 1. Pleading must not contain evidence
- 2. Documents and conversations
- 3. When presumed facts need not be pleaded
- 4. When performance of a condition precedent need not be pleaded
- 5. Matters arising since start of proceeding
- 6. Inconsistent allegations
- 7. Alternative allegations
- 8. Objection in point of law
- 9. Pleading conclusions of law
- 10. Status admitted
- 11. Set-off or counterclaim
- 12. Pleading after the notice of civil claim
- 13. General relief
- 14. General damages must not be pleaded
- 15. Substance to be answered
- 16. Denial of contract
- 17. Allegation of malice

Particulars

- 18. When particulars necessary
- 19. Lengthy particulars
- 20. Further particulars
- 21. Particulars in libel or slander
- 22. Order for particulars

- 23. Demand for particulars
- 24. Demand for particulars not a stay of proceedings

Rule 3-8 – Default Judgment

- 1. Default in filing and serving a response to civil claim
- 2. Filings required

Claims for Which Default Judgment Is Available

- 3. Claim for specified or ascertainable amount
- 4. Interest
- 5. Claim for damages to be assessed
- 6. Claim for detention of goods
- 7. Repealed
- 8. Application to judge or master
- 9. Judgment in other actions
- 10. Application for judgment
- 11. Court may set aside or vary default judgment

Assessments

- 12. Method of assessment
- 13. Alternative methods of assessment

PART 4 – Service

Rule 4-1 – Address for Service

- 1. Required addresses for service of party represented by lawyer
- 1.1 Required addresses for service of unrepresented party
- 2. Additional addresses for service
- 3. Change of address for service

Rule 4-2 – Ordinary Service

- 1. Documents normally to be served by ordinary service
- 2. How to serve documents by ordinary service
- 3. When service by delivery is deemed to be completed
- 4. When service by mail is deemed to be completed
- 5. When documents may be served by fax
- 6. When service by fax or e-mail is deemed to be completed
- 7. If no address for service given
- 8. Request for copy of document served by e-mail

Rule 4-3 – Personal Service

1. When documents must be served by personal service

- 2. How to serve documents by personal service
- 3. Agent may be served
- 4. Court may grant leave
- 5. Notice to principal
- 6. Service on Attorney General
- 7. When personal service is deemed to be completed
- 8. Date of deemed service

Rule 4-4 – Alternative Methods of Service

- 1. Alternative service methods
- 2. If an alternative service method is permitted
- 3. Service by advertisement

Rule 4-5 – Service outside British Columbia

- 1. Service outside British Columbia without leave
- 2. Required endorsement
- 3. Application for leave to serve outside the jurisdiction
- 4. Applications may be made without notice
- 5. Service of order and related documents
- 6. If service without leave valid
- 7. Contract containing terms for service
- 8. Contract does not invalidate effective service
- 9. Definition
- 10. Manner of service abroad
- 11. Proof of service abroad
- 12. Forms
- 13. Certificate

Rule 4-6 – Proving Service

- 1. Proof of service
- 2. Proof of service by sheriff
- 3. Service on member of Canadian Armed Forces
- 4. Admissibility of other evidence of service

Rule 4-7 – Relief

1. If service is alleged to be ineffective

PART 5 – Case Planning

Rule 5-1 – Requesting a Case Planning Conference

- 1. Case planning conference may be requested
- 2. Case planning conference may be directed
- 3. Time for service of notice

- 4. Application must be made by requisition
- 5. Case plan proposal required
- 6. Contents of case plan proposal

Rule 5-2 – Conduct of Case Planning Conference

- 1. Case planning conference must be conducted by judge or master
- 2. Who must attend
- 3. Manner of attendance
- 4. Application must be made by requisition
- 5. Considerations of the court
- 6. Non-attendance at case planning conference
- 7. Proceedings must be recorded

Rule 5-3 – Case Planning Conference Orders

- 1. Orders
- 2. Prohibited orders
- 3. Case plan order required
- 4. Case plan order
- 5. When approval in writing by lawyer not required
- 6. Consequences of non-compliance
- 7. Application may be made at case planning conference
- 8. Amendments to case plan orders

Rule 5-4 – Repealed

1. (1) to (3) Repealed

PART 6 – Amendment of Pleadings and Change of Parties

Rule 6-1 – Amendment of Pleadings

- 1. When pleadings may be amended
- 2. How amendments made
- 3. Identifying amendments
- 4. Service of amended documents
- 5. Response of a party to amended document
- 6. Failure to serve amended responding document
- 7. Responding to amended pleading
- 8. Amendment at trial

Rule 6-2 – Change of Parties

Change of Party Status or Interest

1. Party ceasing to exist

- 2. Effect of death
- 3. Assignment or conveyance of interest
- 4. Change or transmission of interest or liability
- 5. Prosecution of proceeding if plaintiff or petitioner dies
- 6. Costs on dismissal

Change of Parties

- 7. Adding, removing or substituting parties by order
- 8. Procedure if party added, removed or substituted by order
- 9. If case plan order in effect
- 9.1 Application without notice

General

- 10. Consent required
- 11. Effect of order

PART 7 – Procedures For Ascertaining Facts

Rule 7-1 – Discovery and Inspection of Documents

- 1. List of documents
- 2. Documents to be enumerated
- 3. Insurance policy
- 4. Information not to be disclosed
- 5. Insurance policy
- 6. Claim for privilege
- 7. Nature of privileged documents to be described
- 8. Affidavit verifying list of documents
- 9. Amending the list of documents
- 10. Party may demand documents required under this rule
- 11. Party may demand additional documents
- 12. Response to demand for documents
- 13. Application for production of documents
- 14. Court may alter requirements
- 15. Inspection of documents
- 16. Copies of documents
- 17. Order to produce document
- 18. Documents not in possession of party
- 19. Order by consent
- 20. Inspection of document by court
- 21. Party may not use document
- 22. Determination of issue before discovery

Rule 7-2 – Examinations for Discovery

- 1. Examination of parties
- 2. Limitations
- 3. Considerations of the court
- 4. Oral examination on oath
- 5. Examination of party that is not an individual
- 6. Examination of person for whose benefit action brought
- 7. Examination of assignor
- 8. Examination of guardian and infants
- 9. Examination of mentally incompetent person
- 10. Examination of bankrupt
- 11. Place
- 12. Examination before reporter
- 13. Service of notice
- 14. Person must attend examination
- 15. Fees must not be attached
- 16. Production of documents
- 17. Examination and re-examination
- 18. Scope of examination
- 19. Scope includes insurance
- 20. Information not to be disclosed
- 21. Insurance policy
- 22. Person must inform self
- 23. Response may be provided by letter
- 24. If letter provided
- 25. Objections
- 26. How recorded
- 27. Application to persons outside British Columbia
- 28. Service of order and notice

Rule 7-3 – Discovery by Interrogatories

- 1. Party may serve interrogatories by consent or with leave
- 2. If a party is a body of persons
- 3. Powers of court
- 4. Timing of answer to interrogatories
- 5. If more than one person to answer interrogatories
- 6. Objection to answer interrogatory
- 7. Insufficient answer to interrogatory
- 8. Application to strike out interrogatory
- 9. Service of interrogatories on lawyer
- 10. Lawyer must inform
- 11. Continuing obligation to answer

Rule 7-4 – Repealed

1. 1. to 4. Repealed

Rule 7-5 – Pre-trial Examination of Witness

- 1. Order for examination
- 2. Expert
- 3. Affidavit in support of application
- 4. Application procedure
- 5. Subpoena
- 6. Identification of documents and objects
- 7. Notice of examination
- 8. Mode of examination
- 9. Time for examination
- 10. Application of examination for discovery rules

Rule 7-6 – Physical Examination and Inspection

- 1. Order for medical examination
- 2. Subsequent examinations
- 3. Questions by examiner
- 4. Order for inspection and preservation of property
- 5. Entry on land or building
- 6. Application to persons outside British Columbia

Rule 7-7 – Admissions

- 1. Notice to admit
- 2. Effect of notice to admit
- 3. Copy of document to be attached
- 4. Unreasonable refusal to admit
- 5. Withdrawal of admission
- 6. Application for order on admissions

Rule 7-8 – Depositions

- 1. Examination of person
- 2. Examination of person
- 3. Grounds for order
- 4. Time limits
- 5. Subpoena
- 6. Identification of documents and objects
- 7. Place of examination
- 8. Application of rule outside British Columbia
- 9. If person willing to testify
- 10. If person not willing to testify

- 11. Letter of request
- 12. Filing of undertaking
- 13. Notice of examination
- 14. Mode of examination
- 15. Objection to question
- 16. Recording of deposition evidence
- 17. Preserving testimony

PART 8 – Applications

Rule 8-1 – How to Bring and Respond to Applications

- 1. Definition
- 2. How applications must be brought
- 3. Notice of application
- 4. Contents of notice of application
- 5. Date and time of hearing
- 6. Date and time if hearing time more than 2 hours
- 7. Service of application materials
- 8. Time for service
- 9. Application response
- 10. Contents of application response
- 11. Address for service
- 12. Repealed
- 13. Applicant may respond
- 14. No additional affidavits
- 15. Application record
- 16. Written argument
- 17. Service of application record index
- 18. If application respondent's application is to be heard at the hearing
- 19. Application record to be returned
- 20. Application record to be returned to the registry
- 21. Provision of amended application record
- 21.1 Resetting adjourned applications
- 22. Application respondent may apply for directions

Rule 8-2 – Place Application is Heard

- 1. Place of hearing of application
- 2. If more than one place
- 3. If place of hearing is a place other than that at which the proceeding is being conducted
- 4. Place of hearing of application with leave of registrar
- 5. Notice of application must be endorsed to reflect grant of leave

- 6. If place of hearing is a place chosen with leave of registrar
- 7. 7. to 8. Repealed

Rule 8-3 – Consent Applications

- 1. Application by consent
- 2. Consent order
- 3. Disposition of referred applications

Rule 8-4 – Applications of Which Notice is Not Required

- 1. Application of which notice is not required
- 2. 2. to 3. Repealed

Rule 8-5 – Urgent Applications

When Applications May Be Heard on Short Notice

- 1. Short notice
- 2. How to make a short notice application
- 3. Normal time and notice rules do not apply
- 4. Powers of court on short notice application
- 5. Effect of short notice order

When Applications May Be Heard without Any Notice

- 6. Orders without notice
- 7. Service of orders required
- 8. Setting aside orders made without notice

Rule 8-6 – Applications Made by Written Submissions

1. Application made by written submissions

PART 9 – Pre-Trial Resolution Procedures

Rule 9-1 – Offers to Settle

- 1. Definition
- Offer not to be disclosed
- 3. Offer not an admission
- 4. Offer may be considered in relation to costs
- 5. Cost options
- 6. Considerations of court
- 7. Costs for settlement in cases within small claims jurisdiction
- 8. Counter offer

Rule 9-2 – Settlement Conferences

1. Settlement conference

- 2. Proceedings must be recorded
- 3. When judge must not preside

Rule 9-3 – Special Case

- 1. Statement of special case
- 2. Court may order special case
- 3. Form of special case
- 4. Hearing of special case
- 5. Order after hearing of special case

Rule 9-4 – Proceedings on a Point of Law

- 1. Point of law may be set down for hearing
- 2. Court may dispose of whole action

Rule 9-5 – Striking Pleadings

- 1. Scandalous, frivolous or vexatious matters
- 2. Admissibility of evidence
- 3. Powers of registrar
- 4. Reconsideration of order

Rule 9-6 – Summary Judgment

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Application
- 3. Response to application
- 4. Application by answering party
- 5. Power of court
- 6. Claiming party may proceed
- 7. Costs consequences
- 8. Court may decline to fix costs
- 9. Bad faith or delay

Rule 9-7 – Summary Trial

- 1. Definition
- 2. Application
- 3. When application must be heard
- 4. Setting application for hearing
- 5. Evidence on application
- 6. Application of Rule 12-5
- 7. Application of Rule 11-6
- 7.1 Repealed
- 8. Filings with application
- 9. Notice of evidence to be used on application
- 10. Giving notice

- 11. Adjournment or dismissal
- 12. Preliminary orders
- 13. Ancillary or preliminary orders may be made at or before application
- 14. Judge not seized of application
- 15. Judgment
- 16. No further application without leave
- 17. Orders
- 18. Right to vary or set aside order
- 19. Order if jury notice filed

Rule 9-8 – Discontinuance and Withdrawal

- 1. Discontinuance before action set for trial
- 2. Discontinuance after action set for trial
- 3. Withdrawal by defendant
- 4. Costs and default procedure on discontinuance or withdrawal
- 5. Third party entitled to costs
- 6. Some costs remain recoverable
- 7. Proceeding after response is withdrawn
- 8. Discontinuance not a defence
- 9. Application to counterclaim, third party proceeding and petition.

PART 10 – Property and Injunctions

Rule 10-1 – Detention, Preservation and Recovery of Property

- 1. Property that is the subject matter of a proceeding
- 2. Fund that is the subject matter of a proceeding
- 3. Allowance of income from property
- 4. Recovery of specific property
- 5. Compensation for wrongful recovery

Rule 10-2 – Receivers

- 1. Appointment of receiver
- 2. Form of security
- 3. Remuneration of receiver
- 4. Accounts of receiver

Rule 10-3 – Interpleader

- 1. Entitlement to relief by way of interpleader
- 2. Claim to real or personal property taken by sheriff
- 3. Sheriff to deliver notice
- 4. If claim admitted
- 5. Sheriff may apply for interpleader relief
- 6. Mode of application

- 7. Affidavit
- 8. Application for interpleader relief
- 9. Powers of court on hearing application

Rule 10-4 – Injunctions

- 1. Applications for pre-trial injunctions
- 2. Applications for pre-trial injunctions before proceeding started
- 3. Applications for interim injunctions without notice
- 4. Injunction by court order
- 5. Undertaking as to damages
- 6. Application for injunction after judgment

PART 11 – Experts

Rule 11-1 – Application of Part 11

- 1. Application of this Part
- 2. Case plan order

Rule 11-2 – Duty of Expert Witnesses

- 1. Duty of expert witness
- 2. Advice and certification

Rule 11-3 – Appointment of Joint Experts

- 1. Appointment agreement
- 2. Appointment by parties
- 3. Application to court
- 4. Application materials
- 5. Powers of court
- 6. Agreement
- 7. Role of expert appointed under this rule
- 8. Notice of application
- 9. Additional experts
- 10. Cross examination
- 11. Common experts

Rule 11-4 – Appointment of Own Experts

1. When each party may retain their own experts

Rule 11-5 – Appointment of Court's Own Expert

- 1. Appointment of experts by court
- 2. Materials required by court
- 3. Court may name different expert
- 4. Expert must consent

- 5. Previous report not a bar
- 6. Consequences of court appointment
- 7. Directions to expert
- 8. Contents of order appointing expert
- 9. Remuneration of expert
- 10. Security for remuneration
- 11. Reports
- 12. Report must be tendered as evidence

Rule 11-6 – Expert Reports

- 1. Requirements for report
- 2. Proof of qualifications
- 3. Service of report
- 4. Service of responding report
- 5. Supplementary report of joint or court-appointed expert
- 6. Supplementary report of own expert
- 7. Requirements for supplementary report
- 8. Production of documents
- 9. Notice of trial date to expert
- 10. Notice of objection to expert opinion evidence
- 11. When objection not permitted

Rule 11-7 – Expert Opinion Evidence at Trial

- 1. Reports must be prepared and served in accordance with rules
- 2. When report stands as evidence
- 3. Cross-examination of expert
- 4. Costs of cross-examination
- 5. Restrictions on calling expert as witness at trial
- 6. When court may dispense with requirement of this Part

Rule 11-8 – Repealed

1. (1) to (12) Repealed

PART 12 – Trial

Rule 12-1 – How to Set Trial for Hearing

- 1. Application
- 2. Notice of trial
- 3. Content of notice of trial
- 4. Registry
- 5. Place of trial
- 6. When notice of trial must be served

- 7. If trial date unacceptable
- 8. Time of trial
- 9. Court may make orders respecting trial dates
- 10. Duty to inform registry

Rule 12-1.1 – Trial Brief

- 1. Plaintiff must file trial brief
- 2. Other parties of record must file trial brief
- 3. Plaintiff may file amended trial brief
- 4. Failure to file or serve trial brief
- 5. Trial removed from trial list
- 6. Witness list must be amended
- 7. Person named in witness list need not testify
- 8. New trial briefs required if trial rescheduled

Rule 12-2 – Trial Management Conference

- 1. When trial management conference is required
- 1.1 Date and place of trial management conference
- 2. Trial management conference must be conducted by judge
- 3. (3) to (3.6) Repealed
- 4. Who must attend the trial management conference
- 5. Absent parties must be available and accessible by telephone or other means
- 6. Application must be made by requisition
- 7. Non-attendance at trial management conference
- 8. Proceedings must be recorded
- 9. Orders at a trial management conference
- 10. When approval in writing by lawyer not required
- 11. Prohibited orders

Rule 12-3 – Trial Record

- 1. Trial record for the court
- 2. Powers of registrar respecting trial records
- 3. Filing and service of trial record
- 4. Amended trial record
- 5. Direction as to trial record

Rule 12-4 – Trial Certificate

- 1. Trial certificate
- 2. When trial certificate must be filed
- 3. What trial certificate must contain
- 4. Service
- 5. Failure to file
- 6. Applications prohibited

Rule 12-5 – Evidence and Procedure at Trial

1. Application

Proof of Facts and Documents

- 2. Court may vary order
- 3. Failure to prove a material fact

No Evidence and Insufficient Evidence Applications

- 4. No evidence application
- 5. Defendant need not elect whether to call evidence
- 6. Insufficient evidence application
- 7. Defendant must elect not to call evidence

Documentary and Other Exhibits

- 8. Notice to produce
- 9. Numbering exhibit pages
- 10. Opportunity to inspect exhibit
- 11. Registrar to take charge of exhibits
- 12. Return of exhibits
- 13. Other returns
- 14. Disposal of exhibits after final disposition
- 15. Notice respecting disposal of exhibits before final disposition
- 16. Disposal of exhibits before final disposition
- 17. If exhibit disposed of
- 18. If exhibit destroyed

Adverse Witnesses

- 19. "Adverse party" defined
- 20. Adverse witness
- 21. Notice to call adverse witness
- 22. Exceptions
- 23. Application to set notice aside
- 24. Court may make order
- 25. Refusal to comply with notice
- 26. Adverse party as witness may be cross-examined

Rules Applicable to All Witnesses

- 27. Witness to testify orally
- 28. Witness must be listed in witness list
- 29. Examination of witnesses
- 30. Any party may contradict testimony
- 31. Party may prepare and serve subpoena

- 32. Form of subpoena
- 33. Subpoena not to be filed or sealed
- 34. Service of subpoena
- 35. Fees to accompany subpoena
- 36. Production of documents and physical objects
- 37. Order for attendance of witness in custody
- 38. Failure of witness to attend, etc.
- 39. Order setting aside subpoena

Deposition Evidence

- 40. Use of deposition evidence
- 41. Use of videotape or film
- 42. Certified transcript
- 43. Video recording of deposition evidence
- 44. Video recording of evidence becomes exhibit
- 45. Deposition to be given in full

Evidence from Examinations for Discovery

- 46. Persons against whom discovery evidence is admissible
- 47. Notice required of evidence
- 48. Attendance at trial may be required
- 49. Court may consider whole examination
- 50. Discovery evidence of person under disability
- 51. Transcripts of discovery evidence

Pre-trial Examinations

- 52. Use of pre-trial examination of a witness
- 53. Court may consider whole pre-trial examination

Transcripts and Interrogatories

- 54. Use of transcript of other proceedings
- 55. Transcript for the court
- 56. Objection to transcript evidence at trial
- 57. Custody of transcripts
- 58. Use of interrogatories at trial

Evidence Given by Affidavit

- 59. Affidavit evidence
- 60. Copy of affidavit must be furnished
- 61. Cross-examination
- 62. Court may extend or abridge time to require witness attendance
- 63. Contents
- 64. Cross-examination not limited

65. Costs where attendance unnecessary

Trial Procedures

- 66. Trial with assessor
- 67. Trial of one question before others
- 68. Trial by different modes of trial
- 69. Calculation of amount by officer of the court
- 70. Use of recording device
- 71. Evidence of particular facts
- 72. Order of speeches
- 73. Court may make order respecting submissions
- 74. Clerk to note time of trial

Failure to Attend

- 75. Failure of all parties to appear at trial
- 76. Failure of one party to appear at trial
- 77. Court may set aside judgment

Rule 12-6 – Jury Trials

- 0.1 0.1 to 0.4 Repealed
- 1. Trial without jury generally
- 2. Trial without jury in certain proceedings
- 3. Notice requiring jury trial
- 4. Jury notice not to prevent transfer of proceeding
- 5. Court may refuse jury trial
- 6. No application for judgment necessary
- 7. Judgment impossible on jury findings
- 8. Only partial judgment possible on jury findings
- 9. Jury failing to reach verdict
- 10. Retrial
- 11. Continuing trial without jury
- 12. Trial may continue without jury

PART 13 – Orders

Rule 13-1 – Orders

- 1. Drawing and approving orders
- 1.1 Service of order drawn up by party and signing instructions
- 1.2 Time limit for approving or objecting to order drawn up by party
- 1.3 Approval not required after non-compliance
- 1.4 Entry of order after non-compliance
- 2. When approval in writing not required
- 3. Form of order

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- 4. Endorsement of order on application sufficient in certain cases
- 5. Order granted conditionally on document to be filed
- 6. Waiver of order obtained on condition
- 7. Order of judge or master
- 8. Date of order
- 9. Approval of order
- 10. Requirement of consent order
- 11. Settlement of orders
- 12. Appointment to settle
- 13. Party failing to attend on appointment to settle
- 14. Review of settlement
- 15. Registrar may draw order
- 16. Special directions for entry or service
- 17. Correction of orders
- 18. Opinions, advice and directions of the court
- 19. Orders on terms and conditions

Rule 13-2 – Enforcement of Orders

- 1. Order to pay money to a person
- 2. Order to pay money into court
- 3. Order for recovery or delivery of land
- 4. Order for recovery or delivery of property other than land
- 5. Appointment of receiver
- 6. Execution by or against person not a party
- 7. Remedy on non-compliance with mandatory order
- 8. Issue of execution on conditional order
- 9. Order when right to relief has arisen
- 10. Issue of execution on change of parties
- 11. Production of order before execution
- 12. Endorsement of writ
- 13. Issue of writ of sequestration, possession or delivery
- 14. Issue of writ of execution if order to pay money within a period
- 15. Issue of writ of execution
- 16. When writ of execution is issued
- 17. Copy of writ of execution must be left with registry
- 18. Term of writ of execution
- 19. Renewal of writ of execution
- 20. Hearing of writ of execution
- 21. Writ of execution to be endorsed
- 22. Enforcement costs
- 23. Registrar may fix amount
- 24. Assessments and accounting

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- 25. Registrar may certify on accounting
- 26. Certificate of same effect as order
- 27. Separate writs for costs
- 28. Judgment for recovery of property other than land
- 29. Acknowledgment of payment
- 30. Order that judgment has been paid
- 31. Stay of execution
- 32. Balance becomes payable if instalment not paid when due
- 33. Application for relief
- 34. Application for directions
- 35. Enforcement of certificate

Rule 13-3 – Subpoena to Debtor

- 1. Subpoena to debtor
- 2. To whom subpoena must be directed
- 3. Service of subpoena
- 4. Examination of debtor
- 5. Examiner
- 6. Examination
- 7. Adjournment
- 8. Debtor refusing to attend or respond
- 9. Creditor failing to attend, etc.
- 10. Debtor unreasonably refusing to pay
- 11. Order for payment
- 12. Notice of application for committal
- 13. Order for committal
- 14. Costs payable by debtor
- 15. Form of order
- 16. Term of order
- 17. Payment to sheriff
- 18. Maintenance money recoverable
- 19. Debtor to be brought before court
- 20. Application to set aside or vary order
- 21. Payment of debt
- 22. Receipt for payment
- 23. Release from custody
- 24. Payment to creditor
- 25. Requisition for discharge
- 26. Failure to pay sheriff
- 27. Liability imposed by order
- 28. Repealed

Rule 13-4 – Examinations in Aid of Execution

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Examination of judgment debtor
- 3. Examination of corporate, partnership or firm judgment debtor
- 4. Limitation
- 5. Examination of person other than judgment debtor
- 6. Order in certain cases
- 7. Application of examination for discovery rules
- 8. Use of examination
- 9. Costs
- 10. Service of notice
- 11. Production of documents

Rule 13-5 – Sales by the Court

- 1. Court may order sale
- 2. Sale in debenture holder's proceeding
- 3. Conduct of sale
- 4. Directions for sale
- 5. Application for directions
- 6. Certificate of sale
- 7. Vesting order

PART 14 – Costs

Note

Rule 14-1 – Costs

- 1. How costs assessed generally
- 2. Assessment of party and party costs
- 3. Assessment of special costs
- Assessment officer
- 5. Disbursements
- 6. Repealed
- 7. Directions
- 8. Tax in respect of legal services and disbursements
- 9. Costs to follow event
- 10. Costs in cases within small claims jurisdiction
- 11. Costs where party represented by an employee
- 12. Costs of applications
- 13. When costs payable
- 14. Costs arising from improper act or omission
- 15. Costs of whole or part of proceeding
- 16. Costs payable from estate or property

- 17. Set-off of costs
- 18. Costs of one defendant payable by another
- 19. Unnecessary expense after judgment
- 20. Form of bill of costs
- 21. Appointment to review a bill, examine an agreement or assess costs
- 22. Place for review or examination
- 23. Further particulars
- 24. Assessment of sheriff's fees
- 25. Service of appointment
- 26. Costs on default judgment
- 27. Certificate of costs
- 28. Certificate of fees
- 29. Review of an assessment
- 30. Form of bill in certain cases
- 31. Description of services
- 32. Evidence of lawyer
- 33. Disallowance of fees and costs
- 34. Costs may be ordered without assessment
- 35. Notice
- 36. Order to be served
- 37. Limitation
- 38. Refusal or neglect to procure assessment
- 39. Referrals

PART 15 – Fast Track Litigation Proceedings

Rule 15-1 – Fast Track Litigation

- 1. When rule applies
- 2. Subsequent filings
- 3. Damages not limited
- 4. Rule does not apply to class proceedings
- 5. Conflict
- 6. When rule ceases to apply
- 7. Case planning conference required
- 8. Exception
- 9. Court may relieve
- 10. Trial to be without jury
- 11. Oral discovery
- 12. When discoveries must be completed
- 12.1 Repealed
- 13. Setting of trial date
- 14. If trial will require more than 3 days
- 15. Costs

- 16. Settlement offers
- 17. Taxes to be added to costs

PART 16 – Petition Proceedings

Rule 16-1 – Petitions

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Petitions
- 3. Service
- 4. Response to petition
- 5. Contents of response to petition
- 6. Petitioner may respond
- 6.1 Expert opinion evidence
- 6.2 Service of expert reports
- 6.3 Application of Rule 11-6
- 7. No additional affidavits
- 8. Setting application for hearing
- 9. Date and time of hearing
- 10. Date and time if hearing time more than 2 hours
- 11. Petition record
- 12. Service of petition record
- 13. If petition respondent's application is to be heard at the hearing
- 14. Petition record to be returned
- 15. Petition record to be returned to registry
- 16. Provision of amended petition record
- 16.1 Resetting adjourned hearings
- 17. Petition respondent may apply for directions
- 18. Powers of court
- 19. Amendment of petition or response to petition
- 20. Renewal of original petition
- 21. Further renewal of petition
- 22. When renewal period begins
- 23. After renewal of petition

PART 17 – Requisition Proceedings

Rule 17-1 – Requisitions

- 1. Proceedings to which this rule applies
- 2. Filings required
- 3. If proceeding is by consent
- 4. If no notice is required
- 5. Disposition of referred documents

PART 18 – Other Court Proceedings

Rule 18-1 – Inquiries, Assessments and Accounts

- 1. Direction for inquiries, assessments or accounts
- 2. Certificate as to result
- 3. Report and recommendation
- 4. Application to vary or confirm recommendation
- 5. Time and place of hearing
- 6. Appointment
- 7. Witnesses
- 8. Certificate or recommendation to be filed and served
- 9. Party may file certificate
- 10. Opinion of the court
- 11. Accounts of executor, trustee, etc.
- 12. Special directions
- 13. Court may appoint lawyer
- 14. Varying directions
- 15. Account to be verified by affidavit
- 16. Form of account
- 17. Particulars of errors in account
- 18. Notice of order
- 19. Person bound as if party
- 20. Dispensing with service
- 21. Person may apply to vary or rescind
- 22. Person may file a notice of interest

Rule 18-2 – Stated Cases

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Application
- 3. Material to be filed
- 4. Identification of parties and others
- 5. Contents
- 6. Delivery of notice of stated case
- 7. Powers of court
- 8. Requirement for notice of interest
- 9. Notice of hearing of stated case

Rule 18-3 – Appeals

- 1. Application
- 2. Form
- 3. Directions
- 4. Conduct of appeal

- 5. Application for directions
- 6. Service of notice of appeal
- 7. Powers of court
- 8. Filing notice of interest
- 9. Notice of hearing of appeal
- 10. Notice of abandonment of appeal

PART 19 – Judgments from other Courts

Rule 19-1 – Transfer of Proceedings from Provincial Court

- 1. Definition
- 2. These Supreme Court Civil Rules apply to transferred proceedings
- 3. Repealed
- 4. Pleadings
- 5. Plaintiff must file and serve amended notice of civil claim
- 6. Amended reply and counterclaim
- 6.1 Application of Rule 6-1
- 7. Previous address for service
- 8. Filing fees

Rule 19-2 – Canadian Judgments

- 1. Definition
- 2. Registration requirements for Canadian judgments

Rule 19-3 – Foreign Judgments

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Application under Court Order Enforcement Act
- 3. Affidavit in support
- 4. Applications for reciprocal enforcement of judgment
- 5. Form of order to register
- 6. Notice of registration
- 7. Setting aside registration of judgment under convention
- 8. Stay of enforcement
- 9. Stay of proceeding in action on foreign judgment

Rule 19-4 – Transfer of Proceedings from Foreign Courts

- 1. Court may require translation for transferred proceeding
- 2. Entry prohibited until security given
- 3. Translation and security expenses may be claimed as disbursements

Rule 19-5 – Documents Required by Judicial Authority of Other Jurisdictions

- 1. Request for certified copy with additional formalities
- 2. Required supplies

- 3. Request for production of certification or formal documentation
- 4. Request must include document
- 5. Filing request

PART 20 – Special Rules for Certain Parties

Rule 20-1 – Partnerships

- 1. Partners may sue or be sued in firm name
- 2. Service on firm
- 3. Responding pleading
- 4. Affidavit naming partners
- 5. Court may order service
- 6. Execution against partnership property
- 7. Execution against partners
- 8. Execution against other persons
- 9. Liability may be determined
- 10. Action against person carrying on business in a name other than the person's own

Rule 20-2 – Persons under Disability

- 1. Interpretation
- 2. Start of proceedings by person under disability
- 3. Role of litigation guardian
- 4. Lawyer must be involved
- 5. Litigation guardian
- 6. Committee as litigation guardian
- 7. Consent of litigation guardian
- 8. Certificate of fitness
- 9. Certificate for a litigation guardian
- 10. Party becoming incompetent
- 11. Removal of litigation guardian
- 12. Party attaining age of majority
- 13. Effect of filing affidavit
- 14. Step in default
- 15. Service
- 16. Litigation guardian must be appointed
- 17. Compromise by person under disability
- 18. Approval of compromise

Rule 20-3 – Representative Proceedings

- 1. Representative proceeding
- 2. Court may appoint representative
- 3. Enforcement of order made in representative proceeding
- 4. Application for leave

- 5. Court order
- 6. Representation of interested person who cannot be ascertained
- 7. Appointment order binding
- 8. Order affecting non-party
- 9. Person bound
- 10. Representation of beneficiaries by trustees
- 11. Additional powers of the court
- 12. (12) and (13) Repealed
- 14. Person as relator
- 15. Conduct of a proceeding

Rule 20-4 – Declaratory Relief

1. Declaratory order

Rule 20-5 – Persons Who Are Not Required to Pay Fees

- 1. Court may order that no fees are payable
- 2. Application of order
- 3. How to apply
- 4. Review, variation or rescission of order
- 5. No fee payable

Rule 20-6 – Litigation Representatives

- 1. Definition
- 2. Application of rule
- 3. Starting, conducting or defending a proceeding on behalf of deceased's estate
- 4. Notice of application required
- 5. Procedure for application
- 6. No authorization to distribute proceeds
- 7. Substitution required
- 8. When personal representative is appointed

PART 21 – Special Rules for Certain Proceedings

Rule 21-1 – Admiralty Matters

- 1. Actions to which rule applies
- 2. What actions may be brought in rem
- 3. Notice of civil claim actions in rem
- 4. Notice of civil claim when started with action in personam
- 5. Special service rules for notices of claim issued under subrule (3) or (4)
- 6. Response to civil claim may be filed in name of ship
- 7. Response to civil claim

- 8. Arrest "Affidavit to Lead Warrant"
- 9. Issue of warrant
- 10. Form of warrant
- 11. Service of warrant
- 12. Proof of service
- 13. When arrest takes effect
- 14. Property not to be moved
- 15. Order for safety and preservation
- 16. Possession of property arrested
- 17. Security

Caveats

- 18. Filing of caveat
- 19. Withdrawal of caveat
- 20. Damages for wrongful filing of caveat
- 21. Application for damages
- 22. Summary determination of damages

Release of Property

- 23. Release of property arrested
- 24. Bail bond or guarantee
- 25. Amount of bail
- 26. Service of the application
- 27. Bail information required
- 28. Release
- 29. When release occurs

Collisions at Sea – The "Preliminary Act"

- 30. Application of subrules (31) to (35)
- 31. Pleadings and particulars
- 32. The "preliminary act"
- 33. Form of preliminary act
- 34. Preliminary act not to be opened
- 35. Preliminary act to form part of pleading

Rule 21-2 – Carriage by Air Act

1. Carriage by Air Act

Rule 21-3 – Mandamus, Prohibition, Certiorari and Habeas Corpus

- 1. Proceeding to be started by petition
- 2. Writs abolished
- 3. Person affected may take part in proceeding

Rule 21-4 – Repealed

1. (1) to (12) Repealed

Rule 21-5 – Repealed

1. (1) to (72) Repealed

Rule 21-6 – Wills, Estates and Succession Act Wills Variation Proceedings

- 1. Proceedings under the Wills, Estates and Succession Act
- 2. Parties
- 3. Response to civil claim
- 4. These Supreme Court Civil Rules apply

Rule 21-7 – Foreclosure and Cancellation

- 1. Starting the proceeding
- 2. Parties
- 3. Joinder of claim or party
- 4. Person filing interest after certificate of pending litigation
- 4.1 Information must accompany petition
- 5. Powers of the court
- 6. Final order
- 7. Order for sale
- 8. Inquiry to settle terms of sale
- 9. Order confirming sale
- 10. Notice to assess costs
- 11. Agreement for sale

Rule 21-8 – Jurisdictional Disputes

- 1. Disputed jurisdiction
- 2. Order declining jurisdiction may be sought
- 3. Disputed pleading or service
- 4. Powers of court pending resolution
- 5. Party does not submit to jurisdiction

Rule 21-9 – *Negligence Act* Claims

- 1. Contribution or indemnity claimed under the Negligence Act
- 2. Apportionment of liability claimed under the Negligence Act

PART 22 – General

Rule 22-1 – Chambers Proceedings

- 1. Definition
- 2. Failure of party to attend

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- 3. Reconsideration of order
- 4. Evidence on an application
- 5. Hearing of application in public
- 6. Adjournment of application if applications not heard on date set
- 7. Power of the court
- 8. Powers of court if notice not given
- 9. Urgent chambers proceeding
- 10. Adjournment
- 11. Notes of applications

Rule 22-2 – Affidavits

- 1. Affidavit to be filed
- 2. Form and content of affidavit
- 3. Identifying affidavits
- 4. Making affidavit
- 5. Statement to be signed
- 6. Statement if person swearing or affirming the affidavit unable to read
- 7. Interpretation to person swearing or affirming the affidavit who does not understand English
- 8. Exhibit to be marked
- 9. Exhibits referred to in affidavits
- 10. Numbering exhibit pages
- 11. Alterations to be initialled
- 12. Limitation on contents of affidavit
- 13. Exception
- 14. Use of defective affidavit
- 15. Affidavit made before proceeding started
- 16. Affidavit of patient under the Patients Property Act

Rule 22-3 – Forms and Documents

- 1. Forms
- 2. Documents
- 3. Transcripts
- 4. Space for stamp
- 5. Style of proceeding
- 5.1 Exception
- 6. Style of proceeding for class proceeding

Rule 22-4 – Time

- 1. Computation of time
- 2. Extending or shortening time
- 3. Extending or shortening time respecting pleadings

- 4. Notice of intention to proceed after delay of one year
- 5. Want of prosecution
- 6. Attendance

Rule 22-5 – Multiple Claims and Parties

- 1. Multiple claims
- 2. Multiple parties
- 3. Joining persons jointly entitled to relief
- 4. If persons are jointly liable
- 5. Party need not be interested in all relief
- 6. Separation
- 7. Separating counterclaim or third party claim
- 8. Consolidation
- 9. Misjoinder or nonjoinder of parties

Rule 22-6 – Change of Lawyer

- 1. Change of lawyer
- 2. Order that lawyer has ceased to act
- 3. Order on application of lawyer
- 4. Notice of withdrawal
- 5. Filing of objection
- 6. Procedure if no objection filed
- 7. Service of notice of withdrawal
- 8. Service of documents after withdrawal
- 9. Procedure if objection filed
- 10. Substituted service
- 11. Service of copy of order

Rule 22-7 – Effect of Non-compliance

- 1. Non-compliance with rules
- 2. Powers of court
- 3. Proceeding must not be set aside for incorrect originating pleading
- 4. Application to set aside for irregularity
- 5. Consequences of certain non-compliance
- 6. Failure to comply with direction of court
- 7. Dismissal for want of prosecution

Rule 22-8 – Contempt of Court

- 1. Power of court to punish
- 2. Corporation in contempt
- 3. Security
- 4. Certain acts as contempt
- 5. If person may be guilty of contempt

- 6. Power of court after apprehension
- 7. If corporation may be guilty of contempt
- 8. Power of court after apprehension
- 9. Release of apprehended person
- 10. Order for release
- 11. Proceeding for contempt
- 12. Affidavit
- 13. Hearing
- 14. Service of order not necessary
- 15. Suspension of punishment
- 16. Discharge of person
- 17. Weekly review of person in custody

PART 23 – Court and Registry Matters

Rule 23-1 – Registry Operations

- 1. Copy of document filed in registry
- 2. When registry open
- 3. Hours of registrar
- 4. Lunch hours
- 5. Use of seal
- 6. Name of registry
- 7. Signature of registrar
- 8. Business not to be conducted out of office hours
- 9. Request to registrar by requisition
- 10. Incapacity of judge
- 11. Powers of substituted judge
- 12. Powers of presiding judge
- 13. Transfers

Rule 23-2 – Fax Filing

- 1. Application
- 2. Document may be submitted for filing by fax
- 3. Means of transmission
- 4. Application of this rule
- 5. When a document is filed
- 6. Confirmation of filing
- 7. Confirmation of filing
- 8. Original of document may be required by court

Rule 23-3 – Electronic Filing

- 1. Definitions
- 2. This rule prevails in event of conflict

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- 3. Electronic services agreement
- 4. Means of transmission
- 5. Application of this rule
- 6. Affidavits and other signed documents
- 7. Retention of documents
- 8. Conversion of documents
- 9. Inspection of original documents
- 10. Requisition
- 11. Application of Rule 22-2
- 12. Electronic authentication deemed a signature
- 13. Filing of documents
- 14. Electronic acceptance
- 15. Sealing of notice of civil claim
- 16. Public access to documents filed electronically
- 17. Service of documents
- 18. If document does not reach a person

Rule 23-4 – Money in Court

- 1. Interpretation
- 2. Deposit of funds
- 3. Deposit of securities
- 4. Transmission of securities
- 5. Payment out of court
- 6. Interest
- 7. No other interest payable
- 8. Calculation of interest
- Account.
- 10. Investments
- 11. Direction for payment out
- 12. Deposit of other money paid into court
- 13. No interest on other funds
- 14. Money for person under disability
- 15. Payment out of money or security
- 16. Payment in for infant
- 17. Payment out of money held for infant

Rule 23-5 – Sittings and Hearings

- 1. Under direction of Chief Justice
- 2. Urgency
- 3. Hearing by communication medium
- 4. Video conferencing
- 4.1 Application to registrar by communication medium

5. Application must be made by requisition

Rule 23-6 – Masters, Registrars and Special Referees

- 1. Powers of a master
- 2. Master as registrar
- 3. Repealed
- 3.1 Hearing record
- 3.2 Dealings with hearing record
- 4. Registrar's powers at registrar's hearing
- 5. Registrar's directions at pre-hearing conference
- 6. Reference by master to judge
- 7. Reference by registrar to judge or master
- 8. Repealed
- 8. 1 Notice of appeal
- 8. 2 Service of notice of appeal and appellant's statement of argument
- 8. 3 Notice of interest
- 8. 4 Service of notice of interest and respondent's statement of argument
- 8. 5 Transcript of reasons for judgment or decision
- 8. 6 Transcript of oral evidence
- 8. 7 Date and time of hearing of appeal
- 8. 8 Appeal record
- 8. 9 Appeal record to be returned
- 8.10 Abridgement or modification of timelines and documents required on appeal
- 9. 9. and 10. Repealed
- 11. Appeal not to act as stay

PART 23.1 – Method of Attendance and Application Record Pilot Projects

Rule 23.1-1 – Method of Attendance Pilot Project

- 1. Method of attendance
- 2. Directions may be different
- 3. Application to change method of attendance
- 4. Application must be made by requisition
- 5. Directions apply

Rule 23.1-2 – Electronic Transmission of Application Record Pilot Project

- 1. Electronic transmission of application record
- 2. Directions may be different
- 3. Application of other rules

PART 24 – Transition

Rule 24-1 – Transitional Pleadings

- 1. Definitions
- 2. These rules apply to transitional proceedings
- 3. Pleadings deemed to be a notice of civil claim
- 4. Requisition deemed to be a notice of civil claim
- 5. Petition
- 6. Appearance and statement of defence deemed to be a response to civil claim
- 7. Appearance deemed to be a response to petition
- 8. Other pleadings
- 9. Unserved writ of summons
- 10. Demand for amendment
- 11. Party must amend
- 12. Failure to amend
- 13. Address for service
- 14. Step in ongoing proceeding
- 15. Trial management conference
- 16. Court may decide

PART 25 – Estates

Rule 25-1 – Definitions

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Interpretation
- 3. When delivery occurs under this Part
- 4. Renunciation of executorship
- 5. Solemn form
- 6. Parties and parties of record
- 7. Electronic wills originals and digital reproductions

Rule 25-2 – Notice Must Be Provided

- 1. Applications for estate grant or resealing
- 1.1 Notice of proposed application in relation to estate
- 1.2 Recipient of notice entitled to will in original electronic form
- 1.3 Demand for will in original electronic form
- 1.4 Provision of will in original electronic form
- 2. Persons to whom documents must be delivered
- 2.1 When application may be made
- 3. Form of notice of application
- 4. Multiple intended applicants
- 5. When delivery occurs under this rule
- 6. No delivery by e-mail, fax or other electronic means without acknowledgement
- 7. If delivery is effected by e-mail, fax or other electronic means
- 8. If person to whom notice is to be delivered is a minor

- 9. If testamentary trust exists
- 10. If person to whom notice is to be delivered is a mentally incompetent person
- 11. How notice may be delivered to a mentally incompetent person
- 12. If person to whom notice is to be delivered is dead
- 13. Notice to Public Guardian and Trustee
- 14. Court may alter or dispense with notice
- 15. Public Guardian and Trustee not required to deliver notice under subrule (1)
- 16. If application made for solemn form grant

Rule 25-3 – Application for Estate Grant

How to Apply

- 1. Definition
- 2. Documents to be filed in an application
- 3. Filing of wills
- 4. Multiple applicants
- 5. Documents to be separate
- 6. Form of affidavit for application for grant of probate or grant of administration with will annexed
- 7. Filing of affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant
- 8. Affidavit of assets and liabilities for non-domiciled estate grant
- 9. Supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant
- 10. Filing of affidavit of translator
- 11. Delivery to Public Guardian and Trustee
- 12. Exceptions to delivery to Public Guardian and Trustee
- 13. Sealing of court file

Applications – Search for Will

- 14. Search for will
- 14.1 Copy must be attached

Applications Respecting Wills – Execution of Will

- 15. Proof of proper execution of will by affidavit of subscribing witness
- 16. Evidence of proper execution of will where subscribing witness unavailable
- 17. Proof of proper execution of privileged will by member of military force
- 18. Proof of will-maker's knowledge of will
- 19. International Wills Convention

Applications Respecting Wills – Appearance of Will

- 20. Alterations
- 21. Words erased or obliterated
- 22. Registrar must consider appearance of will
- 22.1 Confirmation that will is unaltered

- 23. Document referred to in will
- 23.1 Fee agreements
- 24. Reference to judge or master

Rule 25-3.1 – Amendment of Application

- 1. When application may be amended
- 2. How amendments made
- 3. Identifying amendments

Rule 25-3.2 – Withdrawal of Application

1. Withdrawal of application before issuance of grant

Rule 25-4 – Procedure After Filing Application Materials for Estate Grant

- 1. Approval by registrar of application
- 1.1 Estate grant required attachments
- 2. When registrar must refuse to approve application
- 3. Application must be in relation to will
- 4. Registrar must provide notice of refusal
- 5. How notice is to be provided
- 6. Procedure after refusal by registrar to approve application
- 7. Subrules (1) to (6) applicable after filing of revised or additional material
- 8. Application by one or more of several co-executors

Rule 25-5 – Corrections, Amendments and Revocations of Estate Documents

Corrections

- 1. Applications to correct
- 1.1 Application to correct name of deceased in style of proceeding
- 2. Registrar may correct
- 2.1 Registrar may correct name of deceased in style of proceeding

Amendment Applications

- 3. Application for amendment
- 4. Issue of new grant

Revocation Applications

- 5. Filing of grant in revocation application
- 6. When leave may be granted
- 7. No revocation by default

Rule 25-6 – Applications for Resealing

- 1. Definition
- 2. Application for resealing

- 3. Multiple applicants
- 4. Domicile of deceased on resealing
- 5. Documents to be separate
- 6. Filing of affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing
- 7. Supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing
- 8. Filing of affidavit of translator
- 9. Delivery to Public Guardian and Trustee
- 10. Exceptions to delivery to Public Guardian and Trustee
- 11. Search for will

Rule 25-7 – Procedure After Filing Application Materials for Resealing

- 1. Approval by registrar of application
- 2. Certification of resealing
- 3. When registrar must refuse to approve application
- 4. Registrar must provide notice of refusal
- 5. How notice is to be provided
- 6. Procedure after refusal by registrar to approve application
- 7. Subrules (1) to (6) applicable after filing of revised or additional material
- 8. Notice to issuing court of resealing
- 9. Notice of revocation or amendment of resealed grant

Rule 25-8 – Effect of Authorization to Obtain Estate Information or Authorization to Obtain Resealing Information

- 1. Authorizations may be delivered
- 2. Order to provide information
- 3. Powers of court if information or access not provided

Rule 25-9 – Application to Court for Grant or Resealing

- 1. Applicant may apply to court
- 2. Application materials
- 3. Powers of the court
- 4. Registrar to issue authorization or grant following disposition of application

Rule 25-10 – Notices of Dispute

- 1. Notice of dispute
- 2. Only one notice of dispute to be filed
- 3. Contents of notice of dispute
- 4. Amendment of notice of dispute
- 5. Amendment of notice of dispute
- 6. Renewal of notice of dispute
- 7. Application for renewal of notice of dispute
- 8. No grant while notice of dispute in effect

- 9. Withdrawal of notice of dispute
- 10. Application to remove notice of dispute
- 11. Grounds on which notice of dispute may be removed
- 12. When notice of dispute ceases to be in effect

Rule 25-11 – Citations

- 1. Citation to apply for probate
- 2. Alternate executors
- 3. Citation to be supported
- 4. Answer to citation
- 5. Deemed renunciation of executorship
- 6. Effect of failure to answer citation or give reason for refusing probate
- 7. Affidavit of deemed renunciation for grant of probate

Rule 25-12 – Subpoena for Testamentary Document or Grant

- 1. How to obtain a subpoena for testamentary document or grant
- 2. Filings required
- 3. Subpoena may be issued
- 4. Service of subpoena
- 5. Certification of non-compliance
- 6. Failure of subpoenaed person to file document
- 7. Release of apprehended person
- 8. Order setting aside subpoena

Rule 25-13 – Remuneration and Passing of Accounts

- 1. Remuneration and passing of accounts
- 2. Application process
- 3. Directions and referrals
- 4. Effect of referral to registrar
- 5. Certification of results
- 6. Affidavit required for passing of accounts and remuneration
- 7. Special costs

Rule 25-14 – Applications

Applications Relating to Grants

- 1. How to apply for most applications
- 1.1 How to apply by petition for orders
- 1.11 Applications by requisition
- 1.2 Substitution of personal representative in the event of death
- 2. How to apply for spousal home and will deficiencies orders
- 3. Address for service
- 4. Proceeding for proof of a will in solemn form

- 5. Personal representative to be served
- 6. When personal service is required
- 7. Disputant to receive notice of proceeding relating to a grant
- 8. Court may give directions as to procedure
- 9. General civil petition rule applies

Rule 25-15 – Miscellaneous

- 1. Grant of administration to guardians
- 2. Changing address for service
- 3. If no address for service given
- 4. Costs if only solemn form required
- 5. Costs for accessing electronic will in third-party electronic repository

Rule 25-16 – Transition

- 1. Definition
- 2. Application for grant or resealing under former rule
- 3. Caveat filed under former rule
- 4. Citation to accept or refuse probate served under former rule
- 5. Probate actions under former rule
- 6. Court may decide

APPENDIX A – Forms 1 to 10

APPENDIX A – Forms 11 to 20.1

APPENDIX A – Forms 21 to 30.1

APPENDIX A – Forms 31 to 40

APPENDIX A – Forms 41 to 50

APPENDIX A – Forms 51 to 60

APPENDIX A – Forms 61 to 70

APPENDIX A – Forms 71 to 80

APPENDIX A – Forms 81 to 89

APPENDIX A - Forms 90 to 107 - Repealed

APPENDIX A - Forms 108 to 110

APPENDIX A – Forms 111 to 125

APPENDIX A.1 – Probate Forms – Forms P1 to P10

APPENDIX A.1 – Probate Forms – Forms P11 to P20.1

APPENDIX A.1 – Probate Forms – Forms P21 to P30

APPENDIX A.1 – Probate Forms – Forms P31 to P46

APPENDIX B – Party and Party Costs

APPENDIX C

[Provisions of the *Court Rules Act*, RSBC 1996, c. 80, relevant to the enactment of this regulation: section 1]

PART 1 – Interpretation

Rule 1-1 – Interpretation

Definitions

(1) In these Supreme Court Civil Rules, unless the context otherwise requires:

"accessible address" means an address that describes a unique and identifiable location in British Columbia that is accessible to the public during normal business hours for the delivery of documents;

"action" means a proceeding started by a notice of civil claim;

"address for service", in relation to a party to a proceeding, means an address that is, under Rule 4-1, the party's address for service in the proceeding;

"business day" means a day on which the court registries are open for business;

Sep 01/23

"case plan order" means an order referred to in Rule 5-3 (3);
"Chief Justice" means the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of British Columbia;

"court" means the Supreme Court of British Columbia and, if a master has jurisdiction, includes a master of the Supreme Court;

"document" has an extended meaning and includes a photograph, video, recording of sound, any record of a permanent or semi-permanent character and any information recorded or stored by means of any device;

"family law case" has the same meaning as in the Supreme Court Family Rules;

"fast track action" means an action that is, under Rule 15-1 (1), an action to which Rule 15-1 applies:

"file" means file in the registry;

"former Supreme Court Rules" means the Supreme Court Rules, B.C. Reg. 221/90;

"insurer" means an insurer, as defined in the *Financial Institutions Act*, that

- (a) has provided a policy of insurance to a party to an action in relation to matters or property in issue in that action, and
- (b) under that policy, is obligated to indemnify the party for liability imposed on the party in the action,

and includes a surety of a party to an action in circumstances in which a claim has been made on a surety bond related to the matters in issue in the action;

"order" includes a judgment and a decree;

"originating pleading" means a notice of civil claim, counterclaim, third party notice or any document, other than a petition, that starts a proceeding;

"party", in relation to a proceeding, means a person named as a party in the style of proceeding; "party of record", in relation to a proceeding, means a person who has filed a pleading, petition or response to petition in the proceeding, and includes,

- (a) in a proceeding referred to in Part 18, a person who has filed a notice of interest under that Part;
- (b) *Repealed.* [B.C. Reg. 44/2014]

"party's lawyer", in relation to a party to a proceeding, means the lawyer representing the party in that proceeding;

(AM)

Apr

(ADD)

04/22 (SUB)

Mar 18/13

(REP) Mar 31/14 "petition proceeding" means a proceeding started by a petition;

"plaintiff" means a person who starts an action;

"pleading" means a notice of civil claim, a response to civil claim, a reply, a counterclaim, a response to counterclaim, a third party notice or a response to third party notice;

"pleading period", in relation to an action, means the period for filing a responding pleading to the pleading that was most recently filed in the action;

"proceeding" means an action, a petition proceeding and a requisition proceeding, and includes any other suit, cause, matter, stated case under Rule 18-2 or appeal;

"receiver" includes receiver-manager;

"registrar" includes a district registrar and a deputy district registrar;

"registrar's hearing" means an inquiry, an assessment, an accounting, a review of a bill, an examination of an agreement or an assessment of a bill of costs;

"registry", in relation to a proceeding, means the office of the court in which the proceeding is being conducted;

"relief" includes remedy;

"requisition proceeding" means a proceeding started by a requisition;

"responding pleading" means a response to civil claim, a response to counterclaim, a response to third party notice, a reply or any other document filed in response to an originating pleading; "serve", in relation to a document, means

- (a) serve by ordinary service in accordance with Rule 4-2 (2), or
- (b) if the document is one referred to in Rule 4-3 (1), serve by personal service in accordance with Rule 4-3 (2);

"special referee" means any person, other than a master or registrar, who is appointed by the court under these Supreme Court Civil Rules or under an enactment to conduct an assessment, inquiry or accounting;

"style of proceeding" means, in relation to a document that is or is to be filed in a proceeding, that portion of the document that

- (a) sets out the registry number attributed to the proceeding and the court and registry in which the proceeding is being or is to be conducted, and
- (b) identifies the parties to the proceeding or, if there is no person named as a defendant, the subject matter of the proceeding;

"third party" means a person referred to in Rule 3-5 (1) against whom a third party claim is pursued;

"witness list" means a list setting out the name and address of each witness whom a party may call at trial;

"writ of execution" includes a writ of seizure and sale, a writ of sequestration, a writ of possession and a writ of delivery and any subsequent writ that issues to give effect to these writs, and also includes a warrant or other process of execution issued out of any court in British Columbia that has jurisdiction to grant and issue that process.

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 18/2013; 44/2014, Sch. 2; 321/2021, Sch. 1; 149/2022, Sch. 1; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Interpretation Act and Supreme Court Act

(2) Unless a contrary intention appears, the *Interpretation Act* and the interpretation section of the *Supreme Court Act* apply to these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Titles and headings

(3) The titles and headings of these Supreme Court Civil Rules are for convenience only and are not intended as a guide to interpretation.

(SUB) Oct 03/22

Reference aids

(4) Italicized words in square brackets are not part of these Supreme Court Civil Rules, are included editorially for convenience of reference only and are not to be used in interpreting the rules or any provision to which the words refer.

Rule 1-2 – Citation and Application

Citation

(1) These Supreme Court Civil Rules may be cited as the "Supreme Court Civil Rules" and are included within any reference to the "Rules of Court" or the "Supreme Court Rules".

Application

- (2) These Supreme Court Civil Rules govern every proceeding in the Supreme Court unless
 - (a) the proceeding is a family law case, in which case the Supreme Court Family Rules apply, or
 - (b) an enactment otherwise provides.

Waiver of rule by agreement

(3) On application, and if all parties to a proceeding agree, the court may order that any provision of these Supreme Court Civil Rules does not apply to the proceeding.

Petitions and applications

- (4) If an enactment, other than these Supreme Court Civil Rules or the Supreme Court Family Rules, authorizes an application to the court or to a judge, the application must be
 - (a) by petition under Rule 16-1 or requisition under Rule 17-1, or
 - (b) if the application is for an order other than a final order, by application under Part 8,

whether or not the enactment provides for the mode of application. [am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Enactments of Canada

(5) Subrule (4) does not apply if a particular mode of application is required by an enactment of Canada.

Rule 1-3 – Object of Rules

Object

(1) The object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules is to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every proceeding on its merits.

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

Proportionality

- (2) Securing the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of a proceeding on its merits includes, so far as is practicable, conducting the proceeding in ways that are proportionate to
 - (a) the amount involved in the proceeding,
 - (b) the importance of the issues in dispute, and
 - (c) the complexity of the proceeding.

PART 2 - How To Make A Claim

Rule 2-1 – Choosing the Correct Form of Proceeding

Commencing proceedings by notice of civil claim

(1) Unless an enactment or these Supreme Court Civil Rules otherwise provide, every proceeding must be started by the filing of a notice of civil claim under Part 3.

Commencing proceedings by petition or requisition

- (2) To start a proceeding in the following circumstances, a person must file a petition or, if Rule 17-1 applies, a requisition:
 - (a) the person starting the proceeding is the only person who is interested in the relief claimed, or there is no person against whom relief is sought;
 - (b) the proceeding is brought in respect of an application that is authorized by an enactment to be made to the court;
 - (c) the sole or principal question at issue is alleged to be one of construction of an enactment, will, deed, oral or written contract or other document;
 - (d) the relief, advice or direction sought relates to a question arising in the execution of a trust, or the performance of an act by a person in the person's capacity as trustee, or the determination of the persons entitled as creditors or otherwise to the trust property;
 - (e) the relief, advice or direction sought relates to the maintenance, guardianship or property of infants or other persons under disability;
 - (f) the relief sought is for payment of funds into or out of court;
 - (g) the relief sought relates to land and is for
 - (i) a declaration of a beneficial interest in or a charge on land and of the character and extent of the interest or charge,
 - (ii) a declaration that settles the priority between interests or charges,
 - (iii) an order that cancels a certificate of title or making a title subject to an interest or charge, or
 - (iv) an order of partition or sale;
 - (h) the relief, advice or direction sought relates to the determination of a claim of solicitor and client privilege.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Estate proceedings

Mar 31/14

- (2.1) Without limiting any other provision of this Rule, a proceeding to which Part 25 applies may be started by
 - (a) the filing of a submission for estate grant under Rule 25-3 (2),
 - (b) the filing of a submission for resealing under Rule 25-6 (2),
 - (c) the filing of a requisition under Rule 25-12 (2), 25-14 (1) or 25-14 (1.11), or
 - (d) the filing of a petition under Rule 25-14 (1.1), (2) or (4).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

(SUB) Mar 31/14

(SUB) Jul 01/19 (SUB) Jul

01/19

Procedures applicable to particular proceedings

(AM) Mar 31/14

- Without limiting subrules (1) to (2.1), the following provisions apply to the following applications and proceedings:
 - (a) Rule 8-3 applies to an application for an order by consent;
 - (b) Rule 8-4 applies to an application of which notice need not be given;
 - (c) Rule 10-3 applies to a proceeding brought to obtain relief by way of interpleader or in which such relief is sought;
 - (c.1) Rule 14-1 (21) applies to an appointment for a review of a bill or an examination of an agreement under the *Legal Profession Act*;
 - (d) Rule 15-1 applies to a fast track action;
 - (e) Rule 18-2 applies to a stated case;
 - (f) Rule 18-3 applies to an appeal that is authorized, by an enactment, to be made to the court:
 - (g) Rule 19-3 applies to a proceeding to register a reciprocally enforceable judgment within the meaning of Rule 19-3;
 - (h) Rule 21-1 applies to a proceeding brought in rem against a ship or other property;
 - (i) Part 25 applies to a proceeding in relation to the administration of an estate;

(SUB) Mar 31/14 (REP) Mar 31/14

- (j) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 149/2013]
- (k) Rule 21-7 applies to a proceeding for foreclosure of the equitable right to redeem mortgaged property, for redemption or for cancellation of an agreement for sale.

 [am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 149/2013.]

Rule 2-2 – Tribunal Awards

(ADD) Definition

Jul 01/14

(1) In this rule, **"tribunal award"** means any order, decision, judgment or other determination that, under an enactment, may be filed or registered in the court for enforcement purposes. [en. B.C. Reg. 120/2014.]

(ADD)Tribunal awards may be filed

Jul 01/14

(2) A tribunal award may be filed in a registry. [en. B.C. Reg. 120/2014.]

(ADD)Filing tribunal awards

Jul 01/14

(3) To file a tribunal award under subrule (2), a certified copy of the tribunal award must be attached to a requisition in Form 17.2 and the requisition must be filed.

[en. B.C. Reg. 120/2014.]

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

PART 3 – Proceedings Started By Filing A Notice of Civil Claim

Rule 3-1 – Notice of Civil Claim

Notice of civil claim

(1) To start a proceeding under this Part, a person must file a notice of civil claim in Form 1.

Contents of notice of civil claim

- (2) A notice of civil claim must do the following:
 - (a) set out a concise statement of the material facts giving rise to the claim;
 - (b) set out the relief sought by the plaintiff against each named defendant;
 - (c) set out a concise summary of the legal basis for the relief sought;
 - (d) set out the proposed place of trial;
 - (e) if the plaintiff sues or a defendant is sued in a representative capacity, show in what capacity the plaintiff sues or the defendant is sued;
 - (f) provide the data collection information required in the appendix to the form;
 - (g) otherwise comply with Rule 3-7.

Rule 3-2 – Serving and Renewing the Notice of Civil Claim

Renewal of original notice of civil claim

(1) An original notice of civil claim does not remain in force for more than 12 months, but if a defendant named in a notice of civil claim has not been served, the court, on the application of the plaintiff made before or after the expiration of the 12 months, may order that the original notice of civil claim be renewed for a period of not more than 12 months.

Further renewal of notice of civil claim

(2) If a renewed notice of civil claim has not been served on a defendant named in the notice of civil claim, the court, on the application of the plaintiff made during the currency of the renewed notice of civil claim, may order the renewal of the notice of civil claim for a further period of not more than 12 months.

When renewal period begins

(3) Unless the court otherwise orders, a renewal period ordered under subrule (1) or (2) begins on the date of the order.

After renewal of notice of civil claim

(4) Unless the court otherwise orders, a copy of each order granting renewal of a notice of civil claim must be served with the renewed notice of civil claim, and the renewed notice of civil claim remains in force and is available to prevent the operation of any statutory limitation and for all other purposes.

Rule 3-3 – Responding to a Notice of Civil Claim

Filing a response to civil claim

- (1) To respond to a notice of civil claim, a person must, within the time for response to civil claim referred to in subrule (3),
 - (a) file a response to civil claim in Form 2, and
 - (b) serve a copy of the filed response to civil claim on the plaintiff.

Contents of response to civil claim

- (2) A response to civil claim under subrule (1)
 - (a) must
 - (i) indicate, for each fact set out in Part 1 of the notice of civil claim, whether that fact is
 - (A) admitted,
 - (B) denied, or
 - (C) outside the knowledge of the defendant,
 - (ii) for any fact set out in Part 1 of the notice of civil claim that is denied, concisely set out the defendant's version of that fact, and
 - (iii) set out, in a concise statement, any additional material facts that the defendant believes relate to the matters raised by the notice of civil claim,
 - (b) must indicate whether the defendant consents to, opposes or takes no position on the granting of the relief sought against that defendant in the notice of civil claim,
 - (c) must, if the defendant opposes any of the relief referred to in paragraph (b) of this subrule, set out a concise summary of the legal basis for that opposition, and
 - (d) must otherwise comply with Rule 3-7.

Period for filing response to civil claim

- (3) Unless the court otherwise orders, to respond to a notice of civil claim, a response to civil claim under this rule must be filed and served within the following period:
 - (a) in the case of a notice of civil claim that is served on a person,
 - (i) if the person was served anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after that service.
 - (ii) if the person was served anywhere in the United States of America, within 35 days after that service, or

(SUB)
Jul
01/11
(AM)
Jul
01/12
(AM)
Jul
01/12
(AM)
Jul
01/12

(AM) Jul 01/12

- (iii) if the person was served anywhere else, within 49 days after that service;
- (b) in the case of a notice of civil claim that is served on a ship or property under Rule 21-1 (5), within 21 days after service.

 [am. B.C. Regs. 95/2011, Sch. A; 112/2012, Sch. A.]

Payment into court when tender pleaded

(4) If the response to civil claim alleges a defence of tender or tender of money by way of amends, the defendant must pay into court the amount alleged to have been tendered, failing which the defence of tender or tender of money by way of amends may be struck out.

Costs if defence of tender successful

(5) If, on a judgment, costs are awarded to a defendant who has paid into court under this rule, the assessed costs must be paid to the defendant out of the money in court.

Application for money paid into court

(6) A plaintiff may, before trial, apply to take out money paid into court under this rule, and the court may deal with costs of the action as if the defence of tender had succeeded.

Tender in defamation action

(7) If in an action for defamation the defendant is permitted to allege the plaintiff failed to mitigate his or her damages, the defendant may also allege tender of money by way of amends, whether the tender was made before or after action was started.

Consequence if fact not responded to

(8) An allegation of fact in a notice of civil claim, if not admitted, denied or stated to be outside the knowledge of the defendant, is deemed to be outside the knowledge of the defendant.

Rule 3-4 – Counterclaim

Counterclaim

(1) A defendant in an action who wishes to pursue a claim within that action against the plaintiff must, within the time set out for the filing of a response to civil claim under Rule 3-3 (3), file a counterclaim in Form 3 that accords with Rule 3-7.

Counterclaim against another person

(2) If the counterclaim referred to in subrule (1) raises questions between the defendant bringing the counterclaim and a person other than the plaintiff, the defendant may join that other person as a party against whom the counterclaim is brought.

Identification of parties

(3) In a counterclaim,

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (a) the plaintiff against whom the counterclaim is brought must be identified as the "plaintiff",
- (b) each defendant against whom the counterclaim is brought must, along with the defendant bringing the counterclaim, be identified as a "defendant", and
- (c) any other person against whom the counterclaim is brought must be identified as a "defendant by way of counterclaim".

Service of counterclaim

- (4) Unless the court otherwise orders, a defendant who files a counterclaim
 - (a) must serve a copy of the filed counterclaim on all parties of record within the time set out in Rule 3-3 (3) for the filing and service of a response to civil claim, and
 - (b) if the counterclaim is brought against a person who is not yet a party of record to the action, must serve that defendant by way of counterclaim by personal service with
 - (i) a copy of the filed counterclaim, and
 - (ii) a copy of the filed notice of civil claim

within 60 days after the date on which the counterclaim was filed.

Response to counterclaim

- (5) A person against whom a counterclaim is brought must, if that person wishes to dispute the counterclaim,
 - (a) file a response to counterclaim in Form 4 that accords with Rule 3-7, and
 - (b) serve a copy of that filed response to counterclaim on all parties of record.

Application of rules

(6) Except to the extent that this rule otherwise provides, Rules 3-1, 3-3 and 3-8 apply to a counterclaim as if it were a notice of civil claim and to a response to counterclaim as if it were a response to civil claim.

If action stayed or discontinued

(7) Without limiting subrule (6) of this rule, a defendant's counterclaim in an action may proceed even though the plaintiff's claim in the action has been stayed, discontinued or dismissed.

Separate trial of counterclaim

(7.1) If, on the application of a party against whom a counterclaim is made, it appears that the subject matter of the counterclaim ought to be dealt with separately, the court may order that the counterclaim be struck out or tried separately or may make any other order the court considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Judgment

(8) If a set-off or counterclaim of a defendant establishes a defence to the plaintiff's claim, the court may grant judgment in favour of the defendant for any balance in the defendant's favour or for other relief as the court considers appropriate.

Rule 3-5 – Third Party Claims

Making a third party claim

- (1) A party against whom relief is sought in an action may, if that party is not a plaintiff in the action, pursue a third party claim against any person if the party alleges that
 - (a) the party is entitled to contribution or indemnity from the person in relation to any relief that is being sought against the party in the action,
 - (b) the party is entitled to relief against the person and that relief relates to or is connected with the subject matter of the action, or
 - (c) a question or issue between the party and the person
 - (i) is substantially the same as a question or issue that relates to or is connected with
 - (A) relief claimed in the action, or
 - (B) the subject matter of the action, and
 - (ii) should properly be determined in the action.

Plaintiff as defendant to counterclaim

(1.1) Subrule (1) does not preclude a plaintiff from pursuing a third party claim in his or her capacity as a defendant to a counterclaim.

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Third party need not be party to original action

(2) A third party claim may be pursued against a person, whether or not that person is a party to the action.

Pursuing a third party claim

(3) Subject to subrule (4), a party wishing to pursue a third party claim referred to in subrule (1) must file a third party notice in Form 5 that accords with Rule 3-7.

When leave is required

- (4) A party may file a third party notice
 - (a) at any time with leave of the court, or
 - (b) without leave of the court, within 42 days after the filing of the response.

(AM) Apr 04/22

[am. B.C. Reg. 321/2021, Sch. 1.]

Court may consider case plan order

- (5) If the court makes an order under subrule (4) (a) in an action in which a case plan order has been made, the court may
 - (a) consider if and to what extent the case plan order is appropriate given the third party notice, and
 - (b) amend the case plan order, if necessary, for that purpose.

Application for leave

- (6) Notice of an application for leave under subrule (4) (a) must be served on
 - (a) the third party, and
 - (b) all parties of record.

Service

- (7) Unless the court otherwise orders, a party who files a third party notice must,
 - (a) within 60 days after the date on which the third party notice is filed, serve on the third party
 - (i) a copy of the filed third party notice, and
 - (ii) if the third party is not a party of record at the time of service, a copy of any filed pleading that has previously been served by any party to the action, and
 - (b) promptly after the date on which the third party notice is filed, serve a copy of the filed third party notice on all parties of record.

Application to set aside third party notice

(8) At any time, on application, the court may set aside a third party notice.

Response to third party notice

- (9) Subject to subrule (10), if a third party wishes to dispute the third party notice, the third party must
 - (a) file a response to third party notice in Form 6 that accords with Rule 3-7, and
 - (b) serve a copy of the filed response to third party notice on all parties of record.

When response to third party notice not required

- (10) A third party who is a defendant in the action need not file or serve a response to third party notice and is deemed to deny the facts alleged in the third party notice and to rely on the facts pleaded in that party's response to civil claim if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the third party notice contains no claim other than a claim for contribution or indemnity under the *Negligence Act*;
 - (b) the third party has filed and served a response to civil claim to the plaintiff's notice of civil claim;
 - (c) the third party intends, in defending against the third party notice, to rely on the facts set out in the third party's response to civil claim and on no other facts.

Application of rules

(11) Except to the extent that this rule otherwise provides, Rules 3-1 and 3-3 apply to a third party notice as if it were a notice of civil claim and to a response to third party notice as if it were a response to civil claim.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Response to civil claim

(12) A third party who has filed a response to third party notice may, within the period for filing and serving a response to the third party notice, file and serve on all parties of record a response to civil claim to the plaintiff's notice of civil claim, raising any defence open to a defendant.

Application for directions

(13) A party affected by a third party procedure may apply to the court for directions.

Powers of court

(14) The court may impose terms on any third party procedure to limit or avoid any prejudice or unnecessary delay that might otherwise be suffered by a party as a result of that third party procedure.

Third party issues

(15) An issue between the party filing the third party notice and the third party may be tried at the time the court may direct.

Default of response to third party notice

(16) If a third party has not filed a response to third party notice and the time for filing the response to third party notice has expired, the party who filed the third party notice may apply for judgment in default of response to third party notice against the third party and notice of the application must be served on each other party of record.

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Relief

(17) On an application under subrule (16), the court may grant any or all of the relief claimed in the third party notice.

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Rule 3-6 – Reply

Service of reply

(1) A plaintiff may, within 7 days after the response to civil claim has been served, file and serve on all parties of record a reply in Form 7 that accords with Rule 3-7.

Pleading subsequent to reply

2) No pleading subsequent to a reply may be filed or served without leave of the court.

Failure to reply

(3) If no reply to a response to civil claim is served, a joinder of issue on that response to civil claim is implied.

No joinder of issue

(4) A reply that is a simple joinder of issue must not be filed or served.

Rule 3-7 – Pleadings Generally

Content of Pleadings

Pleading must not contain evidence

(1) A pleading must not contain the evidence by which the facts alleged in it are to be proved.

Documents and conversations

(2) The effect of any document or the purport of any conversation referred to in a pleading, if material, must be stated briefly and the precise words of the documents or conversation must not be stated, except insofar as those words are themselves material.

When presumed facts need not be pleaded

- (3) A party need not plead a fact if
 - (a) the fact is presumed by law to be true, or
 - (b) the burden of disproving the fact lies on the other party.

When performance of a condition precedent need not be pleaded

(4) A party need not plead the performance of a condition precedent necessary for the party's case unless the other party has specifically denied it in the other party's pleadings.

Matters arising since start of proceeding

(5) A party may plead a matter that has arisen since the start of the proceeding.

Inconsistent allegations

(6) A party must not plead an allegation of fact or a new ground or claim inconsistent with the party's previous pleading.

Alternative allegations

(7) Subrule (6) does not affect the right of a party to make allegations in the alternative or to amend or apply for leave to amend a pleading.

Objection in point of law

(8) A party may raise in a pleading an objection in point of law.

Pleading conclusions of law

(9) Conclusions of law must not be pleaded unless the material facts supporting them are pleaded.

Status admitted

(10) Unless the incorporation of a corporate party or the office or status of a party is specifically denied, it is deemed to be admitted.

Set-off or counterclaim

(11) A defendant in an action may set off or set up by way of counterclaim any right or claim, whether the set-off or counterclaim is for damages or not, so as to enable the court to pronounce a final judgment on all claims in the same action.

Pleading after the notice of civil claim

- (12) In a pleading subsequent to a notice of civil claim, a party must plead specifically any matter of fact or point of law that
 - (a) the party alleges makes a claim or defence of the opposite party not maintainable,
 - (b) if not specifically pleaded, might take the other party by surprise, or
 - (c) raises issues of fact not arising out of the preceding pleading.

General relief

(13) A pleading need not ask for general or other relief.

General damages must not be pleaded

(14) If general damages are claimed, the amount of the general damages claimed must not be stated in any pleading.

Substance to be answered

(15) If a party in a pleading denies an allegation of fact in the previous pleading of the opposite party, the party must not do so evasively but must answer the point of substance.

Denial of contract

(16) If a contract, promise or agreement is alleged in a pleading, a bare denial of it by the opposite party is to be construed only as a denial of fact of the express contract, promise or agreement alleged, or of the matters of fact from which it may be implied by law, and not as a denial of the legality or sufficiency in law of that contract, promise or agreement.

Allegation of malice

(17) It is sufficient to allege malice, fraudulent intention, knowledge or other condition of the mind of a person as a fact, without setting out the circumstances from which it is to be inferred.

Particulars

When particulars necessary

(18) If the party pleading relies on misrepresentation, fraud, breach of trust, wilful default or undue influence, or if particulars may be necessary, full particulars, with dates and items if applicable, must be stated in the pleading.

Lengthy particulars

(19) If the particulars required under subrule (18) of debt, expenses or damages are lengthy, the party pleading may refer to this fact and, instead of pleading the particulars, must serve the particulars in a separate document either before or with the pleading.

Further particulars

- (20) Particulars need only be pleaded to the extent that they are known at the date of pleading, but further particulars
 - (a) may be served after they become known, and
 - (b) must be served within 10 days after a demand is made in writing.

Particulars in libel or slander

- (21) In an action for libel or slander.
 - (a) if the plaintiff alleges that the words or matter complained of were used in a derogatory sense other than their ordinary meaning, the plaintiff must give particulars of the facts and matters on which the plaintiff relies in support of that sense, and
 - (b) if the defendant alleges that, insofar as the words complained of consist of statements of fact, they are true in substance and in fact, and that insofar as they consist of expressions of opinion, they are fair comment on a matter of public interest, the defendant must give particulars stating which of the words complained of the defendant alleges are statements of fact and of the facts and matters relied on in support of the allegation that the words are true.

Order for particulars

(22) The court may order a party to serve further and better particulars of a matter stated in a pleading.

Demand for particulars

(23) Before applying to the court for particulars, a party must demand them in writing from the other party.

Demand for particulars not a stay of proceedings

(24) A demand for particulars does not operate as a stay of proceedings or give an extension of time, but a party may apply for an extension of time for serving a responding pleading on the ground that the party cannot answer the originating pleading until particulars are provided.

Rule 3-8 – Default Judgment

Default in filing and serving a response to civil claim

- (1) A plaintiff may proceed against a defendant under this rule if
 - (a) that defendant has not filed and served a response to civil claim, and
 - (b) the period for filing and serving the response to civil claim has expired.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Filings required

- (2) A plaintiff who wishes to proceed against a defendant under this rule must file
 - (a) proof of service of the notice of civil claim on that defendant,
 - (b) proof that the defendant has failed to serve a response to civil claim,
 - (c) a requisition endorsed by a registrar with a notation that no response to civil claim has been filed by that defendant, and
 - (d) a draft default judgment order in Form 8.

Claims for Which Default Judgment Is Available

(SUB)**Claim for specified or ascertainable amount**

01/11

- (3) If the plaintiff's action against a defendant includes a claim for recovery of money in a specified or ascertainable amount, the plaintiff may
 - (a) on that claim, obtain judgment in Form 8 against that defendant for an amount not exceeding the total of
 - (i) the amount claimed,
 - (ii) the interest, if any, to which the plaintiff is entitled, and
 - (iii) costs, and
 - (b) proceed against one or more of the defendants, including the defendant against whom judgment was obtained, on any other claims brought in the action that are not barred as a result of the judgment referred to in paragraph (a).

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(SUB)Interest

Jul 01/11

- (4) For the purpose of subrule (3), a claim may be treated as a claim for recovery of money in a specified or ascertainable amount even though
 - (a) part of the claim is for interest accruing after the date of the notice of civil claim, and
 - (b) the interest is to be computed from the date of the notice of civil claim to the date that judgment is granted.

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(SUB)Claim for damages to be assessed

Jul 01/11

- (5) If the plaintiff's action against a defendant includes a claim for damages in an amount that is neither specified nor ascertainable, the plaintiff may
 - (a) on that claim, obtain judgment in Form 8 against that defendant for damages to be assessed and costs, and
 - (b) proceed against one or more of the defendants, including the defendant against whom judgment was obtained, on any other claims brought in the action that are not barred as a result of the judgment referred to in paragraph (a).

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(SUB)Claim for detention of goods

Jul 01/11

- (6) If the plaintiff's action against a defendant includes a claim for the detention of goods, the plaintiff may
 - (a) on that claim, obtain
 - (i) judgment in Form 8 against that defendant for the delivery of the goods, or their value to be assessed and costs, or
 - (ii) judgment in Form 8 against that defendant for the value of the goods to be assessed and costs, and
 - (b) proceed against one or more of the defendants, including the defendant against whom judgment was obtained, on any other claims brought in the action that are not barred as a result of the judgment referred to in paragraph (a).

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(REP) Repealed

Jul 01/11

(7) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A]

(AM) Application to judge or master

Jul 01/11

(8) If a registrar is not certain that a plaintiff's claim against a defendant relates to a claim within subrule (3), (5) or (6), the registrar may refuse to grant judgment and the plaintiff may apply to a judge or master for default judgment.

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(SUB)Judgment in other actions

Jul 01/11

(9) If the plaintiff's claim against a defendant is not one referred to in subrule (3), (5) or (6), the plaintiff may apply for judgment against the defendant under subrule (10).

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(SUB)**Application for judgment**

01/11

- (10) The following apply to an application under subrule (9):
 - (a) the application may be brought under Rule 8-4;
 - (b) the application must be supported by an affidavit setting out the facts that verify the claim and stating that the person swearing the affidavit knows of no fact that would constitute a defence to the claim except as to amount;
 - (c) if the action in which the application is made is brought against several defendants, the court may
 - (i) impose terms on any judgment for the plaintiff, including a stay of execution of the judgment until the trial of the action against the other defendants, or
 - (ii) adjourn the application until the trial of the action against the other defendants.

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Court may set aside or vary default judgment

(11) The court may set aside or vary any judgment granted under this rule.

Assessments

Method of assessment

- (12) Subject to subrule (13), if a plaintiff has obtained judgment for damages to be assessed or value to be assessed,
 - (a) the plaintiff may set the assessment down for trial, and
 - (b) if the assessment is set for trial, unless the court otherwise orders, the assessment must be tried at the same time as the trial of the action or issues against any other defendant.

(AM) Alternative methods of assessment

01/11

- (13) If a plaintiff has obtained judgment under subrule (5) or (6), the plaintiff may, instead of proceeding to trial to assess the damages or the value of the goods, apply to the court, and, on that application, the court may
 - (a) assess the damages or value of the goods summarily on affidavit or other evidence,
 - (b) order an assessment, an inquiry or an accounting,
 - (c) give directions as to the trial or hearing of the assessment or determination of value, or
 - (d) make any other order the court considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

PART 4 – Service

Rule 4-1 – Address for Service

(SUB)Required addresses for service of party represented by lawyer Sep 01/23

- (1) A party of record to a proceeding who is represented by a lawyer must have, as the party's addresses for service, both
 - (a) an e-mail address, if available, and
 - (b) an accessible address that is an office address of that lawyer.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Required addresses for service of unrepresented party Sep

Seр 01/23

- (1.1) A party of record to a proceeding who is not represented by a lawyer must
 - (a) have, as the party's addresses for service, both
 - (i) an e-mail address, if available, and
 - (ii) an accessible address within 30 kilometres of the registry, or
 - (b) if the party does not have an accessible address within 30 kilometres of the registry, have, as the party's addresses for service, both
 - (i) an e-mail address, if available, and
 - (ii) either
 - (A) a postal address in British Columbia, or
 - (B) a fax number.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Additional addresses for service

(AM) Sep 01/23

- (2) A party may have, in addition to the address or addresses for service the party is required to have under subrule (1) or (1.1), one or more of the following as addresses for service:
 - (a) a postal address;
 - (b) a fax number:

(SUB) Sep 01/23 (c) an additional e-mail address.

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Change of address for service

(AM) Sep 01/23

01/23

- (3) A party of record may change the party's address or addresses for service by filing and serving on the other parties of record a notice of address for service in Form 9 that shows, for the party,
- (AM) (a) the address or addresses for service required under subrule (1) or (1.1), and Sen
 - (b) any additional addresses for service referred to in subrule (2) that the party wishes to include.

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Rule 4-2 – Ordinary Service

Documents normally to be served by ordinary service

(1) Subject to Rule 4-3 (1) and unless the court otherwise orders, documents to be served by a party under these Supreme Court Civil Rules may be served by ordinary service.

How to serve documents by ordinary service

- (2) Unless the court otherwise orders, ordinary service of a document is to be effected in any of the following ways on a person who has provided an address for service in the proceeding:
 - (a) by leaving the document at the person's address for service;
 - (b) by mailing the document by ordinary mail to the person's address for service;
 - subject to subrule (5) of this rule, if a fax number is provided as one of the person's addresses for service, by faxing the document to that fax number together with a fax cover sheet:
 - (d) if an e-mail address is provided as one of the person's addresses for service, by e-mailing the document to that e-mail address.

When service by delivery is deemed to be completed

- (3) A document served by leaving it at a person's address for service is deemed to be served on the person as follows:
 - (a) if the document is left at the address for service at or before 4 p.m. on a day that is not a Saturday or holiday, the document is deemed to be served on the day of service;
 - (b) if the document is left at the address for service on a Saturday or holiday or after 4 p.m. on any other day, the document is deemed to be served on the next day that is not a Saturday or holiday.

When service by mail is deemed to be completed

(4) A document sent for service by ordinary mail under this rule is deemed to be served one week later on the same day of the week as the day of mailing or, if that deemed day of service is a Saturday or holiday, on the next day that is not a Saturday or holiday.

When documents may be served by fax

- (5) A document may be served by fax as follows:
 - (a) if the document, including the fax cover sheet, is less than 30 pages, the document may be served by fax at any time;
 - (b) if the document, including the fax cover sheet, is 30 pages or more, the document may be served by fax if it is transmitted
 - (i) between 5 p.m. and the following 8 a.m., or
 - (ii) at another time if the person receiving the document agreed to that time before service.

When service by fax or e-mail is deemed to be completed

(6) A document transmitted for service by fax or e-mail under this rule is deemed to be served as follows:

- (a) if the document is transmitted before 4 p.m. on a day that is not a Saturday or holiday, the document is deemed to be served on the day of transmission;
- (b) if the document is transmitted on a Saturday or holiday or after 4 p.m. on any other day, the document is deemed to be served on the next day that is not a Saturday or holiday.

If no address for service given

- (7) If, despite these Supreme Court Civil Rules, a party of record on whom a document is to be served has no address for service, and if these Supreme Court Civil Rules do not specify that the document must be served by personal service on the party,
 - (a) the document may be served by mailing a copy of the document by ordinary mail to
 - (i) the party's lawyer, or
 - (ii) if the party has no lawyer representing the party in the proceeding, to the party's last known address, and
 - (b) subrule (4) applies.

(ADD)Request for copy of document served by e-mail Sep 01/23

(8) If a document is transmitted for service by e-mail and the person receiving the document requests, within 3 days of receiving that document, that a copy be sent to another address for service for that person, the party who served the document by e-mail must provide the copy at the requested address for service within 7 days of receiving that request or as agreed upon by the parties.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Rule 4-3 – Personal Service

When documents must be served by personal service

- (1) Unless the court otherwise orders or these Supreme Court Civil Rules otherwise provide, the following documents must be served by personal service in accordance with subrule (2):
 - (a) a notice of civil claim;
 - (b) a petition;
 - (c) a counterclaim if that counterclaim is being served on a person who is not a party of record;
 - (d) a third party notice if that third party notice is being served on a person who is not a party of record;
 - (e) a subpoena to a witness who is not a party of record;
 - (f) a subpoena to a debtor under Rule 13-3;
 - (f.1) a subpoena under Rule 25-12;

(ADD) Mar 31/14 (AM) Mar 31/14

- (g) a citation referred to in Rule 25-11;
- (h) a notice of intention to withdraw under Rule 22-6 if that notice is being served on the person who was being represented by the lawyer who filed the notice;
- (i) a notice of application under Rule 22-8 for an order for contempt;

- (j) any document not mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (i) of this subrule that is to be served on a person who is not a party of record to the proceeding or who has not provided an address for service in the proceeding under Rule 8-1 (11);
- (k) any other document that under these Supreme Court Civil Rules is to be served by personal service.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

How to serve documents by personal service

- (2) Unless the court otherwise orders, personal service of a document is to be effected as follows:
 - (a) on an individual, by leaving a copy of the document with him or her;
 - (b) on a corporation,
 - (i) by leaving a copy of the document with the president, chair, mayor or other chief officer of the corporation,
 - (ii) by leaving a copy of the document with the city clerk or municipal clerk,
 - (iii) by leaving a copy of the document with the manager, cashier, superintendent, treasurer, secretary, clerk or agent of the corporation or of any branch or agency of the corporation in British Columbia, or
 - (iv) in the manner provided by the *Business Corporations Act* or any enactment relating to the service of court documents,
 - and, for the purpose of this paragraph, if the chief place of business of the corporation is outside British Columbia, every person who, within British Columbia, transacts or carries on any of the business of, or any business for, that corporation is deemed to be an agent of the corporation;
 - (c) on an unincorporated association, other than a trade union, by leaving a copy of the document with any officer of the association;
 - (d) on a trade union, by leaving a copy of the document with any officer of the trade union or with a business agent;
 - (e) on an infant, in the manner provided by the *Infants Act*;
 - (f) on a mentally incompetent person, by leaving a copy of the document
 - (i) with the person's committee or, if there is no committee, with the person with whom the mentally incompetent person resides or in whose care he or she is or with the person appointed by the court to be served in the mentally incompetent person's place, and
 - (ii) with the Public Guardian and Trustee,
 - and in no case is it necessary to show the original document;
 - (g) on a principal referred to in subrule (3), in accordance with subrules (3) to (5);
 - (h) on the Attorney General, in accordance with subrule (6).

Agent may be served

(3) If an agent residing or carrying on business in British Columbia enters into a contract, in British Columbia, on behalf of a principal who resides outside British Columbia, and a proceeding is brought that relates to or arises out of that contract, a pleading or other document in that proceeding may be served on the agent with leave of the court.

Court may grant leave

(4) The court may make an order granting leave under subrule (3) before the agent's authority or the agent's business relations with the principal have been determined.

Notice to principal

- (5) Promptly after a pleading or other document is served on an agent under subrule (3), the party serving the pleading or other document must send, by registered mail to the principal at the principal's address outside British Columbia,
 - (a) a copy of the entered order giving leave for that service, and
 - (b) a copy of the filed pleading or other document.

Service on Attorney General

(AM) May 18/18

(6) A document to be served on the Attorney General must be served at the Ministry of Attorney General in the City of Victoria, and is sufficiently served if it is left during office hours with any lawyer on the staff of the Attorney General at Victoria or mailed by registered mail to the Deputy Attorney General at Victoria.

[am. B.C. Regs. 27/2013, Sch. 2; 99/2018, Sch. 2.]

When personal service is deemed to be completed

- (7) A document served by personal service is deemed to be served as follows:
 - (a) if the document is served at or before 4 p.m. on a day that is not a Saturday or holiday, the document is deemed to be served on the day of service;
 - (b) if the document is served on a Saturday or holiday or after 4 p.m. on any other day, the document is deemed to be served on the next day that is not a Saturday or holiday.

Date of deemed service

(8) If an originating pleading or petition has not been served on a person, but the person files a responding pleading or response to petition or attends at the trial or at the hearing of the petition, the originating pleading or petition is deemed to have been served on that person on the date the person files or attends.

Rule 4-4 – Alternative Methods of Service

Alternative service methods

- (1) If it is impracticable to serve a document by personal service or if the person to be served by personal service
 - (a) cannot be found after a diligent search, or
 - (b) is evading service of the documents,

the court may, on application without notice, make an order for substituted service granting permission to use an alternative method of service.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

If an alternative service method is permitted

- (2) If a document is to be served by an alternative method permitted under subrule (1), a copy of the entered substituted service order that granted permission to use that alternative method must be served with the document unless
 - (a) the court otherwise orders, or
 - (b) the alternative method of service permitted under subrule (1) is service by advertisement.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Service by advertisement

(3) If, under subrule (1), the court permits a document to be served by advertisement, the advertisement must be in Form 10.

Rule 4-5 – Service outside British Columbia

Service outside British Columbia without leave

(1) An originating pleading, petition or other document may be served on a person outside British Columbia without leave in any of the circumstances enumerated in section 10 of the *Court Jurisdiction and Proceedings Transfer Act*.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Required endorsement

(2) A copy of an originating pleading or petition served outside British Columbia without leave must state, by endorsement in Form 11, the circumstances enumerated in section 10 of the *Court Jurisdiction and Proceedings Transfer Act* on which it is claimed that service is permitted under this rule.

Application for leave to serve outside the jurisdiction

(3) In any case not provided for in subrule (1), leave of the court must be obtained before an originating pleading, petition or other document may be served outside British Columbia, and the court may grant such leave on an application referred to in subrule (4).

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Applications may be made without notice

- (4) An application for leave to serve a person outside British Columbia
 - (a) may be made without notice in accordance with Rule 8-1 (2) (b), and
 - (b) must be supported by an affidavit or other evidence showing
 - (i) in what place or country that person is or probably may be found, and
 - (ii) the grounds on which the application is made.

Service of order and related documents

- (5) If an order is made granting leave to serve an originating pleading, petition or other document outside British Columbia, the following documents must be served with that originating pleading, petition or other document:
 - (a) a copy of the filed notice of application or requisition for leave to serve;
 - (b) a copy of all filed affidavits in support of the application;
 - (c) a copy of the entered order granting leave to serve.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

If service without leave valid

(6) This rule does not invalidate service of a document outside British Columbia without leave of the court if the document could have been validly served apart from this rule.

Contract containing terms for service

- (7) Despite this rule, the parties to a contract may agree
 - (a) that the court will have jurisdiction to hear a proceeding in respect of the contract, and
 - (b) that a document in the proceeding may be served
 - (i) at any place, within or outside British Columbia,
 - (ii) on any party,
 - (iii) on any person on behalf of any party, or
 - (iv) in any manner

specified or indicated in the contract.

Contract does not invalidate effective service

(8) Service of a document in accordance with a contract referred to in subrule (7) is effective service, but no contractual stipulation as to service of a document invalidates service that would otherwise be effective under these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Definition

(9) In subrules (10) to (13), "Convention" means the Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents in Civil or Commercial Matters, signed at the Hague on November 15, 1965.

Manner of service abroad

- (10) A document may be served outside British Columbia
 - (a) in a manner provided by these Supreme Court Civil Rules for service in British Columbia.
 - (b) in a manner provided by the law of the place where service is made if, by that manner of service, the document could reasonably be expected to come to the notice of the person to be served, or

(c) in a state that is a contracting state under the Convention, in a manner provided by or permitted under the Convention.

Proof of service abroad

- (11) Service of a document outside British Columbia may be proved
 - (a) in a manner provided by these Supreme Court Civil Rules for proof of service in British Columbia
 - (b) in the manner provided for proof of service by the law of the place where service was made regardless of the manner under subrule (10) by which service was effected, or
 - (c) in accordance with the Convention, if service was effected under subrule (10) (c).

Forms

(12) If service is to be made in accordance with Article 5 of the Convention, Forms 12 and 13 must be used.

Certificate

(13) If an authority has, in accordance with Article 6 of the Convention, completed a certificate in Form 14, the certificate is evidence of the facts stated in it.

Rule 4-6 – Proving Service

Proof of service

- (1) Service of a document is proved as follows:
 - (a) service on a person of an originating pleading is proved
 - (i) by filing an affidavit of personal service in Form 15, or
 - (ii) by the person filing a responding pleading;
 - (b) service on a person of a petition is proved
 - (i) by filing an affidavit of personal service in Form 15, or
 - (ii) by the person filing a response to petition;
 - (c) service of any other document served by personal service is proved by filing an affidavit of personal service in Form 15;
 - (d) service of any document that is served by ordinary service is proved
 - (i) by filing an affidavit of ordinary service in Form 16, or
 - (ii) by filing a requisition in Form 17 to which is attached a written acknowledgment of receipt signed by the party or lawyer on whom the document was served.

Proof of service by sheriff

(2) Service of a document by a sheriff may be proved by a certificate in Form 18 endorsed on a copy of the document.

Service on member of Canadian Armed Forces

(3) If a member of the Canadian Armed Forces has been served with a document by an officer of the Canadian Armed Forces, proof of the service in the form of a certificate annexed to a copy of the document served, signed by the officer and stating his or her rank and when, where and how service was effected, may be filed as proof of service.

Admissibility of other evidence of service

(4) Nothing in subrules (1) to (3) restricts the court from considering any other evidence of service that the court considers appropriate in the circumstances.

Rule 4-7 – Relief

If service is alleged to be ineffective

- (1) If a document has been served in accordance with this Part but a person can show that the document
 - (a) did not come to his or her notice,
 - (b) came to his or her notice later than when it was served, or
 - (c) was incomplete or illegible,

the court may set aside an order, extend time, order an adjournment or make such other order as it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

PART 5 – Case Planning

Rule 5-1 – Requesting a Case Planning Conference

Case planning conference may be requested

- (1) A party of record to an action may, at any time after the pleading period has expired, request a case planning conference by
 - (a) obtaining a date and time for the case planning conference from the registry, and
 - (b) filing a notice of case planning conference in Form 19.

Case planning conference may be directed

- (2) Without limiting subrule (1), at any stage of an action after the pleading period has expired, the court
 - (a) may direct that a case planning conference take place, and
 - (b) in that case, must direct that a party request a case planning conference in accordance with subrule (1).

Time for service of notice

(AM)

Sep 01/23 (REP)

Sep 01/23

- (3) Unless the court otherwise orders or the parties of record otherwise agree, a party who is requesting a case planning conference under subrule (1) or who has been directed to file a notice of case planning conference under subrule (2) must serve the filed notice of case planning conference on the other parties of record,
 - (a) in the case of the first case planning conference to be held in the action, at least 35 days, or any shorter period that the court may order, before the date set for the case planning conference, and
 - (b) in the case of any other case planning conference to be held in the action, at least 7 days, or any shorter period that the court may order, before the date set for the case planning conference.

Application must be made by requisition

- (4) An application under subrule (3) (a) or (b) to shorten the service period applicable to a notice of case planning conference
 - (a) must be made by requisition in Form 19.1, and

(b) *Repealed*. [B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1]

(c) unless the court otherwise orders, may be made without notice.

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Case plan proposal required

(5) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a case planning conference is requested or ordered under this rule, the parties of record must, before the first case planning conference to be held in the action, file case plan proposals as follows:

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

(SUB) Jul 01/14	(a)	the party of record who is requesting the case planning conference must, within 14 days after serving the notice of case planning conference,
(SUB) Jul 01/14	(b)	 (i) file the party's case plan proposal, and (ii) serve a copy of the filed case plan proposal on all other parties of record; each other party of record must, within 14 days after receipt of the case plan proposal referred to in paragraph (a),

- (i) file the party's case plan proposal, and
- (ii) serve a copy of the filed case plan proposal on all other parties of record. [am. B.C. Reg. 120/2014.]

Contents of case plan proposal

- (6) A party's case plan proposal referred to in subrule (5) must be in Form 20 and must, in a summary manner, indicate the party's proposal with respect to the following steps:
 - (a) discovery of documents;
 - (b) examinations for discovery;
 - (c) dispute resolution procedures;
 - (d) expert witnesses;
 - (e) witness lists;
 - (f) trial type, estimated trial length and preferred periods for the trial date.

Rule 5-2 – Conduct of Case Planning Conference

Case planning conference must be conducted by judge or master

(1) A case planning conference held in an action must be conducted by a judge or master.

Who must attend

- (2) Unless the court otherwise orders, the following persons must attend a case planning conference in accordance with subrule (3):
 - (a) each lawyer representing a party of record;
 - (b) a party of record if
 - (i) the party is not represented by a lawyer in the action, or
 - (ii) the party is ordered to attend by the court.

Manner of attendance

- (3) Unless the court otherwise orders, a lawyer or party of record referred to in subrule (2) must
 - (a) attend in person at the first case planning conference held in an action, and
 - (b) attend any subsequent case planning conference held in the action

- (i) by telephone or other communication medium, if all persons participating in the case planning conference, whether by telephone, by other communication medium or in person, are able to communicate with each other, or
- (ii) in person.

Application must be made by requisition

(b)

- (4) Each application under subrule (2) for an order exempting a person from attending a case planning conference and an application under subrule (3) respecting the method of attendance
- (AM) (a) must be made by requisition in Form 20.1, and Sep 01/23
 - (c) unless the court otherwise orders, may be made without notice. [am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1]

Considerations of the court

(REP)

Sep 01/23

- (5) If an application is brought under subrule (2) for an order exempting a person from attending a case planning conference, the court may make such an order if the court considers that
 - (a) it is not reasonably possible for the person to attend given the distance the person has to travel for that attendance or the cost required for that attendance,
 - (b) attendance must be excused on health or compassionate grounds, or
 - (c) other extraordinary circumstances exist that justify the order.

Non-attendance at case planning conference

- (6) If a person who, under subrule (2), is required to attend a case planning conference fails to attend at that case planning conference, the case planning conference judge or master may do one or more of the following:
 - (a) proceed in the absence of the person who failed to attend;
 - (b) adjourn the case planning conference;
 - (c) order that the person, or the party on whose behalf the person was to attend, pay costs to one or more other parties.

Proceedings must be recorded

(7) Proceedings at a case planning conference must be recorded, but no part of that recording may be made available to or used by any person without court order.

Rule 5-3 – Case Planning Conference Orders

Orders

- (1) At a case planning conference, the case planning conference judge or master may make one or more of the following orders in respect of the action, whether or not on the application of a party:
 - (a) setting a timetable for the steps to be taken;
 - (b) amending a previous case plan order;
 - (c) any order referred to in Rule 22-4 (2);
 - (d) requiring amendment of a pleading to provide details of
 - (i) the facts,
 - (ii) the relief sought, or
 - (iii) the legal basis on which relief is sought or opposed
 - set out in that pleading;
 - (e) respecting the length and content of pleadings;
 - (f) respecting discovery, listing, production, preservation, exchange or examination of documents or exhibits, including, without limitation, orders
 - (i) respecting electronically stored information, and
 - (ii) that discovery, listing, production, exchange or examination be limited or otherwise conducted as ordered;
 - (g) respecting discovery of parties or the examination or inspection of persons or property, including, without limitation, that discovery, examination or inspection be limited, expanded or otherwise conducted in the manner ordered;
 - (h) respecting interrogatories;
 - (i) respecting third party claims, including imposing terms on any third party procedure to limit or avoid any prejudice or unnecessary delay that might otherwise be suffered by the plaintiff as a result of that third party procedure;
 - (j) respecting witness lists;
 - (k) respecting experts, including, without limitation, orders
 - (i) that the expert evidence on any one or more issues be given by one jointly-instructed expert,
 - (ii) respecting the number of experts a party may call,
 - (iii) that the parties' experts must confer before the service of their respective reports,
 - (iv) setting a date by which an expert's report must be served on the other parties of record, and
 - (v) respecting the issues on which an expert may be called;
 - (l) respecting admissions;
 - (m) respecting offers to settle;
 - (n) respecting the conduct of any application, including, without limitation, that an application may be made by written submissions under Rule 8-6;
 - (o) requiring the parties of record to attend one or more of a mediation, a settlement conference or any other dispute resolution process, and giving directions for the conduct of the mediation, settlement conference or other dispute resolution process;

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (p) authorizing or directing the parties of record to try one or more issues in the action independently of others;
- (q) fixing the length of trial;
- (r) respecting the place at which any step in the action is to be conducted;
- (s) setting the action for trial on a particular date or on a particular trial list;
- (s.1) striking out a counterclaim or directing that a counterclaim be tried separately;
- (t) adjourning the case planning conference;
- (u) directing the parties to attend a further case planning conference at a specified date and time:
- (v) any orders the judge or master considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Prohibited orders

- (2) A case planning conference judge or master must not, at a case planning conference,
 - (a) hear any application supported by affidavit evidence, except under subrule (6), or
 - (b) make an order for final judgment, except by consent or under subrule (6).

Case plan order required

(3) Without limiting subrules (1) and (2), the judge or master conducting a case planning conference must, at the conclusion of the case planning conference, make a case plan order.

Case plan order

- (4) A case plan order under subrule (3) must be in Form 21 and
 - (a) must set out any order made under subrule (1), and
 - (b) may but need not include any other matter referred to in Form 21.

When approval in writing by lawyer not required

(5) Without limiting Rule 13-1 (2), if a case plan order under subrule (3) is approved in writing by the case planning conference judge or master, that order need not be approved in writing by a lawyer or by a party.

Consequences of non-compliance

- (6) If a party fails to comply with this Part or an order made under this rule or if anything is done or omitted improperly or unnecessarily by or on behalf of a party in relation to anything under this Part, the court may, on application, do one or both of the following:
 - (a) make an order under Rule 22-7;
 - (b) despite any other provision of these Supreme Court Civil Rules to the contrary and without limiting Rule 14-1 (14),

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (i) award costs of the application in a lump sum fixed under Schedule 3 of Appendix B, and
- (ii) set the period within which those costs must be paid.

Application may be made at case planning conference

(7) Without limiting Part 8, a party may apply for an order under subrule (6) at a case planning conference.

(ADD)Amendments to case plan orders Apr

04/22

- (8) Without limiting the ability of a case planning conference judge or master to amend a case plan order at a case planning conference under Rule 5-3 (1) (b), the parties may apply to amend a case plan order as follows:
 - if the application is to be by consent, the parties must apply under Rule 8-1 (2) (a);
 - if the application is not to be by consent, a party of record must request a (b) subsequent case planning conference under Rule 5-1.

[en. B.C. Reg. 321/2021, Sch. 1.]

Rule 5-4 – Repealed

(REP) (1) to (3) Repealed

04/22

(1) to (3) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 321/2021, Sch. 1]

PART 6 – Amendment of Pleadings and Change of Parties

Rule 6-1 – Amendment of Pleadings

(SUB)When pleadings may be amended

Jul 01/14 (AM) Jul 01/19

- (1) Subject to Rules 6-2 (7) and (10) and 7-7 (5), a party may amend the whole or any part of a pleading filed by the party, other than to change parties or withdraw an admission,
 - (a) once without leave of the court, at any time before service of the notice of trial, or
 - (b) after the notice of trial is served, only with
 - (i) leave of the court, or
 - (ii) written consent of the parties. [en. B.C. Reg. 120/2014; am. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

How amendments made

- (2) Unless the court otherwise orders, to amend a pleading under subrule (1), a party must
 - (a) amend the pleading in accordance with subrule (3),
 - (b) indicate on the amended pleading the date on which the original version of the pleading was filed, and
 - (c) file the amended pleading.

Identifying amendments

- (3) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a pleading is amended under this rule,
 - (a) any deleted wording must be shown as struck out, and
 - (b) any new wording must be underlined.

Service of amended documents

- (4) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a party amends a pleading under this rule, the party must do both of the following:
 - (a) within 7 days after filing the amended pleading, serve, by ordinary service, a copy of the filed amended pleading on all parties of record;
 - (b) if the amended pleading is an originating pleading, promptly after filing the amended pleading and before taking any further step in the proceeding, serve, by personal service, a copy of the filed amended originating pleading on any person who
 - (i) was served with a copy of the filed original version of the originating pleading, and
 - (ii) has not filed a responding pleading to the original version of the originating pleading.

Response of a party to amended document

- (5) If a pleading (in this subrule and in subrule (6) called the "primary pleading") is amended under this rule and the amended pleading is served on a party of record under subrule (4) (a), that party
 - (a) may amend, under this rule, any pleading he or she had filed in response to the original version of the primary pleading but only with respect to any matter raised by the amendments to the primary pleading, and
 - (b) in that event, must, within 14 days after being served with the amended pleading, serve a copy of the filed amended responding pleading on all parties of record.

Failure to serve amended responding document

- (6) If a party on whom an amended pleading is served under subrule (4) (a) does not serve an amended responding pleading as provided in subrule (5),
 - (a) the pleading he or she filed in response to the original version of the primary pleading is deemed to be the pleading he or she filed in response to the amended pleading, and
 - (b) any new facts set out in the amended pleading are deemed to be outside the knowledge of the defendant.

Responding to amended pleading

(7) If an originating pleading is amended under this rule and served under subrule (4) (b) on a person who is not yet a party of record, the person has the same period for filing a responding pleading to that amended originating pleading as the party had to file a responding pleading to the original version of the originating pleading.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Amendment at trial

(8) Unless the court otherwise orders, if an amendment is granted during a trial or hearing, an order need not be taken out and the amended pleading need not be filed or served.

Rule 6-2 – Change of Parties

Change of Party Status or Interest

Party ceasing to exist

(1) If a party dies or becomes bankrupt, or a corporate party is wound up or otherwise ceases to exist, but the claim survives, the proceeding may continue in spite of the death or bankruptcy or the corporate party having been wound up or ceasing to exist.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Effect of death

(2) Whether or not the claim survives, a proceeding may continue in spite of either party dying between the verdict or finding on the issues of fact and the entry of judgment, but judgment may be entered despite the death.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Assignment or conveyance of interest

(3) If, by assignment, conveyance or death, an estate, interest or title devolves or is transferred, a proceeding relating to that estate, interest or title may be continued by or against the person on whom that estate, interest or title has devolved or to whom that estate, interest or title has been transferred.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Change or transmission of interest or liability

- (4) If, after the start of a proceeding,
 - (a) a change or transmission of interest or liability of a party takes place or a person interested comes into existence, and
 - (b) it becomes necessary or desirable that
 - (i) a person not already a party should be made a party, or
 - (ii) a person already a party should be made a party in another capacity,

the court may order that the proceeding be continued between the continuing parties and the new party.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Prosecution of proceeding if plaintiff or petitioner dies

(5) If a plaintiff or petitioner has died and the proceeding may be continued, a defendant or respondent may apply to the court for an order that the person entitled to proceed within the time that the court orders and that, in default, the proceeding be dismissed for want of prosecution.

Costs on dismissal

(6) If a proceeding is dismissed under subrule (5), an order for payment of costs may be made and enforced against the assets of the deceased's estate.

Change of Parties

Adding, removing or substituting parties by order

- (7) At any stage of a proceeding, the court, on application by any person, may, subject to subrules (9) and (10),
 - (a) order that a person cease to be party if that person is not, or has ceased to be, a proper or necessary party,
 - (b) order that a person be added or substituted as a party if
 - (i) that person ought to have been joined as a party, or
 - (ii) that person's participation in the proceeding is necessary to ensure that all matters in the proceeding may be effectually adjudicated on, and
 - (c) order that a person be added as a party if there may exist, between the person and any party to the proceeding, a question or issue relating to or connected with

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (i) any relief claimed in the proceeding, or
- (ii) the subject matter of the proceeding

that, in the opinion of the court, it would be just and convenient to determine as between the person and that party.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Procedure if party added, removed or substituted by order

- (8) Unless the court otherwise orders, if an order is made under subrule (7) adding, removing or substituting a party,
 - (a) the originating pleading or petition must be amended in accordance with these Supreme Court Civil Rules, a reference to the order must be endorsed on that amended pleading or petition and Rule 6-1 (4) to (7) applies,
 - (b) no further steps may be taken against a person added or substituted as a party under this subrule until a copy of the filed amended originating pleading or filed amended petition and a copy of the entered order adding or substituting the party are served on the person, and
 - (c) if a person is made a party under the order,
 - (i) the person may apply to the court to vary or discharge the order within 21 days after the date on which the order is served on the person under paragraph (b) of this subrule, and
 - (ii) unless the court orders, in an application under subparagraph (i) of this paragraph or otherwise, that the person not be added as a party, these Supreme Court Civil Rules apply in relation to that added party as if the amended originating pleading or petition were a new originating pleading or petition.

If case plan order in effect

- (9) If an order is made under subrule (4) or (7) in an action in which a case plan order has been made,
 - (a) if a person is removed as a party, the case plan order remains in effect, and
 - (b) if a person is added or substituted as a party and that person becomes a party of record, no step may be taken by or against the added or substituted party until the case plan order is amended to apply to the added or substituted party.

(ADD)Application without notice

Jul 01/19

(9.1) Unless the court otherwise orders, an application under subrule (7) may be made without notice to any person who is not a party.

[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

General

Consent required

(10) A person must not be added or substituted as a plaintiff or petitioner without the person's consent.

Effect of order

(11) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a person becomes a party in substitution for a former party, all things done in the proceeding before the person became a party have the same effect in relation to that person as they had in relation to the former party, but the substituted party must file a notice of address for service in Form 9.

PART 7 – Procedures For Ascertaining Facts

Rule 7-1 – Discovery and Inspection of Documents

List of documents

- (1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period,
 - (a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists
 - (i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or control and that could, if available, be used by any party of record at trial to prove or disprove a material fact, and
 - (ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and
 - (b) serve the list on all parties of record.

Documents to be enumerated

(2) Subject to subrules (6) and (7), each party's list of documents must include a brief description of each listed document.

Insurance policy

- (3) A party must include in the party's list of documents any insurance policy under which an insurer may be liable
 - (a) to satisfy the whole or any part of a judgment granted in the action, or
 - (b) to indemnify or reimburse any party for any money paid by that party in satisfaction of the whole or any part of such a judgment.

Information not to be disclosed

(4) Despite subrule (3), information concerning the insurance policy must not be disclosed to the court at trial unless it is relevant to an issue in the action.

Insurance policy

(5) For the purposes of subrules (3) and (4), "insurance policy" does not include an application for insurance.

Claim for privilege

(6) If it is claimed that a document is privileged from production, the claim must be made in the list of documents with a statement of the grounds of the privilege.

Nature of privileged documents to be described

(7) The nature of any document for which privilege from production is claimed must be described in a manner that, without revealing information that is privileged, will enable other parties to assess the validity of the claim of privilege.

Affidavit verifying list of documents

(8) The court may order a party of record to serve an affidavit verifying a list of documents.

Amending the list of documents

- (9) If, after a list of documents has been served under this rule,
 - (a) it comes to the attention of the party serving it that the list is inaccurate or incomplete, or
 - (b) there comes into the party's possession or control a document that could be used by any party of record at trial to prove or disprove a material fact or any other document to which the party intends to refer at trial,

the party must promptly amend the list of documents and serve the amended list of documents on the other parties of record.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Party may demand documents required under this rule

- (10) If a party who has received a list of documents believes that the list omits documents or a class of documents that should have been disclosed under subrule (1) (a) or (9), the party may, by written demand, require the party who prepared the list to
 - (a) amend the list of documents,
 - (b) serve on the demanding party the amended list of documents, and
 - (c) make the originals of the newly listed documents available for inspection and copying in accordance with subrules (15) and (16).

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Party may demand additional documents

- (11) If a party who has received a list of documents believes that the list should include documents or classes of documents that
 - (a) are within the listing party's possession, power or control,
 - (b) relate to any or all matters in question in the action, and
 - (c) are additional to the documents or classes of documents required under subrule (1) (a) or (9),

the party, by written demand that identifies the additional documents or classes of documents with reasonable specificity and that indicates the reason why such additional documents or classes of documents should be disclosed, may require the listing party to

- (d) amend the list of documents.
- (e) serve on the demanding party the amended list of documents, and
- (f) make the originals of the newly listed documents available for inspection and copying in accordance with subrules (15) and (16).

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Response to demand for documents

- (12) A party who receives a demand under subrule (10) or (11) must, within 35 days after receipt, do one of the following:
 - (a) comply with the demand in relation to the demanded documents;
 - (b) comply with the demand in relation to those of the demanded documents that the party is prepared to list and indicate, in relation to the balance of the demanded documents,
 - (i) why an amended list of documents that includes those documents is not being prepared and served, and
 - (ii) why those documents are not being made available;
 - (c) indicate, in relation to the demanded documents,
 - (i) why an amended list of documents that includes those documents is not being prepared and served, and
 - (ii) why those documents are not being made available.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Application for production of documents

(13) If a party who receives a demand under subrule (10) or (11) does not, within 35 days after receipt, comply with the demand in relation to the demanded documents, the demanding party may apply for an order requiring the listing party to comply with the demand.

Court may alter requirements

- (14) On an application under subrule (13) or otherwise, the court may
 - (a) order that a party be excused from compliance with subrule (1), (3), (6), (15) or (16) or with a demand under subrule (10) or (11), either generally or in respect of one or more documents or classes of documents, or
 - (b) order a party to
 - (i) amend the list of documents to list additional documents that are or have been in the party's possession, power or control relating to any or all matters in question in the action.
 - (ii) serve the amended list of documents on all parties of record, and
 - (iii) make the originals of the newly listed documents available for inspection and copying in accordance with subrules (15) and (16).

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Inspection of documents

(15) A party who has served a list of documents on any other party must allow the other party to inspect and copy, during normal business hours and at the location specified in the list of documents, the listed documents except those documents that the listing party objects to producing.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Copies of documents

(16) If a party is entitled to inspect listed documents under subrule (15), the listing party must, on the request of the party entitled to inspection and on receiving payment in advance of the cost of reproduction and service, serve on the requesting party copies of the documents, if reproducible, for which a request has been made.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Order to produce document

(17) The court may order the production of a document for inspection and copying by any party or by the court at a time and place and in the manner it considers appropriate.

Documents not in possession of party

- (18) If a document is in the possession or control of a person who is not a party of record, the court, on an application under Rule 8-1 brought on notice to the person and the parties of record, may make an order for one or both of the following:
 - (a) production, inspection and copying of the document;
 - (b) preparation of a certified copy that may be used instead of the original.

Order by consent

(19) An order under subrule (18) may be made by consent if that order is endorsed with an acknowledgment by the person in possession or control of the document that the person has no objection to the terms of the proposed order.

Inspection of document by court

(20) If, on an application for production of a document, production is objected to on the grounds of privilege, the court may inspect the document for the purpose of deciding the validity of the objection.

Party may not use document

(21) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a party fails to make discovery of or produce for inspection or copying a document as required by this rule, the party may not put the document in evidence in the proceeding or use it for the purpose of examination or cross-examination.

Determination of issue before discovery

(22) If the party from whom discovery, inspection or copying of a document is sought objects to that discovery, inspection or copying, the court may, if satisfied that for any reason it is desirable that an issue or question in dispute should be determined before deciding on the right to discovery, inspection or copying, order that the issue or question be determined first and reserve the question of discovery, inspection or copying.

Rule 7-2 – Examinations for Discovery

Examination of parties

- (1) Subject to subrule (2), each party of record to an action must
 - (a) make himself or herself available, or
 - (b) if any of subrules (5) to (10) apply, make a person referred to in that subrule available,

for examinations for discovery by the parties of record to the action who are adverse in interest to the party subject to examination.

Limitations

- (2) Unless the court otherwise orders, the examinations for discovery, including all examinations under subrules (17), (22) and (24), conducted under this rule of a party of record, including any such examinations conducted of a person referred to in subrule (1) (b) who is examined in relation to that party of record, by any other party of record who is adverse in interest must not, in total, exceed in duration
 - (a) 7 hours, or
 - (b) any greater period to which the person to be examined consents.

[See Rule 15-1 (11) and (12) for limits on examinations for discovery in fast track actions.]

Considerations of the court

- (3) In an application under subrule (2) to extend the examination for discovery period, the court must consider the following:
 - (a) the conduct of a person who has been or is to be examined, including
 - (i) the person's unresponsiveness in any examination for discovery held in the action,
 - (ii) the person's failure to provide complete answers to questions, or
 - (iii) the person's provision of answers that are evasive, irrelevant, unresponsive or unduly lengthy;
 - (b) any denial or refusal to admit, by a person who has been or is to be examined, anything that should have been admitted;
 - (c) the conduct of the examining party;
 - (d) whether or not it is or was reasonably practicable to complete the examinations for discovery within the period provided under subrule (2);
 - (e) the number of parties and examinations for discovery and the proximity of the various interests of those parties.

Oral examination on oath

(4) An examination for discovery is an oral examination on oath.

Examination of party that is not an individual

- (5) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a party to be examined for discovery is not an individual,
 - (a) the examining party may examine one representative of the party to be examined,

- (b) the party to be examined must nominate as its representative an individual, who is knowledgeable concerning the matters in question in the action, to be examined on behalf of that party, and
- (c) the examining party may examine
 - (i) the representative nominated under paragraph (b), or
 - (ii) any other person the examining party considers appropriate and who is or has been a director, officer, employee, agent or external auditor of the party to be examined.

Examination of person for whose benefit action brought

(6) Subject to subrule (9), a person for whose immediate benefit an action is brought or defended may be examined for discovery.

Examination of assignor

(7) If an action is brought by an assignee, the assignor may be examined for discovery.

Examination of guardian and infants

(8) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a party to be examined for discovery is an infant, the infant, his or her guardian and his or her litigation guardian may be examined for discovery.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Examination of mentally incompetent person

(9) If a party to be examined for discovery is a mentally incompetent person, his or her litigation guardian and his or her committee may be examined for discovery, but the mentally incompetent person must not be examined without leave of the court.

Examination of bankrupt

(10) If a party to be examined for discovery is a trustee in bankruptcy, the bankrupt may be examined for discovery.

Place

(11) Unless the court otherwise orders or the parties to the examination for discovery otherwise agree, an examination for discovery must take place at a location within 30 kilometres of the registry that is nearest to the place where the person to be examined resides.

Examination before reporter

(12) An examination for discovery must be conducted before an official reporter who is empowered to administer the oath.

Service of notice

(13) Before conducting an examination for discovery under this rule, the party wishing to conduct that examination for discovery must do the following:

- (a) if the person to be examined is a party of record to, and has a lawyer in, the action, ensure that, at least 7 days before the examination for discovery,
 - (i) an appointment in Form 23 is served on that lawyer, and
 - (ii) witness fees in the amount required under Schedule 3 of Appendix C are tendered to that lawyer;
- (b) in any other case, ensure that, at least 7 days before the examination for discovery,
 - (i) an appointment in Form 23 is served on the person to be examined, and
 - (ii) witness fees in the amount required under Schedule 3 of Appendix C are tendered to the person to be examined;
- (c) at least 7 days before the examination for discovery, serve a copy of the appointment on all parties of record.

[am. B.C. Reg. 112/2012, Sch. A.]

Person must attend examination

(SUB)

Jul 01/12

(14) A person to be examined for discovery must attend and submit to examination for discovery if the party wishing to conduct that examination for discovery has complied with subrule (13) (a) or (b), as the case may be.

Fees must not be attached

(15) If a lawyer receives witness fees under subrule (13) (a), those fees must not be attached.

Production of documents

(16) Unless the court otherwise orders, if the person to be examined for discovery is a person referred to in subrule (6), (7), (8), (9) or (10), the person must produce for inspection on the examination for discovery all documents in his or her possession or control, not privileged, relating to the matters in question in the action.

Examination and re-examination

(17) The examination for discovery of a person is in the nature of a cross-examination, and the person examined for discovery may be re-examined on his or her own behalf or on behalf of a party of record not adverse in interest to him or her in relation to any matter respecting which he or she has been examined.

Scope of examination

- (18) Unless the court otherwise orders, a person being examined for discovery
 - (a) must answer any question within his or her knowledge or means of knowledge regarding any matter, not privileged, relating to a matter in question in the action, and
 - (b) is compellable to give the names and addresses of all persons who reasonably might be expected to have knowledge relating to any matter in question in the action.

Scope includes insurance

- (19) Without limiting subrule (18), unless the court otherwise orders, a person being examined for discovery must answer any question within his or her knowledge or means of knowledge that is related to
 - (a) the existence and contents of any insurance policy under which an insurer may be liable
 - (i) to satisfy the whole or any part of a judgment granted in the action, or
 - (ii) to indemnify or reimburse a party for any money paid by that party in satisfaction of the whole or any part of such a judgment, and
 - (b) the amount of money available under the policy, and any communication from an insurer denying or limiting liability under the policy.

Information not to be disclosed

(20) Despite subrule (19), information concerning the insurance policy must not be disclosed to the court at trial unless it is relevant to an issue in the action.

Insurance policy

(21) For the purposes of subrules (19) and (20), "insurance policy" does not include an application for insurance.

Person must inform self

(22) In order to comply with subrule (18) or (19), a person being examined for discovery may be required to inform himself or herself and the examination may be adjourned for that purpose.

Response may be provided by letter

(23) If a person is required to inform himself or herself under subrule (22) in order to respond to one or more questions posed on the examination for discovery, the examining party may request the person to provide the responses by letter.

If letter provided

- (24) If the examining party receives a letter under subrule (23),
 - (a) the questions set out in the letter and the answers given in response to those questions are deemed for all purposes to be questions asked and answers given under oath in the examination for discovery, and
 - (b) the examining party may, subject to subrule (2), continue the examination for discovery.

Objections

- (25) If a person under examination objects to answering a question put to him or her, the question and the objection must be taken down by the official reporter and the court may
 - (a) decide the validity of the objection, and
 - (b) order the person to submit to further examination and set a maximum duration for that further examination.

How recorded

- (26) An examination for discovery is to be taken down in the form of question and answer, and copies of the transcript may be obtained on payment of the proper fee by
 - (a) any party of record,
 - (b) the person examined, or
 - (c) any other person as the court for special reason may permit.

Application to persons outside British Columbia

(27) So far as is practicable, this rule applies to a person residing outside British Columbia, and the court, on application on notice to the person, may order the examination for discovery of the person at a place and in the manner the court considers appropriate.

Service of order and notice

- (28) Unless the court otherwise orders, if an order is made under subrule (27) for the examination for discovery of a person,
 - (a) the order and the notice of appointment may be served on, and
 - (b) the witness fees referred to in subrule (13) may be paid to the lawyer for the person.

Rule 7-3 – Discovery by Interrogatories

Party may serve interrogatories by consent or with leave

- (1) A party of record to an action may serve interrogatories in Form 24 on any other party of record, or on a director, officer, partner, agent, employee or external auditor of a party of record, if
 - (a) the party of record to be examined consents, or
 - (b) the court grants leave.

If a party is a body of persons

(2) If a party of record to an action is a body of persons, corporate or unincorporate, that is empowered to sue or to be sued in its own name or in the name of an officer or other person, another party of record may, with leave of the court granted at an application or if authorized to do so by a case plan order, serve interrogatories on the officer or member of the body specified in the order.

Powers of court

- (3) In an order granting leave under subrule (1) (b) or (2), the court may set terms and conditions on the interrogatories, including terms and conditions respecting
 - (a) the number or length of the interrogatories,
 - (b) the matters the interrogatories are to cover,

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (c) the timing of any response to the interrogatories, and
- (d) the notification, if any, to be given to the other parties of record respecting the interrogatories.

Timing of answer to interrogatories

(4) A person to whom interrogatories are directed must, within 21 days or such other period as the court may order under subrule (3), serve an answer on affidavit to the interrogatories.

If more than one person to answer interrogatories

(5) If interrogatories are required to be answered by more than one officer, director, partner, agent or employee of a party, the interrogatories must state which of the interrogatories each person is required to answer.

Objection to answer interrogatory

(6) If a person objects to answering an interrogatory on the grounds of privilege or on the grounds that it does not relate to a matter in question in the action, the person may make the objection in an affidavit in answer.

Insufficient answer to interrogatory

(7) If a person to whom interrogatories have been directed answers any of them insufficiently, the court may require the person to make a further answer either by affidavit or on oral examination.

Application to strike out interrogatory

- (8) If a party of record objects to an interrogatory on the grounds that it will not further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules,
 - (a) the party may apply to the court to strike out the interrogatory, and
 - (b) the court must take into account any offer by the party to make admissions, to produce documents or to give oral discovery.

Service of interrogatories on lawyer

(9) A party of record may, instead of serving interrogatories under subrule (1) or (2), serve the interrogatories on the lawyer of the person to whom the interrogatories are directed.

Lawyer must inform

(10) If a lawyer receives interrogatories under subrule (9), the lawyer must promptly inform the person to whom the interrogatories are directed.

Continuing obligation to answer

(11) If a person who has given an answer to an interrogatory later learns that the answer is inaccurate or incomplete, the person must promptly serve on the party who served the interrogatory an affidavit deposing to an accurate or complete answer.

Rule 7-4 – Repealed

(REP) **1. to 4. Repealed** Oct 03/22

(1) to (4) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1]

Rule 7-5 – Pre-trial Examination of Witness

Order for examination

- (1) If a person who is not a party of record to an action may have material evidence relating to a matter in question in the action, the court may
 - (a) order that the person be examined on oath on the matters in question in the action, and
 - (b) either before or after the examination, order that the examining party pay reasonable lawyer's costs of the person relating to the application and the examination.

Expert

(2) An expert retained or specially employed by another party in anticipation of litigation or preparation for trial may not be examined under this rule unless the party seeking the examination is unable to obtain facts and opinions on the same subject by other means.

Affidavit in support of application

- (3) An application for an order under subrule (1) must be supported by affidavit setting out
 - (a) the matter in question in the action to which the applicant believes that the evidence of the proposed witness may be material,
 - (b) if the proposed witness is an expert retained or specially employed by another party in anticipation of litigation or preparation for trial, that the applicant is unable to obtain facts and opinions on the same subject by other means, and
 - (c) that the proposed witness
 - (i) has refused or neglected on request by the applicant to give a responsive statement, either orally or in writing, relating to the witness' knowledge of the matters in question, or
 - (ii) has given conflicting statements.

Application procedure

(4) An applicant for an order under subrule (1) must comply with Rule 8-1, and, without limiting this, the applicant must serve the application materials on the proposed witness and Rule 8-1 applies to the witness as if he or she were a party of record.

Subpoena

- (5) If the court makes an order under subrule (1) entitling a party to examine a person under this rule, the party may, by serving on the person to be examined a subpoena in Form 25, require the person to bring to the examination
 - (a) any document in the person's possession or control relating to the matters in question in the action, and
 - (b) any physical object in the person's possession or control that the party contemplates tendering at the trial as an exhibit.

Identification of documents and objects

- (6) A subpoena referred to in subrule (5)
 - (a) need not identify any document referred to in subrule (5) (a), and
 - (b) must identify any object referred to in subrule (5) (b).

Notice of examination

(7) The examining party must give notice of an examination under this rule by serving copies of the subpoena referred to in subrule (5) on all parties of record at least 7 days before the date appointed for the examination.

Mode of examination

(8) The proposed witness must be cross-examined by the party who obtained the order, then may be cross-examined by any other party of record, and then may be further cross-examined by the party who obtained the order.

Time for examination

(9) Unless the court otherwise orders, examinations conducted of a person under this rule by all parties of record must not, in total, exceed 3 hours in duration.

Application of examination for discovery rules

(10) Rule 7-2 (12), (16), (18), (22) and (25) to (28) applies to an examination under this rule.

Rule 7-6 – Physical Examination and Inspection

Order for medical examination

- (1) If the physical or mental condition of a person is in issue in an action, the court may order that the person submit to examination by a medical practitioner or other qualified person, and if the court makes an order under this subrule, the court may also make
 - (a) an order respecting any expenses connected with the examination, and
 - (b) an order that the result of the examination be put in writing and that copies be made available to interested parties of record.

Subsequent examinations

(2) The court may order a further examination under this rule.

Questions by examiner

(3) A person who is making an examination under this rule may ask any relevant question concerning the medical condition or history of the person being examined.

Order for inspection and preservation of property

- (4) If the court considers it necessary or expedient for the purpose of obtaining full information or evidence, it may
 - (a) order the production, inspection and preservation of any property, and
 - (b) authorize
 - (i) samples to be taken or observations to be made of the property, or
 - (ii) experiments to be conducted on or with the property.

Entry on land or building

(5) For the purpose of enabling an order under this rule to be carried out, the court may authorize a person to enter on any land or building.

Application to persons outside British Columbia

(6) Rule 7-2 (27) and (28) applies to examinations and inspections ordered under this rule.

Rule 7-7 – Admissions

Notice to admit

(1) In an action in which a response to civil claim has been filed, a party of record may, by service of a notice to admit in Form 26, request any party of record to admit, for the purposes of the action only, the truth of a fact or the authenticity of a document specified in the notice.

Effect of notice to admit

- (2) Unless the court otherwise orders, the truth of a fact or the authenticity of a document specified in a notice to admit is deemed to be admitted, for the purposes of the action only, unless, within 14 days after service of the notice to admit, the party receiving the notice to admit serves on the party serving the notice to admit a written statement that
 - (a) specifically denies the truth of the fact or the authenticity of the document,
 - (b) sets out in detail the reasons why the party cannot make the admission, or
 - (c) states that the refusal to admit the truth of the fact or the authenticity of the document is made on the grounds of privilege or irrelevancy or that the request is otherwise improper, and sets out in detail the reasons for the refusal.

Copy of document to be attached

(3) Unless the court otherwise orders or the demanding party and the responding party consent, a copy of a document specified in a notice to admit must be attached to the notice to admit when it is served.

Unreasonable refusal to admit

(4) If a responding party unreasonably denies or refuses to admit the truth of a fact or the authenticity of a document specified in a notice to admit, the court may order the party to pay the costs of proving the truth of the fact or the authenticity of the document and may award as a penalty additional costs, or deprive a party of costs, as the court considers appropriate.

Withdrawal of admission

- (5) A party is not entitled to withdraw
 - (a) an admission made in response to a notice to admit,
 - (b) a deemed admission under subrule (2), or
 - (c) an admission made in a pleading, petition or response to petition

except by consent or with leave of the court.

Application for order on admissions

- (6) An application for judgment or any other application may be made to the court using as evidence
 - (a) admissions of the truth of a fact or the authenticity of a document made
 - (i) in an affidavit or pleading filed by a party,
 - (ii) in an examination for discovery of a party or a person examined for discovery on behalf of a party, or
 - (iii) in response to a notice to admit, or
 - (b) admissions of the truth of a fact or the authenticity of a document deemed to be made under subrule (2)

and the court, without waiting for the determination of any other question between the parties, may make any order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Rule 7-8 – Depositions

Examination of person

(1) By consent of the parties of record or by order of the court, a person may be examined on oath before or during trial in order that the record of the examination may be available to be tendered as evidence at the trial.

Examination of person

(2) An examination under subrule (1) may be conducted before an official reporter or any other person as the court may direct.

Grounds for order

- (3) In determining whether to exercise its discretion to order an examination under subrule (1), the court must take into account
 - (a) the convenience of the person sought to be examined,
 - (b) the possibility that the person may be unavailable to testify at the trial by reason of death, infirmity, sickness or absence,
 - (c) the possibility that the person will be beyond the jurisdiction of the court at the time of the trial,
 - (d) the possibility and desirability of having the person testify at trial by video conferencing or other electronic means, and
 - (e) the expense of bringing the person to the trial.

Time limits

(4) In an order under subrule (1), the court may impose limits on the duration of the direct examination or cross examination of a person under this rule.

Subpoena

- (5) If the court makes an order under subrule (1) entitling a party to examine a person under this rule, the party may, by serving on the person to be examined a subpoena in Form 25, require the person to bring to the examination,
 - (a) if the person to be examined is not a party of record or a representative of a party of record, any document in the person's possession or control relating to the matters in question in the action, and
 - (b) any physical object in the person's possession or control that the examining party contemplates tendering at the trial as an exhibit.

Identification of documents and objects

- (6) A subpoena referred to in subrule (5)
 - (a) need not identify any document referred to in subrule (5) (a), and
 - (b) must identify any object referred to in subrule (5) (b).

Place of examination

(7) Unless the court otherwise orders or the parties to the examination consent, an examination under this rule must take place at a location within 30 kilometres of the registry that is nearest to the place where the person to be examined resides.

Application of rule outside British Columbia

(8) So far as is practicable, this rule applies to the examination of a person residing outside British Columbia, and the court may order the examination of a person in the place and the manner the court considers appropriate.

If person willing to testify

(9) If the person whose examination is ordered under subrule (8) is willing to testify, the order under subrule (8) must be in Form 27 and the instructions to the examiner appointed in the order must be in Form 28.

If person not willing to testify

(10) If the person whose examination is ordered under subrule (8) is unwilling to testify, or if for any other reason the assistance of a foreign court is necessary, the order under subrule (8) must be in Form 29 and the letter of request referred to in the order must be in Form 30.

Letter of request

- (11) If an order referred to in subrule (10) is made, the letter of request must be sent by the party obtaining the order to the Under Secretary of State for External Affairs of Canada (or, if the evidence is to be taken in Canada, to the Deputy Attorney General for the Province of British Columbia), and must have attached to it
 - (a) any interrogatories to be put to the witness,
 - (b) a list of the names, addresses and telephone numbers of the lawyers or agents of the parties, both in British Columbia and in the other jurisdiction, and
 - (c) a copy of the letter of request and any interrogatories
 - (i) translated into the appropriate official language of the jurisdiction where the examination is to take place, and
 - (ii) bearing the certificate of the translator that it is a true translation and giving the translator's full name and address.

Filing of undertaking

(12) The lawyer for the party obtaining the order referred to in subrule (10) must file with the Under Secretary of State for External Affairs of Canada (or the Deputy Attorney General for the Province of British Columbia, as the case may be) the lawyer's undertaking to be personally responsible for all the charges and expenses incurred by the Under Secretary (or the Deputy Attorney General, as the case may be) in respect of the letter of request and to pay those charges and expenses on receiving notification of the amount.

Notice of examination

(13) The examining party must give notice of an examination under this rule by serving copies of the subpoena referred to in subrule (5) on all parties of record at least 7 days before the date appointed for the examination.

Mode of examination

(14) The examining party must conduct a direct examination of the witness and the witness is subject to cross-examination and re-examination.

Objection to question

- (15) If an objection is made to a question put to a witness in an examination under this rule,
 - (a) the question and the objection must be taken down by the official reporter,
 - (b) the validity of the objection may, on application, be decided by the court, and
 - (c) the court may, on an application referred to in paragraph (b), order the witness to submit to further examination.

Recording of deposition evidence

- (16) Unless otherwise ordered, an examination under this rule must be recorded by the person authorized under subrule (2) to conduct the examination
 - (a) in the form of questions and answers, or
 - (b) on a video recording.

Preserving testimony

- (17) If a person alleges that
 - (a) circumstances exist that entitle the person to receive an estate or interest in property on the happening of a future event, and
 - (b) the right or claim to that estate or interest cannot be brought to trial or hearing by the person before the happening of the event,

the person may apply by petition or by requisition in Form 31 for an order to preserve, by examination under this rule, any testimony that may be material for establishing the right or claim.

PART 8 – Applications

Rule 8-1 – How to Bring and Respond to Applications

(SUB) Definition

Sep 01/23

(1) In this rule, "application respondent" means a person who files an application response under subrule (9).

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

How applications must be brought

- (2) To apply for an order from the court other than at trial or at the hearing of a petition, a party must do the following:
 - (a) in the case of an application for an order by consent, apply in accordance with
 - (i) this rule, or
 - (ii) Rule 8-3;
 - (b) in the case of an application of which notice need not be given, apply in accordance with
 - (i) this rule, or
 - (ii) Rule 8-4;
 - (c) in the case of an urgent application, apply in accordance with Rule 8-5;
 - (d) in the case of an application referred to in Rule 8-6 that may be made by written submissions, apply in accordance with the directions of the case planning conference judge referred to in Rule 8-6;
 - (e) in the case of an application for which a procedure is provided for by these Supreme Court Civil Rules, apply in accordance with that procedure;
 - (f) in the case of any other application, apply in accordance with this rule.

[The ability of a party to a fast track action to bring an application under this Part may be limited – see Rule 15-1 (7) to (9).]

Notice of application

- (3) A party wishing to apply under this rule must file
 - (a) a notice of application, and
 - (b) the original of every affidavit, and of every other document, that
 - (i) is to be referred to by the applicant at the hearing, and
 - (ii) has not already been filed in the proceeding.

(SUB)Contents of notice of application

Jul 30/10

- (4) A notice of application must be in Form 32 and must
 - (a) set out the orders sought or attach a draft of the order sought,
 - (b) briefly summarize the factual basis for the application,
 - (c) set out the rule, enactment or other jurisdictional authority relied on for the orders sought and any other legal arguments on which the orders sought should be granted,
 - (d) list the affidavits and other documents on which the applicant intends to rely at the hearing of the application,
 - (e) set out the applicant's estimate of the time the application will take for hearing,
 - (f) subject to subrules (5) and (6), set out the date and time of the hearing of the application,
 - (g) set out the place for the hearing of the application in accordance with Rule 8-2, and
 - (h) provide the data collection information required in the appendix to the form, and the notice of application, other than any draft order attached to it under paragraph (a), must not exceed 10 pages in length.

[en. B.C. Reg. 241/2010, Sch. A.]

Date and time of hearing

(5) Subject to subrule (6), the hearing of an application must be set for 9:45 a.m. on a date on which the court hears applications or at such other time or date as has been fixed by the court or a registrar.

Date and time if hearing time more than 2 hours

(6) If the applicant's estimate referred to in subrule (4) (e) is more than 2 hours, the date and time of hearing must be fixed by a registrar.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Service of application materials

(AM) Jul 01/14

- (7) The applicant must serve the following, in accordance with subrule (8), on each of the parties of record and on every other person, other than a party, who may be affected by the orders sought:
 - (a) a copy of the filed notice of application;
 - (b) a copy of each of the filed affidavits and documents, referred to in the notice of application under subrule (4) (d), that has not already been served on that person;
 - (c) if the application is brought under Rule 9-7, any notice that the applicant is required to give under Rule 9-7 (9).

[am. B.C. Reg. 120/2014.]

Time for service

(8) The documents referred to in subrule (7) of this rule must be served,

(AM)
Jul
30/10
(AM)
Jul
30/10

- (a) subject to paragraph (b) of this subrule, at least 8 business days before the date set for the hearing of the application, or
- (b) in the case of an application under Rule 9-7, at least 12 business days before the date set for the hearing of the application.

[am. B.C. Reg. 241/2010, Sch. A.]

(SUB)Application response

Jul 30/10

- (9) A person who is served with documents referred to in subrule (7) of this rule and who wishes to respond to the notice of application (in this subrule called the "responding person") must do the following within 5 business days after service or, in the case of an application under Rule 9-7, within 8 business days after service:
 - (a) file an application response;
 - (b) file the original of every affidavit, and of every other document, that
 - (i) is to be referred to by the responding person at the hearing, and
 - (ii) has not already been filed in the proceeding;
 - (c) serve on the applicant 2 copies of the following, and on every other party of record one copy of the following:
 - (i) a copy of the filed application response;
 - (ii) a copy of each of the filed affidavits and documents, referred to in the application response under subrule (10) (b) (ii), that has not already been served on that person;
 - (iii) if the application is brought under Rule 9-7, any notice that the application respondent is required to give under Rule 9-7 (9).

[en. B.C. Reg. 241/2010, Sch. A.]

Contents of application response

- 10) An application response must be in Form 33, must not exceed 10 pages in length and must
 - (a) indicate, for each order sought on the application, whether the application respondent consents to, opposes or takes no position on the order, and
 - (b) if the application respondent wishes to oppose any of the relief sought in the application,
 - (i) briefly summarize the factual and legal bases on which the orders sought should not be granted,
 - (ii) list the affidavits and other documents to which the application respondent intends to refer at the hearing of the application, and
 - (iii) set out the application respondent's estimate of the time the application will take for hearing.

[am. B.C. Reg. 241/2010, Sch. A.]

Address for service

(11) An application respondent who has not yet provided an address for service in the proceeding must include an address for service in any application response filed under subrule (9), and Rule 4-1 applies.

(REP) Repealed

Jul 30/10

(AM)

30/10

Jul

(12) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 241/2010, Sch. A]

Applicant may respond

(AM) Jul 30/10

(13) An applicant who wishes to respond to any document served under subrule (9) must file and serve on each application respondent any responding affidavits no later than 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before the date set for the hearing.

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 241/2010, Sch. A.]

No additional affidavits

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

(AM) Jul 30/10 (14) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, a party must not serve any affidavits additional to those served under subrules (7), (9) and (13).

[am. B.C. Reg. 241/2010, Sch. A.]

Application record

(AM) Sep 01/23

- (15) Subject to subrule (18), the applicant must provide to the registry where the hearing is to take place an application record as follows:
 - (a) the application record must be in a ring binder or in some other form of secure binding;
 - (b) the application record must contain, in consecutively numbered pages, or separated by tabs, the following documents in the following order:
 - (i) a title page bearing the style of proceeding and the names of the lawyers, if any, for the applicant and the application respondents;
 - (ii) an index;
 - (iii) a copy of the filed notice of application;
 - (iv) a copy of each filed application response;
 - (v) a copy of every filed affidavit and pleading, and of every other document other than a written argument, that is to be relied on at the hearing;
 - (vi) if the application is brought under Rule 9-7, a copy of each filed pleading;
 - (c) the application record may contain
 - (i) a draft of the proposed order,
 - (ii) subject to subrule (16), a written argument,
 - (iii) a list of authorities and
 - (iv) a draft bill of costs;
 - (d) the application record must not contain
 - (i) affidavits of service,
 - (ii) copies of authorities, including case law, legislation, legal articles or excerpts from text books, or
 - (iii) any other documents unless they are included with the consent of all the parties of record.

(e) the application record must be provided to the registry

(ADD) Sep 01/23

- (i) no earlier than 9 a.m. on the business day that is three full business days before the date set for the hearing and no later than 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before the date set for the hearing, or
- (ii) if an earlier date is fixed by a registrar, on or before that date. [am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 241/2010, Sch. A; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Written argument

(16) Unless an application is estimated to take more than 2 hours, no party to the application may file or submit to the court a written argument in relation to the application other than that included in the party's notice of application or application response.

Service of application record index

(AM) Jul 30/10 (17) The applicant must serve a copy of the application record index on each application respondent no later than 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before the date set for the hearing.

[am. B.C. Reg. 241/2010, Sch. A.]

If application respondent's application is to be heard at the hearing

(18) If an application respondent intends to set an application for hearing at the same time as the applicant's application, those parties must, so far as is possible, prepare and provide to the registry where the hearing is to take place a joint application record and agree to a date for the hearing of both applications.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Application record to be returned

- (19) Unless the court otherwise orders, the applicant must retrieve the application record
 - (a) at the conclusion of the hearing, or
 - (b) if the hearing of the application is adjourned to a date later than the following business day, after the hearing is adjourned.

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 241/2010, Sch. A.]

Application record to be returned to the registry

(AM) Jul 30/10

(AM)

30/10

Jul

(20) If the application record has been retrieved by the applicant under subrule (19) (b), the applicant must return the application record to the registry between 9:00 a.m. and 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before the new date set for the hearing of the application.

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 241/2010, Sch. A.]

Provision of amended application record

(21) If any additional affidavits are filed and served under subrule (14) and are not included in the application record, the applicant must provide to the registry an amended application record containing those affidavits.

Resetting adjourned applications

- (21.1) To reset an application that has been adjourned without a date being set for it to be heard ("adjourned generally"), the applicant must
 - (a) file a requisition in Form 17 setting out the date and time of the hearing, and
 - (b) serve a copy of the filed requisition on the application respondents at least 2 business days before the date set for the hearing.

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A; am. B.C. Reg. 241/2010, Sch. A.]

Application respondent may apply for directions

(AM) Jul 30/10

(AM)

30/10

Tul

(22) If, after an application has been adjourned generally, the applicant does not reset the application for hearing within a reasonable time after an application respondent has requested the applicant to do so, an application respondent may apply, by requisition in Form 17 on 2 business days' notice, for directions.

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 241/2010, Sch. A.]

Rule 8-2 – Place Application is Heard

Place of hearing of application

(1) An application may be heard at

- (a) the place ordered by a registrar under subrule (4),
- (b) if an order is not made under subrule (4), the place on which all parties of record have agreed, or
- (c) if paragraphs (a) and (b) do not apply, a place at which the court normally sits in the judicial district in which the proceeding is being conducted.

If more than one place

(2) If there is more than one place within the judicial district referred to in subrule (1) (c) at which the court normally sits, the applicant may name, as the place for hearing, any of those places.

If place of hearing is a place other than that at which the proceeding is being conducted

- (3) If, under subrule (2), the applicant names as the place for hearing a place that is different than the place at which the proceeding is being conducted, the court may, if the court considers that it was unreasonable to have that named place as the place of hearing, make a special order as to costs and may
 - (a) order that the application be heard at some other place,
 - (b) dismiss the application, or
 - (c) hear the application.

Place of hearing of application with leave of registrar

- (4) If a registrar is satisfied that, due to urgency or the convenience of the parties, an application should be heard at a place outside the judicial district in which the proceeding is being conducted, the registrar may, without notice, grant leave for the applicant to do either or both of the following:
 - (a) file the notice of application in some other judicial district;
 - (b) name as the place of hearing a place in that other judicial district.

Notice of application must be endorsed to reflect grant of leave

(5) If a registrar grants leave under subrule (4), he or she must endorse the notice of application accordingly.

If place of hearing is a place chosen with leave of registrar

- (6) If, in respect of an application for which leave was granted under subrule (4), the court at the hearing of the application considers that the application should not be heard at that place, the court may make a special order as to costs and may
 - (a) order that the application be heard at some other place,
 - (b) dismiss the application, or
 - (c) hear the application.

7. to 8. Repealed

to 8. Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A]

Rule 8-3 – Consent Applications

Application by consent

- (1) Subject to subrule (2), an application for an order by consent may be made by filing
 - (a) a requisition in Form 31,
 - (b) a draft of the proposed order in Form 34,
 - (c) evidence, in accordance with Rule 13-1 (10), that the application is consented to, and
 - (d) any consent or comments of the Public Guardian and Trustee required under section 40 of the *Infants Act*.

Consent order

- (2) On being satisfied that an application referred to in subrule (1) of this rule is consented to and that the materials appropriate for the application have been filed in accordance with subrule (1), a registrar may
 - (a) refer the application to a judge or, if the order sought is within the jurisdiction of a master, to a judge or master, or
 - (b) if the registrar is satisfied that
 - (i) none of the parties applying for or consenting to the order is under a legal disability, or
 - (ii) if a party is under a legal disability, section 40 (7) of the *Infants Act* applies, enter the order or proceed under paragraph (a) of this subrule.

Disposition of referred applications

- (3) If an application is referred by a registrar to a judge or master under subrule (2), the judge or master may
 - (a) make the order, or
 - (b) give directions respecting the application.

Rule 8-4 – Applications of Which Notice is Not Required

Application of which notice is not required

- (1) An application of which notice is not required may be made by filing
 - (a) a requisition in Form 31,
 - (b) a draft of the proposed order in Form 35, and
 - (c) affidavit or other evidence in support of the application.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

2. to 3. Repealed

to 3. Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A]

Rule 8-5 – Urgent Applications

When Applications May Be Heard on Short Notice

Short notice

(1) Without limiting subrule (6), in case of urgency, a person wishing to bring an application (in this subrule and in subrules (2) to (5) called the "main application") on less notice than would normally be required may make an application (in this subrule and in subrules (2) to (4) called the "short notice application") for an order that the main application may be brought on short notice.

How to make a short notice application

(AM) Jul 01/14

(2) A short notice application may be made by requisition in Form 17.1, without notice, and in a summary way.

[am. B.C. Reg. 120/2014.]

Normal time and notice rules do not apply

(3) The time limits and notice requirements provided in these Supreme Court Civil Rules do not apply to a short notice application.

Powers of court on short notice application

- (4) On a short notice application, the court or a registrar may
 - (a) order that the main application be heard on short notice,
 - (b) fix the date and time for the main application to be heard,
 - (c) fix the date and time before which service of documents applicable to the main application must be made, and
 - (d) give any other directions that the court or registrar considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Effect of short notice order

(5) If an order is made under subrule (4) that the main application be heard on short notice, the time limits and notice requirements provided in these Supreme Court Civil Rules do not apply to the main application.

When Applications May Be Heard without Any Notice

Orders without notice

(6) The court may make an order without notice in the case of urgency.

Service of orders required

(7) Promptly after an order is made without notice by reason of urgency, the party who obtained the order must serve a copy of the entered order and the documents filed in support on each person who is affected by the order.

Setting aside orders made without notice

(8) On the application of a person affected by an order made without notice under subrule (6), the court may change or set aside the order.

Rule 8-6 – Applications Made by Written Submissions

Application made by written submissions

- (1) If an order is made at a case planning conference that an application may be made by written submissions,
 - (a) the case planning conference judge or master must give directions respecting the application, including directions respecting
 - (i) the documents to be filed in support of the application, and
 - (ii) the persons on whom and the dates by which the documents referred to in subparagraph (i) and any other documents the judge or master may identify must be served, and
 - (b) the application may be made in the manner provided for in those directions.

PART 9 – Pre-Trial Resolution Procedures

Rule 9-1 – Offers to Settle

Definition

- (1) In this rule, "offer to settle" means
 - (a) an offer to settle made and delivered before July 2, 2008 under Rule 37 of the former Supreme Court Rules, as that rule read on the date of the offer to settle, and in relation to which no order was made under that rule,
 - (b) an offer of settlement made and delivered before July 2, 2008 under Rule 37A of the former Supreme Court Rules, as that rule read on the date of the offer of settlement, and in relation to which no order was made under that rule, or
 - (c) an offer to settle made after July 1, 2008 under Rule 37B of the former Supreme Court Rules, as that rule read on the date of the offer to settle, or made under this rule, that
 - (i) is made in writing by a party to a proceeding,
 - (ii) has been served on all parties of record, and

Offer not to be disclosed

(2) The fact that an offer to settle has been made must not be disclosed to the court or jury, or set out in any document used in the proceeding, until all issues in the proceeding, other than costs, have been determined.

Offer not an admission

(3) An offer to settle is not an admission.

Offer may be considered in relation to costs

(4) The court may consider an offer to settle when exercising the court's discretion in relation to costs.

Cost options

- (5) In a proceeding in which an offer to settle has been made, the court may do one or more of the following:
 - (a) deprive a party of any or all of the costs, including any or all of the disbursements, to which the party would otherwise be entitled in respect of all or some of the steps taken in the proceeding after the date of delivery or service of the offer to settle;
 - (b) award double costs of all or some of the steps taken in the proceeding after the date of delivery or service of the offer to settle;

- (c) award to a party, in respect of all or some of the steps taken in the proceeding after the date of delivery or service of the offer to settle, costs to which the party would have been entitled had the offer not been made:
- (d) if the offer was made by a defendant and the judgment awarded to the plaintiff was no greater than the amount of the offer to settle, award to the defendant the defendant's costs in respect of all or some of the steps taken in the proceeding after the date of delivery or service of the offer to settle.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Considerations of court

- (6) In making an order under subrule (5), the court may consider the following:
 - (a) whether the offer to settle was one that ought reasonably to have been accepted, either on the date that the offer to settle was delivered or served or on any later date;
 - (b) the relationship between the terms of settlement offered and the final judgment of the court:
 - (c) the relative financial circumstances of the parties;
 - (d) any other factor the court considers appropriate.

Costs for settlement in cases within small claims jurisdiction

(7) A plaintiff who accepts an offer to settle for a sum within the jurisdiction of the Provincial Court under the Small Claims Act is not entitled to costs, other than disbursements, unless the court finds that there was sufficient reason for bringing the proceeding in the Supreme Court and so orders.

Counter offer

(8) An offer to settle does not expire by reason that a counter offer is made.

Rule 9-2 – Settlement Conferences

(AM) Settlement conference

01/11

(1) If, at any stage of an action, the parties of record jointly request a settlement conference by filing a requisition in Form 17 or a judge or master directs that the parties attend a settlement conference, the parties must attend before a judge or master who must, in private and without hearing witnesses, explore all possibilities of settlement of the issues that are outstanding.

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Proceedings must be recorded

(2) Proceedings at a settlement conference must be recorded, but no part of that recording may be made available to or used by any person without court order.

When judge must not preside

(3) A judge who has presided at a settlement conference must not preside at the trial, unless all parties consent.

Rule 9-3 – Special Case

Statement of special case

(1) The parties to a proceeding may concur in stating a question of law or fact, or partly of law and partly of fact, in the form of a special case for the opinion of the court.

Court may order special case

(2) The court may order a question or issue arising in a proceeding, whether of fact or law or partly of fact and partly of law, and whether raised by the pleadings or otherwise, to be stated in the form of a special case.

Form of special case

- (3) A special case must
 - (a) be divided into paragraphs numbered consecutively,
 - (b) state concisely such facts and set out or refer to such documents as may be necessary to enable the court to decide the questions stated, and
 - (c) be signed by the parties or their lawyers.

Hearing of special case

(4) On the hearing of a special case, the court and the parties may refer to any document mentioned in the special case, and the court may draw from the stated facts and documents any inference, whether of fact or law, that might have been drawn from them if proved at a trial or hearing.

Order after hearing of special case

(5) With the consent of the parties, on any question in a special case being answered, the court may grant specific relief or order judgment to be entered.

Rule 9-4 – Proceedings on a Point of Law

Point of law may be set down for hearing

(1) A point of law arising from the pleadings in an action may, by consent of the parties or by order of the court, be set down by requisition in Form 17 for hearing and disposed of at any time before the trial.

Court may dispose of whole action

(2) If, in the opinion of the court, the decision on the point of law substantially disposes of the whole action or of any distinct claim, ground of defence, set-off or counterclaim, the court may dismiss the action or make any order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Rule 9-5 – Striking Pleadings

Scandalous, frivolous or vexatious matters

- (1) At any stage of a proceeding, the court may order to be struck out or amended the whole or any part of a pleading, petition or other document on the ground that
 - (a) it discloses no reasonable claim or defence, as the case may be,
 - (b) it is unnecessary, scandalous, frivolous or vexatious,
 - (c) it may prejudice, embarrass or delay the fair trial or hearing of the proceeding, or
 - (d) it is otherwise an abuse of the process of the court,

and the court may pronounce judgment or order the proceeding to be stayed or dismissed and may order the costs of the application to be paid as special costs.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Admissibility of evidence

(2) No evidence is admissible on an application under subrule (1) (a).

Powers of registrar

- (3) If, on the filing of a document, a registrar considers that the whole or any part of the document could be the subject of an order under subrule (1),
 - (a) the registrar may, despite any other provision of these Supreme Court Civil Rules,
 - (i) retain the document and all filed copies of it, and
 - (ii) refer the document to the court, and
 - (b) the court may, after a summary hearing, make an order under subrule (1).

Reconsideration of order

- (4) If the court makes an order referred to in subrule (3) (b),
 - (a) the registrar must give notification of the order, in the manner directed by the court, to the person who filed the document,
 - (b) the person who filed the document may, within 7 days after being notified, apply to the court, and
 - (c) the court may confirm, vary or rescind the order.

Rule 9-6 – Summary Judgment

Definitions

(1) In this rule:

"answering party", in relation to a claiming party's originating pleading, means a person who serves, on the claiming party, a responding pleading that relates to a claim made in the originating pleading; "claiming party" means a party who filed an originating pleading.

Application

(2) In an action, a person who files an originating pleading in which a claim is made against a person may, after the person against whom the claim is made serves a responding pleading on the claiming party, apply under this rule for judgment against the answering party on all or part of the claim.

Response to application

- (3) An answering party may respond to an application for judgment under subrule (2) as follows:
 - (a) the answering party may allege that the claiming party's originating pleading does not raise a cause of action against the answering party;
 - (b) if the answering party wishes to make any other response to the application, the answering party may not rest on the mere allegations or denials in his or her pleadings but must set out, in affidavit material or other evidence, specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.

Application by answering party

(4) In an action, an answering party may, after serving a responding pleading on a claiming party, apply under this rule for judgment dismissing all or part of a claim in the claiming party's originating pleading.

Power of court

- (5) On hearing an application under subrule (2) or (4), the court,
 - (a) if satisfied that there is no genuine issue for trial with respect to a claim or defence, must pronounce judgment or dismiss the claim accordingly,
 - (b) if satisfied that the only genuine issue is the amount to which the claiming party is entitled, may order a trial of that issue or pronounce judgment with a reference or an accounting to determine the amount,
 - (c) if satisfied that the only genuine issue is a question of law, may determine the question and pronounce judgment accordingly, and
 - (d) may make any other order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Claiming party may proceed

(6) If, under this rule, a claiming party obtains judgment against a person on a claim made against that person in the originating pleading, the judgment is without prejudice to the right of the claiming party to

- (a) proceed with the action in respect of any other claim made, in the originating pleading, against the person against whom the judgment was obtained, and
- (b) proceed with the action against any other person against whom a claim is made in the originating pleading.

Costs consequences

- (7) Subject to subrule (8), if the party applying under subrule (2) or (4) obtains no relief on the application, the court may
 - (a) fix the costs of the party responding to the application, and
 - (b) fix the period within which those costs must be paid.

Court may decline to fix costs

(8) The court may decline to fix and order costs under subrule (7) if the court is satisfied that the application under subrule (2) or (4), although unsuccessful, was nevertheless reasonable.

Bad faith or delay

- (9) If it appears to the court that a party to an application under subrule (2) or (4) has acted in bad faith or primarily for the purpose of delay, the court may
 - (a) fix the costs of the application as special costs, and
 - (b) fix the period within which those costs must be paid.

Rule 9-7 – Summary Trial

Definition

(1) In this rule, "summary trial application" means an application referred to in subrule (2).

Application

- (2) A party may apply to the court for judgment under this rule, either on an issue or generally, in any of the following:
 - (a) an action in which a response to civil claim has been filed;
 - (b) a proceeding that has been transferred to the trial list under Rule 22-1 (7) (d);
 - (c) a third party proceeding in which a response to third party notice has been filed;
 - (d) an action by way of counterclaim in which a response to counterclaim has been filed.

When application must be heard

(3) A summary trial application must be heard at least 42 days before the scheduled trial date.

Setting application for hearing

(4) Unless the court otherwise orders, a summary trial application must be set for hearing in accordance with Rule 8-1.

Evidence on application

- (5) Unless the court otherwise orders, on a summary trial application, the applicant and each other party of record may tender evidence by any or all of the following:
 - (a) affidavit;
 - (b) an answer, or part of an answer, to interrogatories;
 - (c) any part of the evidence taken on an examination for discovery;
 - (d) an admission under Rule 7-7;
 - (e) a report setting out the opinion of an expert, if
 - (i) the report conforms with Rule 11-6 (1), or
 - (ii) the court orders that the report is admissible even though it does not conform with Rule 11-6 (1).

Application of Rule 12-5

(6) Rule 12-5 (46), (49), (50), (51), (56) to (58) applies to subrule (5) of this rule.

Application of Rule 11-6

(7) Rule 11-6 (2) applies to a summary trial application.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

(REP) Repealed

10/20

(7.1) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 207/2020]

Filings with application

- (8) A party who applies for judgment under subrule (2)
 - (a) must serve, with the notice of application and the other documents referred to in Rule 8-1 (3), every expert report, not already filed, on which the party will rely in support of the application, and
 - (b) must not serve any further affidavits, expert reports or notices except
 - (i) to tender evidence that would, at a trial, be admitted as rebuttal evidence,
 - (ii) to respond to a notice of application filed and served by another party of record, or
 - (iii) with leave of the court.

Notice of evidence to be used on application

(9) If a party intends, on a summary trial application, to rely on

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (a) evidence taken on an examination for discovery,
- (b) answers to interrogatories, or
- (c) admissions,

the party must give notice of that fact in accordance with subrule (10).

Giving notice

- (10) Notice under subrule (9) must be given
 - (a) by an applicant, in accordance with Rule 8-1 (7) and (8), and
 - (b) by a party who is not an applicant, in accordance with Rule 8-1 (9).

(AM) Jul 30/10

[am. B.C. Reg. 241/2010, Sch. A.]

Adjournment or dismissal

- (11) On an application heard before or at the same time as the hearing of a summary trial application, the court may
 - (a) adjourn the summary trial application, or
 - (b) dismiss the summary trial application on the ground that
 - (i) the issues raised by the summary trial application are not suitable for disposition under this rule, or
 - (ii) the summary trial application will not assist the efficient resolution of the proceeding.

Preliminary orders

- (12) On or before the hearing of a summary trial application, the court may order that
 - (a) a party file and serve, within a fixed time, any of the following on which the party intends to rely in support of the application:
 - (i) an affidavit:
 - (ii) a notice referred to in subrule (9),
 - (b) the person who swore or affirmed an affidavit, or an expert whose report is relied on, attend for cross-examination, either before the court or before another person as the court directs.
 - (c) cross-examinations on affidavits be completed within a fixed time,
 - (d) no further evidence be tendered on the application after a fixed time, or
 - (e) a party file and serve a brief, with such contents as the court may order, within a fixed time.

Ancillary or preliminary orders may be made at or before application

(13) An order under subrule (11) or (12) may be made by a judge or by a master, and may be made before or at the same time as a summary trial application.

Judge not seized of application

(14) A judge who makes an order under subrule (11) or (12) in relation to a summary trial application is not seized of the summary trial application unless the judge otherwise orders.

Judgment

- (15) On the hearing of a summary trial application, the court may
 - (a) grant judgment in favour of any party, either on an issue or generally, unless
 - (i) the court is unable, on the whole of the evidence before the court on the application, to find the facts necessary to decide the issues of fact or law, or
 - (ii) the court is of the opinion that it would be unjust to decide the issues on the application,
 - (b) impose terms respecting enforcement of the judgment, including a stay of execution, and
 - (c) award costs.

No further application without leave

(16) If the court does not grant judgment under subrule (15), the applicant may not apply again under subrule (2) without leave of the court.

Orders

- (17) If the court is unable to grant judgment under subrule (15) and considers that the proceeding ought to be expedited, the court may order the trial of a proceeding generally or on an issue and may
 - (a) order that the parties attend a case planning conference,
 - (b) make any order that may be made under Rule 5-3 (1), or
 - (c) make any other order the court considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Right to vary or set aside order

(18) A court may, before or at trial, vary or set aside an order made under subrules (12) and (17) of this rule.

Order if jury notice filed

(19) A party may apply to the court for judgment under subrule (2) even though a party may have filed a notice under Rule 12-6 (3) requiring that the trial of the action be heard with a jury.

Rule 9-8 – Discontinuance and Withdrawal

Discontinuance before action set for trial

(1) At any time before a notice of trial is filed in an action, a plaintiff may discontinue it in whole or in part against a defendant by filing a notice of discontinuance in Form 36 and serving a filed copy of the notice of discontinuance on all parties of record.

Discontinuance after action set for trial

(2) After a notice of trial is filed in an action, a plaintiff may discontinue the action in whole or in part against a defendant with the consent of all parties of record or by leave of the court.

Withdrawal by defendant

(3) A defendant may withdraw his or her response to civil claim or any part of it with respect to any plaintiff at any time by filing a notice of withdrawal in Form 37 and serving a filed copy of the notice of withdrawal on all parties of record.

Costs and default procedure on discontinuance or withdrawal

(4) Subject to subrule (2), a person wholly discontinuing an action against a party or wholly withdrawing his or her response to civil claim filed in response to a notice of civil claim of a party must pay the costs of that party to the date of service of the notice of discontinuance or the notice of withdrawal, as the case may be, and if a plaintiff who is liable for costs under this subrule subsequently brings a proceeding for the same or substantially the same claim before paying those costs, the court may order the proceeding to be stayed until the costs are paid.

Third party entitled to costs

(5) If a plaintiff discontinues the whole or any part of an action in which a person has been joined as a third party, the third party, if the discontinuance disposes of the claim against the third party, is entitled to costs and may apply to the court for a direction as to who should pay them.

Some costs remain recoverable

(6) A plaintiff's right to recover costs from a defendant under subrule (4) does not preclude the plaintiff recovering other costs properly incurred.

Proceeding after response is withdrawn

(7) If a defendant wholly or partly withdraws his or her response under this rule, the plaintiff may proceed under Rule 3-8 as if the defendant had served no response or only a partial response.

Discontinuance not a defence

(8) Unless the court otherwise orders, the discontinuance of an action in whole or in part is not a defence to a subsequent proceeding for the same or substantially the same cause of action.

Application to counterclaim, third party proceeding and petition.

(9) This rule applies to a counterclaim, a third party proceeding and a petition.

PART 10 – Property and Injunctions

Rule 10-1 – Detention, Preservation and Recovery of Property

Property that is the subject matter of a proceeding

(1) The court may make an order for the detention, custody or preservation of any property that is the subject matter of a proceeding or as to which a question may arise and, for the purpose of enabling an order under this rule to be carried out, the court may authorize a person to enter on any land or building.

Fund that is the subject matter of a proceeding

(2) If the right of a party to a specific fund is in dispute in a proceeding, the court may order the fund to be paid into court or otherwise secured.

Allowance of income from property

- (3) If property is the subject matter of a proceeding and the court is satisfied that the property will be more than sufficient to answer all claims on it, the court at any time
 - (a) may allow the whole or part of the income of the property to be paid, during such period as the court may direct, to a party who has an interest in it, or
 - (b) in the case of personal property, may order that part of the personal property be delivered or transferred to a party.

Recovery of specific property

(4) If a party claims the recovery of specific property other than land, the court may order that the property claimed be given up to the party, pending the outcome of the proceeding, either unconditionally or on terms and conditions, if any, relating to giving security, time, mode of trial or otherwise.

Compensation for wrongful recovery

(5) Unless the court otherwise orders, if an order is made under subrule (4) in favour of a party, the order must contain the party's undertaking to abide by any order that the court may make as to damages arising out of delivery of the property to the party or compliance with any other order.

Rule 10-2 – Receivers

Appointment of receiver

(1) The court may appoint a receiver in any proceeding either unconditionally or on terms, whether or not the appointment of a receiver was included in the relief claimed by the applicant.

Form of security

(2) Unless the court otherwise orders, a receiver must give security as the court may direct in either Form 38 or Form 39 and, until that security is given, the order appointing the receiver must not be presented for entry.

Remuneration of receiver

(3) The court must fix any remuneration to be paid to a receiver.

Accounts of receiver

(4) Unless the court otherwise orders, a receiver must file and deliver his or her accounts annually.

Rule 10-3 – Interpleader

Entitlement to relief by way of interpleader

- (1) If
 - (a) a person (in this rule called the "applicant")
 - (i) is sued or expects to be sued in respect of property in the person's possession or under the person's control or in respect of the proceeds from a disposition of the property, or
 - (ii) receives a claim in respect of
 - (A) the property, or
 - (B) the proceeds

by or from 2 or more persons (in this rule called the "property claimants") making adverse claims, and

(b) the applicant claims no beneficial interest in the property,

the applicant may apply to the court for interpleader relief.

Claim to real or personal property taken by sheriff

(2) A person who makes a claim to or in respect of property taken or intended to be taken by a sheriff in the execution of any writ of execution, or to the proceeds from a disposition of the property, must deliver to the sheriff written notice of the person's claim and the person's address.

Sheriff to deliver notice

(3) On receipt of a notice of claim under subrule (2), a sheriff must promptly deliver a copy of the notice to the person who caused the writ of execution to issue, and that person must, within 7 days after receiving the copy, deliver to the sheriff a written notice stating whether that person admits or disputes the claim.

If claim admitted

- (4) Promptly after receiving under subrule (3) a notice admitting a claim,
 - (a) a sheriff must release any property the claim to which is admitted, and
 - (b) the court may restrain the bringing of a proceeding against the sheriff for or in respect of having taken possession of the property, and

unless the court otherwise orders, the person who admitted the claim is only liable to the sheriff for any costs, fees and expenses incurred by the sheriff before receipt of the notice admitting the claim.

Sheriff may apply for interpleader relief

- (5) A sheriff who receives a notice of claim under subrule (2) may apply for interpleader relief if
 - (a) the sheriff receives a notice under subrule (3) disputing the claim, or
 - (b) the person who caused the writ of execution to issue fails to give the sheriff the notice required under subrule (3) within the time required by that subrule.

Mode of application

(6) An application for interpleader relief must be made by petition, unless it is made in a proceeding that has already been started, in which case it may be made by notice of application.

Affidavit

- (7) An application for interpleader relief must be supported by an affidavit stating the names and addresses of the property claimants of whom the applicant has knowledge and that the applicant
 - (a) claims no beneficial interest in the property in dispute, other than for costs, fees or expenses,
 - (b) does not collude with any property claimant, and
 - (c) is willing to deliver the property to the court or to dispose of it as the court may direct.

Application for interpleader relief

(8) An application for interpleader relief may be made without notice, and the court may deal with the application summarily or may give directions for service.

Powers of court on hearing application

- (9) On the hearing of an application for interpleader relief, the court may
 - (a) order a property claimant to be made a party to a proceeding that has already been started in substitution for or in addition to the applicant,
 - (b) order an issue between the property claimants to be stated and tried in an action and direct which property claimant is to be the plaintiff in the action and which property claimant is to be the defendant.
 - (c) on the request of the applicant or a property claimant, determine the rights of the property claimants summarily,

- (d) if a property claimant fails to attend, or attends and fails or refuses to comply with an order made in the proceeding, make an order declaring that the property claimant and all persons claiming under the property claimant be forever barred from prosecuting the claim against the applicant, without affecting the rights of the property claimants as between themselves,
- (e) stay any further step in a proceeding,
- (f) if there are interpleader applications pending in several proceedings, make an order that is binding on all the parties to the various proceedings,
- (g) order the costs of the applicant to be paid out of the property or proceeds,
- (h) declare that the liability of the applicant with respect to the property or the proceeds is extinguished, and
- (i) make any other order the court considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Rule 10-4 – Injunctions

Applications for pre-trial injunctions

(1) An application for a pre-trial injunction may be made by a party whether or not a claim for an injunction is included in the relief claimed.

Applications for pre-trial injunctions before proceeding started

(2) An application for a pre-trial injunction may be made before the start of a proceeding and the injunction may be granted on terms providing for the start of the proceeding.

Applications for interim injunctions without notice

(3) If an application for a pre-trial injunction is made without notice, the court may grant an interim injunction.

Injunction by court order

(4) An injunction must be imposed by order of the court.

Undertaking as to damages

(5) Unless the court otherwise orders, an order for a pre-trial or interim injunction must contain the applicant's undertaking to abide by any order that the court may make as to damages.

Application for injunction after judgment

(6) In a proceeding in which an injunction has been or might have been claimed, a party may apply by petition after judgment to restrain another party from the repetition or continuance of the wrongful act or breach of contract established by the judgment or from the commission of any act or breach of a like kind.

PART 11 – Experts

Rule 11-1 – Application of Part 11

Application of this Part

- (1) This Part does not apply to
 - (a) summary trials under Rule 9-7, except as provided in that rule,

(a.1) a petition proceeding, except as provided in Rule 16-1, or

(ADD) Oct 03/22

(b) a witness giving evidence in an action in relation to a matter if that witness is an individual whose conduct is in issue in the action in relation to that matter.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

Case plan order

(2) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a case planning conference has been held in an action, expert opinion evidence must not be tendered to the court at trial unless provided for in the case plan order applicable to the action.

Rule 11-2 – Duty of Expert Witnesses

Duty of expert witness

(1) In giving an opinion to the court, an expert appointed under this Part by one or more parties or by the court has a duty to assist the court and is not to be an advocate for any party.

Advice and certification

- (2) If an expert is appointed under this Part by one or more parties or by the court, the expert must, in any report he or she prepares under this Part, certify that he or she
 - (a) is aware of the duty referred to in subrule (1),
 - (b) has made the report in conformity with that duty, and
 - (c) will, if called on to give oral or written testimony, give that testimony in conformity with that duty.

Rule 11-3 – Appointment of Joint Experts

Appointment agreement

(AM) Aug 10/20

- (1) If 2 or more parties who are adverse in interest wish to or are ordered under Rule 5-3 (1) (k) to jointly appoint an expert, the following must be settled before the expert is appointed:
 - (a) the identity of the expert;
 - (b) the issue in the action the expert opinion evidence may help to resolve;
 - (c) any facts or assumptions of fact agreed to by the parties;

- (d) for each party, any assumptions of fact not included under paragraph (c) of this subrule that the party wishes the expert to consider;
- (e) the questions to be considered by the expert;
- (f) when the report must be prepared by the expert and given to the parties;
- (g) responsibility for fees and expenses payable to the expert.

[am. B.C. Regs. 18/2019, Sch. 1; 207/2020.]

Appointment by parties

(2) If the parties agree on the matters referred to in subrule (1), they and the expert must enter into an agreement under subrule (6).

Application to court

(3) If the parties referred to in subrule (1) are unable to agree on the matters referred to in subrule (1), any party may apply, on an application under Part 8, at a case planning conference or at an application to amend the case plan order, to settle the terms of the expert's appointment.

Application materials

- (4) Each of the parties referred to in subrule (1) must submit to the court, on any application for an order referred to in subrule (3), material that
 - (a) identifies the matters referred to in subrule (1) (a) to (h) that are in dispute and states his or her position on those matters,
 - (b) if the parties are unable to agree on the identity of the expert, names one or more persons who
 - (i) are qualified to give expert opinion evidence on the issue, and
 - (ii) have been made aware of the content of this Part and consent to being appointed as expert, and
 - (c) states any connection known to the party between a person named under paragraph (b) and a party to the action.

Powers of court

- (5) On an application under subrule (3), the court may do one or more of the following:
 - (a) settle the terms of the appointment referred to in subrule (1) (a) to (h);
 - (b) if the parties are unable to agree on the identity of the expert, identify the person to be appointed as expert, whether or not that expert is named under subrule (4) (b);
 - (c) if the application is made at a case planning conference or at an application to amend a case plan order, make or amend a case plan order to reflect the orders made under paragraphs (a) and (b) of this subrule.

Agreement

- (6) The parties referred to in subrule (1) must enter into an agreement that reflects the terms agreed on under subrule (2) or ordered under subrule (5), and
 - (a) the agreement must be signed by each party to the agreement,
 - (b) the agreement must be signed by the expert to signify that he or she

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (i) has been made aware of the content of this Part, and
- (ii) consents to the appointment reflected in the agreement, and
- (c) a copy of the agreement must be served, promptly after signing, on every party of record who is not a party to the agreement.

Role of expert appointed under this rule

(7) Unless the court otherwise orders on an application referred to in subrule (8), if an agreement is made under this rule for a joint expert to give expert opinion evidence on an issue, the joint expert is the only expert who, in relation to the parties to the agreement, may give expert opinion evidence in the action on the issue.

Notice of application

(8) A party wishing to apply under subrule (7) for leave to tender the evidence of an additional expert at trial must, within 21 days after receipt of the joint expert's report, serve on all parties of record the documents that under Rule 8-1 (7) are required for the application.

Additional experts

(9) The court may, on an application referred to in subrule (8) of this rule, grant leave for the evidence of an additional expert to be tendered at trial if the court is satisfied that the evidence of that additional expert is necessary to ensure a fair trial.

Cross examination

(10) Each party of record, including each of the appointing parties, has the right to cross-examine at trial a joint expert appointed under this rule.

Common experts

(11) Nothing in this rule prevents parties who are not adverse in interest from appointing a common expert.

Rule 11-4 – Appointment of Own Experts

When each party may retain their own experts

(1) Subject to Rule 11-1 (2), parties to an action may each appoint their own experts to tender expert opinion evidence to the court on an issue.

Rule 11-5 – Appointment of Court's Own Expert

Appointment of experts by court

(1) Subject to this rule, the court may, on its own initiative at any stage of an action, appoint an expert if it considers that expert opinion evidence may help the court in resolving an issue in the action.

Materials required by court

- (2) In deciding whether to appoint an expert under this rule in relation to an issue in an action, the court may
 - (a) ask each party of record to name one or more persons who
 - (i) are qualified to give expert opinion evidence on the issue, and
 - (ii) have been made aware of the content of this Part and consent to being appointed,
 - (b) require each party of record to state any connection between an expert named under paragraph (a) and a party to the action, and
 - (c) receive other material and make other inquiries to help decide which expert to appoint.

Court may name different expert

(3) The court may appoint an expert under this rule whether or not that expert was named by a party under subrule (2) (a).

Expert must consent

(4) The court may appoint an expert under this rule if the expert consents to the appointment after he or she has been made aware of the content of this Part.

Previous report not a bar

(5) The court may appoint an expert under this rule in relation to an issue even if that expert has already given a report to a party on the issue or on another issue in the action.

Consequences of court appointment

(6) Unless the court otherwise orders, if an expert is appointed under this rule to give expert opinion evidence on an issue, each party of record has the right to cross-examine the expert.

Directions to expert

- (7) The court, after consultation with the parties of record, must
 - (a) settle the questions to be submitted to any expert appointed by the court under this rule,
 - (b) give the expert any directions the court considers appropriate, and
 - (c) give the parties of record any directions the court considers appropriate to facilitate the expert's ability to provide the required opinion.

Contents of order appointing expert

- (8) The order appointing an expert under this rule must contain the directions referred to in subrule (7) and the court may make additional orders to enable the expert to carry out the directions applicable to him or her, including, on application by a party, an order under Rule 7-6 for
 - (a) an examination with respect to the physical or mental condition of a party, or
 - (b) inspection of property.

Remuneration of expert

- (9) The remuneration of an expert appointed under this rule
 - (a) must be fixed by the court and consented to by the expert, and
 - (b) may include
 - (i) a fee for the report, and any supplementary reports, required under Rule 11-6, and
 - (ii) an appropriate sum for each day that the expert's attendance in court is required.

Security for remuneration

- (10) The court may make one or both of the following orders without prejudice to any party's right to costs:
 - (a) an order directing that the expert's remuneration be paid by the persons and at the time ordered by the court;
 - (b) an order for security for the expert's remuneration.

Reports

- (11) An expert appointed under this rule must
 - (a) prepare a report that complies with Rule 11-6 and send it to the registry, with a copy to each party of record, within such time as the court directs, and
 - (b) if the expert's opinion changes in a material way after an expert's report is sent to the registry under paragraph (a), prepare a supplementary report that complies with Rule 11-6 and send it to the registry, with a copy to each party of record, within such time as the court directs.

Report must be tendered as evidence

(12) Each report and supplementary report of an expert appointed by the court under this rule must be tendered as evidence at the trial of the action, unless the trial judge otherwise orders.

Rule 11-6 – Expert Reports

Requirements for report

- (1) An expert's report that is to be tendered as evidence at the trial must be signed by the expert, must include the certification required under Rule 11-2 (2) and must set out the following:
 - (a) the expert's name, address and area of expertise;
 - (b) the expert's qualifications and employment and educational experience in his or her area of expertise;
 - (c) the instructions provided to the expert in relation to the proceeding;
 - (d) the nature of the opinion being sought and the issues in the proceeding to which the opinion relates;
 - (e) the expert's opinion respecting those issues;

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (f) the expert's reasons for his or her opinion, including
 - (i) a description of the factual assumptions on which the opinion is based,
 - (ii) a description of any research conducted by the expert that led him or her to form the opinion, and
 - (iii) a list of every document, if any, relied on by the expert in forming the opinion.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Proof of qualifications

(2) The assertion of qualifications of an expert is evidence of them.

Service of report

- (3) Unless the court otherwise orders, at least 84 days before the scheduled trial date, an expert's report, other than the report of an expert appointed by the court under Rule 11-5, must be served on every party of record, along with written notice that the report is being served under this rule.
 - (a) by the party who intends, with leave of the court under Rule 11-3 (9) or otherwise, to tender the expert's report at trial, or
 - (b) if 2 or more parties jointly appointed the expert, by each party who intends to tender the expert's report at trial.

Service of responding report

- (4) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a party intends to tender an expert's report at trial to respond to an expert witness whose report is served under subrule (3), the party must serve on every party of record, at least 42 days before the scheduled trial date,
 - (a) the responding report, and
 - (b) notice that the responding report is being served under this rule.

Supplementary report of joint or court-appointed expert

- (5) If, after an expert's report is served under subrule (3) (b), the expert's opinion changes in a material way,
 - (a) the expert must, as soon as practicable, prepare a supplementary report and ensure that that supplementary report is provided to the party who served the report under subrule (3), and
 - (b) the party to whom the supplementary report is provided under paragraph (a) of this subrule must promptly serve that supplementary report on every other party of record.

Supplementary report of own expert

- (6) If, after an expert's report is served under subrule (3) (a) or (4), the expert's opinion changes in a material way and the party who served the report intends to tender that expert's report at trial despite the change,
 - (a) the expert must, as soon as practicable, prepare a supplementary report and ensure that that supplementary report is provided to the party, and
 - (b) the party must promptly serve that supplementary report on every other party of record.

Requirements for supplementary report

- (7) A supplementary report under Rule 11-5 (11) or under subrule (5) (a) or (6) (a) of this rule must
 - (a) be identified as a supplementary report,
 - (b) be signed by the expert,
 - (c) include the certification required under Rule 11-2 (2), and
 - (d) set out the change in the expert's opinion and the reason for it.

Production of documents

- (8) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a report of a party's own expert appointed under Rule 11-3 (9) or 11-4 is served under this rule, the party who served the report must,
 - (a) promptly after being asked to do so by a party of record, serve on the requesting party whichever one or more of the following has been requested:
 - (i) any written statement or statements of facts on which the expert's opinion is based:
 - (ii) a record of any independent observations made by the expert in relation to the report;
 - (iii) any data compiled by the expert in relation to the report;
 - (iv) the results of any test conducted by or for the expert, or of any inspection conducted by the expert, if the expert has relied on that test or inspection in forming his or her opinion, and
 - (b) if asked to do so by a party of record, make available to the requesting party for review and copying the contents of the expert's file relating to the preparation of the opinion set out in the expert's report,
 - (i) if the request is made within 14 days before the scheduled trial date, promptly after receipt of that request, or
 - (ii) in any other case, at least 14 days before the scheduled trial date.

Notice of trial date to expert

(9) The person who is required to serve the report or supplementary report of an expert under this rule must, promptly after the appointment of the expert or promptly after a trial date has been obtained, whichever is later, inform the expert of the scheduled trial date and that the expert may be required to attend at trial for cross-examination.

Notice of objection to expert opinion evidence

(10) A party who receives an expert report or supplementary report under this Part must, on the earlier of the date of the trial management conference and the date that is 21 days before the scheduled trial date, serve on every party of record a notice of any objection to the admissibility of the expert's evidence that the party receiving the report or supplementary report intends to raise at trial.

When objection not permitted

(11) Unless the court otherwise orders, if reasonable notice of an objection could have been given under subrule (10), the objection must not be permitted at trial if that notice was not given.

Rule 11-7 – Expert Opinion Evidence at Trial

Reports must be prepared and served in accordance with rules

- (1) Unless the court otherwise orders, opinion evidence of an expert, other than an expert appointed by the court under Rule 11-5, must not be tendered at trial unless
 - (a) that evidence is included in a report of that expert that has been prepared and served in accordance with Rule 11-6, and
 - (b) any supplementary reports required under Rule 11-5 (11) or 11-6 (5) or (6) have been prepared and served in accordance with Rule 11-6 (5) to (7).

When report stands as evidence

- (2) Unless the court otherwise orders, the following apply to a report or supplementary report of an expert:
 - (a) if, within 21 days after service of the report or within such other period as the court may order, a demand is made under subrule (3) of this rule that the expert who made the report attend at trial for cross-examination, the report must not be tendered or accepted as evidence at the trial unless the appointing party calls the expert at trial to be cross-examined in compliance with the demand;
 - (b) if no such demand is made under subrule (3) within the demand period referred to in paragraph (a) of this subrule,
 - (i) the expert whose report has been served under this Part need not attend at trial to give oral testimony, and
 - (ii) the report, if admissible, may be tendered and accepted as evidence at the trial.

Cross-examination of expert

- (3) A party of record may demand that an expert whose report has been served on the parties of record under Rule 11-6 attend at the trial for cross-examination as follows:
 - (a) if the expert was jointly appointed under Rule 11-3 or was appointed by the court under Rule 11-5, any party of record may, within the demand period referred to in subrule (2)
 (a) of this rule, demand the attendance of the expert for cross-examination by that party or by any of the other parties of record;
 - (b) if the expert was appointed by a party under Rule 11-4 or by a party with leave of the court granted under Rule 11-3 (9), any party of record who is adverse in interest to the party who appointed that expert may, within the demand period referred to in subrule (2) (a) of this rule, demand the attendance of the expert for cross-examination.

Costs of cross-examination

(4) If an expert has been required to attend at trial for cross-examination by a demand under subrule (3) and the court is of the opinion that the cross-examination was not of assistance, the court may order the party who demanded the attendance of the expert to pay to the other party or to the expert costs in an amount the court considers appropriate.

Restrictions on calling expert as witness at trial

- (5) Unless the court otherwise orders, if a party appoints an expert under Rule 11-3 (9) or 11-4,
 - (a) the party must not call the expert to give oral evidence at trial unless
 - (i) the expert's attendance has been demanded under subrule (3) of this rule, or
 - (ii) the expert's report has been served in accordance with Rule 11-6, the party believes direct examination of the expert is necessary to clarify terminology in the report or to otherwise make the report more understandable and any direct examination of that expert is limited to those matters, and
 - (b) the party must not cross-examine the expert at trial.

When court may dispense with requirement of this Part

(AM) Aug 10/20

- (6) At trial, the court may allow an expert to provide evidence, on terms and conditions, if any, even though one or more requirements of this Part have not been complied with, if
 - (a) facts have come to the knowledge of one or more of the parties and those facts could not, with due diligence, have been learned in time to be included in a report or supplementary report and served within the time required by this Part,
 - (b) the non-compliance is unlikely to cause prejudice
 - (i) by reason of an inability to prepare for cross-examination, or
 - (ii) by depriving the party against whom the evidence is tendered of a reasonable opportunity to tender evidence in response, or
 - (c) the interests of justice require it.

[am. B.C. Regs. 18/2019, Sch. 1; 207/2020.]

Rule 11-8 – Repealed

(REP) (1) to (12) Repealed Aug 10/20

(1) to (12) *Repealed.* [B.C. Reg. 207/2020]

PART 12 - Trial

Rule 12-1 – How to Set Trial for Hearing

Application

- (1) This rule applies to
 - (a) an action, and
 - (b) a proceeding that is transferred to the trial list under Rule 22-1 (7) (d).

Notice of trial

(2) To set a proceeding for trial, a party must file a notice of trial in Form 40.

[Special rules apply to fast track actions in relation to the setting of trials – see Rule 15-1 (13) and (14).]

Content of notice of trial

(3) A notice of trial filed under subrule (2) must include the date set out in a case plan order for the trial or, if no trial date is set out in a case plan order, the trial date obtained from the registry.

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Registry

- (4) The notice of trial must be filed in
 - (a) the registry where the notice of civil claim was filed unless paragraph (b) applies, or
 - (b) the registry to which the proceeding has been transferred if the proceeding has been transferred for all purposes to another registry.

Place of trial

(5) The place of trial must be the place named in the notice of civil claim, but the court may order that the place of trial be changed or that the trial be heard partly in one place and partly in another.

When notice of trial must be served

(AM) Jul 01/13 (6) Promptly after filing a notice of trial, the filing party must serve a copy of the filed notice of trial on all parties of record.

[am. B.C. Reg. 65/2013, Sch. A.]

If trial date unacceptable

- (7) If a party on whom a notice of trial is served under subrule (6) objects to the trial date set out in that notice of trial, the party must, within 21 days after service of the notice of trial,
 - (a) request a case planning conference, or

(b) make an application to the court to have the trial rescheduled.

Time of trial

(8) The trial is to be heard on the day appointed by the notice of trial or so soon after that day as may be convenient to the court.

Court may make orders respecting trial dates

- (9) The court may
 - (a) order the adjournment of a trial,
 - (b) fix the date of trial of a proceeding,
 - (c) fix the date of trial of an issue in a proceeding, or
 - (d) order that a trial take precedence over another trial.

Duty to inform registry

- (10) Each party to a proceeding that has been set for trial must advise the registry without delay
 - (a) if the proceeding settles, and
 - (b) of any circumstances affecting the estimated length of the trial.

Rule 12-1.1 – Trial Brief

(ADD)Plaintiff must file trial brief

Sep 01/23

- (1) Unless the court otherwise orders, the plaintiff must, at least 56 days before the scheduled trial date,
 - (a) file a trial brief in Form 41, and
 - (b) serve a copy of the filed trial brief on all other parties of record.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Other parties of record must file trial brief

Sep 01/23

- (2) Unless the court otherwise orders, each party of record, other than the plaintiff, must, at least 49 days before the scheduled trial date,
 - (a) file a trial brief in Form 41, and
 - (b) serve a copy of the filed trial brief on all other parties of record.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)**Plaintiff may file amended trial brief**Sep

01/23

- (3) Unless the court otherwise orders, the plaintiff may, at least 42 days before the scheduled trial date,
 - (a) file an amended trial brief in Form 41, and

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

(b) serve a copy of the filed amended trial brief on all other parties of record.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1]

(ADD)Failure to file or serve trial brief

Sep 01/23

(4) If a party of record has failed to comply with subrule (1) (a) or (b) or (2) (a) or (b), the judge or master at a trial management conference may order costs against that party.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Trial removed from trial list

Sep 01/23

(5) Unless the court otherwise orders, a trial must be removed from the trial list if neither the plaintiff nor any other party of record has filed a trial brief as required by subrule (1) or (2).

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Witness list must be amended

Sep 01/23

- (6) If a party of record who has provided a witness list in a trial brief later learns that the witness list is inaccurate or incomplete, the party must promptly
 - (a) file an amended witness list, and
 - (b) serve a copy of the filed amended witness list on all parties of record.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Person named in witness list need not testify

Sep 01/23

(7) Nothing in this rule requires a party to, at trial, lead evidence from a person listed in the witness list set out in the party's trial brief.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)New trial briefs required if trial rescheduled

Sep 01/23

- (8) If the date for the hearing of a trial is rescheduled, a party of record who has already filed a trial brief as required under subrule (1) or (2) must file a new trial brief under those subrules, as applicable, in relation to the new scheduled trial date unless
 - (a) the new scheduled trial date is less than 6 months from the previously scheduled trial date, or
 - (b) the court otherwise orders.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Rule 12-2 – Trial Management Conference

(SUB)When trial management conference is required Sep

Sep 01/23

- (1) A trial management conference must take place if
 - (a) required by order of the court, or
 - (b) unless the court otherwise orders,
 - (i) more than 15 days have been reserved for the trial,

- (ii) any party of record is not represented by a lawyer, or may not be represented by a lawyer at the trial,
- (iii) the trial is to be heard by the court with a jury, or
- (iv) a party of record requests a trial management conference by filing a requisition not less than 42 days before the scheduled trial date.

 [en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Date and place of trial management conference Sep

01/23

(1.1) Unless the court otherwise orders, the trial management conference must take place at least 28 days before the scheduled trial date, at a time and place to be fixed by a registrar. [en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Trial management conference must be conducted by judge

(AM) Sep 01/23 (2) A trial management conference must be conducted by a judge or master.

[am. B.C. Regs. 58/2012, Sch. A; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(REP) (3) to (3.6) Repealed Sep

01/23

(3) to (3.6) *Repealed*. [B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1]

Who must attend the trial management conference

- (4) Unless the court otherwise orders, the following persons must attend a trial management conference in person:
 - (a) each lawyer representing a party of record;
 - (b) subject to the exception set out in subrule (5), each party of record.

Absent parties must be available and accessible by telephone or other means

(AM) Sep 01/23

- (5) A party of record need not attend the trial management conference in person if the party is represented by a lawyer and one of the following is readily available for consultation during the trial management conference, either in person or by telephone, video conference or other communication medium:
 - (a) the party;
 - (b) an individual who
 - (i) has full authority to make decisions for that party concerning the action, or
 - (ii) has ready access to a person who has, or to a group of persons who collectively have, full authority to make decisions for that party concerning the action.

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(SUB)Application must be made by requisition Sep

01/23

(6) An application made under subrule (4) for an order respecting the manner in which a person is to attend a trial management conference or exempting a person from attending a trial management conference must be made by requisition in Form 20.1.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Non-attendance at trial management conference

(AM) Apr 25/12

- If a person who, under subrule (4), is required to attend a trial management conference fails to attend at that trial management conference, the trial management conference judge or master may do one or more of the following:
 - (a) proceed in the absence of the person who failed to attend;
 - (b) adjourn the trial management conference;
 - (c) order that the person, or the party on whose behalf the person was to attend, pay costs to one or more other parties.

[am. B.C. Reg. 58/2012, Sch. A.]

Proceedings must be recorded

(8) Proceedings at a trial management conference must be recorded, but no part of that recording may be made available to or used by any person without court order.

Orders at a trial management conference

(AM) Apr 25/12

- The judge or master presiding at a trial management conference may consider the following and, without limiting the ability of the trial judge or master to make other orders at trial, may, whether or not on the application of a party, make orders respecting one or more of the following:
 - (a) a plan for how the trial should be conducted;
 - (b) whether or not the trial or any part of it is to be heard without a jury, on any of the grounds set out in Rule 12-6 (5);
 - (c) amendment of pleadings within a fixed time;
 - (d) admissions of fact at trial;
 - (e) admission of documents at trial, including
 - (i) agreements as to the purposes for which documents may be admitted, and
 - (ii) the preparation of common books of documents and document agreements;
 - (f) imposing time limits for the direct examination or cross-examination of witnesses, opening statements and final submissions;
 - (g) directing that a party provide a summary of the evidence that the party expects one or more of the party's witnesses will give at trial;
 - (h) directing that evidence of witnesses be presented at trial by way of affidavit;
 - (i) respecting experts, including, without limitation, orders that the parties' experts must, before the service of their respective reports, confer to determine and report on those matters on which they agree and those matters on which they do not agree;
 - (j) directing that the parties present opening statements and final submissions in writing;
 - (k) respecting when and how an issue between the party filing a third party notice and the third party may be tried;
 - (1) adjournment of the trial;
 - (m) directing that the number of days reserved for the trial be changed;
 - (n) directing the parties to attend a settlement conference;
 - (o) adjourning the trial management conference;
 - (p) directing the parties to attend a further trial management conference at a specified date and time;
 - (q) any other matter that may assist in making the trial more efficient;
 - (r) any other matter that may aid in the resolution of the proceeding;

(AM) Apr 25/12 (s) any orders the judge or master considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

[am. B.C. Reg. 58/2012, Sch. A.]

When approval in writing by lawyer not required

(AM) Apr 25/12 (10) Without limiting Rule 13-1 (2), if an order under subrule (9) of this rule is signed or initialled by the trial management conference judge or master, that order need not be approved in writing by a lawyer or by a party.

[am. B.C. Reg. 58/2012, Sch. A.]

Prohibited orders

(AM) Apr 25/12

- (11) A trial management conference judge or master must not, at a trial management conference,
 - (a) hear any application for which affidavit evidence is required, or
 - (b) make an order for final judgment, except by consent.

[am. B.C. Reg. 58/2012, Sch. A.]

Rule 12-3 – Trial Record

Trial record for the court

- (1) The party who files a notice of trial must file a trial record for the court, which trial record must contain
 - (a) the pleadings,
 - (b) particulars served under a demand, together with the demand made,
 - (c) the case plan order, if any,
 - (d) any order relating to the conduct of the trial,

(ADD) Sep 01/23 (d.1) the trial brief filed by each party of record, and

(e) any document required by a registrar under subrule (2). [am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Powers of registrar respecting trial records

- (2) A registrar may direct inclusion in the trial record of any document the registrar thinks necessary or may reject a trial record that, in the registrar's opinion,
 - (a) does not contain all the documents required under subrule (1),
 - (b) contains a document that is not a document required under subrule (1), or
 - (c) is illegible.

Filing and service of trial record

- (3) The party referred to in subrule (1) must
 - (a) file the trial record at least 14 days before but not more than 28 days before the scheduled trial date, and
 - (b) promptly after filing, serve a copy of the filed trial record on the other parties of record.

Amended trial record

- (4) If the whole or any part of a pleading is amended after service of the trial record, the party who filed the notice of trial must
 - (a) amend the trial record by substituting the amended pleading for the version of the pleading that had previously been included, and
 - (b) at least one day before the trial,
 - (i) file the amended trial record, and
 - (ii) serve a copy on all parties of record.

Direction as to trial record

(5) If the court directs that a proceeding be set down for trial, it may also direct one of the parties to prepare, file and serve a trial record.

Rule 12-4 – Trial Certificate

Trial certificate

(AM) Sep 01/23

(1) Each party of record must file a trial certificate in Form 42 in the registry where the action was started.

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

When trial certificate must be filed

(2) A trial certificate must be filed at least 14 days before but not more than 28 days before the scheduled trial date.

What trial certificate must contain

- (3) A trial certificate must contain the following:
 - (a) a statement that the party filing the trial certificate will be ready to proceed on the scheduled trial date;
 - (b) a statement certifying that the party filing the trial certificate has completed all examinations for discovery that the party intends to conduct;
 - (c) the party's current estimate of the length of the trial;

(AM) Sep 01/23 (d) a statement that a trial management conference has been conducted in the action or was not required.

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Service

(4) Promptly after filing a trial certificate, the filing party must serve a copy of the filed trial certificate on all parties of record.

(AM) Failure to file

Jul

01/11

(5) Unless the court otherwise orders, if no party of record files a trial certificate, the trial must be removed from the trial list.

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Applications prohibited

(6) A party who fails to file a trial certificate under subrule (1) is not, without leave of the court, entitled to make further applications.

Rule 12-5 – Evidence and Procedure at Trial

Application

(1) This rule does not apply to summary trials under Rule 9-7, except as provided in that rule.

Proof of Facts and Documents

Court may vary order

(2) An order made under this rule concerning the mode of proving a fact or document or of tendering evidence may be revoked or varied by a subsequent order made at or before the trial.

Failure to prove a material fact

- (3) If a party omits or fails to prove some fact material to the party's case, the court may proceed with the trial, subject to that fact being afterwards proved as the court directs, and,
 - (a) if the case is being tried by a jury, the court may direct the jury to find a verdict as if that fact had been proved, and
 - (b) unless the court otherwise orders, judgment must be entered according to whether or not that fact is or is not afterwards proved as directed.

No Evidence and Insufficient Evidence Applications

No evidence application

(4) At the close of the plaintiff's case, the defendant may apply to have the action dismissed on the ground that there is no evidence to support the plaintiff's case.

Defendant need not elect whether to call evidence

(5) A defendant is entitled to apply under subrule (4) without being called on to elect whether or not to call evidence.

Insufficient evidence application

(6) At the close of the plaintiff's case, the defendant may apply to have the action dismissed on the ground that the evidence is insufficient to make out the plaintiff's case.

Defendant must elect not to call evidence

(7) Unless the court otherwise orders, an application under subrule (6) may be made only after the defendant has elected not to call evidence.

Documentary and Other Exhibits

Notice to produce

- (8) By serving a notice in Form 43 at least 2 days before a trial, a party of record may require any other party of record to bring to the trial
 - (a) any document listed by the other party in a list of documents prepared under Rule 7-1, and
 - (b) any physical object in the other party's possession or control that the party serving the notice contemplates tendering at the trial as an exhibit, but the notice must identify the object.

Numbering exhibit pages

- (9) If a copy of a document is tendered as an exhibit,
 - (a) each page of the exhibit must be numbered sequentially, beginning with the first page of the exhibit and ending with the last page of the exhibit, or
 - (b) if the exhibit is divided by tabs,
 - (i) each page of the exhibit that is not behind a tab must be numbered sequentially, beginning with the first of those pages and ending with the last of those pages, and
 - (ii) each page of the exhibit that is behind a tab must be numbered sequentially, beginning with the first page behind the tab and ending with the last page behind the tab.

Opportunity to inspect exhibit

(10) Unless the court otherwise orders or the parties of record otherwise agree, no plan, photograph or object may be received in evidence at the trial of an action unless, at least 7 days before the start of the trial, the parties of record have been given an opportunity to inspect it.

Registrar to take charge of exhibits

- (11) A registrar must
 - (a) take charge of each document or object put in as an exhibit,
 - (b) mark or label each exhibit with a number, and
 - (c) make a list of the exhibits, giving a short description of each and stating by whom it was tendered.

Return of exhibits

(12) Subject to subrule (13), after the time for appeal from judgment has expired or after the disposition of an appeal, new trial or further appeal, whichever is latest, a registrar may return an exhibit to the party who tendered it.

Other returns

(13) The parties of record may agree or the court may order that an exhibit be returned at an earlier time or to a person other than the party who tendered it.

Disposal of exhibits after final disposition

- (14) A registrar may, with the approval of the Deputy Attorney General, destroy or otherwise dispose of an exhibit tendered in evidence in a proceeding if the return of the exhibit has not been applied for within one year after the later of
 - (a) the date of the judgment at trial in, or any other final disposition of, the proceeding, and
 - (b) the date of the judgment on, or any other final disposition of, any appeal, new trial or further appeal.

Notice respecting disposal of exhibits before final disposition

- (15) If an exhibit is tendered in evidence in a proceeding and nothing is filed in that proceeding for a period of 2 years, a registrar may notify the parties of record that the registrar intends to destroy or otherwise dispose of the exhibit unless, within 30 days after the date of the notice,
 - (a) an application is made for the return of the exhibit, or
 - (b) a notice of intention to proceed in Form 44 is served on all parties of record and a copy of the notice and proof of its service is filed in the proceeding.

Disposal of exhibits before final disposition

- (16) After giving notice of the intended destruction or disposition of an exhibit under subrule (15), a registrar may,
 - (a) if, within 30 days after the date of the notice, a person applies to the registrar for a return of the exhibit, return the exhibit to the party who tendered it or to such other person as the parties of record may agree or the court may order, or
 - (b) if no such application is made and if none of the parties comply with subrule (15) (b) within 30 days after the date of the notice, destroy or otherwise dispose of the exhibit with the approval of the Deputy Attorney General.

If exhibit disposed of

- (17) If an exhibit is disposed of under subrule (14) or (16) (b),
 - (a) any money received as a result of the disposition must be paid to the Minister of Finance, and
 - (b) the exhibit list must be endorsed to indicate the date and method of disposition and the amount of any money recovered.

If exhibit destroyed

(18) If an exhibit is destroyed under subrule (14) or (16) (b), the exhibit list must be endorsed to indicate the date and method of destruction.

Adverse Witnesses

"Adverse party" defined

(19) For the purpose of subrules (20) to (23), "adverse party" means a party who is adverse in interest.

Adverse witness

- (20) Subrules (21) to (24) apply if a party wishes to call as a witness at the trial
 - (a) an adverse party, or
 - (b) a person who, at the time the notice referred to in subrule (21) is served, is a director, officer, partner, employee or agent of an adverse party.

Notice to call adverse witness

(21) If a party wishes to call as a witness a person referred to in subrule (20) (a) or (b), the party must serve on the adverse party a notice in Form 45 together with proper witness fees at least 7 days before the date on which the attendance of the intended witness is required.

Exceptions

- (22) Despite subrule (21), a party may
 - (a) call as a witness, without payment of witness fees or previous notice, a person referred to in subrule (20) (a) or (b) if the person called is in attendance at the trial, or
 - (b) subpoena a person referred to in subrule (20) (a) or (b).

Application to set notice aside

- (23) The court may set aside a notice served under subrule (21) on the grounds that
 - (a) the adverse party is unable to procure the attendance of the person named in the notice,
 - (b) the evidence of the person is unnecessary,
 - (c) it would work a hardship on the person or the adverse party to require the person to attend the trial, or
 - (d) the person named in the notice is not a person referred to in subrule (20) (a) or (b).

Court may make order

(24) On an application under subrule (23), the court may make any order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules, including, without limitation, an order adjourning the trial.

Refusal to comply with notice

(25) If a person called as a witness in accordance with subrule (21) or (22) refuses or neglects to attend at the trial, to be sworn or to affirm, to answer a proper question put to the person or to produce a document that the person is required to produce, the court may do one or more of the following:

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (a) grant judgment in favour of the party who called the witness;
- (b) adjourn the trial;
- (c) make an order as to costs;
- (d) make any other order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Adverse party as witness may be cross-examined

- (26) If, in accordance with subrule (21) or (22), a party calls as a witness a person referred to in subrule (20) (a) or (b), the following apply:
 - (a) the party calling the witness is entitled to cross-examine the witness generally on one or more issues;
 - (b) the adverse party must not cross-examine the witness except to obtain an explanation of matters brought out in the examination-in-chief;
 - (c) other parties may cross-examine the witness generally on one or more issues, as the court may direct;
 - (d) the party calling the witness must not re-examine the witness except in relation to new matters brought out in cross-examination.

Rules Applicable to All Witnesses

Witness to testify orally

- (27) Subject to any enactment and these Supreme Court Civil Rules,
 - (a) a witness at a trial of an action must testify in open court, and
 - (b) unless the parties otherwise agree, the witness must testify orally.

Witness must be listed in witness list

(AM) Oct 03/22

(28) Unless the court otherwise orders, a party must not, at trial, lead evidence from a witness unless that witness is listed in the witness list set out in a party's trial brief.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

Examination of witnesses

- (29) The court may permit a party
 - (a) to examine a witness, either generally or with respect to one or more issues,
 - (i) by the use of leading questions,
 - (ii) by referring the witness to a prior statement made by the witness, whether or not made under oath,
 - (iii) respecting the interest of the witness, if any, in the outcome of the proceeding, or
 - (iv) respecting any relationship or connection between the witness and a party, or
 - (b) to cross-examine a witness, either generally or with respect to one or more issues.

Any party may contradict testimony

(30) A party may contradict or impeach the testimony of any witness.

Party may prepare and serve subpoena

(31) A party of record may prepare a subpoena and serve it on any person.

Form of subpoena

(32) A subpoena must be in Form 25 and may contain any number of names.

Subpoena not to be filed or sealed

(33) A subpoena need not be filed in or bear the seal of the court.

Service of subpoena

(34) A subpoena must be served and, if an affidavit is filed for the purpose of proving the service, the affidavit must state when, where, how and by whom service was effected.

Fees to accompany subpoena

(35) A person served with a subpoena is entitled to tender of the proper fees at the time of service.

Production of documents and physical objects

- (36) A party of record, by subpoena in Form 25, may require any person other than a party of record or a representative of a party of record to bring to the trial
 - (a) any document in the person's possession or control relating to the matters in question in the action, without the necessity of identifying the document, and
 - (b) any physical object in the person's possession or control that the party contemplates tendering at the trial as an exhibit, but the subpoena must identify the object to be brought.

Order for attendance of witness in custody

(37) The court may order the attendance of a witness who is in the lawful custody of another person, including the custodian of a penal institution.

Failure of witness to attend, etc.

- (38) On proof
 - (a) of the service of a subpoena on a witness who fails to attend or to remain in attendance in accordance with the requirements of the subpoena,
 - (b) that proper witness fees have been paid or tendered to that witness, and
 - (c) that the presence of that witness is material to the ends of justice,

the court, by its warrant in Form 46 directed to a sheriff or other officer of the court or to a peace officer, may cause that witness to be apprehended and promptly brought before the court and to be detained in custody or released on terms the court may order, and the court may order that witness to pay the costs arising from his or her failure to attend or to remain in attendance.

Order setting aside subpoena

(39) A person who has been served with a subpoena may apply to the court for an order setting aside the subpoena on the grounds that compliance with it is unnecessary or that it would work a hardship on the person, and the court may make any order, as to postponement of the trial or otherwise, it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Deposition Evidence

Use of deposition evidence

(40) A transcript or video recording of a deposition under Rule 7-8 may be given in evidence at the trial by any party and, even though the deposition of a witness has or may be given in evidence, the witness may be called to testify orally at the trial.

Use of videotape or film

(41) If a video recording of a deposition is given in evidence under subrule (40) of this rule, a transcript of the deposition may also be given.

Certified transcript

(42) If a transcript of a deposition is certified as an accurate transcription by the person taking the deposition, the transcript may be tendered in evidence without proof of the signature of that person.

Video recording of deposition evidence

(43) A video recording of a deposition may be tendered in evidence without proof of its accuracy or completeness, but the court may order an investigation to verify the accuracy or completeness of the video recording.

Video recording of evidence becomes exhibit

(44) A video recording of a deposition tendered in evidence becomes an exhibit at the trial.

Deposition to be given in full

- (45) If a transcript or video recording of a deposition is given in evidence,
 - (a) subrule (56) applies, and
 - (b) the deposition must be presented in full, unless otherwise agreed by the parties or ordered by the court.

Evidence from Examinations for Discovery

Persons against whom discovery evidence is admissible

- (46) If otherwise admissible, the evidence given on an examination for discovery by a party or by a person examined under Rule 7-2 (5) to (10) may be tendered in evidence at trial by any party adverse in interest, unless the court otherwise orders, but the evidence is admissible against the following persons only:
 - (a) the adverse party who was examined;
 - (b) the adverse party whose status as a party entitled the examining party to conduct the examination under Rule 7-2 (5) to (10);
 - (c) if the person was examined under section 17 of the *Class Proceedings Act* as a member of a class, the members of that class.

Notice required of evidence

(47) If a person examined for discovery was, at the time of the examination, a former director, officer, employee, agent or external auditor of a party, any part of his or her evidence may be tendered at trial if notice has been served on all parties of record at least 14 days before trial specifying the part of the evidence intended to be given at trial.

Attendance at trial may be required

(48) Any party of record may require the attendance at trial of a person whose evidence taken on examination for discovery is intended to be tendered under subrule (47), and, if the evidence is tendered, all parties of record may cross-examine that person.

Court may consider whole examination

(49) If part of an examination for discovery is tendered in evidence, the court may review the whole of that examination and if, following the review, the court considers that another part of the examination is closely connected with the part tendered in evidence, it may direct that the other part be tendered as evidence.

Discovery evidence of person under disability

(50) If, at the time of an examination for discovery, the person examined was an infant or a mentally incompetent person, the examination must not be tendered in evidence unless the trial judge, at the time the evidence is tendered, determines that the person, at the time of the examination, was competent to give evidence.

Transcripts of discovery evidence

(51) If a transcript of an examination for discovery is certified as an accurate transcription by the official reporter, the transcript may be tendered in evidence without proof of the reporter's signature.

Pre-trial Examinations

Use of pre-trial examination of a witness

- (52) A party may tender in evidence at the trial all or part of the examination of a person taken under Rule 7-5
 - (a) to contradict or impeach the testimony of the person at trial, or
 - (b) if it is necessary in the interests of justice and
 - (i) the person is dead,
 - (ii) the person is unable to attend and testify because of age, infirmity, sickness or imprisonment,
 - (iii) the person is out of the jurisdiction, or
 - (iv) the person's attendance cannot be secured by subpoena.

Court may consider whole pre-trial examination

(53) If part of an examination of a person taken under Rule 7-5 is tendered in evidence, the court may review the whole of that examination and if, following the review, the court considers that another part of the examination is so closely connected with the part tendered in evidence that the last mentioned part ought not to be used without the other part, it may direct that the other part be tendered as evidence.

Transcripts and Interrogatories

Use of transcript of other proceedings

(54) If a witness is dead, or is unable to attend and testify because of age, infirmity, sickness or imprisonment or is out of the jurisdiction or his or her attendance cannot be secured by subpoena, the court may permit a transcript of any evidence of that witness taken in any proceeding, hearing or inquiry at which the evidence was taken under oath, whether or not involving the same parties, to be put in as evidence, but reasonable notice must be given of the intention to give that evidence.

Transcript for the court

(55) In an action in which evidence or argument is taken down by an official reporter or is recorded digitally or on audio tape, it is the duty of the plaintiff, if required by the court, to furnish the court with a certified transcript of the evidence or argument or any portion of it, the costs of which form part of the costs of the action, but if payment of the costs of providing a transcript would be a hardship on a party, the court may order that the transcript be prepared at the expense of the government.

Objection to transcript evidence at trial

(56) At a trial, a party may object to the admissibility of any question and answer in a transcript or video recording tendered in evidence, although no objection was taken at the examination.

Custody of transcripts

(57) If a transcript is made of a deposition examination, examination for discovery or pre-trial examination of a witness, the party at whose instance the examination was held must keep the original transcript unmarked and must have it available at the trial.

Use of interrogatories at trial

(58) At the trial of an action, a party may give in evidence an answer, or part of an answer, to interrogatories, but the court may look at the whole of the answers and, if it is of the opinion that any other answer or part of an answer is so connected with an answer or part of it given in evidence that the one ought not to be used without the other, it may direct that the other answer or part of it be put in as evidence.

Evidence Given by Affidavit

Affidavit evidence

(59) On the application of a party of record at or before trial, a judge or master may order that the evidence in chief of a witness may be given by affidavit.

Copy of affidavit must be furnished

(60) A party seeking to tender evidence by affidavit must serve a copy of the affidavit on all parties of record at least 28 days, or such lesser period as may be ordered by the court, before the application referred to in subrule (59).

Cross-examination

(61) If a copy of an affidavit of a witness is served under subrule (60), any party may, unless the court otherwise orders, require the witness to be called for cross-examination at trial, provided that that party gives to the party seeking to tender the evidence by affidavit notice of the requirement within 14 days after receiving the affidavit.

Court may extend or abridge time to require witness attendance

(62) If a copy of an affidavit is served under subrule (60) less than 28 days before the application referred to in subrule (59), the court may extend or abridge the time referred to in subrule (61) within which parties may require the attendance of the witness at trial for cross-examination.

Contents

(63) The person swearing or affirming an affidavit referred to in subrule (59) may state only what he or she would be permitted to state were the evidence to be given orally.

Cross-examination not limited

(64) Cross-examination under subrule (61) or (62) is not confined to matters contained in the affidavit.

Costs where attendance unnecessary

(65) If a witness has been required to give evidence under subrule (61) or (62), and the court is of the opinion that the evidence obtained does not materially add to the information in the affidavit furnished under subrule (60), the court may order the party that required the attendance of the witness to pay, as costs, an amount the court considers appropriate.

Trial Procedures

Trial with assessor

(66) The court may at any time order a trial to be heard wholly or partially by the court sitting with an assessor, and the court may fix the remuneration for the assessor and the remuneration forms part of the costs of the action.

Trial of one question before others

(67) The court may order that one or more questions of fact or law arising in an action be tried and determined before the others.

Trial by different modes of trial

(68) The court may order that different questions of fact arising in an action be tried by different modes of trial.

Calculation of amount by officer of the court

(69) In an action in which it appears that the amount to be recovered is substantially a matter of calculation, the court may direct an inquiry, assessment or accounting under Rule 18-1.

Use of recording device

(70) If authorized by the court to do so, a party may use a recording device to record evidence.

Evidence of particular facts

- (71) At or before a trial, the court may order that evidence of a fact or document may be presented at the trial in any manner, including
 - (a) by statement on oath of information and belief,
 - (b) by documents or entries in books,
 - (c) by copies of documents or entries in books, or
 - (d) by a specified publication that contains a statement of that fact.

Order of speeches

- (72) Addresses to the jury or the court must be as follows:
 - (a) the party on whom the onus of proof lies may open his or her case before giving evidence;

- (b) at the close of the case of the party who began, the opposite party, if that party announces his or her intention to give evidence, may open his or her case;
- (c) at the close of all of the evidence, the party who began may address the jury or the court, and the opposite party may then address the jury or the court and the party who began may then reply and the court may allow the opposite party to be heard in response to a point raised in the reply;
- (d) if a defendant claims relief against another defendant, the defendant claiming relief may address the jury after the defendant against whom relief is claimed;
- (e) if a party is represented by a lawyer, the rights conferred by this rule must be exercised by the party's lawyer.

Court may make order respecting submissions

- (73) At or before a trial, the court may make one or both of the following orders in respect of a party's submissions to the court at the trial:
 - (a) an order that all or any part of the submissions be in writing;
 - (b) an order that all or any part of the submissions be of limited length.

Clerk to note time of trial

- (74) On each day of a trial, the clerk must record the following:
 - (a) the time the trial begins and ends;
 - (b) the name of each witness;
 - (c) the time the witness' evidence begins and ends.

Failure to Attend

Failure of all parties to appear at trial

(75) Without limiting any other power of the court under these Supreme Court Civil Rules, if no party is in attendance when the trial of an action is called, the action must be struck off the trial list unless the court otherwise orders.

Failure of one party to appear at trial

(76) If a party is not in attendance when the trial of an action is called, the court may proceed with the trial, including hearing a counterclaim, in the absence of that party.

Court may set aside judgment

(77) The court may set aside a verdict or judgment obtained if a party does not attend the trial.

Rule 12-6 – Jury Trials

(REP) 0.1 to 0.4 Repealed

Oct 08/22

to **0.4** Repealed. [B.C Regs. 232/2020, Sch. 2; 53/2021]

Trial without jury generally

(1) Subject to subrule (3), a trial must be heard by the court without a jury.

Trial without jury in certain proceedings

- (2) A trial must be heard by the court without a jury if the trial relates to
 - (a) the administration of the estate of a deceased person,
 - (b) the dissolution of a partnership or the taking of partnership or other accounts,
 - (c) the redemption or foreclosure of a mortgage,
 - (d) the sale and distribution of the proceeds of property subject to any lien or charge,
 - (e) the execution of trusts,
 - (f) the rectification, setting aside or cancellation of a deed or other written instrument,
 - (g) the specific performance of a contract,
 - (h) the partition or sale of real estate,
 - (i) the custody or guardianship of an infant or the care of an infant's estate, or
 - (j) a proceeding referred to in Rule 2-1 (2).

Notice requiring jury trial

- (3) Subject to Rule 15-1 (10) and subrules (2) and (4) of this rule, a party may require that the trial of an action be heard by the court with a jury by doing the following:
 - (a) within 21 days after service of the notice of trial but at least 45 days before trial,

(AM) Jul 01/13

(AM)

01/13

Tul

- (i) filing a notice in Form 47, and
- (ii) serving a copy of the filed notice on all parties of record;
- (b) at least 45 days before trial, paying to the sheriff a sum sufficient to pay for the jury and the jury process.

[am. B.C. Regs. 95/2011, Sch. A; 65/2013, Sch. A.]

Jury notice not to prevent transfer of proceeding

(4) The court may transfer a proceeding to the Provincial Court of British Columbia under section 15 of the *Supreme Court Act* even though a party has filed a notice under subrule (3).

Court may refuse jury trial

- (5) Except in cases of defamation, false imprisonment and malicious prosecution, a party on whom a notice under subrule (3) has been served may apply
 - (a) within 7 days after service for an order that the trial or part of it be heard by the court without a jury on the ground that

- (i) the issues require prolonged examination of documents or accounts or a scientific or local investigation that cannot be made conveniently with a jury,
- (ii) the issues are of an intricate or complex character, or
- (iii) the extra time and cost involved in requiring that the trial be heard by the court with a jury would be disproportionate to the amount involved in the action, or
- (b) at any time for an order that the trial be heard by the court without a jury on the ground that the trial relates to a fast track action or to one of the proceedings referred to in subrule (2).

No application for judgment necessary

(6) An application for judgment is not necessary unless an enactment or these Supreme Court Civil Rules otherwise provides.

Judgment impossible on jury findings

(7) If, after any redirection the court considers appropriate, a jury answers some but not all of the questions directed to it, or if the answers are conflicting, so that judgment cannot be pronounced on the findings, the action must be retried.

Only partial judgment possible on jury findings

(8) If the answers of the jury entitle either party to judgment in respect of some but not all of the claims for relief in the notice of civil claim, the court may pronounce judgment on those claims and the remaining claims must be retried.

Jury failing to reach verdict

(9) If the jury fails to reach a verdict in accordance with the Jury Act, the action must be retried.

Retrial

(10) A retrial under subrules (7) to (9) may take place at the same or subsequent sittings as the court may direct.

Continuing trial without jury

(11) If, for any reason other than the misconduct of a party or the party's lawyer, a trial with a jury would be retried, the court, with the consent of the party who required a jury trial, may continue the trial without a jury.

Trial may continue without jury

(12) If, by reason of the misconduct of a party or the party's lawyer, a trial with a jury would be retried, the court, with the consent of all parties adverse in interest to the party whose conduct, or whose lawyer's conduct, is complained of, may continue the trial without a jury.

PART 13 – Orders

Rule 13-1 – Orders

Drawing and approving orders

- (1) An order of the court
 - (a) subject to subrule (15), may be drawn up by any party,

(AM) Oct 03/22

- (b) subject to subrules (1.3) and (2) and paragraph (c) of this subrule, must, unless the court otherwise orders, be approved in writing by all parties of record or their lawyers,
- (c) need not be approved by a party who has not consented to it and who did not attend or was not represented at the trial or hearing following which the order was made, and
- (d) after approval under this rule, must be left with a registrar to have the seal of the court affixed.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Service of order drawn up by party and signing instructions Oct

03/22

(1.1) If an order of the court must be approved in writing by a party of record or their lawyer, the party who draws up the order must serve the order on the party of record along with signing instructions in Form 33.1.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Time limit for approving or objecting to order drawn up by party Oct 03/22

- (1.2) A party who is served with an order under subrule (1.1) or the party's lawyer must, within 14 days after being served,
 - (a) if the party or lawyer approves the terms of the order, sign the order and return it to the party who drew up the order, or
 - (b) if the party or lawyer disagrees with the accuracy of the terms of the order, deliver to the party who drew up the order a written objection that sets out in detail the reasons why the terms of the order are not accurate.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Approval not required after non-compliance Oct

03/22

(1.3) If a party who is served with an order under subrule (1.1) or the party's lawyer does not return the approved order or deliver a written objection within the time limit set out in subrule (1.2), the order need not be approved by that party or that party's lawyer.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Entry of order after non-compliance

Oct 03/22

(1.4) The registrar may enter an order that has not been approved by a party of record or their lawyer if the party who drew up the order files

- (a) proof of service on the party of record of the order and the signing instructions referred to in subrule (1.1),
- (b) proof that the party who was served with the order or that party's lawyer did not return the approved order, or deliver a written objection, within the time limit set out in subrule (1.2), and
- (c) a requisition in Form 17 requesting entry of the order. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

When approval in writing not required

(2) If an order is signed or initialled by the presiding judge or master, that order need not be approved in writing by a lawyer or by a party.

Form of order

01/23

- (3) Unless these Supreme Court Civil Rules otherwise provide,
 - (a) an order made without a hearing and by consent must be in Form 34,
- (ADD) (a.1) an order made at a trial management conference must be in Form 47.1, Sep
 - (b) an order made after a trial must be in Form 48, and
 - (c) any other order must be in Form 35.

 [am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Endorsement of order on application sufficient in certain cases

(4) If an order has been made substantially in the same terms as requested, and if the court endorses the notice of application, petition or other document to show that the order has been made or made with any variations or additional terms shown in the endorsement, it is not necessary to draw up the order, but the endorsed document must be filed.

Order granted conditionally on document to be filed

(5) If an order may be entered on the filing of a document, the party seeking entry of the order must file the document when leaving the draft order with a registrar, and the registrar must examine the document and, if satisfied that it is sufficient, must enter the order accordingly.

Waiver of order obtained on condition

(6) If a person who has obtained an order on condition does not comply with the condition, the person is deemed to have abandoned the order so far as it is beneficial to the person and, unless the court otherwise orders, any other person interested in the proceeding may take either the steps the order may warrant or the steps that might have been taken if the order had not been made.

Order of judge or master

(7) An order of a single judge or master is an order of the court.

Date of order

- (8) An order
 - (a) must be dated as of the date on which it was pronounced or, if made by a registrar, as of the date on which it is signed by the registrar, and
 - (b) unless the court otherwise orders, takes effect on the day of its date.

Approval of order

(9) An order may be approved by any judge.

Requirement of consent order

- (10) A consent order must not be entered unless the consent of each party of record affected by the order is signified as follows:
 - (a) if the party is represented by a lawyer, by the signature of the lawyer;
 - (b) if the party is not represented by a lawyer,
 - (i) by the oral consent of the party who attends before the court or a registrar, or
 - (ii) by the written consent of the party.

Settlement of orders

(11) An order must be settled, when necessary, by a registrar, who may refer the draft to the judge or master who made the order.

(SUB)**Appointment to settle** Oct

03/22

- (12) A party may file an appointment in Form 49 to settle an order and must, at least one day before the time fixed by the appointment, serve on all parties whose approval of the order is required under subrule (1) the following documents:
 - (a) a copy of the filed appointment;
 - (b) the draft order;
 - (c) any written objections to the draft order that have been delivered to the party. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

Party failing to attend on appointment to settle

(13) If a party fails to attend at the time appointed for the settlement of an order, a registrar may settle the order in the party's absence.

Review of settlement

(14) The court may review and vary the order as settled.

Registrar may draw order

(15) The court may direct a registrar to draw up and enter an order.

Special directions for entry or service

(16) The court may give special directions respecting the entry or service of an order.

Correction of orders

(17) The court may at any time correct a clerical mistake in an order or an error arising in an order from an accidental slip or omission, or may amend an order to provide for any matter that should have been but was not adjudicated on.

Opinions, advice and directions of the court

(18) The opinion, advice or direction of the court must be entered in the same manner as an order of the court and is to be termed a "judicial opinion", "judicial advice" or "judicial direction", as the case may require.

Orders on terms and conditions

(19) When making an order under these Supreme Court Civil Rules, the court may impose terms and conditions and give directions it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Rule 13-2 – Enforcement of Orders

Order to pay money to a person

(1) An order for the payment of money to a person may be enforced by writ of seizure and sale in Form 50.

Order to pay money into court

(2) An order for the payment of money into court may be enforced by writ of sequestration in Form 51.

Order for recovery or delivery of land

(3) An order for the recovery or the delivery of the possession of land may be enforced by writ of possession in Form 52.

Order for recovery or delivery of property other than land

(4) An order for the recovery or the delivery of the possession of any property other than land or money may be enforced by writ of delivery in Form 53 or 54 or by writ of sequestration in Form 51.

Appointment of receiver

(5) An order may be enforced by the appointment of a receiver under Rule 10-2.

Execution by or against person not a party

(6) A person not a party to a proceeding, who obtains an order or in whose favour an order is made, may enforce the order in the same manner as if the person were a party to the proceeding, and an order that may be enforced against a person not a party to a proceeding may be enforced against that person as if he or she were a party to the proceeding.

Remedy on non-compliance with mandatory order

(7) If a mandatory order or an order for the specific performance of a contract is not obeyed, the court, in addition to or instead of proceeding against the disobedient person for contempt, may direct that the act required to be done may be done so far as is practicable by the person who obtained the order, or by some other person appointed by the court, at the expense of the disobedient person, and on the act being done, the expenses incurred may be ascertained in such manner as the court may direct, and execution may issue for the amount so ascertained and costs.

Issue of execution on conditional order

(8) If an order is to the effect that a person is entitled to relief subject to or on compliance with a condition or the happening of a contingency, the person so entitled, after compliance with the condition or the happening of the contingency, and after demand is made on the person against whom he or she is entitled to relief, may apply to the court for leave to issue execution.

Order when right to relief has arisen

- (9) The court, if satisfied that the right to relief referred to in subrule (8) has arisen, may
 - (a) order that execution issue, or
 - (b) direct that any issue or question necessary for the determination of the rights of the persons be tried.

Issue of execution on change of parties

- (10) If a change has taken place, by death or otherwise, in the persons entitled or liable to execution, the person claiming to be entitled to execution may apply to the court for leave to issue execution, and the court may order
 - (a) that execution may issue, or
 - (b) that any issue or question necessary to determine the rights of the person be tried.

Production of order before execution

(11) A writ of execution must not issue without the production to the registry of a copy of the order on which the writ is to issue.

Endorsement of writ

(12) A writ of execution must be endorsed with the name and address of the lawyer or person causing it to be issued.

Issue of writ of sequestration, possession or delivery

- (13) A writ of sequestration, a writ of possession or a writ of delivery must not be issued unless there has been filed proof satisfactory to a registrar that,
 - (a) in the case of an order, the order sought to be enforced
 - (i) has been served on the person against whom the order is sought to be enforced, and
 - (ii) has not been complied with, or
 - (b) in the case of a document, issued under an enactment, that on being filed in the court may be enforced as if it were an order of the court, the document
 - (i) has been filed in the court,
 - (ii) has, before or after being filed in the court, been served in accordance with the enactment or these Supreme Court Civil Rules on the person against whom the order is sought to be enforced, and
 - (iii) has not been complied with.

Issue of writ of execution if order to pay money within a period

(14) If the order sought to be enforced is for the payment of money within a specified period, a writ of execution must not be issued until the expiration of the period.

Issue of writ of execution

(15) Subject to these Supreme Court Civil Rules or an order of the court, a writ of execution may be issued by a registrar at any time during the lifetime of the order sought to be enforced.

When writ of execution is issued

(16) A writ of execution must be prepared by the person seeking to enforce the order or by the person's lawyer, must be sealed by a registrar and is, after that, deemed to be issued.

Copy of writ of execution must be left with registry

(17) The person seeking to enforce the order or the person's lawyer, on presenting a writ of execution for sealing, must provide a copy of the writ of execution to the registry.

Term of writ of execution

(18) A writ of execution, if unexecuted, remains in force for one year only, unless renewed.

Renewal of writ of execution

(19) At any time before the expiration of a writ of execution, or a renewed writ of execution, the writ of execution may, on the application of the party issuing the writ of execution, be renewed for a one year period beginning on the date of the renewal.

Hearing of writ of execution

- (20) An application to renew a writ of execution may be heard by
 - (a) the court, or

(b) a registrar designated by the Chief Justice.

Writ of execution to be endorsed

(21) A renewed writ of execution must be endorsed, by the court or a registrar, with the date of the order granting renewal and the date of the renewal.

Enforcement costs

(22) Unless the court otherwise orders, a party who is entitled to enforce an order is entitled to the costs, fees and expenses of enforcement including proceedings under the *Court Order Enforcement Act*, this rule and Rules 13-3 and 13-4.

Registrar may fix amount

(23) Subject to subrule (24) of this rule, if these Supreme Court Civil Rules provide or some other enactment provides that enforcement costs may be included in the amount endorsed on any writ of execution, a registrar may fix the amount to be endorsed on the writ of execution.

Assessments and accounting

- (24) If a judgment debtor alleges that he or she has satisfied an order for the payment of money or otherwise, whether or not the costs of enforcement and interest on those costs have been paid,
 - (a) either the judgment creditor or the judgment debtor may apply to have the costs of enforcement assessed before a registrar, and Rule 14-1 applies, or
 - (b) the judgment debtor may apply to the registrar for an accounting.

Registrar may certify on accounting

- (25) On an accounting referred to in subrule (24) (b) of this rule, Rule 18-1 applies and a registrar may certify one or more of the following:
 - (a) the amount, if any, then due to the judgment creditor;
 - (b) the amount, if any, then due to the judgment debtor as a result of an overpayment;
 - (c) that the judgment has been paid.

Certificate of same effect as order

(26) A certificate under subrule (25) (c) of this rule has the same effect as if it were an order under subrule (30).

Separate writs for costs

(27) On an order granting relief and costs, there may be, at the election of the person entitled, either one writ of execution or separate writs of execution for the relief granted and for the recovery of the costs.

Judgment for recovery of property other than land

(28) If an order for the recovery of property other than land or money is to be enforced by writ of delivery, the court may, on the application of the judgment holder,

- (a) order that execution issue for the delivery of the property without giving the other party the option of retaining the property on paying the assessed value, and
- (b) if the property cannot be found, and unless the court otherwise orders, order that the sheriff take possession of all the other party's lands, goods and chattels
 - (i) until the other party delivers the property, or
 - (ii) at the option of the judgment holder, until the sheriff realizes from the other party's goods and chattels the assessed value of the property.

Acknowledgment of payment

(29) A debtor may require, as a condition of paying a money judgment, that the judgment creditor promptly execute, file and serve an acknowledgment of payment in Form 55.

Order that judgment has been paid

(30) If a judgment debtor claims to have paid the judgment but has not obtained an acknowledgment of payment from the judgment creditor, the debtor may apply to the court for an order certifying that the judgment has been paid.

Stay of execution

- (31) The court may, at or after the time of making an order,
 - (a) stay the execution of the order until such time as it thinks fit, or
 - (b) provide that an order for the payment of money be payable by instalments.

Balance becomes payable if instalment not paid when due

(32) Unless the court in an order under subrule (31) (b) otherwise provides, if an instalment is not paid by the time fixed for payment, the balance of the money remaining unpaid under the order is, at that time, due and payable without notice being given to the judgment debtor.

Application for relief

(33) Without limiting subrule (31), a party against whom an order has been made may apply to the court for a stay of execution or other relief on grounds with respect to which the supporting facts arose too late for them to be pleaded, and the court may give relief it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Application for directions

(34) A sheriff, judgment creditor or judgment debtor may apply to the court for directions under Rule 13-5 concerning the sale of any property taken in execution.

Enforcement of certificate

(35) If a certificate under Rule 14-1 (27) or 18-1 (2) has been filed, it may be enforced as if it were an order of the court.

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Rule 13-3 – Subpoena to Debtor

Subpoena to debtor

(1) A creditor who has obtained an order of the court for the recovery or payment of money or costs or both may issue out of the registry a subpoena in Form 56 on filing an affidavit showing that the order is not satisfied and that no writ of execution issued by the creditor is outstanding against the debtor.

To whom subpoena must be directed

- (2) A subpoena issued under subrule (1) must be directed,
 - (a) if the debtor is an individual, to the debtor,
 - (b) if the debtor is a corporation, to an officer or director of the debtor, or
 - (c) if the debtor is a partnership or firm, to a person liable to execution on an order against the debtor.

Service of subpoena

(3) A subpoena issued under subrule (1) must be served at least 7 days before the date of the examination under subrule (4), and with the subpoena must be tendered any expenses the person served would be entitled to were he or she required to attend the court as a witness.

Examination of debtor

- (4) The examination referred to in a subpoena issued under subrule (1) must take place before an examiner and must be on oath as to the following matters:
 - (a) the income and property of the debtor;
 - (b) the debts owed to and by the debtor;
 - (c) the disposal the debtor has made of any property;
 - (d) the means the debtor has, or has had, or in future may have, of satisfying the order.

Examiner

- (5) The examiner must be
 - (a) the court,
 - (b) a master, or
 - (c) a registrar designated as an examiner by the Chief Justice.

Examination

(6) At an examination under this rule, the creditor and the person subpoenaed may, with leave of the examiner, call witnesses who may be cross-examined.

Adjournment

(7) The examiner may adjourn an examination under this rule from time to time.

Debtor refusing to attend or respond

- (8) If the person subpoenaed under subrule (1)
 - (a) does not attend as required at the examination under subrule (4) or an adjournment of it,
 - (b) refuses to be sworn or to affirm, or to answer one or more of the questions put to the person.
 - (c) after an order to that effect, refuses or neglects to produce or permit to be inspected any document or property, or
 - (d) does not give answers that are to the satisfaction of the examiner,

then

- (e) if the examiner is a master or registrar,
 - (i) in the case of default under paragraph (a), the examiner must make a report in Form 57 and fix a time and place at which the creditor may attend before the court, and at that time and place the court may, at the request of the creditor and without notice to the person subpoenaed, order
 - (A) committal, or
 - (B) apprehension under Rule 22-8 (5), and
 - (ii) in the case of default under paragraph (b), (c) or (d) of this subrule, the examiner must make a report in Form 57 and fix a time and place for the person subpoenaed to attend before the court, and at that time and place the court may, at the request of the creditor and without further notice to the person subpoenaed, order
 - (A) committal, or
 - (B) apprehension under Rule 22-8 (5), or
- (f) if the examiner is the court, the examiner may order committal.

Creditor failing to attend, etc.

(9) If the creditor who issued a subpoena under subrule (1) fails to attend at the examination under subrule (4), or if the examiner is of the opinion that the proceedings are unnecessary or vexatious, the examiner may order the creditor to pay to the person subpoenaed a sum of money by way of compensation and may order that sum to be paid promptly or to be set off against the debt.

Debtor unreasonably refusing to pay

- (10) If it appears to the examiner that
 - (a) the debtor has, with intent to defraud the creditor, made or caused to be made any gift, delivery or transfer of property, or has removed or concealed property,
 - (b) the debtor has unreasonably neglected or refused to pay the debt in whole or in part or to pay any instalment ordered to be paid, or
 - (c) the debtor is a corporation and the person subpoenaed has done, authorized, permitted or acquiesced in an act or omission described in paragraph (a) or (b),

then

- (d) if the examiner is a master or registrar, he or she may make a report of his or her findings and fix a time and place for the person subpoenaed to attend before the court, and at that time and place the creditor may apply without notice for committal, or
- (e) if the examiner is the court, the examiner may order committal.

Order for payment

- (11) At an examination under this rule, the examiner may make one or more of the following orders:
 - (a) for the payment of the debt by instalments;
 - (b) for the payment of the debt on or before a fixed date;
 - (c) varying or rescinding any previous order;
 - (d) for payment to be made to a registrar, to the creditor or to the creditor's lawyer;
 - (e) fixing the costs payable by the debtor without assessment,

and if the examiner is a master or registrar, the order has the effect of an order made by the court and must be entered accordingly.

Notice of application for committal

(12) If a debtor fails to pay in accordance with an order made under subrule (11) by an examiner, the creditor may file a notice of application for committal in Form 58 on filing an affidavit showing that the default has occurred, and subrules (2) and (3) apply.

Order for committal

- (13) The court may order committal of a debtor if satisfied that
 - (a) the order to pay has not been obeyed,
 - (b) the person knew of the order, and
 - (c) the person has not shown good cause why an order of committal should not be made against him or her.

Costs payable by debtor

(14) The court may fix the costs payable by the debtor without assessment.

Form of order

(15) An order of committal must be in Form 59 and must commit the person named in it to prison for a term not exceeding 40 days.

Term of order

(16) An order of committal must not be enforced after the expiration of one year after the date the order was made.

Payment to sheriff

(17) A creditor seeking to enforce an order of committal must pay to the sheriff for the maintenance of the person committed the sum of \$10 per day for each day of imprisonment by weekly payments of \$70 in advance.

Maintenance money recoverable

(18) The maintenance money paid by a creditor under subrule (17) is a disbursement recoverable by the creditor from the debtor as costs of execution, without order.

Debtor to be brought before court

- (19) Subject to subrule (21), a sheriff or peace officer executing an order of committal must promptly bring the person arrested before the court, and the person arrested may be examined by the court, and if the court considers that imprisonment is not appropriate, the court may stay execution of the order of committal and, in that event, must
 - (a) fix a time and place for a hearing to determine whether or not the order of committal should be set aside or varied, and
 - (b) give directions for notice of that hearing to be given to the creditor.

Application to set aside or vary order

(20) A person who is the subject of an order of committal may apply to the court to set aside or vary the order, and the court may order a stay of execution of the order pending the hearing of the application and give directions for service of notice of the hearing.

Payment of debt

(21) A person who is the subject of an order of committal may pay the amount payable endorsed on the order either to a registrar or to the sheriff, peace officer or warden in whose custody he or she is.

Receipt for payment

(22) On payment under subrule (21) to a registrar of the amount payable, the registrar must issue a receipt to that effect.

Release from custody

(23) On payment under subrule (21) to any of them of the amount payable or on being shown a registrar's receipt to that effect, a sheriff, peace officer or warden must release the person committed from custody and must endorse the order accordingly and return it to the registry.

Payment to creditor

(24) All money received under this rule must be paid promptly to the creditor.

Requisition for discharge

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

Failure to pay sheriff

- (26) A sheriff who has not received maintenance money as provided in subrule (17) must,
 - (a) if the person committed is in the sheriff's custody, release the person committed, or
 - (b) if the person committed is in the warden's custody, must notify the warden, who must release the person committed,

and each must endorse the order accordingly and return it to the registry.

Liability imposed by order

(27) Imprisonment under these Supreme Court Civil Rules does not extinguish the liability imposed by an order.

Repealed

(28) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A]

Rule 13-4 – Examinations in Aid of Execution

Definitions

(1) In this rule:

"judgment creditor" means a person entitled to enforce an order of the court, whether for payment of money or otherwise;

"judgment debtor" means a person against whom the order may be enforced.

Examination of judgment debtor

- (2) If a judgment creditor is entitled to issue execution on or otherwise enforce an order of the court, the judgment creditor may examine the judgment debtor for discovery as to
 - (a) any matter pertinent to the enforcement of the order,
 - (b) the reason for nonpayment or nonperformance of the order,
 - (c) the income and property of the judgment debtor,
 - (d) the debts owed to and by the judgment debtor,
 - (e) the disposal the judgment debtor has made of any property either before or after the making of the order,
 - (f) the means the judgment debtor has, had or may have of satisfying the order, and

(g) whether the judgment debtor intends to obey the order or has any reason for not doing so.

Examination of corporate, partnership or firm judgment debtor

(3) An officer or director of a corporate judgment debtor, or a person liable to execution on the order in the case of a partnership or firm judgment debtor, may, without an order, be examined for discovery on the matters set out in subrule (2).

Limitation

(4) Unless the court otherwise orders, a person examined under subrule (2) or (3) must not be further examined in the same proceeding for a year.

Examination of person other than judgment debtor

(5) On being satisfied that any other person may have knowledge of the matters set out in subrule (2), the court may order that other person to be examined for discovery concerning the person's knowledge.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Order in certain cases

(6) If a difficulty arises in or about the execution or enforcement of an order, the court may make any order for the attendance and examination of a party or person it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

(AM) Application of examination for discovery rules Jul 01/11

(7) Rule 7-2 (4), (5), (11), (12), (14), (17), (18), (22) to (28) applies to an examination under this rule.

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Use of examination

(8) Any part of an examination for discovery under this rule may be given in evidence in the same or any subsequent proceeding between the parties to the proceeding or between the judgment creditor and the person examined for discovery.

Costs

(9) Unless the court otherwise orders, the party conducting an examination under this rule is entitled to recover the costs of the examination from the judgment debtor.

(ADD)Service of notice

Jul 01/11

- (10) Before conducting an examination for discovery under this rule, the party wishing to conduct that examination must do the following:
 - (a) if the person to be examined is a party of record to, and has a lawyer in, the action, ensure that, at least 7 days before the examination,
 - (i) an appointment in Form 59.1 is served on that lawyer, and

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (ii) witness fees in the amount required under Schedule 3 of Appendix C are tendered to that lawyer;
- (b) in any other case, ensure that, at least 7 days before the examination,
 - (i) an appointment in Form 59.1 is served on the person to be examined, and
 - (ii) witness fees in the amount required under Schedule 3 of Appendix C are tendered to the person to be examined.

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(ADD)Production of documents

Jul 01/11

(11) Unless the court otherwise orders, the person to be examined for discovery under this rule must produce for inspection on the examination all documents in his or her possession or control, not privileged, relating to the matters referred to in subrule (2).

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Rule 13-5 – Sales by the Court

Court may order sale

(1) If in a proceeding it appears necessary or expedient that property be sold, the court may order the sale and may order a person in possession of the property or in receipt of the rents, profits or income from it to join in the sale and transfer of the property and deliver up the possession or receipt to the purchaser or person designated by the court.

Sale in debenture holder's proceeding

(2) In a debenture holder's proceeding in which the debenture holder is entitled to a charge on any property, the court, if it is of the opinion that eventually there must be a sale of the property, may order the sale before or after judgment, whether or not all interested persons are ascertained or served.

Conduct of sale

(3) If an order is made directing property to be sold, the court may permit any person having the conduct of the sale to sell the property in the manner the person considers appropriate or as the court directs.

Directions for sale

- (4) The court may give directions for the purpose of effecting a sale, including directions
 - (a) appointing the person who is to have conduct of the sale,
 - (b) fixing the manner of sale, whether by contract conditional on the approval of the court, private negotiation, public auction, sheriff's sale, tender or some other manner,
 - (c) fixing a reserve or minimum price,
 - (d) defining the rights of a person to bid, make offers or meet bids,
 - (e) requiring payment of the purchase price into court or to trustees or to other persons,
 - (f) settling the particulars or conditions of sale,

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (g) obtaining evidence of the value of the property,
- (h) fixing the remuneration to be paid to the person having conduct of the sale and any commission, costs or expenses resulting from the sale,
- (i) that any conveyance or other document necessary to complete the sale be executed on behalf of any person by a person designated by the court, and
- (j) authorizing a person to enter on any land or building.

Application for directions

(5) A person having conduct of a sale may apply to the court for further directions.

Certificate of sale

(6) The result of a sale by order of the court must be certified in Form 60 by the person having conduct of the sale and that certificate must be filed promptly after completion of the sale.

Vesting order

(7) The person having conduct of the sale may apply to the court for a vesting order in favour of a purchaser.

PART 14 - Costs

Note

[Special rules apply to costs in fast track actions – see Rule 15-1 (15) to (17).]

Rule 14-1 – Costs

How costs assessed generally

- (1) If costs are payable to a party under these Supreme Court Civil Rules or by order, those costs must be assessed as party and party costs in accordance with Appendix B unless any of the following circumstances exist:
 - (a) the parties consent to the amount of costs and file a certificate of costs setting out that amount;
 - (b) the court orders that
 - (i) the costs of the proceeding be assessed as special costs, or
 - (ii) the costs of an application, a step or any other matter in the proceeding be assessed as special costs in which event, subject to subrule (10), costs in relation to all other applications, steps and matters in the proceeding must be determined and assessed under this rule in accordance with this subrule;
 - (c) the court awards lump sum costs for the proceeding and fixes those costs under subrule (15) in an amount the court considers appropriate;
 - (d) the court awards lump sum costs in relation to an application, a step or any other matter in the proceeding and fixes those costs under subrule (15), in which event, subject to subrule (10), costs in relation to all other applications, steps and matters in the proceeding must be determined and assessed under this rule in accordance with this subrule;
 - (e) a notice of fast track action in Form 61 has been filed in relation to the action under Rule 15-1, in which event Rule 15-1 (15) to (17) applies;
 - (f) subject to subrule (10) of this rule,
 - (i) the only relief granted in the action is one or more of money, real property, a builder's lien and personal property and the plaintiff recovers a judgment in which the total value of the relief granted is \$100 000 or less, exclusive of interest and costs, or
 - (ii) the trial of the action was completed within 3 days or less,

in which event, Rule 15-1 (15) to (17) applies to the action unless the court orders otherwise.

Assessment of party and party costs

- (2) On an assessment of party and party costs under Appendix B, a registrar must
 - (a) allow those fees under Appendix B that were proper or reasonably necessary to conduct the proceeding, and

(b) consider Rule 1-3 and any case plan order.

Assessment of special costs

- (3) On an assessment of special costs, a registrar must
 - (a) allow those fees that were proper or reasonably necessary to conduct the proceeding, and
 - (b) consider all of the circumstances, including the following:
 - (i) the complexity of the proceeding and the difficulty or the novelty of the issues involved;
 - (ii) the skill, specialized knowledge and responsibility required of the lawyer;
 - (iii) the amount involved in the proceeding;
 - (iv) the time reasonably spent in conducting the proceeding;
 - (v) the conduct of any party that tended to shorten, or to unnecessarily lengthen, the duration of the proceeding;
 - (vi) the importance of the proceeding to the party whose bill is being assessed, and the result obtained;
 - (vii) the benefit to the party whose bill is being assessed of the services rendered by the lawyer;
 - (viii) Rule 1-3 and any case plan order.

Assessment officer

(4) The officer before whom costs are assessed is a registrar.

Disbursements

- (5) When assessing costs under subrule (2) or (3) of this rule, a registrar must
 - (a) determine which disbursements have been necessarily or properly incurred in the conduct of the proceeding, and
 - (b) allow a reasonable amount for those disbursements.

(REP) Repealed

31/14

(6) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 2]

Directions

- (7) If the court has made an order for costs,
 - (a) any party may, at any time before a registrar issues a certificate under subrule (27), apply for directions to the judge or master who made the order for costs,
 - (b) the judge or master may direct that any item of costs, including any item of disbursements, be allowed or disallowed, and
 - (c) the registrar is bound by any direction given by the judge or master.

Tax in respect of legal services and disbursements

- (8) If tax is payable by a party in respect of legal services or disbursements, a registrar must, on an assessment under subrule (2) or (3), allow an additional amount to compensate for that tax as follows:
 - (a) if the tax is payable in respect of legal services, the additional amount to compensate for the tax must be determined by multiplying the percentage rate of the tax by,
 - (i) in the case of a judgment entered on default of response to civil claim, the costs allowed under Item 1 or 2, as the case may be, of Schedule 1 of Appendix B,
 - (ii) in the case of a writ of execution, a garnishing order, a subpoena to debtor in Form 56, a notice of application for committal in Form 58 or an order of committal in Form 59, the costs allowed under Item 1 or 2, as the case may be, of Schedule 2 of Appendix B, or
 - (iii) in any other case, the monetary value of the units assessed;
 - (b) if the tax is payable in respect of disbursements, the additional amount to compensate for the tax must be determined by multiplying the percentage rate of the tax by the monetary value of the disbursements as assessed.

Costs to follow event

(9) Subject to subrule (12), costs of a proceeding must be awarded to the successful party unless the court otherwise orders.

Costs in cases within small claims jurisdiction

(10) A plaintiff who recovers a sum within the jurisdiction of the Provincial Court under the *Small Claims Act* is not entitled to costs, other than disbursements, unless the court finds that there was sufficient reason for bringing the proceeding in the Supreme Court and so orders.

Costs where party represented by an employee

(11) A party is not disentitled to costs merely because the party's lawyer is an employee of the party.

Costs of applications

- (12) Unless the court hearing an application otherwise orders,
 - (a) if the application is granted, the party who brought the application is entitled to costs of the application if that party is awarded costs at trial or at the hearing of the petition, but the party opposing the application, if any, is not entitled to costs even though that party is awarded costs at trial or at the hearing of the petition, and
 - (b) if the application is refused, the party who brought the application is not entitled to costs of the application even though that party is awarded costs at trial or at the hearing of the petition, but the party opposing the application, if any, is entitled to costs if that party is awarded costs at trial or at the hearing of the petition.

When costs payable

(13) If an entitlement to costs arises during a proceeding, whether as a result of an order or otherwise, those costs are payable on the conclusion of the proceeding unless the court otherwise orders.

Costs arising from improper act or omission

- (14) If anything is done or omitted improperly or unnecessarily, by or on behalf of a party, the court or a registrar may order
 - (a) that any costs arising from or associated with any matter related to the act or omission not be allowed to the party, or
 - (b) that the party pay the costs incurred by any other party by reason of the act or omission.

Costs of whole or part of proceeding

- (15) The court may award costs
 - (a) of a proceeding,
 - (b) that relate to some particular application, step or matter in or related to the proceeding, or
 - (c) except so far as they relate to some particular application, step or matter in or related to the proceeding

and in awarding those costs the court may fix the amount of costs, including the amount of disbursements.

Costs payable from estate or property

(16) If it is ordered that any costs are to be paid out of an estate or property, the court may direct out of what portion of the estate or property the costs are to be paid.

Set-off of costs

(17) If a party entitled to receive costs is liable to pay costs to another party, a registrar may assess the costs the party is liable to pay and may adjust them by way of deduction or set-off or may delay the allowance of the costs the party is entitled to receive until the party has paid or tendered the costs the party is liable to pay.

Costs of one defendant payable by another

(18) If the costs of one defendant against a plaintiff ought to be paid by another defendant, the court may order payment to be made by one defendant to the other directly, or may order the plaintiff to pay the costs of the successful defendant and allow the plaintiff to include those costs as a disbursement in the costs payable to the plaintiff by the unsuccessful defendant.

Unnecessary expense after judgment

(19) If after pronouncement of judgment a party puts another party to unnecessary proceedings or expense, a registrar may award costs as the registrar considers appropriate against the offending party.

Form of bill of costs

(20) A bill of costs must be in Form 62 or, if the bill of costs pertains to a judgment under Rule 3-8, Form 63.

Appointment to review a bill, examine an agreement or assess costs

- (21) Except as provided in subrule (26), a person who seeks a review of a bill or an examination of an agreement under the *Legal Profession Act* or who seeks to have costs assessed must
 - (a) obtain a date for an appointment before a registrar,
 - (b) file an appointment in Form 49 to which is attached
 - (i) the bill to be reviewed,
 - (ii) the agreement to be examined, or
 - (iii) the bill of costs to be assessed, and
 - (c) at least 5 days before the date of the appointment, serve a copy of the filed Form 49 appointment and any affidavit in support,
 - (i) in the case of a bill to be reviewed, on the lawyer whose bill is to be reviewed, on the person who is charged with the bill or on the person who has agreed to indemnify the person charged, as the case may be,
 - (ii) in the case of an agreement to be examined, on the lawyer who is a party to the agreement to be examined, or
 - (iii) in the case of a bill of costs to be assessed, in accordance with subrule (25).

Place for review or examination

- (22) An appointment for review of a bill, examination of an agreement or assessment of costs must be taken out,
 - (a) in the case of a bill to be reviewed or an agreement to be examined,
 - (i) if the bill or agreement relates to a court proceeding, at the registry at which the proceeding is being conducted, or
 - (ii) if the bill or agreement does not relate to a court proceeding, at the registry nearest to the place of business of the lawyer concerned,
 - (b) in the case of a bill of costs to be assessed, at the registry at which the proceeding is being conducted, or
 - (c) at any other registry to which the parties to the appointment may agree.

Further particulars

- (23) A registrar may order further particulars or details of
 - (a) a bill under review,
 - (b) an agreement under examination, or
 - (c) a bill of costs being assessed.

Assessment of sheriff's fees

- (24) If a sheriff who has charged fees for services set out in Schedule 2 of Appendix C or a person affected by those fees wishes to have those fees assessed, the person seeking the assessment must
 - (a) obtain an appointment from a registrar in Form 49 and attach to that appointment a copy of the bill to be assessed, if available, and
 - (b) at least 5 days before the assessment, serve a copy of the filed appointment and any filed affidavit in support on all persons affected by the fees.

Service of appointment

- (25) A person seeking an assessment of costs must serve an appointment in Form 49, to which is attached the bill of costs, and any affidavit in support on
 - (a) the person against whom costs are to be assessed, and
 - (b) every other person whose interest, whether in a fund or estate or otherwise, may be affected.

Costs on default judgment

- (26) On signing a default judgment, a registrar may, without an appointment, fix the costs to which the plaintiff is entitled against the defendant in default, and set out the amount allowed in
 - (a) the judgment, or
 - (b) a separate certificate.

Certificate of costs

(27) On the conclusion of an assessment of costs, or if the party charged has consented to the amount, a registrar must, either by endorsing the original bill or by issuing a certificate of costs in Form 64, certify the amount of costs awarded, and the party assessing costs must file the certificate.

Certificate of fees

(28) On the conclusion of a review of a bill under the *Legal Profession Act*, or if the parties to the review have consented to the amount due under the bill, a registrar must, by issuing a certificate of fees in Form 65, certify the amount due, and either party to the review may file the certificate.

Review of an assessment

(29) A party who is dissatisfied with a decision of a registrar on an assessment of costs may, within 14 days after the registrar has certified the costs, apply to the court for a review of the assessment.

Form of bill in certain cases

(30) A bill for special costs or a bill under the *Legal Profession Act* may be rendered on a lump sum

Description of services

(31) A lump sum bill must contain a description of the nature of the services and of the matter involved as would, in the opinion of a registrar, afford any lawyer sufficient information to advise a client on the reasonableness of the charge made.

Evidence of lawyer

(32) A party to an assessment of costs or a review of a lump sum bill may put in evidence the opinion of a lawyer as to the nature and importance of the services rendered and of the matter involved and the reasonableness of the charges made, but a party must not put in evidence the opinions of more than 2 lawyers, and a lawyer giving an opinion may be required to attend for examination and cross-examination.

Disallowance of fees and costs

- (33) If the court considers that a party's lawyer has caused costs to be incurred without reasonable cause, or has caused costs to be wasted through delay, neglect or some other fault, the court may do any one or more of the following:
 - (a) disallow any fees and disbursements between the lawyer and the lawyer's client or, if those fees or disbursements have been paid, order that the lawyer repay some or all of them to the client:
 - (b) order that the lawyer indemnify his or her client for all or part of any costs that the client has been ordered to pay to another party;
 - (c) order that the lawyer be personally liable for all or part of any costs that his or her client has been ordered to pay to another party;
 - (d) make any other order that the court considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Costs may be ordered without assessment

- (34) If the court makes an order under subrule (33), the court may
 - (a) direct a registrar to conduct an inquiry and file a report with recommendations as to the amount of costs, or
 - (b) subject to subrule (37), fix the costs with or without reference to the tariff in Appendix B.

Notice

(35) An order against a lawyer under subrule (33) or (34) must not be made unless the lawyer is present or has been given notice.

Order to be served

(36) A lawyer against whom an order under subrule (33) or (34) has been made must promptly serve a copy of the entered order on his or her client.

Limitation

(37) An order by the court under subrule (34) (b) in respect of the costs of an application must not exceed \$1 000.

Refusal or neglect to procure assessment

(38) If a party entitled to costs fails to assess costs and prejudices another party by failing to do so, a registrar may certify the costs of the other party and certify the failure and disallow all costs of the party in default.

Referrals

(39) Unless the court otherwise orders, fees to lawyers, accountants, engineers, actuaries, valuators, merchants and other scientific persons to whom any matter or question is referred by the court must be determined by a registrar, subject to an appeal to the court.

PART 15 – Fast Track Litigation Proceedings

Rule 15-1 – Fast Track Litigation

When rule applies

- (1) Subject to subrule (4) and unless the court otherwise orders, this rule applies to an action if
 - (a) the only claims in the action are for one or more of money, real property, a builder's lien and personal property and the total of the following amounts is \$100 000 or less, exclusive of interest and costs:
 - (i) the amount of any money claimed in the action by the plaintiff for pecuniary loss;
 - (ii) the amount of any money to be claimed in the action by the plaintiff for non-pecuniary loss;
 - (iii) the fair market value, as at the date the action is commenced, of
 - (A) all real property and all interests in real property, and
 - (B) all personal property and all interests in personal property claimed in the action by the plaintiff,
 - (b) the trial of the action can be completed within 3 days,
 - (c) the parties to the action consent, or
 - (d) the court, on its own motion or on the application of any party, so orders.

Subsequent filings

- (2) If this rule applies to an action,
 - (a) any party may file a notice of fast track action in Form 61,
 - (a.1) the filing party must serve a copy of the filed notice of fast track action on each of the other parties of record, and
 - (b) the words "Subject to Rule 15-1" must be added to the style of proceeding, immediately below the listed parties, for all documents filed after the notice of fast track action is filed under paragraph (a) or the court order is made under subrule (1) (d), as the case may be.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Damages not limited

(3) Nothing in this rule prevents a court from awarding damages to a plaintiff in a fast track action for an amount in excess of \$100 000.

Rule does not apply to class proceedings

(4) This rule does not apply to a class proceeding within the meaning of the *Class Proceedings Act*.

Conflict

(5) These Supreme Court Civil Rules apply to a fast track action but in the event of a conflict between this rule and another rule, this rule applies.

When rule ceases to apply

(6) This rule ceases to apply to a fast track action if the court, on its own motion or on the application of any party, so orders.

Case planning conference required

(7) Subject to subrule (8), a party to a fast track action must not serve on another party a notice of application or an affidavit in support of an application unless a case planning conference or a trial management conference has been conducted in relation to the action.

Exception

- (8) Subrule (7) does not apply to an application made
 - (a) for an order under subrule (6) that this rule cease to apply to the action,
 - (b) to obtain leave to bring an application referred to in subrule (9),
 - (c) under Rule 9-5, 9-6 or 9-7,
 - (d) to add, remove or substitute a party, or
 - (e) by consent.

Court may relieve

- (9) On application by a party, a judge or master may relieve a party from the requirements of subrule (7) if
 - (a) it is impracticable or unfair to require the party to comply with the requirements of subrule (7), or
 - (b) the application referred to in subrule (7) is urgent.

Trial to be without jury

(10) A trial of a fast track action must be heard by the court without a jury.

Oral discovery

- (11) Unless the court otherwise orders, in a fast track action the examinations for discovery of a party of record, including any person referred to in Rule 7-2 (1) (b) who is examined in relation to that party of record, by all parties of record who are adverse in interest must not, in total, exceed in duration
 - (a) 2 hours, or
 - (b) any greater period to which the person to be examined consents.

When discoveries must be completed

(12) Unless the court otherwise orders or the parties to the examination consent, all examinations for discovery in a fast track action must be completed at least 14 days before the scheduled trial date.

(REP) **Repealed** Aug 10/20

(12.1) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 207/2020]

Setting of trial date

(13) If a party to a fast track action applies for a trial date within 4 months after the date on which this rule becomes applicable to the action, the registrar must set a date for the trial that is not later than 4 months after the application for the trial date.

If trial will require more than 3 days

(AM) Apr 25/12

- (14) If, as a result of the trial management conference in a fast track action, the trial management conference judge or master considers that the trial will likely require more than 3 days, the trial management conference judge or master
 - (a) may adjourn the trial to a date to be fixed as if the action were not subject to this rule, and
 - (b) is not seized of the action.

[am. B.C. Reg. 58/2012, Sch. A.]

Costs

- (15) Unless the court otherwise orders or the parties consent, and subject to Rule 14-1 (10), the amount of costs, exclusive of disbursements, to which a party to a fast track action is entitled is as follows:
 - (a) if the time spent on the hearing of the trial is one day or less, \$8 000;
 - (b) if the time spent on the hearing of the trial is 2 days or less but more than one day, \$9 500:
 - (c) if the time spent on the hearing of the trial is more than 2 days, \$11 000.

Settlement offers

(16) In exercising its discretion under subrule (15), the court may consider an offer to settle as defined in Rule 9-1.

Taxes to be added to costs

(17) If tax is payable by a party to a fast track action in respect of legal services, an additional amount to compensate for that tax must be added to the costs to which the party is entitled under subrule (15), which additional amount must be determined by multiplying the amount of costs to which the party is entitled under subrule (15) by the percentage rate of the tax.

PART 16 – Petition Proceedings

Rule 16-1 – Petitions

Definitions

(1) In this rule, **"petition respondent"** means a person who files a response to petition under subrule (4).

Petitions

(2) A person wishing to bring a proceeding referred to in Rule 2-1 (2) by filing a petition must file a petition in Form 66 and each affidavit in support.

Service

(3) Unless these Supreme Court Civil Rules otherwise provide or the court otherwise orders, a copy of the filed petition and of each filed affidavit in support must be served by personal service on all persons whose interests may be affected by the order sought.

Response to petition

- (4) A person who has been served with a copy of a filed petition under subrule (3) of this rule must, if the person wishes to receive notice of the time and date of the hearing of the petition, do the following:
 - (a) file a response to petition in accordance with subrule (5);
 - (b) file, with the response to petition, all affidavits that have not already been filed and on which the person intends to rely at the hearing of the petition;
 - (c) unless the court otherwise orders, serve on the petitioner 2 copies and on every other party of record one copy of each document filed under paragraph (a) or (b) as follows:
 - (i) if the petition respondent was served with the petition anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after that service;
 - (ii) if the petition respondent was served with the petition anywhere in the United States of America, within 35 days after that service;
 - (iii) if the petition respondent was served with the petition anywhere else, within 49 days after that service.

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Contents of response to petition

- (5) A response to petition must be in Form 67 and must
 - (a) indicate, for each order sought, whether the petition respondent consents to, opposes or takes no position on the order, and
 - (b) if the petition respondent wishes to oppose any of the relief sought in the petition,
 - (i) briefly summarize the factual and legal bases on which the orders sought should not be granted,

(SUB) Jul 01/11 (SUB) Jul 01/11 (SUB)

Jul

01/11

- (ii) list the affidavits and other documents on which the petition respondent intends to rely at the hearing of the petition, and
- (iii) set out the petition respondent's estimate of the time the petition will take for hearing.

Petitioner may respond

(6) A petitioner may file affidavits in response to any document served on the petitioner under subrule (4) (c) and, in that event, must serve copies of those filed responding affidavits on each petition respondent no later than the date on which the notice of hearing is served on that petition respondent under subrule (8) (b).

(ADD)Expert opinion evidence

Oct 03/22

- (6.1) Unless the court otherwise orders, a party of record may tender a report setting out the opinion of an expert if
 - (a) the report conforms with Rule 11-6 (1), or
 - (b) the court orders that the report is admissible even though it does not conform with Rule 11-6 (1).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Service of expert reports

03/22

- (6.2) Unless the court otherwise orders, expert reports must be served as follows:
 - (a) a petitioner must, at the same time that a copy of the filed petition is served on a person under subrule (3), serve on the person a copy of each expert report in support along with written notice that the expert report is being served under this rule;
 - (b) a petition respondent must, within 42 days after being served with a copy of the filed petition under subrule (3), serve on the petitioner and every other party of record a copy of each expert report of the petition respondent along with written notice that the expert report is being served under this rule;
 - (c) a party must, within 49 days after being served with an expert report under paragraph (b), serve on every other party of record a copy of the serving party's responding expert reports, if any, along with written notice that the expert reports are being served under this rule.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Application of Rule 11-6

Oct 03/22

> (6.3) Rule 11-6 (2) applies to a petition proceeding. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

No additional affidavits

(7) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, a party must not serve any affidavits additional to those served under subrules (3), (4) and (6).

Setting application for hearing

- (8) A petitioner wishing to set a petition down for hearing must,
 - (a) in the case of a petition to which no response to petition has been served under subrule (4) (c), file a notice of hearing in Form 68 at any time before the hearing of the petition, or
 - (b) in the case of a petition to which a response to petition has been filed and served under subrule (4) (c), file a notice of hearing in Form 68, and serve a copy of the filed notice of hearing on each petition respondent, at least 7 days before the date set for the hearing of the petition.

Date and time of hearing

(9) The hearing of a petition must be set for 9:45 a.m. on a date on which the court hears petitions or at such other time or date as has been fixed by the court or a registrar.

Date and time if hearing time more than 2 hours

(10) If the estimate, set out in the petition, of the time that the hearing of the petition will take is more than 2 hours, the date and time of hearing must be fixed by a registrar.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Petition record

(AM) Sep 01/23

- (11) Subject to subrule (13), the petitioner must provide to the registry where the hearing is to take place a petition record as follows:
 - (a) the petition record must be in a ring binder or in some other form of secure binding;
 - (b) the petition record must contain, in consecutively numbered pages, or separated by tabs, the following documents in the following order:
 - (i) a title page bearing the style of proceeding and the names of the lawyers, if any, for the petitioner and the petition respondents;
 - (ii) an index:
 - (iii) a copy of the filed petition;
 - (iv) a copy of each filed response to petition;
 - (v) a copy of each filed affidavit that is to be referred to at the hearing;
 - (c) the petition record may contain
 - (i) a draft of the proposed order,
 - (ii) a written argument,
 - (iii) a list of authorities, and
 - (iv) a draft bill of costs:
 - (d) the petition record must not contain
 - (i) affidavits of service,
 - (ii) copies of authorities, including case law, legislation, legal articles or excerpts from text books, or
 - (iii) any other documents unless they are included with the consent of all the parties;
 - (e) the petition record must be provided to the registry

(ADD) Sep 01/23

- (i) no earlier than 9 a.m. on the business day that is three full business days before the date set for the hearing and no later than 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before the date set for the hearing, or
- (ii) if an earlier date is fixed by a registrar, on or before that date. [am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Service of petition record

(AM) Sep 01/23 (12) The petitioner must serve a copy of the petition record index on each petition respondent no later than 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before the date set for the hearing.

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

If petition respondent's application is to be heard at the hearing

(13) If a petition respondent intends to set an application for hearing at the same time as the hearing of the petition, the parties must, so far as is possible, prepare and file a joint petition record and agree to a date for the hearing of both applications.

Petition record to be returned

- (14) Unless the court otherwise orders, the applicant must retrieve the petition record
 - (a) at the conclusion of the hearing, or
 - (b) if the hearing of the petition is adjourned to a date later than the following court day, after the hearing is adjourned.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Petition record to be returned to registry

(AM) Sep 01/23 (15) If the petition record has been retrieved by the petitioner under subrule (14) (b), the petitioner must return the petition record to the registry between 9:00 a.m. on the second court day before, and 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before, the new date set for the hearing of the petition.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Provision of amended petition record

(16) If any additional affidavits are filed and served under subrule (7), the petitioner must provide to the registry an amended petition record containing those affidavits.

Resetting adjourned hearings

- (16.1) To reset the hearing of a petition that has been adjourned without a date being set for it to be heard ("adjourned generally"), the petitioner must
 - (a) file a requisition in Form 17 setting out the date and time of the hearing, and
 - (b) serve a copy of the filed requisition on the petition respondents at least 2 days before the date set for the hearing.

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

(SUB)Petition respondent may apply for directions

01/11

- (17) If the petitioner does not
 - (a) set the petition for hearing within a reasonable time after being requested to do so by a petition respondent, or
 - (b) after the hearing of the petition has been adjourned generally, reset the petition for hearing within a reasonable time after being requested to do so by a petition respondent,

a petition respondent may apply, by requisition in Form 17 on 2 days' notice, for directions.

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Powers of court

(18) Without limiting the court's right under Rule 22-1 (7) (d) to transfer the proceeding referred to in this rule to the trial list, the court may, whether or not on the application of a party, apply any other of these Supreme Court Civil Rules to a proceeding referred to in this rule.

Amendment of petition or response to petition

- (19) A party may amend a petition or response to petition filed by the party
 - (a) at any time with leave of the court, and
 - (b) subject to Rules 6-2 (7) and (10) and 7-7 (5),
 - (i) once without leave of the court, at any time before service of the notice of hearing, and
 - (ii) at any time with the written consent of all the parties,

and for that purpose Rule 6-1 (2) to (7) applies. [am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Renewal of original petition

(20) An original petition does not remain in force for more than 12 months, but if a respondent named in a petition has not been served, the court, on the application of the petitioner made before or after the expiration of the 12 months, may order that the original petition be renewed for a period of not more than 12 months.

Further renewal of petition

(21) If a renewed petition has not been served on a respondent named in the petition, the court, on the application of the petitioner made during the currency of the renewed petition, may order the renewal of the petition for a further period of not more than 12 months.

When renewal period begins

(22) Unless the court otherwise orders, a renewal period ordered under subrule (20) or (21) begins on the date of the order.

After renewal of petition

(23) Unless the court otherwise orders, a copy of each entered order granting renewal of a petition must be served with the renewed petition, and the renewed petition remains in force and is available to prevent the operation of any statutory limitation and for all other purposes.

PART 17 – Requisition Proceedings

Rule 17-1 – Requisitions

Proceedings to which this rule applies

- (1) A proceeding referred to in Rule 2-1 (2) may be brought under this rule if
 - (a) all persons affected by the orders sought within the proceeding consent, or
 - (b) the proceeding is one of which notice need not be given.

Filings required

- (2) A proceeding referred to in subrule (1) may be brought by filing
 - (a) a requisition in Form 31,
 - (b) a draft of the proposed order
 - (i) if the order is by consent, in Form 34, or
 - (ii) in any other case, in Form 35,
 - (c) in the case of a proceeding referred to in subrule (1) (a),
 - (i) evidence that the order sought is consented to, and
 - (ii) any consent or comments of the Public Guardian and Trustee required under section 40 of the *Infants Act*, and
 - (d) in the case of a proceeding referred to in subrule (1) (b), evidence in support of the order sought.

If proceeding is by consent

- On being satisfied that a proceeding referred to in subrule (1) (a) is consented to and that the materials appropriate for the order sought have been filed in accordance with subrule (2), a registrar may,
 - (a) if the registrar is satisfied that none of the parties applying for or consenting to the order sought is under a legal disability or that, if a party is under a legal disability, section 40 (7) of the *Infants Act* applies,
 - (i) enter the order, or
 - (ii) refer the documents filed under subrule (2) to a judge or, if the order sought is within the jurisdiction of a master, to a judge or master, or
 - (b) in any other case, refer the documents filed under subrule (2) to a judge, or, if the order sought is within the jurisdiction of a master, to a judge or master.

If no notice is required

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

(4) On being satisfied that the documents appropriate for a proceeding referred to in subrule (1) (b) have been filed in accordance with subrule (2), a registrar may refer those documents to a judge, or, if the order sought is within the jurisdiction of a master, to a judge or master.

Disposition of referred documents

- (5) If documents filed under subrule (2) are referred by a registrar to a judge or master under subrule (3) or (4), the judge or master to whom the documents are referred may
 - (a) make the order sought, or
 - (b) give directions respecting the proceeding.

PART 18 – Other Court Proceedings

Rule 18-1 – Inquiries, Assessments and Accounts

Direction for inquiries, assessments or accounts

(1) At any stage of a proceeding, the court may direct that an inquiry, assessment or accounting be held by a master, registrar or special referee.

Certificate as to result

(2) The court may direct that the result of an inquiry, assessment or accounting be certified by the master, registrar or special referee and, in that event, the certificate, if filed under subrule (9), is binding on the parties to the proceeding.

Report and recommendation

(3) If the court does not direct that the result of an inquiry, assessment or accounting be certified, the result of the inquiry, assessment or accounting must be stated in the form of a report and recommendation to the court.

Application to vary or confirm recommendation

- (4) On application by a party, the court may
 - (a) vary or confirm the recommendation contained in the report and recommendation referred to in subrule (3),
 - (b) remit the inquiry, assessment or accounting with directions, or
 - (c) order that the subject matter of the inquiry, assessment or accounting be determined as directed by the court.

Time and place of hearing

- (5) A master, registrar or special referee may hold a hearing in relation to an inquiry, assessment or accounting and, in that event, may
 - (a) hold the hearing at a convenient time and place,
 - (b) adjourn the hearing from time to time, and
 - (c) administer oaths, take evidence, direct production of documents and give general directions for the conduct of the hearing.

Appointment

- (6) If a party wishes to proceed with an inquiry, assessment or accounting directed by the court under subrule (1), the party must
 - (a) take out an appointment in Form 49, and
 - (b) serve notice of the appointment on all parties of record or as directed by the court.

Witnesses

(7) A party of record to a proceeding in which an inquiry, assessment or accounting is held may subpoena any person, including a party, to give evidence at the hearing of the inquiry, assessment or accounting and to produce documents.

Certificate or recommendation to be filed and served

- (8) A master, registrar or special referee must state the result of an inquiry, assessment or accounting in the form of a certificate or a report and recommendation as directed under subrule (2) or (3) respectively, with or without reasons, and must
 - (a) provide the certificate to the party requesting the certificate, or
 - (b) file the report and recommendation and provide a copy to all persons who appeared at the hearing.

Party may file certificate

(9) A party to whom a certificate is provided under subrule (8) (a) may file that certificate.

Opinion of the court

(10) Before the master, registrar or special referee has concluded a hearing of an inquiry, assessment or accounting, he or she may, in a summary or other manner, ask the opinion of the court on any matter arising in the hearing.

Accounts of executor, trustee, etc.

(11) A person may apply by petition for the furnishing of accounts by the executor or administrator of an estate, a trustee, a receiver, a liquidator, a guardian or a partner.

Special directions

- (12) The court may give special directions as to the manner in which an inquiry, assessment or accounting is to be taken or made, and the directions may include
 - (a) the manner in which the inquiry, assessment or accounting is to be prosecuted,
 - (b) the evidence to be tendered in support,
 - (c) the parties required to attend all or any part of the proceedings,
 - (d) the time within which each proceeding is to be taken, and
 - (e) a direction that persons whose interest can be classified constitute a class and are to be represented by the same lawyer,

and the court may fix a time for the further attendance of the parties.

Court may appoint lawyer

(13) If the court makes a direction under subrule (12) (e) and the persons cannot agree on the lawyer to represent them, the court may appoint the lawyer to represent them.

Varying directions

(14) The court may vary or rescind a direction given under subrule (12).

Account to be verified by affidavit

(15) If an accounting is directed to be held, unless the court otherwise orders, the party required to account must make out that party's account and verify it by an affidavit to which the account must be exhibited.

Form of account

(16) If an account is made out under subrule (15), the items on each side of the account must be numbered consecutively, and the party required to account must file the affidavit and the account referred to in that subrule and serve copies of those filed documents on all parties of record.

Particulars of errors in account

(17) A party who alleges that there are errors or omissions in an account must file and serve on all parties of record a notice of those errors with brief particulars.

Notice of order

- (18) If the court makes an order directing that an inquiry, assessment or accounting be held in a proceeding relating to
 - (a) the administration of the estate of a deceased person,
 - (b) the execution of a trust, or
 - (c) the sale of any property,

the court may direct that notice of the order in Form 69 be served on any person interested

- (d) in the estate.
- (e) under the trust, or
- (f) in the property.

Person bound as if party

(19) Any person served with notice of an order in accordance with subrule (18) is, subject to subrule (21), bound by the order to the same extent as the person would have been if the person had originally been made a party to the action.

Dispensing with service

- (20) In any case in which it appears that it is impracticable for any reason to serve a person with a notice of order under subrule (18),
 - (a) the court may dispense with service on the person,
 - (b) the court may order that that person be bound by any order made to the same extent as if the person had been served with notice of the order, and

(c) the person referred to in an order under paragraph (b) is bound by the order to the same extent as if the person had been served with notice of the order unless the order was obtained by fraud or non-disclosure of material facts.

Person may apply to vary or rescind

(21) Within 28 days after service of a notice of order under subrule (18) on a person, the person may, without becoming a party of record to the proceeding, apply to the court to vary or rescind the order.

Person may file a notice of interest

(22) A person served with a notice of order under subrule (18) may, after filing a notice of interest in Form 70, take part in the proceeding.

Rule 18-2 – Stated Cases

Definitions

(1) In this rule:

"applicant" means the person identified as the applicant under subrule (4) (a);

"authorizing enactment", in relation to a stated case, means the enactment under which the stated case is referred to the court;

"deliver" means

- (a) mail or deliver to the recipient's address for service,
- (b) if the recipient is the original tribunal, mail or deliver to the address for that entity, or
- (c) if the recipient is a person, other than the original tribunal, for whom an address for service has not been given, mail or deliver to the address for that person included in the latest materials filed by that person with, or submitted by that person to, the original tribunal in relation to the original proceeding;

"original proceeding", in relation to a stated case, means the tribunal proceeding from which the stated case is brought;

"original tribunal", in relation to a stated case, means the entity by which the original proceeding is heard:

"person" has the same meaning as in the *Interpretation Act*, and includes an entity by which a tribunal proceeding is heard;

"respondent" means a person identified as a respondent under subrule (4) (b);

"stated case" means a reference to the court of a question that arises in or as a result of a tribunal proceeding, if an enactment provides that that reference be made by way of stated case, and includes a question of law submitted to the court under section 34 of the *Commercial Arbitration Act*; "tribunal proceeding" means any judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding conducted by an entity other than the court.

Application

- (2) A stated case is governed by these Supreme Court Civil Rules but, in the event of a conflict between this rule and
 - (a) the authorizing enactment, the authorizing enactment prevails, and
 - (b) another rule, this rule prevails.

Material to be filed

- (3) To start a stated case, the original tribunal must file in a registry
 - (a) a notice of stated case in Form 71, and
 - (b) any material that, under the authorizing enactment, is required to start a stated case.

Identification of parties and others

- (4) A notice of stated case must
 - (a) identify as the applicant the person requesting the stated case,
 - (b) identify as respondents all other parties to the original proceeding, including the original tribunal if that entity is not the applicant, and
 - (c) set out the names of
 - (i) any persons who are identified in, or identified in the manner provided for under, the authorizing enactment or the *Constitutional Question Act* as being persons to whom notice of the stated case must be provided,
 - (ii) any intervenor in the original proceeding, and
 - (iii) any other person to whom the original tribunal considers the notice of stated case should be delivered.

Contents

- (5) In addition to including the information required by subrule (4), a notice of stated case must set out the following:
 - (a) a statement of the relevant facts and evidence;
 - (b) the questions to be determined by the court;
 - (c) the applicant's address for service, the most recent address provided to the original tribunal by each of the respondents and the most recent address known to the original tribunal for each of the persons referred to in subrule (4) (c).

Delivery of notice of stated case

- (6) After a notice of stated case and any material required under subrule (3) (b) is filed under subrule (3),
 - (a) the original tribunal, if not the applicant, must deliver a copy of the filed notice of stated case and material to the applicant, and
 - (b) the applicant must deliver a copy of the filed notice of stated case and material to
 - (i) the respondents, and

(ii) all other persons named in the notice of stated case under subrule (4) (c).

Powers of court

- (7) The court may
 - (a) give directions for the proper hearing and determination of the stated case,
 - (b) without limiting paragraph (a), make one or more of the following orders:
 - (i) that documents, including transcripts and minutes, or other things be produced;
 - (ii) that evidence be tendered by way of affidavit, or that it be given orally;
 - (iii) that sets time limits for taking steps in, and for the hearing of, the stated case;
 - (iv) that the stated case be disposed of summarily, and
 - (c) exercise any of the powers of the court exercisable in a petition proceeding.

Requirement for notice of interest

(8) The original tribunal, if it is not the applicant, and any person who has received a notice of stated case under subrule (6), must, if that tribunal or person wishes to be heard on the hearing of the stated case, file a notice of interest in Form 70.

Notice of hearing of stated case

- (9) The applicant or a respondent must, if that person wishes to proceed with the stated case, set it for hearing by
 - (a) filing a notice of hearing of stated case in Form 72, and
 - (b) delivering a copy of the filed notice of hearing of stated case, at least 14 days before the date set for hearing, to
 - (i) each other party of record, and
 - (ii) the original tribunal, unless that entity filed or received a copy under this subrule.

Rule 18-3 – Appeals

Application

(1) If an appeal or an application in the nature of an appeal from a decision, direction or order of any person or body, including the Provincial Court, is authorized by an enactment to be made to the court or to a judge, the appeal is governed by this rule to the extent that this rule is not inconsistent with any procedure provided for in the enactment.

Form

(2) An appeal is to be started by filing in a registry a notice of appeal in Form 73 or 74.

Directions

- (3) A notice of appeal must include
 - (a) the standard set of directions, in the form directed by the Chief Justice, governing the conduct of the appeal, or
 - (b) an application for directions as to the conduct of the appeal.

Conduct of appeal

(4) If the notice of appeal includes a standard set of directions under subrule (3) (a), the appeal must be conducted in accordance with those directions unless the court otherwise orders.

Application for directions

(5) Unless the court otherwise orders, an application for directions under subrule (3) (b) must be set for hearing on a date that is at least 7 days after the date on which the notice of appeal is served in accordance with subrule (6).

Service of notice of appeal

- (6) Unless the court otherwise orders, a notice of appeal must be served on
 - (a) the person or body that gave the decision or direction, or made the order, being appealed, and
 - (b) all other persons who may be affected by the order sought.

Powers of court

01/11

- (7) The court may give directions for the proper hearing and determination of an appeal and, without limiting this, may make an order
 - (a) that documents, transcripts or minutes be produced,
 - (b) that evidence be tendered by way of affidavit, or that it be given orally,
 - (c) that the appeal be determined by way of stated case or argument on a point of law,
 - (d) prescribing time limits for taking steps in and for the hearing of the appeal, or
 - (e) that the appeal be disposed of summarily,

and may exercise any of the powers of the court exercisable in a petition proceeding.

Filing notice of interest

- (8) A person who intends to oppose an appeal must,
- (SUB) (a) file a notice of interest in Form 70 within the following period:
 - (i) if the person was served with the notice of appeal anywhere in Canada, within 14 days after that service;
 - (ii) if the person was served with the notice of appeal anywhere in the United States of America, within 28 days after that service;
 - (iii) if the person was served with the notice of appeal anywhere else, within 42 days after that service, and

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

(b) promptly after filing the notice of interest, serve a copy of the filed notice of interest on the appellant.

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Notice of hearing of appeal

- (9) After obtaining from a registrar a date for the hearing of the appeal, the appellant must, if the appellant wishes to proceed with the appeal, set the appeal for hearing on that date by
 - (a) filing a notice of hearing of appeal in Form 75, and
 - (b) serving a copy of the filed notice of hearing of appeal on all parties of record.

Notice of abandonment of appeal

- (10) An appellant may abandon an appeal by
 - (a) filing a notice of abandonment of appeal in Form 76, and
 - (b) serving a copy of the filed notice of abandonment of appeal on all parties of record.

PART 19 – Judgments from other Courts

Rule 19-1 – Transfer of Proceedings from Provincial Court

Definition

(1) In this rule, "transfer order" means the order of the Provincial Court referred to in subrule (2).

These Supreme Court Civil Rules apply to transferred proceedings

(2) If a proceeding has been started in the Provincial Court and a judge of that court orders that the proceeding be transferred to the Supreme Court, these Supreme Court Civil Rules apply to the proceeding as if it had been started in the Supreme Court.

(REP) Repealed

Jul 01/11

(3) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(SUB)Pleadings

Jul 01/11

- (4) If a proceeding is transferred to the Supreme Court in the manner referred to in subrule (2),
 - (a) the notice of claim filed in the Provincial Court is deemed to be the notice of civil claim filed in the proceeding in the Supreme Court,
 - (b) the reply filed in the Provincial Court is deemed to be the response to civil claim filed in the proceeding in the Supreme Court, and
 - (c) a counterclaim filed in the Provincial Court is deemed to be a counterclaim filed in the proceeding in the Supreme Court.

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(SUB)**Plaintiff must file and serve amended notice of civil claim**

01/11

- (5) If the claimant in the Provincial Court proceeding wishes to continue with that proceeding after its transfer to the Supreme Court, the claimant must, as plaintiff in the Supreme Court action,
 - (a) amend the notice of claim that is, under subrule (4) (a), deemed to be the notice of civil claim filed in the proceeding in the Supreme Court
 - (i) by adding "Transferred Proceeding" above the style of proceeding, and
 - (ii) by otherwise making the notice of claim accord with Rule 3-1,
 - (b) within 21 days after the transfer order, file, in the Supreme Court registry nearest to the Provincial Court registry in which the Provincial Court proceeding was started, that notice of civil claim as it has been amended by the amendment referred to in paragraph (a) of this subrule, and
 - (c) serve a copy of that filed notice of civil claim in accordance with Rule 3-2. [en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(SUB)Amended reply and counterclaim

Jui 01/11

- (6) A defendant must, within 14 days after the date of service of the amended notice of claim under subrule (5) (c) of this rule,
 - (a) amend the reply that is, under subrule (4) (b), deemed to be the response to civil claim filed in the proceeding in the Supreme Court
 - (i) by adding "Transferred Proceeding" above the style of proceeding, and
 - (ii) by otherwise making the reply accord with Rule 3-3,
 - (b) amend the counterclaim, if any, that is, under subrule (4) (c) of this rule, deemed to be a counterclaim filed in the proceeding in the Supreme Court
 - (i) by adding "Transferred Proceeding" above the style of proceeding, and
 - (ii) by otherwise making the counterclaim accord with Rule 3-4,
 - (c) file in the Supreme Court registry referred to in subrule (5) (b) of this rule
 - (i) that response to civil claim as it has been amended by the amendment referred to in paragraph (a) of this subrule, and
 - (ii) that counterclaim, if any, as it has been amended by the amendment referred to in paragraph (b) of this subrule, and
 - (d) serve in accordance with Part 3
 - (i) a copy of that filed response to civil claim, and
 - (ii) a copy of that filed counterclaim, if any. [en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

(ADD)Application of Rule 6-1

Jul 01/11

(6.1) Rule 6-1 does not apply to an amendment under subrule (5) (a) or (6) (a) or (b) of this rule, and, for greater certainty, an amendment under subrule (5) (a) or (6) (a) or (b) of this rule does not constitute an amendment for the purposes of Rule 6-1 (1).

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Previous address for service

- (7) For the purposes of Rule 4-2 and subrules (3) to (6) of this rule, a party who filed a document under subrule (5) or (6) is deemed to have, as an address for service,
 - (a) the address for service set out in the filed document, or
 - (b) if the filed document does not contain an address for service, the address set out for that party on the latest document, filed by that party in the Provincial Court proceeding, that contains an address for that party.

Filing fees

(8) Despite any other provision of these Supreme Court Civil Rules, the following apply:

(REP) Jul 01/12

(a) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 112/2012]

(b) the fee for filing an amended notice of claim under subrule (5) is the fee payable under Appendix C for commencing a proceeding in the Supreme Court less any amount that the person filing the amended notice of claim paid for filing the notice of claim in the Provincial Court proceeding;

(c) the fee for filing an amended reply or an amended counterclaim referred to in subrule (6) is the fee payable under Appendix C for filing a response to civil claim or a counterclaim, respectively, in the Supreme Court less any amount that the person filing the amended reply or amended counterclaim paid for filing the reply or counterclaim in the Provincial Court proceeding.

[am. B.C. Reg. 112/2012.]

Rule 19-2 – Canadian Judgments

Definition

(1) In this rule, "Canadian judgment" has the same meaning as in the *Enforcement of Canadian Judgments and Decrees Act*.

Registration requirements for Canadian judgments

(2) A person wishing to register a Canadian judgment under the *Enforcement of Canadian Judgments and Decrees Act* must, for the purposes of section 3 (1) (b) of that Act, file a certified English translation of the Canadian judgment if the judgment was made in a language other than English.

Rule 19-3 – Foreign Judgments

Definitions

(1) In this rule:

"convention" means the Convention for the Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters, the English language version of which is set out in Schedule 4 of the *Court Order Enforcement Act*;

"reciprocally enforceable judgment" means a judgment that may be registered under Part 2 or 4 of the *Court Order Enforcement Act*.

Application under Court Order Enforcement Act

(2) A proceeding to register a reciprocally enforceable judgment must be started by petition or, if Rule 17-1 (1) applies, by requisition.

Affidavit in support

- (3) The application for registration of a reciprocally enforceable judgment must be supported by an affidavit
 - (a) exhibiting
 - (i) a certified copy of the judgment under the seal of the original court,
 - (ii) if section 29 (2) of the *Court Order Enforcement Act* applies to the application, the certificate referred to in section 29 (3) of that Act, and
 - (iii) a certified translation of the judgment or certificate if made in a language other than English, and

- (b) stating, to the best of the information and belief of the person swearing or affirming the affidavit,
 - (i) that the judgment creditor is entitled to enforce the judgment,
 - (ii) the amount presently owing on the judgment,
 - (iii) the full name, occupation and usual or last known residence or place of business of the judgment creditor and judgment debtor respectively,
 - (iv) whether the judgment debtor
 - (A) was personally served with the process of the original court,
 - (B) was served with the process of the original court other than by personal service, or
 - (C) participated in the proceeding or otherwise submitted to the jurisdiction of the original court, and
 - (v) that the judgment is not one that is disqualified from registration either under section 29 (6) of the *Court Order Enforcement Act* or under Article II, paragraph 2, or Article IV, paragraph 1, of the convention, whichever is applicable.

Applications for reciprocal enforcement of judgment

- (4) Notice of an application to register a reciprocally enforceable judgment need not be given to the judgment debtor if
 - (a) the application is made under Part 4 of the *Court Order Enforcement Act*, or
 - (b) the application is made under Part 2 of the *Court Order Enforcement Act* and section 29 (2) of that Act applies to the application.

Form of order to register

(5) The order to register the judgment must be in Form 77.

Notice of registration

(6) If a reciprocally enforceable judgment is registered, and the judgment debtor had no notice of the application for registration, notice of the registration must be given to the judgment debtor within one month after the registration.

Setting aside registration of judgment under convention

(7) The court may order that the registration of a judgment under Part 4 of the *Court Order Enforcement Act* be set aside if the judgment debtor was not duly served with the process of the original court, unless the judgment debtor participated in the proceeding or otherwise submitted to the jurisdiction of the original court.

Stay of enforcement

- (8) The court may make an order staying or limiting the enforcement of a judgment registered under Part 4 of the *Court Order Enforcement Act*, subject to any terms and for any period the court considers appropriate, if
 - (a) the judgment is not final,

- (b) an appeal is pending, or
- (c) the time for appeal has not expired.

Stay of proceeding in action on foreign judgment

(9) A defendant in an action on a foreign judgment, whether or not it is a reciprocally enforceable judgment, on proof that an appeal or other proceeding in the nature of an appeal is pending or the time for appeal has not expired, may apply for an order staying the proceeding until the determination of the appeal or other proceeding on terms that the court may impose.

Rule 19-4 – Transfer of Proceedings from Foreign Courts

Court may require translation for transferred proceeding

- (1) On an application under the *Court Jurisdiction and Proceedings Transfer Act* for an order that the court accept a transfer to it of a proceeding within the meaning of that Act, the court may order that the person applying for that order do one or both of the following:
 - (a) pay any expenses that have been or may be incurred by the court in having the documents in the transferring court's file relating to the proceeding translated into English by a person satisfactory to the court;
 - (b) pending the payment required under paragraph (a), give security in the form and manner the court may direct for payment of the expenses referred to in that paragraph.

Entry prohibited until security given

- (2) If the court requires the provision of security under subrule (1) (b) in relation to the transfer of a proceeding, any order to accept the transfer
 - (a) is of no force or effect until that security is given, and
 - (b) must not be presented for entry until that security is given.

Translation and security expenses may be claimed as disbursements

- (3) Nothing in subrule (1) or (2) precludes a party from claiming either or both of the following as disbursements in conjunction with any costs the party may be awarded in the transferred proceeding:
 - (a) the expenses referred to in subrule (1) (a) that have been paid for by the party;
 - (b) the expenses incurred by the party in obtaining the security required under subrule (1) (b).

Rule 19-5 – Documents Required by Judicial Authority of Other Jurisdictions

(ADD)Request for certified copy with Jul additional formalities

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

(1) A person may request a certified copy of a document with formalities that are in addition to those used by the court by filing a request in Form 30.1, if the additional formalities are required by a judicial authority of another jurisdiction.

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

(ADD)Required supplies

Jul 01/19

(2) A request under subrule (1) must include any supplies required under the other jurisdiction, other than blue or black ink, a Supreme Court adhesive seal, a Supreme Court impression seal or an ink stamp certifying a document to be a true copy.

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

$^{\rm (ADD)}$ Request for production of certification or $^{\rm Jul}_{01/19}$ formal documentation

(3) A person may request production of certification or other formal documentation that is not otherwise contemplated in these Supreme Court Civil Rules by filing a request in Form 30.1, if the certification or other formal documentation is required by a judicial authority of another jurisdiction.

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

(ADD)Request must include document

Jul 01/19

(4) A request under subrule (3) must include the document the person wishes to be certified or issued under this rule.

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

(ADD)Filing request

Jul 01/19

(5) The registrar may provide a certified copy of a document requested under subrule (1) or production of certification or other formal documentation under subrule (3) on receipt of satisfactory information and, if required by the registrar, additional materials in respect of the requirements of a judicial authority of another jurisdiction.

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

PART 20 – Special Rules for Certain Parties

Rule 20-1 – Partnerships

Partners may sue or be sued in firm name

(1) Two or more persons claiming to be entitled, or alleged to be liable, as partners may sue or be sued in the name of the firm in which they were partners at the time when the alleged right or liability arose.

Service on firm

- (2) Service is effected on a firm by leaving a copy of the document to be served with
 - (a) a person who was a partner at the time the alleged right or liability arose, or
 - (b) a person at a place of business of the firm who appears to manage or control the partnership business there.

Responding pleading

(3) A responding pleading or a response to petition by a partnership must be in the name of the firm, but a partner or a person served as a partner may file a responding pleading or a response to petition and defend in the person's own name, whether or not named in the originating pleading or petition.

Affidavit naming partners

(4) If a firm is a party to a proceeding, any other party may serve a notice requiring one of the partners to serve, within 10 days, an affidavit setting out the names and addresses of all persons who were partners when the alleged right or liability arose.

Court may order service

(5) If the affidavit requested under subrule (4) is not served, the court may order service.

Execution against partnership property

(6) If an order is made against a firm, execution to enforce the order may issue against any property of the firm.

Execution against partners

- (7) Without limiting subrule (8), if an order is made against a firm, execution to enforce the order may issue against any person who
 - (a) filed a responding pleading or response to petition in the proceeding in the person's own name as a partner,
 - (b) having been served with the originating pleading or petition as a partner, failed to file a responding pleading or response to petition in the proceeding,

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (c) admitted in a pleading or affidavit that the person is a partner, or
- (d) was adjudged to be a partner.

Execution against other persons

(8) If a party who has obtained an order against a firm claims that a person who is not a person described in subrule (7) is liable to satisfy the order as being a member of the firm, the party may apply to the court for leave to issue execution against that person.

Liability may be determined

(9) If the person against whom an application under subrule (8) is made disputes liability, the court may order that the liability of the person be determined in any manner in which an issue or question in an action may be determined.

Action against person carrying on business in a name other than the person's own

(10) A person carrying on business in a name or style other than the person's own name may be sued in that name or style as if it were the name of a firm, and this rule applies as if the person were a partner and the name in which the person carries on business were the name of that firm.

Rule 20-2 – Persons under Disability

Interpretation

(1) In this rule, **"committee"** means the committee, appointed under the *Patients Property Act*, of the estate of a patient.

Start of proceedings by person under disability

(2) A proceeding brought by or against a person under legal disability must be started or defended by his or her litigation guardian.

Role of litigation guardian

- (3) Unless a rule otherwise provides, anything that is required or authorized by these Supreme Court Civil Rules to be done by or invoked against a party under disability must
 - (a) be done on the party's behalf by his or her litigation guardian, or
 - (b) be invoked against the party by invoking the same against the party's litigation guardian.

Lawyer must be involved

(4) A litigation guardian must act by a lawyer unless the litigation guardian is the Public Guardian and Trustee.

Litigation guardian

(5) Unless the court otherwise orders or an enactment otherwise provides, a person ordinarily resident in British Columbia may be a litigation guardian of a person under disability without being appointed by the court.

Committee as litigation guardian

(6) If a person is appointed committee, that person must be the litigation guardian of the patient in any proceeding unless the court otherwise orders.

Consent of litigation guardian

- (7) Before the name of a person is used in a proceeding as a litigation guardian, that person's consent, signed by the person or his or her lawyer, must be filed, unless the person
 - (a) has been appointed by the court, or
 - (b) is the litigation guardian under section 35 (1) of the *Representation Agreement Act* of a party to that proceeding.

Certificate of fitness

- (8) Unless a committee has been appointed, the lawyer for a person under disability, before acting in a proceeding, must, unless subrule (9) applies, file a certificate that he or she knows or believes that
 - (a) the person to whom the certificate relates is an infant or mentally incompetent person, giving the grounds of that knowledge or belief, and if the person to whom the certificate relates is a mentally incompetent person, that a committee has not been appointed for the person, and
 - (b) the proposed litigation guardian of the person under disability has no interest in the proceeding adverse to that person.

Certificate for a litigation guardian

- (9) The lawyer for a person who, under section 35 (1) of the *Representation Agreement Act*, has a litigation guardian must, before acting in a proceeding to which the person is a party, file a certificate certifying that the lawyer knows or believes that
 - (a) the person has entered into a representation agreement,
 - (b) the litigation guardian is a representative under that representation agreement and is authorized under section 7 (1) (d) of the *Representation Agreement Act* in relation to the proceeding, and
 - (c) the litigation guardian has no interest in the proceeding adverse to the person.

Party becoming incompetent

- (10) If a party to a proceeding becomes a mentally incompetent person, the court must appoint a litigation guardian for him or her unless
 - (a) a committee has been appointed for the party, or
 - (b) the party has a litigation guardian under section 35 (1) of the *Representation Agreement Act*.

Removal of litigation guardian

(11) If it is in the interest of a party who is under disability, the court may remove, appoint or substitute a litigation guardian.

Party attaining age of majority

- (12) A party to a proceeding who attains the age of majority may, if the party is then under no legal disability,
 - (a) file an affidavit, in Form 78, confirming the attainment of the age of majority, and
 - (b) serve a copy of the filed affidavit on all parties of record.

Effect of filing affidavit

- (13) After an affidavit is filed under subrule (12) (a),
 - (a) the party on whose behalf the affidavit was filed assumes conduct of that party's claim or defence in the proceeding, and
 - (b) the style of proceeding must no longer refer to a litigation guardian for that party.

Step in default

(14) A party must not take a step in default against a person under disability without leave of the court.

Service

(15) Unless the court otherwise orders, notice of an application for leave under subrule (14) must be served, in the manner provided by Part 4, on the person under disability at least 10 days before the hearing of the application.

Litigation guardian must be appointed

(16) If no response to civil claim, response to counterclaim, response to third party notice or response to petition has been filed to an originating pleading or petition on behalf of a person under disability, the person who started the proceeding, before continuing the proceeding against the person under disability, must obtain an order from the court appointing a litigation guardian for the person under disability.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Compromise by person under disability

(17) Unless an enactment otherwise provides, if a claim is made by or on behalf of a person under disability, no settlement, compromise, payment or acceptance of money paid into court, whenever entered into or made, so far as it relates to that person's claim, is binding without the approval of the court.

Approval of compromise

(18) If, before a proceeding is started, an agreement is reached for the settlement or compromise of a claim of a person under disability, whether alone or with others, and it is desired to obtain the court's approval, application may be made by petition or, if Rule 17-1 (1) applies, by requisition, and the court may make any order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Rule 20-3 – Representative Proceedings

Representative proceeding

(1) If numerous persons have the same interest in a proceeding, other than a proceeding referred to in subrule (10), the proceeding may be started and, unless the court otherwise orders, continued by or against one or more of them as representing all or as representing one or more of them.

Court may appoint representative

(2) At any stage of a proceeding referred to in subrule (1), the court, on the application of a party, may appoint one or more of the defendants or respondents or another person to represent one or more of the persons having the same interest in the proceeding, and if the court appoints a person not named as a defendant or a respondent, the court must make an order under Rule 6-2 adding that person as a defendant or respondent.

Enforcement of order made in representative proceeding

(3) An order made in a proceeding referred to in subrule (1) of this rule is binding on all the persons represented in the proceeding as parties, but must not be enforced against a person not a party to the proceeding except with leave of the court.

Application for leave

(4) An application for leave under subrule (3) must be served on the person against whom the applicant seeks to enforce the order, and the person served with the application for leave may dispute liability to have the order enforced against him or her.

Court order

(5) On an application for leave under subrule (3), the court may order that the question of whether the order is enforceable against the person served with the application for leave be determined in the manner the court considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Representation of interested person who cannot be ascertained

- (6) In a proceeding concerning
 - (a) the administration of the estate of a deceased person,
 - (b) property subject to a trust, or
 - (c) the construction of a written instrument, including an enactment,

the court may appoint one or more persons to represent a person, including

- (d) an unborn or unascertained person, or
- (e) the members of a class of persons who have a present, future, contingent or unascertained interest in, or who may be affected by, the proceeding, and who, or some of whom, cannot readily be ascertained or found.

Appointment order binding

(7) If an appointment of a representative is made under subrule (6), an order in the proceeding is binding on a person or class so represented.

Order affecting non-party

- (8) If, in a proceeding referred to in subrule (6), a compromise is proposed and a person who is interested in the compromise, either in his or her own right or as a member of a class, is not a party to the proceeding, the court may approve the compromise and order that it is binding on the interested person if
 - (a) the court is satisfied that the compromise will be for the benefit of the interested person, and
 - (b) one of the following applies:
 - (i) there is another person, with the same interest as the interested person, who is a party to the proceeding and who assents to the compromise;
 - (ii) the interested person is represented by a person appointed under subrule (6) who so assents.

Person bound

(9) If the court makes an order under subrule (8), the interested person referred to in the order is bound by it unless the order has been obtained by fraud or non-disclosure of material facts.

Representation of beneficiaries by trustees

(10) A proceeding may be brought by or against trustees or personal representatives without joining a person having a beneficial interest in the trust or estate and, unless the court otherwise orders on the ground that the trustees or personal representatives could not or did not represent the interest of the person having the beneficial interest, an order granted or made in the proceeding is binding on that person.

Additional powers of the court

- (11) Subrule (10) does not limit the power of the court to
 - (a) order a person having an interest to be made a party, or
 - (b) make an order under subrule (6).

(REP) (12) and (13) Repealed May

26/14

(12) and (13) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 90/2014, Sch. 1]

Person as relator

- (14) Before the name of a person is used in a proceeding as a relator,
 - (a) the person must give a written authorization to his or her lawyer authorizing use of the person's name, and
 - (b) that authorization must be filed.

Conduct of a proceeding

(15) The court may give the conduct of a proceeding to any person the court considers appropriate.

Rule 20-4 – Declaratory Relief

Declaratory order

(1) A proceeding is not open to objection on the ground that only a declaratory order is sought, and the court may make binding declarations of right whether or not consequential relief is or could be claimed.

Rule 20-5 – Persons Who Are Not Required to Pay Fees

(SUB)Court may order that no fees are payable

01/15

- (1) If the court, on application made in accordance with subrule (3) before or after the start of a proceeding, finds that a person
 - (a) receives benefits under the *Employment and Assistance Act* or the *Employment and Assistance for Persons with Disabilities Act*, or
 - (b) cannot, without undue hardship, afford to pay the fees under Schedule 1 of Appendix C in relation to the proceeding,

the court may order that no fees are payable by the person to the government under Schedule 1 of Appendix C in relation to the proceeding unless the court considers that the claim or defence

- (c) discloses no reasonable claim or defence, as the case may be,
- (d) is scandalous, frivolous or vexatious, or
- (e) is otherwise an abuse of the process of the court.

[en. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

Application of order

- (2) An order under subrule (1) may apply to one or more of the following:
 - (a) a proceeding generally;
 - (b) any part of a proceeding;
 - (c) a specific period of time;

one or more particular steps in a proceeding. (d)

How to apply

- (3) An application under subrule (1) may be made by filing
 - (a) a requisition in Form 17,
 - (b) a draft of the proposed order in Form 79, and
 - an affidavit in Form 80.

(SUB) Jul 01/11

(c)

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

Review, variation or rescission of order

On application or on the court's own motion, the court may review, vary or rescind any order (4) made under subrule (1) or (2).

No fee payable

- (5) Despite anything in this rule, if the court makes an order in relation to a person under this rule, no fee is payable by the person to the government under Schedule 1 of Appendix C in relation to
 - (a) the proceeding,
 - (b) the part of the proceeding,
 - (c) the period of time, or
 - (d) the steps

to which the order applies.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Rule 20-6 – Litigation Representatives

(ADD) Definition

May 26/14

> (1) In this rule, "litigation representative", in relation to the estate of a deceased, means a person referred to in subrule (3) (a) who is starting, conducting or defending a proceeding referred to in subrule (2) on behalf of the deceased's estate.

[en. B.C. Reg. 90/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Application of rule

May 26/14

- (2) This rule applies if
 - a person who has or may have a cause of action dies before starting a proceeding in relation to that cause of action,
 - (b) a person against whom a cause of action may be asserted dies before a proceeding is started in relation to that cause of action,
 - a person who has started a proceeding dies before judgment is pronounced in that (c) proceeding, or

(d) a person against whom a proceeding has been started dies before judgment is pronounced in that proceeding,

and the cause of action, in relation to which the proceeding may be or has been started, survives.

[en. B.C. Reg. 90/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Starting, conducting or defending a proceeding on behalf of deceased's estate May 26/14

- (3) If there is no personal representative for a deceased's estate, the court may,
 - (a) on application brought in accordance with subrule (5), appoint a person as a litigation representative to start, conduct or defend a proceeding referred to in subrule (2) on behalf of the deceased's estate, or
 - (b) on application or otherwise, order that the matter proceed in the absence of a person representing the deceased's estate.

[en. B.C. Reg. 90/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Notice of application required

May 26/14

(4) Before making an order under subrule (3), the court may require notice of the application to be given to a person having an interest in the deceased's estate.

[en. B.C. Reg. 90/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Procedure for application

May 23/14

(5) An application under subrule (3) may be brought without notice under Rule 8-4 or, if there is no existing proceeding within which it is appropriate to bring that application, under Rule 17-1.

[en. B.C. Reg. 90/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)No authorization to distribute proceeds

May 26/14

(6) Nothing in this rule authorizes a person who is not the personal representative of the deceased to distribute proceeds of a proceeding that belong to the deceased's estate to anyone other than the personal representative.

[en. B.C. Reg. 90/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Substitution required

May 26/14

(7) A litigation representative conducting or defending a proceeding referred to in subrule (2)(c) or (d) must, under Rule 6-2, be substituted for the deceased as a party in the proceeding.

[en. B.C. Reg. 90/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)When personal representative is appointed

May 26/14

- (8) If
 - (a) a person becomes a personal representative for a deceased's estate after a litigation representative is appointed, and
 - (b) a proceeding referred to in subrule (2) has been started in relation to the deceased,

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

the personal representative must, on application under Rule 6-2,

- (c) be substituted for the deceased as a party in the proceeding, or
- (d) if a litigation representative is conducting or defending the proceeding, be substituted for the litigation representative as a party in the proceeding, unless an order is made in respect of the proceeding under section 151 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act.*

[en. B.C. Reg. 90/2014, Sch. 1.]

PART 21 – Special Rules for Certain Proceedings

Rule 21-1 – Admiralty Matters

Actions to which rule applies

(1) This rule applies if an action may be brought in rem against a ship or other property.

What actions may be brought in rem

(2) Except to the extent that jurisdiction has been otherwise specially assigned, an action may be brought in rem against a ship or other property that may be brought in rem in the Federal Court of Canada in all cases in which a claim for relief is made under or by virtue of Canadian maritime law or any other law of Canada relating to navigation and shipping.

Notice of civil claim – actions in rem

(3) An action in rem must be started by issuing a notice of civil claim in Form 81.

Notice of civil claim – when started with action in personam

(4) An action in rem may be started with an action in personam by the issuance of a notice of civil claim in Form 82 and may be joined with another proceeding in accordance with Rule 22-5.

Special service rules for notices of claim issued under subrule (3) or (4)

- (5) In an action in rem, the notice of civil claim may be served in British Columbia,
 - (a) on a ship or other property on board a ship, by affixing a copy of the filed notice of civil claim to a conspicuous part of the ship that is protected from the elements to the extent practicable, and
 - (b) on property that is not on board a ship, by
 - (i) attaching a copy of the filed notice of civil claim to a conspicuous part of the property protected from the elements to the extent practicable, or
 - (ii) by personal service on the person having apparent custody of the property.

Response to civil claim may be filed in name of ship

(6) In an action in rem, a response to civil claim may be filed in the name of the property named.

Response to civil claim

(7) A person who files a response to civil claim to an action in rem must set out the nature of the interest that the person claims in the ship or other property.

Arrest – "Affidavit to Lead Warrant"

(8) A party may, at any time after an action in rem has been started, apply for a warrant for the arrest of the property named by filing with a registrar an "Affidavit to Lead Warrant" in Form 83.

Issue of warrant

- (9) If an affidavit to lead warrant is filed under subrule (8), a registrar may, after reading the affidavit,
 - (a) issue the warrant, or
 - (b) refer the matter to the court and the court may issue the warrant, subject to any directions that the court may give.

Form of warrant

(10) A warrant to arrest under this rule must be in Form 84.

Service of warrant

(11) The warrant must be served in the manner provided by subrule (5) by a person authorized to serve a writ of execution.

Proof of service

(12) The person who serves a warrant must file proof of service promptly after service is effected.

When arrest takes effect

(13) The arrest of property that is authorized by the warrant to be arrested takes effect at the time the warrant is served.

Property not to be moved

(14) After arrest, a person must not move the property that has been arrested, unless the court permits it or all parties interested in the action consent.

Order for safety and preservation

- (15) After property has been arrested, the court may make an order for the property's safety and preservation on terms and conditions, if any, and, in particular, may
 - (a) authorize the property to be moved, and
 - (b) order that perishable property be disposed of with the proceeds to be paid as directed by the court.

Possession of property arrested

(16) The court may, on application of any interested party, authorize a person to take possession of, and assume responsibility for, property that has been arrested under this rule, but, if no such order is made, the possession and responsibility continues in the person or persons who were in possession of the property immediately before the arrest.

Security

(17) The court must not make an order under subrule (16) unless the court is satisfied that the applicant has paid or given adequate security for all fees, charges and expenses that will be incurred while the property is in the possession of the person authorized under subrule (16).

Caveats

Filing of caveat

(18) A person who wishes to prevent the release of any property that has been arrested under this rule or who wishes to prevent the payment out of court of proceeds of the disposition of property that has been arrested must file a caveat in Form 85 in the registry from which the warrant was issued.

Withdrawal of caveat

(19) A person who has filed a caveat may withdraw it by filing a notice to that effect in Form 86.

Damages for wrongful filing of caveat

(20) Any person who suffers damages or costs as a result of a caveat being filed without sufficient justification may apply to the court to have those damages and costs summarily determined.

Application for damages

(21) An application under subrule (20) must be served on the caveator.

Summary determination of damages

(22) If the court finds that the caveator cannot show that there was sufficient justification for the filing of the caveat, the court must summarily determine the amount of damages and costs suffered by the applicant and make an order for payment accordingly.

Release of Property

Release of property arrested

(23) The court may, on application of any person having an interest in property arrested under this rule, order the release of the property arrested on bail being posted.

Bail bond or guarantee

- (24) Bail to answer judgment and obtain the release of property arrested under this rule may be posted
 - (a) by making a payment into court as bail in Form 87,
 - (b) by delivering to a registrar the guarantee of a chartered bank of Canada or the bond of any surety company licensed to do business in British Columbia in Form 88, or
 - (c) in the manner the parties may agree or the court may order.

Amount of bail

- (25) The amount of bail to be posted must be the lesser of
 - (a) an amount sufficient to answer judgment in the proceedings against the property arrested, and
 - (b) the appraised value of the property.

Service of the application

- (26) Unless the court otherwise orders, notice of an application for the release of property arrested under this rule must be served at least one day before the application is heard
 - (a) on the party to the action at whose instance the arrest was made, and
 - (b) on any person having filed a caveat to prevent the property from being released from arrest.

Bail information required

(27) Notice of an application for the release of property arrested under this rule must set out the amount of any bail to be posted and the name of the bank or surety company that will post the bail.

Release

- (28) A registrar must issue a release from arrest in Form 89 when
 - (a) the court orders the release of the property arrested under this rule, or
 - (b) consent to the release of the property arrested under this rule is given by
 - (i) the party at whose instance the property was arrested, and
 - (ii) the persons who filed caveats to prevent the release of the property from arrest.

When release occurs

(29) On delivery of the release from arrest to the person in possession and on payment to the person in possession of all fees and charges incurred in respect of the arrest and custody, if any, of the property arrested, the property is released from arrest.

Collisions at Sea – The "Preliminary Act"

Application of subrules (31) to (35)

(30) Unless the court otherwise orders, if there is an action arising out of a collision of ships at sea, subrules (31) to (35) apply.

Pleadings and particulars

(31) If this rule applies, the notice of civil claim, response to civil claim, counterclaim and any other pleadings need not contain any particulars concerning the collision other than those particulars that are necessary to identify the collision to an opposing party.

The "preliminary act"

- (32) The notice of civil claim, response to civil claim and any counterclaim must be accompanied by a sealed envelope that bears the style of proceeding and in which has been enclosed a statement of particulars, to be known as a "preliminary act", that contains the following particulars:
 - (a) the names of the ships that came into collision and the names of their masters;
 - (b) the time of the collision;
 - (c) the place of the collision;
 - (d) the direction and force of the wind;
 - (e) the state of the weather;
 - (f) the state and force of the tide or, if the collision occurred in non-tidal waters, of the current;
 - (g) the course being steered and the speed through the water of the ship when the other ship was first seen or immediately before any measures were taken with reference to her presence, whichever was the earlier, and all subsequent alterations to the course or speed of the ship up to the time of the collision;
 - (h) the lights, if any, carried by the ship;
 - (i) the distance and bearing of the other ship if and when her echo was first observed by radar;
 - (j) the distance, bearing and approximate heading of the other ship when it was first seen;
 - (k) the lights, if any, of the other ship that were first seen;
 - (l) the lights, if any, of the other ship other than those first seen that came into view before the collision;
 - (m) the measures that were taken to avoid the collision and when they were taken;
 - (n) the parts of each ship that first came into contact and the approximate angle, as illustrated by an appropriate sketch annexed, between the two ships at the moment of contact:
 - (o) the sound signals that were given, if any, and when they were given;
 - (p) the fault or default, if any, attributed to the other ship;
 - (q) the sound signals, if any, that were heard from the other ship and when they were heard.

Form of preliminary act

(33) The preliminary act must be in parallel columns such that the respective particulars referred to in subrule (32) (a) to (q) in respect of each ship can easily be compared.

Preliminary act not to be opened

(34) A preliminary act must not be opened unless all parties consent or the court, on application of one of the parties, orders it to be opened.

Preliminary act to form part of pleading

(35) After a preliminary act has been opened, it forms part of the appropriate pleadings of the party.

Rule 21-2 – Carriage by Air Act

Carriage by Air Act

(1) In an action under the *Carriage by Air Act* (Canada) and the convention set out in that Act, a high contracting party to the convention who, for the purposes of that action and by virtue of that Act, is deemed to have submitted to the jurisdiction of the court may be made a defendant subject to these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Rule 21-3 – Mandamus, Prohibition, Certiorari and Habeas Corpus

Proceeding to be started by petition

(1) Applications for relief in the nature of mandamus, prohibition, certiorari or habeas corpus are governed by these Supreme Court Civil Rules and must be started by petition under Rule 16-1.

Writs abolished

(2) Directions respecting applications referred to in subrule (1) must be made by order and no writ of mandamus, prohibition, certiorari or habeas corpus is to be issued.

Person affected may take part in proceeding

(3) The court may order that a person who may be affected by a proceeding for an order in the nature of mandamus may take part in the proceeding to the same extent as if served with the petition.

Rule 21-4 – Repealed

(REP) (1) to (12) Repealed Mar

31/14

(1) to (12) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 149/2013]

Rule 21-5 – Repealed

(REP) (1) to (72) Repealed

Mar 13/14

(1) to (72) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 149/2013]

Rule 21-6 – Wills, Estates and Succession Act Wills Variation Proceedings

Proceedings under the Wills, Estates and Succession Act

(AM) Mar 31/14

(1) A proceeding under section 60 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* must be started by a notice of civil claim.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Parties

- (2) In a proceeding referred to in subrule (1),
 - (a) the following persons must be parties to the proceeding:
 - (i) the surviving spouse and children of the will-maker;

(AM) Mar 31/14 (AM) Mar

31/14

- (ii) all beneficiaries under the will-maker's will whose interest may be affected by the order sought;
- (iii) the executor of the will, and
- (b) the court may order that any other person be joined as a party.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Response to civil claim

(AM) Mar 31/14 (3) In a response to civil claim, a defendant may raise a claim under section 60 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* on his or her own behalf, and any other party may serve a reply.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

These Supreme Court Civil Rules apply

(AM) Mar 31/14 (4) A proceeding referred to in this rule is governed by these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 21-7 – Foreclosure and Cancellation

Starting the proceeding

(1) A proceeding for foreclosure of the equitable right to redeem mortgaged property or for redemption must be started by petition.

Parties

(2) In a proceeding referred to in subrule (1), all persons whose interest in or claim to the mortgaged property is sought to be extinguished and all persons against whom any relief is sought must be made respondents and, unless the court otherwise orders, it is not necessary to join any other person as a respondent.

Joinder of claim or party

(3) A petitioner under this rule may join in the proceeding any claim arising out of the mortgage or out of any bond or collateral security or obligation given for the mortgage debt and may join as a party any person who is liable to pay the mortgage debt.

Person filing interest after certificate of pending litigation

- (4) If a petitioner under this rule registers a certificate of pending litigation in respect of the proceeding against the mortgaged property, a person who subsequently registers or files in a land title office an interest, right or claim in or to the mortgaged property
 - (a) need not be served with the petition,
 - (b) is bound by an order made in the proceeding, and
 - (c) may file a response to petition in the proceeding.

(ADD)Information must accompany petition Apr 04/22

(4.1) A petitioner under this rule who serves a petition referred to in subrule (1) must include with the petition an informational notice for foreclosure proceedings in Form 125.

[en. B.C. Reg. 321/2021, Sch. 1.]

Powers of the court

- (5) The court may do one or more of the following in a proceeding under subrule (1):
 - (a) make a final order of foreclosure;
 - (b) order that a respondent must, within a redemption period that the court may fix, pay to the petitioner what is due under the mortgage and for costs, and that, in default of payment, the respondent is to be foreclosed of his or her equity of redemption;
 - (c) determine summarily, or order that an account be taken of and that a registrar certify, the amount that is due to the petitioner or to any person on the date of the hearing of the petition or on the date of the accounting, as the case may be;
 - (d) determine summarily, or order that an account be taken of and that the registrar certify, in relation to the amount determined under paragraph (c),
 - (i) the daily amount of interest from the date of the hearing of the petition or from the date of the accounting, as the case may be, to the expiration of the period of redemption, or
 - (ii) if the daily amount of interest referred to in subparagraph (i) may fluctuate over the period referred to in that subparagraph, the method for calculating such interest:
 - (e) pronounce judgment for any amount determined to be due or for any amount that has been certified to be due on an accounting;
 - (f) determine summarily, or order an inquiry to determine, any issues raised between respondents, including priorities;

- (g) determine summarily, or order an inquiry to determine, whether a person should be served with the petition;
- (h) order at what times, on what terms and in what order of priority respondents may redeem the mortgaged property and that in default they are to be foreclosed of any interest, right or claim in or to the mortgaged property;
- (i) order a sale of the mortgaged property;
- (j) grant further or corollary relief;
- (k) make an order under Rule 22-1 (7).

Final order

(6) In default of payment in accordance with an order made under subrule (5), a final order of foreclosure may be granted against a respondent on application by the petitioner.

Order for sale

(7) A party of record may apply at any time for an order that the mortgaged property be sold or be put up for sale.

Inquiry to settle terms of sale

(8) The court may order an inquiry to settle the terms of a sale.

Order confirming sale

(9) Even though the time for redemption has not expired, the person having conduct of a sale may apply to the court for an order confirming the sale, directing the disposition of the proceeds and vesting title in the purchaser.

Notice to assess costs

(10) A respondent wishing to redeem may, on paying to the petitioner the amount due under the mortgage, serve notice on the petitioner to assess costs, and if, within 14 days after service of the notice, the petitioner has not filed a bill of costs for assessment, the petitioner is not entitled to costs.

Agreement for sale

(11) This rule applies to a proceeding by a vendor on an agreement for sale of land in which a claim is made for specific performance of an agreement for sale and for its cancellation on failure to perform.

Rule 21-8 – Jurisdictional Disputes

Disputed jurisdiction

(1) A party who has been served with an originating pleading or petition in a proceeding, whether that service was effected in or outside British Columbia, may, after filing a jurisdictional response in Form 108,

- (a) apply to strike out the notice of civil claim, counterclaim, third party notice or petition or to dismiss or stay the proceeding on the ground that the notice of civil claim, counterclaim, third party notice or petition does not allege facts that, if true, would establish that the court has jurisdiction over that party in respect of the claim made against that party in the proceeding,
- (b) apply to dismiss or stay the proceeding on the ground that the court does not have jurisdiction over that party in respect of the claim made against that party in the proceeding, or
- (c) allege in a pleading or in a response to petition that the court does not have jurisdiction over that party in respect of the claim made against that party in the proceeding.

 [am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Order declining jurisdiction may be sought

(2) Whether or not a party referred to in subrule (1) applies or makes an allegation under that subrule, the party may apply to court for a stay of the proceeding on the ground that the court ought to decline to exercise jurisdiction over that party in respect of the claim made against that party in the proceeding.

Disputed pleading or service

- (3) If a party who has been served with an originating pleading or petition in a proceeding, whether served in or outside British Columbia, alleges that the notice of civil claim, counterclaim, third party notice or petition is invalid or has expired or that the purported service of the notice of civil claim, counterclaim, third party notice or petition was invalid, the party may, after filing a jurisdictional response in Form 108, apply for one or both of the following:
 - (a) an order setting aside the notice of civil claim, counterclaim, third party notice or petition;
 - (b) an order setting aside service of the notice of civil claim, counterclaim, third party notice or petition.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Powers of court pending resolution

- (4) If an application is brought under subrule (1) (a) or (b) or (3) or an issue is raised by an allegation in a pleading or a response to petition referred to in subrule (1) (c), the court may, on the application of a party of record, before deciding the first-mentioned application or issue,
 - (a) stay the proceeding,
 - (b) give directions for the conduct of the first-mentioned application,
 - (c) give directions for the conduct of the proceeding, and
 - (d) discharge any order previously made in the proceeding.

Party does not submit to jurisdiction

- (5) If, within 30 days after filing a jurisdictional response in a proceeding, the filing party serves a notice of application under subrule (1) (a) or (b) or (3) on the parties of record or files a pleading or a response to petition referred to in subrule (1) (c),
 - (a) the party does not submit to the jurisdiction of the court in relation to the proceeding merely by filing or serving any or all of the following:

- (i) the jurisdictional response;
- (ii) a pleading or a response to petition under subrule (1) (c);
- (iii) a notice of application and supporting affidavits under subrule (1) (a) or (b), and
- (b) until the court has decided the application or the issue raised by the pleading, petition or response to petition, the party may, without submitting to the jurisdiction of the court,
 - (i) apply for, enforce or obey an order of the court, and
 - (ii) defend the proceeding on its merits.

Rule 21-9 – *Negligence Act* Claims

Contribution or indemnity claimed under the Negligence Act

- (1) A defendant who claims contribution or indemnity under the *Negligence Act* from a person must do so,
 - (a) if the person against whom the claim is to be made is a plaintiff, by counterclaim, or
 - (b) in any other case, whether or not the person against whom the claim is to be made is a party to the action, by third party notice.

Apportionment of liability claimed under the Negligence Act

(2) A defendant who does not claim contribution or indemnity under the *Negligence Act* but who does claim an apportionment of liability under that Act must claim that apportionment in the response to civil claim.

PART 22 – General

Rule 22-1 – Chambers Proceedings

Definition

- (1) In this rule, "chambers proceeding" includes the following:
 - (a) a petition proceeding;
 - (b) a requisition proceeding that has been set for hearing under Rule 17-1 (5) (b);
 - (c) an application, including, without limitation, the following:
 - (i) an application to change or set aside a judgment;
 - (ii) a matter that is ordered to be disposed of other than at trial;
 - (d) an appeal from, or an application to confirm, change or set aside, an order, a report, a certificate or a recommendation of a master, registrar, special referee or other officer of the court;
 - (e) an action that has, or issues in an action that have, been ordered to be proceeded with by affidavit or on documents before the court, and stated cases, special cases and hearings on a point of law;
 - (f) an application for judgment under Rule 3-8, 7-7 (6), 9-6 or 9-7.

Failure of party to attend

(2) If a party to a chambers proceeding fails to attend at the hearing of the chambers proceeding, the court may proceed if, considering the nature of the chambers proceeding, it considers it will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules to do so, and may require evidence of service it considers appropriate.

Reconsideration of order

(3) If the court makes an order in circumstances referred to in subrule (2), the order must not be reconsidered unless the court is satisfied that the person failing to attend was not guilty of wilful delay or default.

Evidence on an application

- (4) On a chambers proceeding, evidence must be given by affidavit, but the court may
 - (a) order the attendance for cross-examination of the person who swore or affirmed the affidavit, either before the court or before another person as the court directs,
 - (b) order the examination of a party or witness, either before the court or before another person as the court directs,
 - (c) give directions required for the discovery, inspection or production of a document or copy of that document,
 - (d) order an inquiry, assessment or accounting under Rule 18-1, and

(e) receive other forms of evidence.

Hearing of application in public

(5) Except in cases of urgency, a chambers proceeding must be heard in a place open to the public, unless the court, in the case of a particular chambers proceeding, directs that for special reasons the chambers proceeding ought to be dealt with in private.

Adjournment of application if applications not heard on date set

(6) If a chambers proceeding has been set for hearing on a day on which the court does not hear chambers proceedings, the chambers proceeding stands adjourned without order to the next day on which the court hears chambers proceedings.

Power of the court

- (7) Without limiting subrule (4), on the hearing of a chambers proceeding, the court may
 - (a) grant or refuse the relief claimed in whole or in part, or dispose of any question arising on the chambers proceeding,
 - (b) adjourn the chambers proceeding from time to time, either to a particular date or generally, and when the chambers proceeding is adjourned generally a party of record may set it down on 3 days' notice for further hearing,
 - (c) obtain the assistance of one or more experts, in which case Rule 11-5 applies, and
 - (d) order a trial of the chambers proceeding, either generally or on an issue, and order pleadings to be filed and, in that event, give directions for the conduct of the trial and of pre-trial proceedings and for the disposition of the chambers proceeding.

Powers of court if notice not given

- (8) If it appears to the court that notice of a chambers proceeding ought to have been but was not served on a person, the court may
 - (a) dismiss the chambers proceeding or dismiss it only against that person,
 - (b) adjourn the chambers proceeding and direct that service be effected on that person or that notice be given in some alternate manner to that person, or
 - (c) direct that any order made, together with any other documents the court may order, be served on that person.

Urgent chambers proceeding

(9) Rules 8-4 and 8-5 apply to chambers proceedings.

Adjournment

(10) The hearing of a chambers proceeding may be adjourned from time to time by a registrar.

Notes of applications

(11) A registrar must

- (a) attend at and keep notes of the hearings of all chambers proceedings, and
- (b) include, in the notes kept under paragraph (a) in relation to the hearing of a chambers proceeding, a short statement of the questions or points decided or orders made at the hearing.

Rule 22-2 – Affidavits

Affidavit to be filed

(1) An affidavit used in a proceeding must be filed.

Form and content of affidavit

- (2) An affidavit
 - (a) must be expressed in the first person and show the name, address and occupation of the person swearing or affirming the affidavit,
 - (b) if the person swearing or affirming the affidavit is a party or the lawyer, agent, director, officer or employee of a party, must state that fact,
 - (c) must be divided into paragraphs numbered consecutively, and
 - (d) may be in Form 109.

Identifying affidavits

- (3) There must be set out in the top right hand corner of the first page of an affidavit, other than an affidavit of service,
 - (a) the name of the person swearing or affirming the affidavit,
 - (b) the sequential number of the affidavit made by that person in the same proceeding, and
 - (c) the date on which the affidavit was made.

Making affidavit

- (4) An affidavit is made when
 - (a) the affidavit is sworn or affirmed by the person swearing or affirming the affidavit,
 - (b) the person swearing or affirming the affidavit
 - (i) signs the affidavit, or
 - (ii) if the person swearing or affirming the affidavit is unable to sign the affidavit, places his or her mark on it, and
 - (c) the person before whom the affidavit is sworn or affirmed completes and signs a statement in accordance with subrule (5) and identifies each exhibit, if any, to the affidavit in accordance with subrule (8).

Statement to be signed

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

(5) The person before whom an affidavit is sworn or affirmed must confirm that the affidavit was sworn or affirmed in the person's presence by completing and signing a statement on the affidavit in the following form:

Sworn (or affirmed) before me at British Columbia on [[dd/mmm/yyyy]
--	---------------

Statement if person swearing or affirming the affidavit unable to read

(6) If it appears to the person before whom an affidavit is sworn or affirmed that the person swearing or affirming the affidavit is unable to read it, the person before whom it is sworn or affirmed must certify in the statement signed under subrule (5) that the affidavit was read in his or her presence to the person swearing or affirming the affidavit who seemed to understand it.

Interpretation to person swearing or affirming the affidavit who does not understand English

(7) If it appears to the person before whom an affidavit is to be sworn or affirmed that the person swearing or affirming the affidavit does not understand the English language, the affidavit must be interpreted to the person swearing or affirming the affidavit by a competent interpreter who must certify on the affidavit, by endorsement in Form 109, that he or she has interpreted the affidavit to the person swearing or affirming the affidavit.

Exhibit to be marked

(8) The person before whom an affidavit is sworn or affirmed must identify each exhibit referred to in the affidavit by signing a certificate placed on the exhibit in the following form:

This is Exhibit	. referred to in the affidavit of	sworn (or affirmed)
before me on	[dd/mmm/yyyy]	

(SUB)**Exhibits referred to in affidavits**

04/22

- (9) The following applies to an exhibit referred to in an affidavit:
 - (a) if the exhibit is a document that complies with Rule 22-3 (2) and does not exceed 10 pages, a true reproduction of the document must be attached to the affidavit and to all copies of the affidavit that are served;
 - (b) if the exhibit is a document that complies with Rule 22-3 (2) and exceeds 10 pages, the exhibit need not be filed with the affidavit, but must be made available for the use of the court and for the prior inspection of a party to the proceeding;
 - (c) if the exhibit is not a document that complies with Rule 22-3 (2), the exhibit must not be filed with the affidavit, but must be made available for the use of the court and for the prior inspection of a party to the proceeding.

[en. B.C. Reg. 321/2021, Sch. 1.]

Numbering exhibit pages

- (10) Each page of the documentary exhibits referred to in an affidavit, other than an affidavit of service, must be numbered sequentially, beginning with the first page of the first exhibit and ending with the last page of the last exhibit,
 - (a) on the original exhibits and on all copies that are served, and

(b) even though one or more of those exhibits is not attached to the affidavit.

Alterations to be initialled

(11) The person before whom an affidavit is sworn or affirmed must initial all alterations in the affidavit and, unless so initialled, the affidavit must not be used in a proceeding without leave of the court.

Limitation on contents of affidavit

(12) Subject to subrule (13), an affidavit must state only what a person swearing or affirming the affidavit would be permitted to state in evidence at a trial.

Exception

- (13) An affidavit may contain statements as to the information and belief of the person swearing or affirming the affidavit, if
 - (a) the source of the information and belief is given, and
 - (b) the affidavit is made
 - (i) in respect of an application that does not seek a final order, or
 - (ii) by leave of the court under Rule 12-5 (71) (a) or 22-1 (4) (e).

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Use of defective affidavit

(14) With leave of the court, an affidavit may be used in evidence despite an irregularity in its form.

Affidavit made before proceeding started

(15) An affidavit may be used in a proceeding even though it was made before the proceeding was started.

Affidavit of patient under the *Patients Property Act*

(16) If an affidavit is required for use in a proceeding and the person who is proposed to swear or affirm the affidavit is a patient as defined in the *Patients Property Act*, the affidavit may be sworn or affirmed, on information and belief, by the litigation guardian of the patient.

Rule 22-3 – Forms and Documents

Forms

(AM) Mar 31/14 (1) The forms in Appendix A or A.1 must be used if applicable, with variations as the circumstances of the proceeding require, and each of those forms must be completed by including the information required by that form in accordance with any instructions included on the form.

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Documents

(2) Unless the nature of the document renders it impracticable, every document prepared for use in the court must be in the English language, legibly printed, typewritten, written or reproduced on 8 1/2 inch x 11 inch durable white paper or durable off-white recycled paper.

Transcripts

(3) Transcripts of oral evidence must conform to subrule (2).

Space for stamp

(4) The first page of each document prepared for use in a proceeding must contain a blank area extending at least 5 centimetres from the top of the page and at least 5 centimetres from the left edge of the page.

Style of proceeding

(5) A document prepared for use in a proceeding must be headed with the style of proceeding set out on the most recent originating pleading to be filed in that proceeding, but in a document, other than an order or a document that starts a proceeding, if there is more than one party to the proceeding identified as a plaintiff or as any other classification of party, the style of proceeding may be abbreviated to show the name of the first party listed in that classification, followed by the words "and others".

(ADD)**Exception**

01/15

(5.1) Subrule (5) does not apply to notices under Rule 25-2 (3) in Form P1. [en. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

Style of proceeding for class proceeding

- (6) The style of proceeding for a proceeding must include the words "Brought under the *Class Proceedings Act*" immediately below the listed parties if
 - (a) it is intended, at the start of the proceeding, that a certification order will be sought in respect of the proceeding under the *Class Proceedings Act*, or
 - (b) in any other case, a certification order is subsequently granted in respect of the proceeding,

unless and until a certification order is refused in respect of the proceeding or the proceeding is decertified.

Rule 22-4 – Time

Computation of time

(1) Unless a contrary intention otherwise appears, if a period of less than 7 days is set out by these Supreme Court Civil Rules or in an order of the court, holidays are not counted.

Extending or shortening time

(2) The court may extend or shorten any period of time provided for in these Supreme Court Civil Rules or in an order of the court, even though the application for the extension or the order granting the extension is made after the period of time has expired.

Extending or shortening time respecting pleadings

(3) The period fixed by these Supreme Court Civil Rules or an order for serving, filing or amending a pleading or other document may be extended by consent.

Notice of intention to proceed after delay of one year

- (4) In a proceeding in which judgment has not been pronounced and no step has been taken for one year, a party must not proceed until
 - (a) the expiration of 28 days after service, on all parties of record, of notice in Form 44 of that party's intention to proceed, and
 - (b) a copy of the notice of intention to proceed and proof of its service has been filed.

Want of prosecution

(5) Despite this rule, a defendant or respondent may apply to have a proceeding dismissed for want of prosecution without serving a notice of intention to proceed in Form 44.

Attendance

(6) Attendance on an appointment before an official reporter within 1/2 hour following the time fixed for the appointment is a sufficient attendance.

Rule 22-5 – Multiple Claims and Parties

Multiple claims

(1) Subject to subrule (6), a person, whether claiming in the same or different capacities, may join several claims in the same proceeding.

Multiple parties

- (2) Subject to subrule (6), a proceeding may be started by or against 2 or more persons in any of the following circumstances:
 - (a) if separate proceedings were brought by or against each of those persons, a common question of law or fact would arise in all the proceedings;
 - (b) a right to relief claimed in the proceedings, whether it is joint, several or alternative, is in respect of or arises out of the same transaction or series of transactions;
 - (c) the court grants leave to do so.

Joining persons jointly entitled to relief

(3) Subject to any enactment or these Supreme Court Civil Rules or unless the court otherwise orders, a plaintiff or petitioner who claims relief to which any other person is jointly entitled must join as parties to the proceeding all persons so entitled, and any of them who do not consent to be joined as a plaintiff or petitioner must be made a defendant or respondent.

If persons are jointly liable

(4) If relief is claimed against a person who is jointly liable with some other person, the other person need not be made a party to the proceeding, but if persons may be jointly, but not severally, liable and relief is claimed against some but not all of those persons in a proceeding, the court may stay the proceeding until the other persons who may be liable are added as parties.

Party need not be interested in all relief

(5) It is not necessary that every party be interested in all the relief sought in a proceeding, but the court may order that a party be compensated for being required to attend, or be relieved from attending, a part of a trial or hearing in which that party has no interest.

Separation

(6) If a joinder of several claims or parties in a proceeding may unduly complicate or delay the trial or hearing of the proceeding or is otherwise inconvenient, the court may order separate trials or hearings or make any other order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Separating counterclaim or third party claim

(7) If a counterclaim or a third party proceeding ought to be disposed of by a separate proceeding, the court may so order.

Consolidation

(8) Proceedings may be consolidated at any time by order of the court or may be ordered to be tried at the same time or on the same day.

Misjoinder or nonjoinder of parties

(9) A proceeding must not be defeated by reason of the misjoinder or nonjoinder of a party and the court may deal with the matter in controversy so far as it affects the rights and interests of the parties before it.

Rule 22-6 – Change of Lawyer

Change of lawyer

- (1) A party to a proceeding
 - (a) may change lawyers,
 - (b) having acted on his or her own behalf, may engage a lawyer to act, or
 - (c) having been represented by a lawyer, may discharge the lawyer and act on his or her own behalf,

but until copies of notice of the change in Form 110 or 111 have been filed and served on the other parties of record, the other parties are entitled to proceed on the basis that there has been no change of representation or address for service.

Order that lawyer has ceased to act

- (2) If
 - (a) a lawyer for a party has died, cannot be found or for any reason is unable to practise, and
 - (b) the party has not given notice of change of lawyer or of intention to act in person in accordance with subrule (1),

the court, on the application of any other party of record, may order that the lawyer has ceased to be the lawyer of the first mentioned party.

Order on application of lawyer

- (3) If a lawyer who has acted for a party to a proceeding has ceased to act and the party has not given a notice of change in accordance with subrule (1), the court, on the application of the lawyer, may declare that the lawyer has ceased to be the lawyer acting for the party and, if applicable,
 - (a) may declare that the lawyer's office is not the address for service of the party and give directions as to a new address for service, and
 - (b) may declare that the lawyer's fax number or e-mail address may no longer be used for service and give directions for a new fax number or e-mail address for service.

Notice of withdrawal

(4) As an alternative to proceeding under subrule (3), a lawyer who has ceased to act for a party who has not given a notice of change under subrule (1) may serve a notice of intention to withdraw in Form 112 on that party and on the other parties of record.

Filing of objection

- (5) If a party on whom a notice of intention to withdraw is served under subrule (4) wishes to object to the withdrawal, the party must, within 7 days after service,
 - (a) file in the registry an objection in Form 113, and
 - (b) serve on the lawyer a copy of the filed objection.

Procedure if no objection filed

(6) A lawyer who serves a notice of intention to withdraw under subrule (4) on all parties of record to a proceeding may file a notice of withdrawal of lawyer in Form 114 if no objection, notice of change of lawyer or notice of intention to act in person is filed within 7 days after service of the notice of intention to withdraw.

Service of notice of withdrawal

(7) If a lawyer files a notice of withdrawal of lawyer under subrule (6), the lawyer ceases to be the party's lawyer when the notice has been served on all parties of record.

Service of documents after withdrawal

(8) After a lawyer ceases under subrule (7) to be a party's lawyer, the party's address for service is, until that address is changed under Rule 4-1 (3), the address set out in the notice of withdrawal of lawyer filed under subrule (6) of this rule.

Procedure if objection filed

(9) If, within the 7 day period referred to in subrule (6), an objection is filed in the registry, the lawyer may apply, on notice to each party who has filed an objection, for an order under subrule (3).

Substituted service

(10) If personal service of a notice of intention to withdraw cannot be made in accordance with Rule 4-3 (2) on a party for whom the lawyer acts, the lawyer may apply for an order under Rule 4-4 allowing service by an alternative method.

Service of copy of order

(11) An applicant who obtains an order under subrule (2) or (3) must serve a copy of the entered order on all parties of record and, until it is served, a party is entitled to proceed on the basis that there has been no change of lawyer or address for service.

Rule 22-7 – Effect of Non-compliance

Non-compliance with rules

- (1) Unless the court otherwise orders, a failure to comply with these Supreme Court Civil Rules must be treated as an irregularity and does not nullify
 - (a) a proceeding,
 - (b) a step taken in the proceeding, or
 - (c) any document or order made in the proceeding.

Powers of court

- (2) Subject to subrules (3) and (4), if there has been a failure to comply with these Supreme Court Civil Rules, the court may
 - (a) set aside a proceeding, either wholly or in part,
 - (b) set aside any step taken in the proceeding, or a document or order made in the proceeding,
 - (c) allow an amendment to be made under Rule 6-1,
 - (d) dismiss the proceeding or strike out the response to civil claim and pronounce judgment, or
 - (e) make any other order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Proceeding must not be set aside for incorrect originating pleading

(3) The court must not wholly set aside a proceeding on the ground that the proceeding was required to be started by an originating pleading other than the one employed.

Application to set aside for irregularity

- (4) An application for an order under subrule (2) (a), (b) or (d) must not be granted unless the application is made
 - (a) within a reasonable time, and
 - (b) before the applicant has taken a fresh step after knowledge of the irregularity.

Consequences of certain non-compliance

- (5) Without limiting any other power of the court under these Supreme Court Civil Rules, if a person, contrary to these Supreme Court Civil Rules and without lawful excuse,
 - (a) refuses or neglects to obey a subpoena or to attend at the time and place appointed for his or her examination for discovery,
 - (b) refuses to be sworn or to answer any question put to him or her,
 - (c) refuses or neglects to produce or permit to be inspected any document or other property,
 - (d) refuses or neglects to answer interrogatories or to make discovery of documents, or
 - (e) refuses or neglects to attend for or submit to a medical examination,

then

- (f) if the person is the plaintiff or petitioner, a present officer of a corporate plaintiff or petitioner or a partner in or manager of a partnership plaintiff or petitioner, the court may dismiss the proceeding, and
- (g) if the person is a defendant, respondent or third party, a present officer of a corporate defendant, respondent or third party or a partner in or manager of a partnership defendant, respondent or third party, the court may order the proceeding to continue as if no response to civil claim or response to petition had been filed.

Failure to comply with direction of court

(6) If a person, without lawful excuse, refuses or neglects to comply with a direction of the court, the court may make an order under subrule (5) (f) or (g).

Dismissal for want of prosecution

(7) If, on application by a party, it appears to the court that there is want of prosecution in a proceeding, the court may order that the proceeding be dismissed.

Rule 22-8 – Contempt of Court

Power of court to punish

(1) The power of the court to punish contempt of court must be exercised by an order of committal or by imposition of a fine or both.

Corporation in contempt

- (2) If a corporation wilfully disobeys an order against the corporation, the order may be enforced by one or more of the following:
 - (a) imposition of a fine on the corporation;
 - (b) committal of one or more directors or officers of the corporation;
 - (c) imposition of a fine on one or more directors or officers of the corporation.

Security

(3) Instead of or in addition to making an order of committal or imposing a fine, the court may order a person to give security for the person's good behaviour.

Certain acts as contempt

(4) A person who is guilty of an act or omission described in Rule 12-5 (25) or 22-7 (5), in addition to being subject to any consequences prescribed by those rules, is guilty of contempt of court and subject to the court's power to punish contempt of court.

If person may be guilty of contempt

(5) If the court is of the opinion that a person may be guilty of contempt of court, it may order, by warrant in Form 115 directed to a sheriff or other officer of the court or to a peace officer, that the person be apprehended and brought before the court.

Power of court after apprehension

(6) If a person referred to in subrule (5) is apprehended and brought before the court, the court in a summary manner may adjudge the innocence or guilt of the person and punish the person for the contempt, if any, or may give the directions it thinks fit for the determination of the person's innocence or guilt and punishment.

If corporation may be guilty of contempt

(7) If the court is of the opinion that a corporation may be guilty of contempt of court, it may order, by its warrant in Form 115 directed to a sheriff or other officer of the court or to a peace officer, that any director, officer or employee of the corporation be apprehended and brought before the court.

Power of court after apprehension

(8) If a director, officer or employee referred to in subrule (7) is apprehended and brought before the court, the court in a summary manner may adjudge the innocence or guilt of the corporation and punish the corporation for the contempt, if any, or may give the directions it thinks fit for the determination of the corporation's innocence or guilt and the punishment to be imposed.

Release of apprehended person

(9) The court may order the release of a person apprehended under subrule (5) or (7) on receiving an undertaking in Form 116 from that person.

Order for release

(10) A release order under subrule (9) must be in Form 117.

Proceeding for contempt

(11) A party applying for an order for contempt must serve the alleged contemnor with a copy of the filed notice of application and all filed affidavits in support of it at least 7 days before the hearing of the application.

Affidavit

(12) An application under subrule (11) must be supported by affidavit setting out the conduct alleged to be contempt of court.

Hearing

(13) The court may give directions as to the mode of hearing the application, including an order that the matter be transferred to the trial list under Rule 22-1 (7) (d).

Service of order not necessary

(14) If the court is satisfied that a person has actual notice of the terms of an order of the court, it may find the person guilty of contempt for disobedience of the order, even though the order has not been served on the person.

Suspension of punishment

(15) The court at any time may direct that the punishment for contempt be suspended for the period or on the terms or conditions the court may specify.

Discharge of person

(16) The court, on application by or on behalf of a person committed to prison for contempt, may discharge that person even though the period of the committal may not have elapsed.

Weekly review of person in custody

(17) If the court orders a person be committed without specifying in days, weeks or months the period of the committal, the sheriff must bring that person before the court at intervals of not more than 7 days, in order that the court may review the committal and determine whether relief as set out in subrule (15) or (16) should be granted.

PART 23 – Court and Registry Matters

Rule 23-1 – Registry Operations

Copy of document filed in registry

(1) Unless otherwise provided by an enactment, a person may, on payment of the proper fees, obtain from the registry a copy of a document on file in a proceeding.

When registry open

(2) Except on Saturdays, holidays and those days that are prescribed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council as holidays for the Public Service of British Columbia, the registry is to be kept open to the public for the transaction of business from 9 a.m. until 4 p.m.

Hours of registrar

(3) The hours of attendance by a registrar and the registry staff are from 8:30 a.m. until 4:30 p.m.

Lunch hours

(4) If a registry has insufficient staff to allow continuous staff attendance at the lunch hour, the Chief Justice may, in writing, authorize that registry to close.

Use of seal

- (5) In each registry, the seal of the court must be stamped on every
 - (a) notice of civil claim, and
 - (b) other document requiring a seal

issued from or filed in that registry.

Name of registry

(6) The name of the registry must be written or stamped on the face of every document issued from or filed or recorded in that registry.

Signature of registrar

(7) If the signature or endorsement of a registrar is required on a document, the document is deemed to have been signed or endorsed by the registrar if the document is signed or endorsed by a person appointed for that purpose by the registrar.

Business not to be conducted out of office hours

(8) In case of urgency, the court may order that a registry be opened for the purpose of commencing a proceeding or for some other good reason.

Request to registrar by requisition

- (9) Unless these Supreme Court Civil Rules otherwise provide, if a person wishes a registrar to perform some act under these Supreme Court Civil Rules,
 - (a) the person must make the request by requisition in Form 17 unless these Supreme Court Civil Rules otherwise provide, and
 - (b) the registrar may discard the requisition after the required act has been done.

Incapacity of judge

(10) If an application ought to be made to, or any jurisdiction ought to be exercised by, the judge by whom a proceeding has been tried or partly tried, or heard or partly heard, then, if that judge dies or ceases to be a judge of the court during or after the trial or hearing, or if for any other reason it is impossible or inconvenient for that judge to act in the proceeding, the Chief Justice or next senior judge of the court may, either by a special order or by a general order, nominate some other judge to whom the application may be made or by whom the jurisdiction may be exercised.

Powers of substituted judge

- (11) Without limiting subrule (10), the other judge nominated under that subrule may
 - (a) order that the proceeding be restored to the proper registry for retrial or rehearing,
 - (b) if, on the original trial or hearing, evidence was given orally, direct that the retrial or rehearing be on
 - (i) an official transcript of that evidence,
 - (ii) transcript, evidence given orally and evidence given by affidavit,
 - (iii) new evidence, or
 - (iv) any other basis

as in the judge's opinion the circumstances of the case require, and

(c) dispose of the costs of the original trial or hearing and of the costs of furnishing any copies of the transcript of the evidence, or refer the question of costs to the judge presiding at the retrial or rehearing.

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Powers of presiding judge

(AM) Sep 01/23

(AM)

Sep

01/23

(12) Directions for a retrial or rehearing that include a direction for the use of the transcript of the evidence do not limit or restrict the power of the judge presiding at the retrial or rehearing to permit in the judge's discretion the recalling of any witness called at the original trial or hearing, or to receive other or additional evidence.

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Transfers

(13) At any time after a proceeding is started, the court may on application order the proceeding to be transferred from the registry in which it is being conducted to any other registry of the court for any or all purposes.

Rule 23-2 – Fax Filing

Application

(AM) Apr 04/22 (1) This rule applies only to those proceedings that are filed at the Chilliwack, Cranbrook, Dawson Creek, Kamloops, Kelowna, Nelson, Penticton, Prince George, Prince Rupert, Rossland, Salmon Arm, Smithers, Terrace, Vernon or Williams Lake registry of the court.

[am. B.C. Reg. 321/2021, Sch. 1.]

Document may be submitted for filing by fax

(2) Subject to this rule, a person wishing to file a document may transmit that document by fax to the applicable court registry.

Means of transmission

- (3) A document may be transmitted by fax to a registry for filing if
 - (a) the document is transmitted to the appropriate registry at the fax number designated for that registry by a practice direction of the Chief Justice,
 - (b) the document is
 - (i) sent under cover of a fax cover sheet in Form 118, and
 - (ii) accompanied by payment of the applicable filing fees, and
 - (c) the document is not one referred to in subrule (4).

Application of this rule

- (4) The following documents may not be transmitted by fax to a registry for filing:
 - (a) any document pertaining to the following:
 - (i) probate;
 - (ii) adoption;
 - (iii) reciprocal enforcement of orders under the Court Order Enforcement Act,
 - (b) any of the following documents:
 - (i) a certified copy of any document being filed for enforcement purposes;
 - (ii) an application record or a petition record;
 - (iii) a trial record;
 - (iv) a proof of marriage from a foreign jurisdiction;
 - (v) a certificate of judgment;
 - (vi) a certificate of pending litigation;
 - (vii) an affidavit of service submitted for filing in support of a default order;
 - (c) any of the following documents, unless their submission by fax is authorized by the Manager, Supreme Court Scheduling of the receiving registry:
 - (i) a trial certificate;
 - (ii) a notice of trial;

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (iii) and (iv) *Repealed*. [B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A]
- (v) a requisition to reset a hearing or trial;
- (vi) a notice of case planning conference in Form 19;
- (d) a document that, with the fax cover sheet, exceeds 30 pages in length, unless its submission by fax is authorized by a registrar.

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

When a document is filed

- (5) A document that is transmitted by fax to a registry for filing in accordance with subrule (3) and that is approved for filing by the registrar is filed as follows:
 - (a) the document is filed on the day it is received by the registry if any of the document, other than the fax cover sheet, is received at the fax machine of the registry at or before 4 p.m. on a day on which the registry is open for business;
 - (b) the document is filed on the next day on which the registry is open for business in any other case.

Confirmation of filing

- (6) After a document is received at the fax machine of the registry, a registrar must do the following in accordance with subrule (7):
 - (a) if the document was transmitted for filing in accordance with subrule (3) and was approved for filing by the registrar, provide to the person identified as the submitting party on the fax cover sheet
 - (i) confirmation of the fees paid, and
 - (ii) the first page of the filed document, bearing the registry stamp and file number;
 - (b) if the document was not transmitted for filing in accordance with subrule (3), or was not approved for filing by the registrar, provide to the person identified as the submitting party on the fax cover sheet
 - (i) a notice that the document has not been filed and the reasons for non-acceptance, and
 - (ii) the first page of the document.

Confirmation of filing

- (7) For the purposes of subrule (6), a registrar may provide the documents referred to in that subrule to the person identified as the submitting party on the fax cover sheet
 - (a) by transmitting those documents by fax to the fax number shown on the fax cover sheet as the fax number for the submitting party, or
 - (b) in any other manner the registrar considers appropriate.

Original of document may be required by court

(8) The court may require that the original of a document that has been filed under this rule be produced.

Rule 23-3 – Electronic Filing

Definitions

(1) In this rule:

"electronic document" means a document that has been transmitted for filing electronically;

"electronic services agreement" means an agreement referred to in subrule (3);

"registered user" means a person who has entered into an electronic services agreement.

This rule prevails in event of conflict

(2) In the event of a conflict between this rule and another rule, this rule applies.

Electronic services agreement

(3) A person wishing to file documents in a registry under this rule must

(AM) May 18/18

- (a) enter into an agreement with the Court Services Branch of the Ministry of Attorney General respecting the terms and conditions under which those filings may be made, and
- (b) submit documents for filing in accordance with that agreement. [am. B.C. Regs. 27/2013, Sch. 2; 99/2018, Sch. 2.]

Means of transmission

- (4) A registered user may electronically transmit a document to a registry for filing if
 - (a) the document is accompanied by payment of the applicable filing fees, and
 - (b) the document is not one referred to in subrule (5).

Application of this rule

(5) The following documents may not be transmitted for filing electronically:

(SUB) Dec 01/21

- (a) any document pertaining to the reciprocal enforcement of orders under the *Court Order Enforcement Act*;
- (b) any of the following documents:
 - (i) a certified copy of any document being filed for enforcement purposes;
 - (ii) an application record, a petition record or a hearing record;

(AM) Jul 01/14

- (iii) a trial record;
- (iv) a proof of marriage from a foreign jurisdiction, unless such proof is issued electronically;
- (v) a certificate of judgment;
- (vi) a certificate of pending litigation;
- (vii) an affidavit, filed under Rule 12-5 (59), that constitutes the evidence in chief of a witness;
- (viii) an originally signed version of a physical will, as defined in Rule 25-1 (1).

[am. B.C. Regs. 120/2014; 115/2019; 250/2021.]

(ADD) Dec 01/21

Affidavits and other signed documents

- (6) An affidavit or other signed document that is being filed for evidentiary purposes, if submitted for filing electronically, must clearly identify the signatory and must be accompanied by a statement, in Form 119, of the lawyer acting for the person on whose behalf the document is submitted for filing or, if that person is unrepresented, by a statement of that person, in Form 119, indicating that
 - (a) the original paper version of the document appears to bear an original signature of the person identified as the signatory and the person making the Form 119 statement has no reason to believe that the signature placed on the document is not the signature of the identified signatory, and
 - (b) the version of the document that is being submitted for filing electronically appears to be a true copy of the original paper version of the document and the person making the Form 119 statement has no reason to believe that it is not a true copy of the original paper version.

Retention of documents

- (7) A person who, under subrule (6), submits a document for filing in a proceeding must
 - (a) keep the original paper version of the document until the earliest of
 - (i) the date on which the proceeding, including any appeals, is finally disposed of,
 - (ii) the date on which the appeal period for that proceeding has expired if no notice of appeal respecting the proceeding has been filed within that period, and
 - (iii) the date on which a registrar requests that the original paper version be filed, and
 - (b) if a request is made under paragraph (a) (iii), file the original paper version promptly after that request is made.

Conversion of documents

- (8) If a document in paper form is filed with a registrar, the registrar may convert the document into electronic form and, in that event, the registrar must
 - (a) store the conversion in a computer or in another electronic system that the registrar considers appropriate, and
 - (b) retain the paper form of the document.

Inspection of original documents

(9) A person who submits a document referred to in subrule (6) for filing electronically must, on request, make the original paper version of that document available for inspection by other parties or their lawyer and by the court.

Requisition

(10) A person who is entitled to inspect a document under subrule (9) may, if that inspection is denied, file a requisition in Form 17 to request that the original paper version of the document be filed and, promptly after receipt of that requisition, the registrar must make a request under subrule (7) (a) (iii).

Application of Rule 22-2

(11) Rule 22-2 continues to apply to affidavits filed under this rule, but, in the event of a conflict between this rule and Rule 22-2 in respect of those affidavits, this rule prevails.

Electronic authentication deemed a signature

(12) For the purposes of these Supreme Court Civil Rules other than subrule (6) of this rule, a document is deemed to have been originally signed if it has been electronically authenticated in the manner contemplated by the applicable electronic services agreement.

Filing of documents

- (13) If a document that has been transmitted for filing electronically is accepted for filing by a registrar, the document is deemed to have been filed as follows:
 - (a) if the document is received by the registry at or before 4 p.m. on a day that is not a Saturday or a holiday, the document is deemed to be filed on the day of receipt;
 - (b) if the document is received by the registry on a Saturday or holiday or after 4 p.m. on any other day, the document is deemed to be filed on the next day that is not a Saturday or a holiday.

Electronic acceptance

(14) After a document that has been transmitted for filing electronically is accepted for filing by a registrar, the registrar must affix an electronic version of the registry stamp to the document and, after that, must provide a copy of the stamped electronic document, in the manner contemplated by the electronic services agreement, to the person who transmitted the document for filing.

Sealing of notice of civil claim

(15) After a registrar provides an electronic acceptance of a notice of civil claim under subrule (14), the notice of civil claim is deemed to have been sealed by the registrar.

Public access to documents filed electronically

- (16) After a document has been filed under this rule, a person who is otherwise entitled to view and obtain a copy of the document may, on payment of the proper fee,
 - (a) obtain from the registry a paper copy of the document,
 - (b) if a public access computer terminal is available in the registry, view the document on that terminal or, if the document is not available for viewing on that terminal, view on that terminal the information about the document or its contents, if any, that is available on that terminal, or
 - (c) if the person is a registered user, access the document in accordance with the terms of the electronic services agreement entered into by that person.

Service of documents

- (17) A document that may or must be served on a person may, if it is an electronic document, be served on the person as follows:
 - (a) if the person has provided an e-mail address for service, by e-mailing it to that person's e-mail address for service;

- (b) if the lawyer for the person has provided an e-mail address for service, by e-mailing it to that lawyer's e-mail address for service;
- (c) if paragraph (a) or (b) applies and, under these Supreme Court Civil Rules, multiple copies of the document are to be served, the serving party need serve only a single electronic copy of the document.

If document does not reach a person

- (18) Even though a document has been served in accordance with subrule (17), a person may show, on an application to set aside the consequences of default, on an application for an extension of time or on an application in support of a request for an adjournment, that the document
 - (a) did not come to the person's notice,
 - (b) did come to the person's notice later than when it was served or effectively served, or
 - (c) was incomplete or illegible.

Rule 23-4 – Money in Court

Interpretation

(1) In this rule, unless the context otherwise requires:

"financial institution" means a bank, credit union or trust company designated by the minister;

"funds" means any money that has been paid into or deposited in court, except money paid

- (a) under the Court Order Enforcement Act,
- (b) for security for costs,
- (c) in satisfaction of a claim, or
- (d) for bail;

Deposit of funds

- (2) All funds must be deposited promptly in a financial institution by a registrar and must, after that, be paid by the registrar to the minister, accompanied by
 - (a) a certified copy of the order directing payment in, or
 - (b) if the funds have been paid into court without an order, a statement showing the particulars of the payment in.

Deposit of securities

- (3) All securities deposited in court must be accompanied
 - (a) by a certified copy of the order directing deposit in court and listing the securities, or

[&]quot;minister" means the Minister of Finance;

[&]quot;securities" means any bonds, stocks, shares, debentures or other securities.

(b) if the securities are deposited without an order listing the securities, by a statement listing the securities.

Transmission of securities

- (4) Promptly after securities are deposited in court, a registrar must transmit those securities to the minister
 - (a) by registered mail, insured to the extent of the securities' par value, or
 - (b) through a financial institution,

together with a certified copy of the order or the statement.

Payment out of court

(5) Funds and securities must be paid out or delivered, on authority of an order of the court, on production of a certified copy of the order or authorization by a registrar for payment out, and must be paid or delivered to the person named in the order or authorization.

Interest

(6) All funds held in court draw interest, payable by the minister, for each 6 month period after December 31, 1992, at 2% below the prime lending rate of the banker to the government on January 1 and July 1 respectively in each year, with interest to be compounded on January 1 and July 1 in each year.

No other interest payable

(7) The interest paid under this rule is instead of any interest earned on an investment made by the minister under subrule (10).

Calculation of interest

(8) Interest under subrule (6) is payable on all funds up to \$100 000 from the first day of the month following payment into court until the last day of the month before payment out of court, and on all funds in excess of \$100 000 from the date of payment into court until the date of payment out.

Account

- (9) For the purpose of segregating the funds from other money held by the minister, the minister must create an account in the treasury designated "Investments, *Supreme Court Act*", and the funds held in this account
 - (a) constitute a trust, and
 - (b) must, at all times, be substantially equal to the funds held by the minister under this rule.

Investments

(10) The minister may

(AM) Sep 01/23 (a) invest as the minister sees fit all or any part of the funds, and

(b) convert securities into money.

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Direction for payment out

(11) If, by an order of the court, funds are directed to be dealt with, delivered or paid out, the order is a direction to the minister to that effect.

Deposit of other money paid into court

(12) Money paid into court, other than funds, must be deposited by a registrar in a financial institution and be paid out in accordance with the existing practice of the court, but the registrar must pay to the minister all moneys that have been on deposit for more than 2 years.

No interest on other funds

(13) Money paid to the minister under this rule must be held by the minister in the same manner as funds deposited under subrule (2), except as to payment of interest.

Money for person under disability

- (14) In a proceeding in which a sum of money or a security is awarded to a person under a disability, the court may, at or after the trial, order that the whole or any part of the sum or the security be paid,
 - (a) if the person is an infant, to the Public Guardian and Trustee in trust for the infant, or
 - (b) in any other case, into court to the credit of the person.

Payment out of money or security

(15) If a sum of money or a security is paid into court under subrule (14) (b), the sum or the security may be paid out of court as the court may direct.

Payment in for infant

(16) When money is paid into court to the credit of an infant, a copy of the birth certificate of the infant, or other proof to the satisfaction of a registrar of the name and date of birth of the infant, must be filed, unless the registrar dispenses with the filing.

Payment out of money held for infant

(17) In support of an application for payment out of money paid in under subrule (16), the applicant must file a declaration in Form 120.

Rule 23-5 – Sittings and Hearings

Under direction of Chief Justice

(1) The court must dispose of the business before it at the times and in the places the Chief Justice directs.

Urgency

In case of urgency, an application may be made personally to a judge, to a master or to a (2) registrar.

(SUB)Hearing by communication medium

01/13

(3) In case of urgency, or if the court or a registrar considers it appropriate to do so, the court or the registrar, as the case may be, may conduct a hearing and make an order or decision by telephone, video conference or other communication medium.

[en. B.C. Reg. 65/2013, Sch. A.]

Video conferencing

(4) On application by a party or on its own initiative, the court may direct

(AM) Sep 01/23 that an application be heard in person or by way of telephone, video conference or other communication medium, and

(b) the manner in which the application is to be conducted.

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Application to registrar by communication medium

Tul 01/13

(4.1) On application by a party or on a registrar's own initiative, a registrar may direct

(AM) Sep 01/23 that a hearing before a registrar be heard in person or by way of telephone, video conference or other communication medium, and

(b) the manner in which the hearing is to be conducted.

[en. B.C. Reg. 65/2013, Sch. A; am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(SUB)Application must be made by requisition

Sep 01/23

> An application under subrule (4) or (4.1) for a direction that an application or a hearing before a registrar be heard in person or by way of telephone, video conference or other communication medium must be made by requisition in Form 20.1.

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Rule 23-6 – Masters, Registrars and Special Referees

Powers of a master

(1) Without limiting any other powers of a master under these Supreme Court Civil Rules, a master hearing an application has the powers of the court set out in Rules 8-5 (6) to (8) and 22-1 (2) to (8).

Master as registrar

A master has the powers and jurisdiction of a registrar under these Supreme Court Civil Rules. (2)

(REP) Repealed

Mar 31/14

> (3) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 149/2013]

(ADD)Hearing record

Jul 01/13

- (3.1) Before attending a registrar's hearing started by the filing of an appointment, the person taking out the appointment (in this subrule called the "applicant") must provide to the registry where the hearing is to take place, no later than 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before the date set for the hearing, a hearing record as follows:
 - (a) the hearing record must be in a ring binder or in some other form of secure binding;
 - (b) the hearing record must contain, in consecutively numbered pages, or separated by tabs, the following documents in the following order:
 - (i) a title page bearing the style of proceeding and the names of the lawyers, if any, for the applicant and the persons served with the appointment (in this subrule called the "respondents");
 - (ii) an index;
 - (iii) a copy of the filed appointment and of every document that, under these rules, is required to be filed with that appointment;
 - (iv) a copy of the affidavit of service of the appointment, which copy must not include the exhibits to the affidavit;
 - (v) if the appointment is to settle an order under Rule 13-1, a copy of the reasons for judgment on which the order is based, a transcript of the order made or a copy of the clerk's notes from the hearing;
 - (vi) if the appointment is to assess costs under Rule 14-1, a copy of the entered order for costs;
 - (vii) if the appointment has been filed under Rule 18-1, a copy of the entered order referring the matter to the registrar;
 - (viii) a copy of every filed affidavit and pleading, and of every other document, that is to be relied on at the hearing;
 - (c) the hearing record may contain
 - (i) a draft of the proposed report or certificate, and
 - (ii) a list of authorities;
 - (d) the hearing record must not contain
 - (i) written argument,
 - (ii) copies of authorities, including case law, legislation, legal articles or excerpts from text books, or
 - (iii) any other documents unless they are included with the consent of the applicant and the respondents.

[en. B.C. Reg. 65/2013, Sch. A.]

(ADD) Dealings with hearing record

Jul 01/13

(3.2) Rule 8-1 (17), (19) and (20) applies to a hearing record and, for that purpose, a reference in Rule 8-1 (17), (19) or (20) to "application record" is a reference to a hearing record and a reference to an "applicant" and an "application respondent" is a reference to the applicant and respondent to the registrar's hearing respectively and a reference to the "hearing of the application" is a reference to the hearing of the registrar's hearing.

[en. B.C. Reg. 65/2013, Sch. A.]

Registrar's powers at registrar's hearing

- (4) A registrar may, in respect of any registrar's hearing, whether before that registrar or any other registrar,
 - (a) extend, shorten or limit the time for any step in the registrar's hearing,
 - (b) exercise the powers that, under Rules 22-1 (2) and (3) and 23-5 (4), may be exercised by the court,
 - (c) exercise the powers set out in Rule 18-1 (5), and
 - (d) direct the parties to attend a pre-hearing conference.

[am. B.C. Reg. 112/2012, Sch. A.]

Registrar's directions at pre-hearing conference

- (5) Without limiting Rule 18-1 (5), a registrar conducting a pre-hearing conference may give directions for the conduct of any registrar's hearing, whether or not that registrar's hearing is before the registrar conducting the pre-hearing conference, including, without limitation, directions respecting the following:
 - (a) the production of documents;
 - (b) oral examinations for discovery;
 - (c) service of notices to admit;
 - (d) service of experts' reports;
 - (e) service of witness lists;
 - (f) any other matter that may assist in the just and efficient determination of the issues.

Reference by master to judge

(6) If a matter appears to a master to be proper for the decision of a judge, the master may refer it to a judge, and the judge may either dispose of the matter or refer it back to the master with directions.

Reference by registrar to judge or master

(7) If a matter appears to a registrar to be proper for the decision of a judge or master, the registrar may refer it to a judge or master, and the judge or master may either dispose of the matter or refer it back to the registrar with directions.

(REP) Repealed

Jul 01/19

(AM)

01/12

Jul

(8) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 104/2019]

(ADD)Notice of appeal

Jul 01/19

(8.1) An appeal from an order of a decision of a master, registrar or special referee must be brought by filing a notice of appeal in Form 121 within 14 days after the order or decision is made.

[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

$^{\rm (ADD)}$ Service of notice of appeal and appellant's $^{\rm Jul}_{01/19}$ statement of argument

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

(8.2) A copy of the filed notice of appeal and of the appellant's statement of argument, in Form 121.1, must be served on the respondent(s) within 7 days after notice of appeal being filed.

[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

(ADD) Notice of interest

Jul 01/19

(8.3) A respondent who wishes to oppose the appeal must file a notice of interest in Form 70. [en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

(ADD)Service of notice of interest and respondent's statement of argument

Jul 01/19

(8.4) A copy of the notice of interest and of the respondent's statement of argument in the form set out in Form 121.2 must be delivered to the appellant within 14 days of the notice of appeal and appellant's statement of argument being served.

[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

(ADD)Transcript of reasons for judgment or decision

Jui 01/19

(8.5) If the order or decision from which the appeal is taken was pronounced orally rather than issued in writing, the appellant must order a transcript of the presider's reasons for judgment or decision within 14 days after the order or decision is issued.

[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

(ADD)Transcript of oral evidence

Jul 01/19

(8.6) If the appeal is taken from an order or decision following a hearing in which oral evidence is taken, in addition to a transcript of the reasons for judgment or decision, the appellant must order a transcript of the oral evidence within 14 days after the order or decision is issued.

[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

(ADD)Date and time of hearing of appeal

Jul 01/19

(8.7) If the hearing of an appeal will require more than 2 hours, the date and time of the hearing must be fixed by Supreme Court Scheduling, and if the hearing of the appeal will require 2 hours or less, it may be set on the chambers list on a date not before the expiry of the time for delivery of the respondent's notice of interest and statement of argument.

[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

(ADD)Appeal record

Jul 01/19

- (8.8) The appellant must provide to the registry where the hearing of the appeal is to take place, no earlier than 9 a.m. and no later than 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before the date set for the hearing, an appeal record as follows:
 - (a) the appeal record must be in a ring binder or in some other form of secure binding;
 - (b) the appeal record must contain
 - (i) a title page,
 - (ii) an index,
 - (iii) a copy of the notice of appeal,

- (iv) a copy of the order of the master or decision of the registrar or special referee that is subject to the appeal,
- a copy of the written reasons for judgment of the master, or reasons for decision of the registrar or special referee, or, if the reasons were given orally, a transcript of the reasons,
- (vi) a copy of the notice of application and application response, and for registrars' appeals, a copy of the appointment,
- (vii) copies of any affidavits that were before the master, registrar or special referee that will be relied on for the appeal,
- (viii) a transcript of any oral evidence heard by the master, registrar or special referee to be relied on for the appeal,
- (ix) the appellant's statement of argument, not to exceed 10 pages, and
- (x) the respondent's statement of argument, not to exceed 10 pages. [en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

(ADD)**Appeal record to be returned**

01/19

(8.9) Unless the court otherwise orders, the appellant must retrieve the appeal record at the conclusion of the hearing or, if the appeal is adjourned to a date later than the following business day, after the hearing is adjourned.

[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

(ADD)Abridgement or modification of timelines Jul and documents required on appeal

(8.10) If the circumstances of an appeal require, the timelines and document filing requirements may be abridged, extended or modified by order under Rule 22-4 (2).

[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]

(REP) 9. and 10. Repealed

Jul 01/19

(9) and (10) *Repealed*. [B.C. Reg. 104/2019]

Appeal not to act as stay

(11) An appeal from the decision of a master or registrar is not a stay of proceeding unless so ordered by the court or the master.

PART 23.1 – Method of Attendance and Application Record Pilot Projects

Rule 23.1-1 – Method of Attendance Pilot Project

(ADD) Method of attendance

Nov 25/22

(1) Without limiting Rule 23-5 (2), (3), (4) or (4.1), the Chief Justice may direct that a class of applications, conferences or hearings may or must be attended by way of telephone, video conference or other communication medium.

[en. B.C. Reg. 236/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Directions may be different

Nov 25/22

(2) A direction made under subrule (1) may be different for different registries, types of applications, conferences or hearings, classes of persons or circumstances.

[en. B.C. Reg. 236/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Application to change method of attendance

Nov 25/22

(3) Despite a direction made under subrule (1), on application by a party or on its own initiative, the court may order that an application, conference or hearing be attended in person.

[en. B.C. Reg. 236/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Application must be made by requisition

Nov 25/22

(AM) Sep 01/23

(4) An application under subrule (3) for an order that an application, conference or hearing be attended in person must be made by requisition in Form 20.1.

[en. B.C. Reg. 236/2022, Sch. 1; am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Directions apply

Nov 25/22

(5) A direction made under subrule (1) applies despite any provision of these Supreme Court Civil Rules that requires in-person attendance.

[en. B.C. Reg. 236/2022, Sch. 1.]

Rule 23.1-2 – Electronic Transmission of Application Record Pilot Project

(ADD)Electronic transmission of application record

25/22

(1) Despite Rule 23-3 (4) (b) and (5) (b) (ii), the Chief Justice may direct that the application record for an application in a class of applications may or must be transmitted electronically to a registry.

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

[en. B.C. Reg. 236/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Directions may be different

Nov 25/22

(2) A direction made under subrule (1) may be different for different registries, types of applications, classes of persons or circumstances.

[en. B.C. Reg. 236/2022, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Application of other rules

Nov 25/22

(3) Rule 8-1 (15) (a) and (d), (19) and (20) does not apply to an application record that is transmitted electronically.

[en. B.C. Reg. 236/2022, Sch. 1.]

PART 24 - Transition

Rule 24-1 – Transitional Pleadings

Definitions

(1) In this Part:

"address for delivery", "appearance", "requisition", "statement of claim", "statement of defence" and "writ of summons" have the same meanings as they had in the former Supreme Court Rules; "transitional proceeding" means a proceeding that was started before July 1, 2010.

These rules apply to transitional proceedings

(2) A transitional proceeding is deemed to be a proceeding started under these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Pleadings deemed to be a notice of civil claim

- (3) If the person who started a transitional proceeding did so by filing a writ of summons or a writ of summons and statement of claim,
 - (a) the person is deemed to be the plaintiff in the proceeding, and
 - (b) the writ of summons is, or the writ of summons and statement of claim collectively are, deemed to be the notice of civil claim in the proceeding.

Requisition deemed to be a notice of civil claim

- (4) If the person who started a transitional proceeding did so by filing a requisition,
 - (a) the person is deemed to be the plaintiff in the proceeding, and
 - (b) the requisition is deemed to be the notice of civil claim in the proceeding.

Petition

- (5) If the person who started a transitional proceeding did so by filing a petition,
 - (a) the person is deemed to be the petitioner in the proceeding, and
 - (b) the petition is deemed to be the petition in the proceeding.

Appearance and statement of defence deemed to be a response to civil claim

- (6) If a person filed, in a transitional proceeding referred to in subrule (3) or (4), an appearance with or without a statement of defence, statement of defence to counterclaim or statement of defence to third party notice, as the case may be,
 - (a) the person is deemed to be a defendant, defendant by way of counterclaim or third party, as the case may be, in the proceeding, and

(b) the appearance is, or, if the person filed both an appearance and a statement of defence, statement of defence to counterclaim or statement of defence to third party notice, as the case may be, the filed documents collectively are, deemed to be a response to civil claim, response to counterclaim or response to third party notice, as the case may be, in the proceeding.

Appearance deemed to be a response to petition

- (7) If a person filed, in a transitional proceeding referred to in subrule (5), an appearance,
 - (a) the person is deemed to be a petition respondent, within the meaning of Rule 16-1, in the proceeding, and
 - (b) the appearance is deemed to be a response to petition in the proceeding.

Other pleadings

(8) If a person filed, in a transitional proceeding, a counterclaim, third party notice or reply, that document is deemed to be a pleading in the proceeding.

Unserved writ of summons

(9) Unless the court otherwise orders, if, before July 1, 2010, a person filed a writ of summons, with or without a statement of claim, and that document has not, or those documents have not, been served on a person named as a defendant in the transitional proceeding started by that filing, Rule 3-2 applies to the filed document or documents.

Demand for amendment

(10) A party to a proceeding referred to in this rule may, by demand in Form 122, demand that a document that is deemed under this rule to be a pleading, petition or response to petition be amended by the party who filed it to make it accord with these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Party must amend

(11) If a demand is served under subrule (10), the party on whom the demand is served must, within 21 days after service, amend the deemed pleading, petition or response to petition to make it accord with these Supreme Court Civil Rules, and that amendment does not constitute an amendment for the purposes of Rule 6-1 (1) (a).

Failure to amend

(12) If a demand is served under subrule (10) of this rule and the party on whom the demand is served does not make the amendments required under subrule (11) within the period referred to in that subrule, the demanding party may apply to the court for an order to strike the deemed pleading, petition or response to petition of the party on whom the demand is served.

Address for service

(13) For the purposes of Rule 4-1 of these Supreme Court Civil Rules, until a new address for service is provided for a party to a proceeding referred to in this rule, the party is deemed to have, as an address for service in the proceeding, that party's address for delivery under the former Supreme Court Rules.

Step in ongoing proceeding

(14) If a step in a proceeding is taken before July 1, 2010, the former Supreme Court Rules apply to any right or obligation arising out of or relating to that step if and to the extent that that right or obligation is to have effect before September 1, 2010.

Trial management conference

- (15) If the trial of a transitional proceeding is scheduled to begin before October 1, 2010,
 - (a) a trial management conference may be held in the transitional proceeding at any time, or
 - (b) if a trial management conference was not required to be held in relation to the transitional proceeding under the former Supreme Court Rules, the trial may proceed without a trial management conference.

Court may decide

(16) If there is any dispute in relation to the procedure to be applied to or followed in a proceeding referred to in this rule, any party may seek directions.

PART 25 – Estates

Rule 25-1 – Definitions

(ADD)**Definitions**

31/14

(1) In this Part:

"affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant" means an affidavit referred to in Rule 25-

"affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing" means an affidavit referred to in Rule 25-

"alternate executor" means a person who, under the terms of a will, is to become an executor if the person named in the will as executor is unable or unwilling to act or continue to act in that capacity:

"authorization to obtain estate information" means an authorization to obtain estate information issued under Rule 25-4 (1) (a);

"authorization to obtain resealing information" means an authorization to obtain resealing information issued under Rule 25-7 (1) (a);

"citor" means a person who serves a citation under Rule 25-11 (1);

"deliver", in relation to a person, means provide to the person by

- personal delivery, (a)
- ordinary mail to the person's residential or postal address, or (b)
- (c) e-mail, fax or other electronic means to the address provided by the person for that

"disputant" means a person who files a notice of dispute under Rule 25-10 (1);

"estate grant" means

- (a) a grant of probate, whether the grant is made for general, special or limited
- a grant of administration, whether the grant is made for general, special or limited (b) purposes, or
- an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration; (c)

"executor" means

- (a) a person named in a will as an executor, or
- if 2 or more persons are named in a will as an executor, each of those co-executors, (b) unless that person has renounced executorship;

"physical will" means a written will that is not in electronic form;

Dec 01/21

(ADD)

01/21

Dec

"renounce executorship" has the meaning set out in subrule (4) of this rule;

"solemn form" has the meaning set out in subrule (5) of this rule;

"submission for estate grant" means a submission for estate grant in Form P2;

"submission for resealing" means a submission for resealing in Form P21;

"subscribing witness" includes a witness who subscribes a will while in the electronic presence of the will-maker:

"testamentary document" means a document that does one or both of the following:

- makes or purports to make a testamentary disposition other than
 - a designation under Part 5 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act, or

(ADD)

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (ii) a designation of a beneficiary under Part 3 or 4 of the *Insurance Act*,
- (b) appoints or purports to appoint an executor of the estate of the maker of the document,

and, without limiting this, includes a will;

(ADD) Dec 01/21 "third-party electronic repository" means an electronic repository that is

- (a) used to store an electronic will, and
- (b) maintained by a person other than the will-maker;

"wills notice" means a notice filed under section 73 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act with the chief executive officer under the Vital Statistics Act.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 250/2021.]

(ADD)Interpretation

Mar 31/14

(2) The definitions and interpretation sections of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* apply to this Part unless the context otherwise requires.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)When delivery occurs under this Part Mar

31/14

- (3) Delivery of a document under this Part occurs as follows:
 - (a) subject to Rule 25-2 (5) (a), if the document is sent for delivery to a person by ordinary mail, the document is deemed to be delivered one week later on the same day of the week as the day of mailing or, if that deemed day of delivery is a Saturday or holiday, on the next day that is not a Saturday or holiday;
 - (b) subject to Rule 25-2 (5) (b), (6) and (7), if the document is transmitted for delivery to a person by e-mail, fax or other electronic means to the e-mail, fax or other electronic address provided by the person for that purpose,
 - (i) if the document is transmitted before 4 p.m. on a day that is not a Saturday or holiday, the document is deemed to be delivered on the day of transmission, or
 - (ii) if the document is transmitted on a Saturday or holiday, or after 4 p.m. on any other day, the document is deemed to be delivered on the next day that is not a Saturday or holiday.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Renunciation of executorship

Mar 31/14

- (4) An executor renounces executorship
 - (a) in a circumstance set out in paragraph (a) or (b) of Rule 25-11 (5), or
 - (b) when a notice of renunciation in Form P17 from the executor is filed
 - (i) with documents filed under Rule 25-3 (2) in relation to the will in which the executor was named as an executor, or
 - (ii) in the proceeding in which the documents referred to in subparagraph (i) were filed.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Solemn form

Mar 31/14 (5) A will is proved in solemn form when, after a trial or hearing, the court pronounces for the force and validity of the will in solemn form of law.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Parties and parties of record**

31/14

(6) Unless a contrary intention appears in this Part or in an order under Rule 25-14 (8) (b), a reference to a party or party of record in a rule of these Supreme Court Civil Rules is, for the purposes of applying that rule to a proceeding under this Part, deemed to be a reference to a person who has filed a document in the proceeding.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Electronic wills – originals and digital reproductions

01/21

- (7) For the purposes of this Part,
 - (a) an electronic will is deemed to be in its original electronic form if the will is in the electronic form in which it was first saved after being signed, and
 - (b) a document is a digital reproduction of an electronic will if the will is in an electronic form other than its original electronic form.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

Rule 25-2 – Notice Must Be Provided

(SUB)Applications for estate grant or resealing

Dec 01/21

- (1) Unless the court otherwise orders, a person intending to apply for either of the following must comply with the requirements of this rule:
 - (a) an estate grant;
 - (b) the resealing of a foreign grant in relation to the estate of a deceased.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)Notice of proposed application in relation to estate Dec

- (1.1) A person intending to bring an application referred to in subrule (1) must
 - (a) deliver the following documents to the persons referred to in subrule (2):
 - (i) a notice of proposed application in relation to estate in Form P1;
 - (ii) if the intended applicant intends to apply for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed, a copy of the will in relation to which the application is to be made;
 - (iii) if the intended applicant intends to apply for the resealing of a foreign grant or for an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed, a copy of the foreign grant and, if a copy of the will in relation to which the foreign grant was issued is not attached to the foreign grant, a copy of the will;
 - (iv) if the intended applicant intends to apply for an ancillary grant of administration without will annexed, a copy of the foreign grant, and

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

(b) if the intended applicant is required to deliver a copy of a will under paragraph (a) (i) or (ii) and the will is an electronic will, the recipient of the notice is entitled to the will within 7 days after delivering a demand for the will in its original electronic form in Form P46.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

$^{(ADD)}$ Recipient of notice entitled to will $^{Dec}_{01/21}$ in original electronic form

- (1.2) A recipient of a notice described in subrule (1.1) (a) (i) is entitled to either
 - (a) receive the will in its original electronic form, or
 - (b) receive access to the will in its original electronic form, if the original electronic will is stored only at a secure online location.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)Demand for will in original electronic form

Dec 01/21

(1.3) A notice recipient's right to the will or right to access under subrule (1.2) may be exercised by delivering a demand for the will in its original electronic form in Form P46.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)Provision of will in original electronic form

Dec 01/21

(1.4) An applicant must provide the will in its original electronic form or provide access to the will in its original electronic form within 7 days of receiving a demand in Form P46.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)Persons to whom documents must be delivered

Mar 31/14

- (2) The documents referred to in subrule (1) must be delivered to the following persons:
 - (a) if the deceased left a will, each of the following who is not a person by whom or on whose behalf the documents referred to in subrule (1) are to be delivered (a person by whom or on whose behalf the documents referred to in subrule (1) are to be delivered is, in this subrule, called an "intended applicant"):
 - (i) each person
 - (A) who is named in the will as executor or alternate executor,
 - (B) whose right to make an application for an estate grant in relation to the deceased is prior to or equal to the intended applicant's right to make that application, and
 - (C) who is alive at the time of the deceased's death;
 - (ii) each beneficiary under the will who is not referred to in subparagraph (i) of this paragraph;
 - (iii) each person

(SUB) Jul 01/19

- (A) who, under Division 1 of Part 3 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, would have been an intestate successor if the deceased did not leave a will and the estate exceeded the preferential share of the spouse as described in section 21 (2) to (5) of that Act, and
- (B) who is not referred to in subparagraph (i) or (ii) of this paragraph;

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

(ADD) Apr 03/23

- (iv) the Attorney General, if the government is entitled, under section 3 of the *Escheat Act*, to all or part of the estate of the deceased.
- (b) if the deceased did not leave a will,

either

(i)

(SUB) Oct 03/22

- - (A) each person who, under Division 1 of Part 3 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, is an intestate successor of the deceased or would have been an intestate successor if the estate exceeded the preferential share of the spouse as described in section 21 (2) to (5) of that Act, or
 - (B) if there is no such person, the Attorney General, and

(AM) Oct 03/22

- (ii) each creditor of the deceased whose claim exceeds \$10 000 and who is not referred to in subparagraph (i) (A) of this paragraph;
- (c) if the deceased was a Nisga'a citizen, the Nisga'a Lisims government;
- (d) if the deceased was a member of a treaty first nation, the treaty first nation;
- (e) any other person who, by court order under subrule (14) (a), is to receive notice;
- (f) any person not referred to in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of this subrule who has served a citation on the intended applicant in relation to the deceased.

 [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 115/2019; 148/2022; 87/2023.]

(ADD)When application may be made Dec

Dec 01/21

(2.1) A person may not make an application referred to in subrule (1) until at least 21 days after the date on which the person delivers the notice and other applicable materials referred to in subrule (1.1).

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)Form of notice of application

Mar 31/14

- (3) A notice under subrule (1) must be in Form P1, must be signed by the intended applicant or the intended applicant's lawyer and must contain the following:
 - (a) the name, last residential address and date of death of the deceased;
 - (b) subject to subrule (4), the name and mailing address of the intended applicant and an address for service for the intended applicant, which address for service must be an accessible address that complies with Rule 4-1 (1);
 - (c) if the intended applicant is an individual, the city and country in which the intended applicant ordinarily lives;
 - (d) the estate grant or resealing for which the intended applicant intends to apply;
 - (e) the registry of the court where the submission for estate grant or submission for resealing will be filed;
 - (f) the following statements in relation to each person to whom the notice is delivered:
 - (i) that the person has a right to oppose,
 - (A) in the case of a notice provided in relation to an application for an estate grant, the issuance to the intended applicant of either or both of an authorization to obtain estate information and an estate grant, or
 - (B) in the case of a notice provided in relation to an application for a resealing of a foreign grant, either or both of the issuance of an authorization to obtain resealing information and the resealing of the foreign grant;

- (ii) that the person may or may not be entitled to claim against the estate for relief, including a claim under
 - (A) the Family Law Act, or
 - (B) Division 6 of Part 4 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act;
- (iii) that, if the person chooses to take a step referred to in subparagraph (i) or (ii) of this paragraph, the person must do so within the time limited by any relevant rule of court or other enactment;
- (iv) that the person may consult with that person's own lawyer concerning the person's interest in, or rights against, the estate;
- (v) in the case of an application for a grant of administration, that the person may apply for an order requiring the intended applicant to provide security unless the intended applicant is the Public Guardian and Trustee;
- (g) the following statements:
 - (i) that an estate grant may issue or a foreign grant may be resealed, as the case may be, without further notice, on any date that is at least 21 days after the date on which the notice is delivered, or on any earlier date ordered by the court;
 - (ii) if an authorization to obtain estate information issues to the intended applicant, the intended applicant may apply for an estate grant without further notice, and if an authorization to obtain resealing information issues to the intended applicant, the intended applicant may apply for the resealing of the foreign grant without further notice;
 - (iii) that if an estate grant issues to the intended applicant as a result of the application, the intended applicant must provide, if there is a will, to the beneficiaries or, if there is no will, to intestate successors of the deceased, an accounting as to how the estate was administered and how the estate assets were distributed, and
 - (iv) that if a foreign grant is resealed as a result of the application, the intended applicant must provide, if there is a will, to the beneficiaries or, if there is no will, to intestate successors of the deceased, an accounting as to how the estate comprising the assets to which the resealed grant applies was administered and how those assets were distributed;
- (h) if the will to which the notice relates does not contain a visible signature, the reasons why there is no visible signature.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 250/2021.]

(ADD) Dec 01/21

(ADD) Multiple intended applicants

31/14

- (4) If an application referred to in subrule (1) is to be brought by 2 or more intended applicants, those intended applicants
 - (a) must adopt a single address for service that is applicable to them all, which address for service must be an accessible address that complies with Rule 4-1 (1), and
 - (b) may adopt additional addresses for service under Rule 4-1 (2) provided that each additional address for service is applicable to all of the applicants.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**When delivery occurs under this rule**

31/14

(5) Delivery of a document under this rule occurs as follows:

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

- (a) if the document is sent for delivery to a person by ordinary mail to the person's mailing address, the document is deemed to be delivered on the date it is mailed;
- subject to subrules (6) and (7) of this rule, if the document is transmitted for (b) delivery to a person by e-mail, fax or other electronic means to the e-mail, fax or other electronic address provided by the person for that purpose, the document is deemed to be delivered on the date it is transmitted.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)No delivery by e-mail, fax or other electronic means without acknowledgement Mar

31/14

(6) Sending a document referred to in subrule (1) to a person by e-mail, fax or other electronic means does not constitute delivery of the document to that person unless that person provides a written acknowledgement of receipt.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD) If delivery is effected by e-mail, fax or other electronic means

31/14

- **(7)** If documents referred to in subrule (1) are delivered by e-mail, fax or other electronic means, the intended applicant must swear, in an affidavit in Form P9, that
 - the intended recipient of the documents has, in writing, acknowledged receipt of those documents, and
 - (b) the intended applicant will retain a copy of that acknowledgement until the personal representative of the deceased is discharged and, until then, will produce that acknowledgement promptly after being requested to do so by the registrar. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)If person to whom notice is to be delivered is a minor Mar 31/14

- (8) If a person to whom documents are to be delivered under subrule (1) is a minor, the intended applicant must deliver those documents
 - (a) as follows:
 - (i) if the applicant knows that the minor resides with all of the minor's parents, to those parents;
 - (ii) if subparagraph (i) does not apply but the applicant knows that a parent or guardian has responsibility for financial decisions relating to the minor, to that parent or guardian;
 - (iii) if neither subparagraph (i) nor subparagraph (ii) applies but the applicant knows of one or more addresses at which the minor resides, to the minor at each of those addresses, and
 - (b) subject to subrule (9), to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)If testamentary trust exists Mar

- (9) An intended applicant need not deliver documents under subrule (8) (b) to the Public Guardian and Trustee if
 - the intended applicant is an executor or alternate executor of the deceased's estate,
 - the minor is not a spouse or child of the deceased, and (b)

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (c) the deceased's will
 - (i) creates a trust for the interest of the minor in the estate, and
 - (ii) appoints a trustee for that trust. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

$^{(\text{SUB})}$ If person to whom notice is to be delivered $^{\text{Dec}}_{01/21}$ is a mentally incompetent person

- (10) Subrule (11) applies if, in respect of a person to whom documents are to be delivered under subrule (1),
 - (a) one of the following is appointed for the person:
 - (i) a committee as defined in the *Patients Property Act*;
 - (ii) a person outside British Columbia acting in a similar capacity as a committee under the *Patients Property Act*, or
 - (b) the person is or may be mentally incompetent and no committee or person has been appointed as described in paragraph (a).

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)How notice may be delivered to a mentally incompetent person Mar 31/14

- (11) If subrule (10) applies to a person to whom documents are to be delivered under subrule (1), the intended applicant must deliver the documents to the person as follows:
 - (a) if subrule (10) (a) (i) applies, by delivering the documents to
 - (i) the committee referred to in that subparagraph, and
 - (ii) the Public Guardian and Trustee;
 - (b) if subrule (10) (a) (ii) applies, by delivering the documents to
 - (i) the equivalent person referred to in that subparagraph, and
 - (ii) the Public Guardian and Trustee;
 - (c) if subrule (10) (b) applies, by delivering the documents to the Public Guardian and Trustee in addition to delivering those documents to the person.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

$\ensuremath{^{\text{(ADD)}}}\xspace$ lf person to whom notice is to be delivered is dead $_{\ensuremath{\text{Mar}}}\xspace$

31/14

- (12) If a person to whom documents are to be delivered under subrule (1) is dead, the intended applicant must
 - (a) deliver those documents to the personal representative of the person, if known, or
 - (b) if the intended applicant does not know of a personal representative of the person, apply to the court under Rule 8-4 for directions and, unless the court dispenses with notice, deliver those documents in accordance with the order obtained on that application.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Notice to Public Guardian and Trustee

- (13) At the time that a notice is delivered to the Public Guardian and Trustee under subrule (8) or (11), the intended applicant must also deliver to the Public Guardian and Trustee a notice, in writing, setting out
 - (a) the name of every other person to whom notice is required to be delivered under subrule (8) or (11), and

- (b) the most recent of each of the following that is known to the intended applicant about each of those persons:
 - (i) the person's residential address, inside or outside British Columbia;
 - (ii) the person's postal address, inside or outside British Columbia;
 - (iii) the person's e-mail address;
 - (iv) the person's fax number.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Court may alter or dispense with notice Mar

31/14

- (14) On application, the court may do one or both of the following to avoid any prejudice that would otherwise result to the intended applicant, to another person or to the estate:
 - (a) vary the classes of persons to whom documents referred to in subrule (1) are to be delivered;
 - (b) dispense with the requirement under subrule (1), (8) or (11) to deliver documents to one or more persons other than the Public Guardian and Trustee.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Public Guardian and Trustee not required to deliver notice under subrule (1) Mar 31/14

- (15) If the intended applicant is the Public Guardian and Trustee, he or she is not required to deliver documents under subrule (1) to any person referred to in subrule (2) except that the Public Guardian and Trustee must deliver the documents to the following:
 - (a) if the deceased left a will, each spouse or child of the deceased;
 - (b) if the deceased was a Nisga'a citizen, the Nisga'a Lisims government or, if the deceased was a member of a treaty first nation, the treaty first nation.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)If application made for solemn form grant Mar 31/14

- (16) A person may file the materials required for an application under this Part without first providing notice under this rule to a person referred to in subrule (2) if
 - (a) the application is for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed in relation to a will that has been proved in solemn form, and
 - (b) the person referred to in subrule (2) was served with the petition or notice of application under which proof of the will in solemn form was sought.

 [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 25-3 – Application for Estate Grant

How to Apply

(ADD)**Definition**

Mar 31/14

(1) In this rule, "will" means,

- (a) in relation to an application for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed, the testamentary document in relation to which the application was brought, or
- (b) in relation to an application for an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed, the testamentary document in relation to which the foreign grant was issued.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Documents to be filed in an application

Mar 31/14

- (2) A person wishing to apply for an estate grant must, after delivering in accordance with Rule 25-2 the documents that were required to be delivered under that rule, file the following documents:
 - (a) a submission for estate grant in Form P2;
 - (b) an affidavit from the applicant, or, if there are 2 or more applicants, from at least one of the applicants, as follows:
 - (i) if the application is for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed,
 - (A) in Form P3 if subrule (6) of this rule applies, or
 - (B) in Form P4 if subrule (6) of this rule does not apply;
 - (ii) if the application is for a grant of administration without will annexed, in Form P5;
 - (iii) if the application is for an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed, in Form P6;
 - (iv) if the application is for an ancillary grant of administration without will annexed, in Form P7;
 - (c) if there are 2 or more applicants, an affidavit in Form P8 from each of the applicants who has not sworn an affidavit referred to in paragraph (b);
 - (d) two copies of a certificate from the chief executive officer under the *Vital Statistics*Act indicating the results of a search for a wills notice filed by or on behalf of the deceased;
 - (e) any affidavit or material required by any of subrules (15) to (24) of this rule;
 - one or more affidavits, in Form P9, that, collectively, confirm that the documents referred to in Rule 25-2 were delivered to all of the persons to whom, under that rule, the documents were required to be delivered;
 - (g) in accordance with subrule (7) of this rule, from the applicant, or, if there is more than one applicant, from at least one of the applicants, an affidavit of assets and liabilities, which affidavit must be
 - (i) subject to subparagraph (ii) of this paragraph, an affidavit of assets and liabilities for domiciled estate grant in Form P10, or
 - (ii) if subrule (8) applies, an affidavit of assets and liabilities for domiciled estate grant in Form P10 or an affidavit of assets and liabilities for non-domiciled estate grant in Form P11;
 - (h) in accordance with subrule (10), for each of the documents that are filed with the submission for estate grant and that are not written in the English language, an affidavit of translator in Form P12;
 - (i) if one or more of the executors has renounced executorship, whichever of the following that applies:
 - (i) if the executor has provided to the applicant a notice of renunciation in Form P17, that notice of renunciation;

- (ii) if the executor is deemed under Rule 25-11 to have renounced executorship, an affidavit of deemed renunciation in Form P34 prepared by the citor under Rule 25-11 (7) and any supporting affidavits of service;
- (j) any document required under subrule (3).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)**Filing of wills**Mar

Mar 31/14

(3) Subject to subrule (5), the person wishing to apply for an estate grant must file with the documents referred to in subrule (2) (a) to (j) the following:

(SUB) Dec 01/21

- (a) if the application will be for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed, and if the will related to the application is a physical will, the following:
 - (i) in the case of a physical will that was made when witnesses were present,
 - (A) subject to clause (B), the originally signed version of the will,
 - (B) if the originally signed version of the will does not exist or is not available, a physical copy or a copy saved in Portable Document Format (PDF), and
 - (C) 2 additional copies of the will;
 - (ii) in the case of a physical will that was signed in counterparts when witnesses were electronically present,
 - (A) subject to clause (B), the originals of each of the signed and witnessed counterparts,
 - (B) if one of the originals referred to in clause (A) does not exist or is not available, a copy of the counterpart, and
 - (C) 2 copies of the counterparts signed by the will-maker and 2 copies of the last page of each counterpart that was signed by the witnesses;
 - (iii) if an order has been made that affects the validity or content of the will and that order has not yet been filed in the proceeding within which the estate grant is being sought, a copy of that order;
- (a.1) if the application will be for a grant of probate or grant of administration with will annexed and the will related to the application is an electronic will, the following:
 - (i) subject to subparagraphs (ii) to (iv), the signed will in its original electronic form, if that original exists or, if that original does not exist or is not available, a digital reproduction or physical copy of the will;
 - (ii) if the original electronic form of a will was saved in PDF, the will in that format:
 - (iii) if the original electronic will was not first saved in PDF,
 - (A) a physical copy, or a copy saved in PDF,
 - (B) an affidavit in Form P4, and
 - (C) an affidavit in Form P45;
 - (iv) in the case of an electronic will that is maintained in a third-party electronic repository,
 - (A) a physical copy, or a copy saved in PDF,
 - (B) an affidavit in Form P4,
 - (C) an affidavit in Form P45, and
 - (D) information about how the third-party electronic repository can be accessed for the purpose of viewing the will;

(ADD) Dec 01/21

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Page 265 of 611

- (v) if an order has been made that affects the validity or content of the electronic will and that order has not yet been filed in the proceeding within which the estate grant is being sought, a copy of that order;
- (b) if a grant of probate or equivalent, or a grant of administration with will annexed or equivalent, was issued in a jurisdiction that has not been prescribed for the purposes of section 138 of the *Wills*, *Estates and Succession Act* and the application under this Part will be for an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed, the following:
 - (i) a copy of the foreign grant that has been certified by the issuing court;
 - (ii) if the will is not attached to the foreign grant, a copy of the will that has been certified by the issuing court;
- (c) if a grant of administration without will annexed, or equivalent, was issued in a jurisdiction that has not been prescribed for the purposes of section 138 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* and the application will be for an ancillary grant of administration without will annexed, a copy of the foreign grant certified by the court out of which the grant of administration without will annexed, or equivalent, was issued.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 115/2019; 250/2021.]

(ADD) Multiple applicants

Mar 31/14

- (4) If an application for an estate grant is brought by 2 or more applicants, those applicants
 - (a) must adopt a single address for service that is applicable to them all, which address for service must be an accessible address that complies with Rule 4-1 (1), and
 - (b) may adopt additional addresses for service under Rule 4-1 (2) provided that each additional address for service is applicable to all of the applicants.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Documents to be separate

Mar 31/14 (AM) Dec

01/21

(5) None of the documents referred to in a paragraph of subrule (2) or (3) may be attached to any document referred to in any other paragraph of subrule (2) or (3), and, without limiting this, an originally signed version of a physical will, when submitted for filing in accordance with subrule (3) (a), must not be attached to any other document.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)Form of affidavit for application for grant of probate or grant of administration with will annexed Mar 31/14

- (6) The affidavit required of an applicant under subrule (2) (b) in relation to an application for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed may be in Form P3 if
 - (a) the applicant swearing the affidavit is named in the will as an executor or alternate executor or is a person referred to in section 131 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*,
 - (b) the applicant swearing the affidavit is satisfied that
 - a diligent search for a testamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place that could reasonably be considered to be a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, without limitation, in all places where the deceased usually kept his or her documents, and

- (ii) no testamentary document that is dated later than the date of the will has been found.
- (c) the applicant swearing the affidavit believes that the will is the last will of the deceased that deals with property in British Columbia,
- the will complies with the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the Wills, Estates (d) and Succession Act, and the originally signed version of the will is being filed with the submission for estate grant.
- a certificate has been obtained from the chief executive officer under the Vital (e) Statistics Act indicating the results of a search for a wills notice filed by or on behalf of the deceased, and the certificate indicates that no wills notice has been filed by or on behalf of the deceased
 - in relation to a testamentary document that is dated later than the date of the will, or
 - at all. (ii)
- (f) the applicant is not requesting that the will be recognized as a military will executed in accordance with the requirements of section 38 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act,
- (g) the applicant swearing the affidavit is not aware of there being any issues respecting execution of the will,
- (h) the applicant swearing the affidavit is not aware of there being any interlineations, erasures or obliterations in, or other alterations to, the will,
- the applicant swearing the affidavit is not aware of there being any issues arising (i) from the appearance of the will,
- any documents referred to in the will are attached to the will, and (i)
- the applicant swearing the affidavit is not aware of there being any grant of probate (k) or administration, or equivalent, having been issued, in relation to the deceased, in British Columbia or in any other jurisdiction.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 250/2021.]

(ADD)Filing of affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant Mar

31/14

(SUB)

01/21

Dec

(7) The affidavit required under subrule (2) (g) may be filed concurrently with or subsequent to the filing of the other documents referred to in subrules (2) and (3). [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Affidavit of assets and liabilities for non-domiciled estate grant Mar

31/14

- (8) The applicant for an estate grant may file an affidavit of assets and liabilities for nondomiciled estate grant in Form P11 if
 - the deceased was not domiciled or ordinarily resident in British Columbia at the time of death.
 - (b) all property of the deceased situated outside British Columbia, if any, has been, is being or will be
 - (i) administered by a foreign personal representative, or
 - otherwise administered under the law of a foreign jurisdiction. (ii) [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant Mar

31/14

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Page 267 of 611

- (9) Whether or not an estate grant has been issued in response to an application for an estate grant, if the applicant determines, after filing the affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant required in relation to the application, that
 - (a) there are assets or liabilities of the estate that are not referred to in that affidavit or in an affidavit filed under this subrule, or
 - (b) information contained in the affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant or in a supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant filed under this subrule is incorrect or incomplete,

the applicant must, promptly after making that determination,

- (c) file a supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for domiciled estate grant in Form P14 or, if the applicant has filed in the proceeding an affidavit of assets and liabilities for non-domiciled estate grant in Form P11, a supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for non-domiciled estate grant in Form P15, and
- (d) pay all fees payable in relation to that filing, including all applicable probate fees. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Filing of affidavit of translator

Mar 31/14

(10) An affidavit of translator in Form P12 must be filed concurrently with any document referred to in subrule (2) or (3) that is the subject of a translation.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD) Delivery to Public Guardian and Trustee

Mar 31/14

(11) Subject to subrule (12) of this rule, if, under Rule 25-2, the applicant was required to deliver to the Public Guardian and Trustee the documents referred to in Rule 25-2 (1), the applicant must, promptly after filing a document referred to in subrule (2) or (9) of this rule, deliver a copy of that filed document to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD) Exceptions to delivery to Public Guardian and Trustee

31/14

- (12) An applicant referred to in subrule (11) need not, under that subrule, deliver to the Public Guardian and Trustee the following:
 - (a) a copy of any document filed under subrule (3) if a copy of that document was delivered to the Public Guardian and Trustee under Rule 25-2;
 - (b) the exhibits to the affidavits of delivery filed under subrule (2) (f) of this rule;
 - (c) any affidavit of delivery filed under subrule (2) (f) that relates solely to delivery of the notice of proposed application to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Sealing of court file

Mar 31/14 (13) If the Public Guardian and Trustee is the applicant in an application brought under this rule, the Public Guardian and Trustee may, by filing a direction in Form P13, direct that the court file respecting the application and any related material specified by the Public Guardian and Trustee be sealed, and, in that event, the registrar must seal the court file and related material in the manner, to the extent and for the period set out in section 125 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act.*

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Applications – Search for Will

(SUB) Search for will

Jui 01/19

(ADD)

01/21

Dec

- (14) The applicant in an application brought under this rule must swear or affirm in the affidavit required under subrule (2) (b) that the applicant is satisfied that
 - (a) a diligent search for a testamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place that could reasonably be considered to be a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, without limitation,
 - (i) in all places where the deceased usually kept his or her documents,
 - (i.1) on electronic devices or in third-party electronic repositories used by the deceased,
 - (ii) at a location specified in the certificate referred to in subrule (2) (d), and
 - (iii) if that certificate indicates that the testamentary document is kept by a law firm and the law firm is no longer at the location specified in the certificate and cannot otherwise be located, with the Law Society of British Columbia, and
 - (b) as a result of that search,
 - (i) if the application is for a grant of probate, a grant of administration with will annexed, an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed, one of the following:
 - (A) no testamentary document of the deceased that is dated later than the date of the will has been found;
 - (B) one or more testamentary documents of the deceased dated later than the date of the will have been found, but, for the reasons stated in the affidavit, the applicant believes that those testamentary documents are invalid or otherwise not relevant to the application, or
 - (ii) if the application is for a grant of administration without will annexed, one of the following:
 - (A) no testamentary document of the deceased has been found;
 - (B) one or more testamentary documents of the deceased have been found, but, for the reasons stated in the affidavit, the applicant believes that those testamentary documents are invalid or otherwise not relevant to the application.

[en. B.C. Regs. 115/2019; 250/2021.]

(ADD)Copy must be attached

01/15

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

(14.1) If, under subrule (14) (a) (ii) or (b) (ii), the applicant has found one or more testamentary documents that the applicant believes are invalid or otherwise not relevant to the application, a copy of those testamentary documents must be attached as an exhibit to the affidavit.

[en. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

Applications Respecting Wills – Execution of Will

(ADD)Proof of proper execution of will by affidavit of subscribing witness Mar 31/14

- (15) If an application is brought under this rule for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed and
 - (a) the will contains no attestation clause, or
 - (b) the will contains an attestation clause but that clause is not sufficient to show that the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* relating to the execution of wills, or the corresponding requirements of any law to which reference may be made under section 80 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, were met when the will was signed,

the applicant must do one of the following unless the will has been proved in solemn form:

- (c) file with the submission for estate grant an affidavit from at least one of the subscribing witnesses that the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the *Wills*, *Estates and Succession Act* relating to the execution of wills, or the corresponding requirements of any law to which reference may be made under section 80 of the *Wills*, *Estates and Succession Act*, were met when the will was signed;
- (d) if an affidavit from a subscribing witness as required by paragraph (c) cannot be obtained, comply with subrule (16).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

$\mbox{\scriptsize (ADD)}\mbox{\bf Evidence}$ of proper execution of will where subscribing witness unavailable $_{\mbox{\scriptsize Mar}}$

- (16) If an affidavit from a subscribing witness as required by subrule (15) (c) cannot be obtained.
 - (a) the applicant must, subject to paragraphs (b) and (c) of this subrule,
 - (i) swear or affirm in the affidavit referred to in subrule (2) (b) (i) (B) that the affidavit from a subscribing witness required by subrule (15) cannot be obtained, and
 - (ii) file an affidavit by any other person present when the will was signed that the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* relating to the execution of wills, or the corresponding requirements of any law to which reference may be made under section 80 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, were met,
 - (b) if it is not possible to obtain an affidavit referred to in paragraph (a) (ii) of this subrule, the applicant must, subject to paragraph (c),
 - (i) swear or affirm in the affidavit referred to in subrule (2) (b) (i) (B) that neither an affidavit from a subscribing witness required by subrule (15) nor an affidavit required by paragraph (a) (ii) of this subrule can be obtained, and

- (ii) file one or more affidavits, by one or more persons deposing from personal knowledge, which affidavits, collectively, provide that
 - (A) except in the case of a will signed by a person other than the will-maker in the manner referred to in subrule (18) (e), the signature of the will-maker on the will is in the handwriting of the deceased, and
 - (B) the signatures of the subscribing witnesses on the will are in the handwriting of those witnesses, or
- (c) if it is not possible to obtain an affidavit referred to in paragraph (a) (ii) of this subrule or an affidavit referred to in paragraph (b) (ii), the applicant must
 - (i) swear or affirm in the affidavit referred to in subrule (2) (b) (i) (B) that neither an affidavit from a subscribing witness required by subrule (15) nor the affidavits referred to in paragraphs (a) (ii) and (b) (ii) of this subrule can be obtained, and
 - (ii) file an affidavit, by a person deposing from personal knowledge, respecting circumstances that raise a presumption in favour of the proper execution of the will.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Proof of proper execution of privileged will by member of military force Mar

Mar 31/14

- (17) If an application is brought under this rule for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed and the applicant alleges that the will is made in a form permitted by section 38 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* for a will by
 - (a) a member of the Canadian Forces while on active service under the *National Defence Act* (Canada), or
 - (b) a member of a naval, land or air force of any member of the British Commonwealth of Nations or any ally of Canada while on active service,

the applicant must, unless the will has been proved in solemn form, provide evidence in the affidavit referred to in subrule (2) (b) (i) (B) that

- (c) the will-maker was authorized to make a will in that form at the time the will was made, and
- (d) the will was executed in accordance with the requirements of section 38 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act.*

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Proof of will-maker's knowledge of will**Mar 31/14

- (18) If an application is brought under this rule for a grant of probate, a grant of administration with will annexed, an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed and, at the time of the making of the will, the will-maker
 - (a) was blind,
 - (b) was illiterate,
 - (c) did not fully understand the language in which the will was written,
 - (d) signed the will by means of a mark instead of handwritten words, or
 - (e) directed another person to sign the will on behalf of the will-maker in the will-maker's presence,

the applicant must, unless the will has been proved in solemn form,

- (f) indicate in the affidavit referred to in subrule (2) (b) (i) (B) which of paragraphs (a) to (e) of this subrule apply, and
- (g) if the attestation clause of the will does not indicate that the circumstances referred to in the paragraphs identified under paragraph (f) of this subrule applied to the will-maker at the time of the signing of the will, file one or more affidavits, by any person deposing from personal knowledge, respecting circumstances that raise a presumption that
 - (i) the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act,* or the corresponding requirements of any law to which reference may be made under section 80 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act,* were met, and
 - (ii) the will-maker had knowledge of the contents of the will. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)International Wills Convention Mar

31/14

(19) If an application is brought under this rule for a grant of probate, a grant of administration with will annexed, an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed in respect of a will that is in the form required by the Convention Providing a Uniform Law on the Form of an International Will enacted as Schedule 2 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act,* the applicant is not required to provide evidence of the authenticity of the signature of the authorized person, as that term is defined in the convention.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Applications Respecting Wills – Appearance of Will

(ADD)**Alterations**

Mar 31/14

- (20) If an alteration that is not an erasure or obliteration appears in a will, the applicant must
 - (a) file an affidavit, which affidavit may but need not be in Form P16, by any person with personal knowledge of the facts, stating that the alteration was present when the will was signed, or
 - (b) file evidence that
 - (i) the alteration was made in accordance with the requirements of Divisions 1 and 4 of Part 4 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* or the corresponding requirements of any law to which reference may be made under section 80 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*,
 - (ii) the alteration was authenticated by the re-execution of the will or by the subsequent execution of a codicil,
 - (iii) the alteration
 - (A) does not substantively alter the effect of the will, and
 - (B) is in respect of form, style or numbering or is a typographical error, or
 - (iv) the will was proved in solemn form, and the order proving the will in solemn form determined that the alteration does form part of the will. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Words erased or obliterated

Mar 31/14

31/14

- (21) If words in a will have been erased or obliterated, the applicant must, unless the words are entirely effaced and cannot be ascertained on inspection,
 - (a) file an affidavit, which affidavit may but need not be in Form P16, by any person with personal knowledge of the facts, stating that the erasure or obliteration existed in the will when the will was signed, or
 - (b) file evidence that
 - (i) the erasure or obliteration was made in accordance with the requirements of Divisions 1 and 4 of Part 4 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* or the corresponding requirements of any law to which reference may be made under section 80 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*,
 - (ii) the erasure or obliteration was authenticated by the re-execution of the will or by the subsequent execution of a codicil, or
 - (iii) the will was proved in solemn form and the order proving the will in solemn form determined that the words erased or obliterated do not form part of the will.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Registrar must consider appearance of will Mar

- (22) Without limiting subrules (20) and (21), if an application is brought under this rule for a grant of probate, a grant of administration with will annexed, an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed and the appearance of the will leads the registrar to believe that
 - (a) words in the will were erased or obliterated,
 - (b) an attempt was made to revoke the will,
 - (c) a page or document was previously attached to the will but is missing,
 - (d) the will is incomplete,
 - (e) the will has been altered and the alteration is not one made by the will-maker in compliance with Divisions 1 and 4 of Part 4 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* or the corresponding requirements of any law to which reference may be made under section 80 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, or
 - (f) the will does not comply with the requirements of section 37 (1) (b) of the *Wills*, *Estates and Succession Act* or the corresponding requirements of any law to which reference may be made under section 80 of the *Wills*, *Estates and Succession Act*,

the registrar may, unless the will has been proved in solemn form, require the applicant to file one or more of the following:

- (g) any page or document that was previously attached to, or is apparently missing from, the will;
- (h) an affidavit that explains
 - (i) the circumstances that led to the deficiency that the registrar perceives in the will, and
 - (ii) the will-maker's knowledge and intentions relative to those circumstances. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Confirmation that will is unaltered

Dec 01/21 (22.1) If the electronic will filed by an applicant is alterable, the registrar may require the applicant to file an affidavit confirming that the electronic will was not altered before it was filed.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)Document referred to in will

Mar 31/14

- (23) Without limiting subrule (22), if an application is brought under this rule in respect of a will for a grant of probate, a grant of administration with will annexed, an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed, and if a reference in the will to a document raises a question as to whether the document ought to form part of the will, the registrar must require the applicant to file
 - (a) the document, or
 - (b) if the applicant is unable or unwilling to file the required document, an affidavit explaining why the document is not being filed.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Fee agreements

Jul 01/19

(23.1) Subrule (23) does not apply to a reference in a will to a document that sets out the allowance to be paid to an executor or administrator of the will.

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

(ADD)Reference to judge or master

Mar 31/14

(24) If, in relation to an application for an estate grant, there is a question under subrule (20), (21), (22) or (23) about what is or is not included in the will, the registrar must refer the application, along with any materials filed with the registrar under the applicable subrule, to a judge or master for an order resolving that question.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 25-3.1 – Amendment of Application

(ADD)When application may be amended

01/21

(1) An applicant may amend the whole or any part of an application for estate grant filed by the applicant at any time before the grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information has been issued.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)How amendments made

Dec 01/21

- (2) Unless the court otherwise orders, to amend an application under subrule (1), an applicant must
 - (a) amend the application in accordance with subrule (3),
 - (b) indicate on the amended application the date on which the original version of the application was filed,

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation

- (c) if any changes are being made to the submission for estate grant, include an affidavit swearing the information in the amended submission for estate grant is correct, and
- (d) file the amended application and affidavit. [en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)Identifying amendments

Dec 01/21

- (3) Unless the court otherwise orders, if an application is amended under this rule,
 - (a) any deleted wording must be shown as struck out, and
 - (b) any added wording must be underlined.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

Rule 25-3.2 – Withdrawal of Application

(ADD)Withdrawal of application before issuance of grant

Dec 01/21

(1) At any time before a grant is issued, an applicant may withdraw the applicant's application for estate grant by filing a notice of withdrawal in Form P44 and delivering a copy of the notice of withdrawal to every person who was entitled to notice under the original application.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

Rule 25-4 – Procedure After Filing Application Materials for Estate Grant

(ADD)**Approval by registrar of application**

31/14

- (1) Subject to subrule (2), the registrar must do the following on an application for an estate grant:
 - (a) if the application materials filed under Rule 25-3 do not include the affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant required in relation to that application, issue to the applicant an authorization to obtain estate information in Form P18, to recognize the applicant as the person to whom an estate grant will be issued once the affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant has been filed and all fees payable in relation to the application, including all probate fees, have been paid;
 - (b) subject to section 124 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, after the affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant required in relation to that application is filed with or after the filing of the other application materials filed under Rule 25-3, issue an estate grant in Form P19 once all fees payable in relation to that filing, including all applicable probate fees, have been paid.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)**Estate grant required attachments**Dec

- (1.1) An estate grant must have attached to it,
 - (a) in the case of a physical will that was made when witnesses were physically present, a copy of the originally signed version of the will,

- (b) in the case of a physical will that was signed in counterparts when witnesses were electronically present, a copy of the counterpart signed by the will-maker and a copy of the last page of each counterpart that was signed by witnesses not physically in the presence of the will-maker, or
- (c) in the case of an electronic will, a physical copy of the originally signed version of the will.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

(ADD)When registrar must refuse to approve application Mar 31/14

- (2) The registrar must not issue an authorization to obtain estate information under subrule (1) (a) of this rule or an estate grant under subrule (1) (b) unless the registrar is satisfied that
 - (a) notice of the application has been delivered in accordance with Rule 25-2,
 - (b) the application materials comply with Rule 25-3,
 - (c) without limiting paragraph (b), if the application is for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed and is supported by an affidavit in Form P3, it was appropriate for that form of affidavit to be filed in support of the application,
 - (d) if the application is for an ancillary grant of probate or administration,
 - (i) the information in the foreign grant respecting the name of the deceased and the other names by which the deceased was known exactly matches the information in the submission for estate grant respecting those names, and
 - (ii) each of the persons to whom the foreign grant was issued is an applicant in the submission for estate grant, and the names of the applicants in the submission for estate grant exactly match the names of the persons to whom the foreign grant was issued,
 - (e) if the document to be issued is an authorization to obtain estate information, the only document that remains to be filed is the affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant and the applicant requires the authorization to obtain estate information to facilitate the applicant's ability to determine the assets in the estate and the liabilities applicable to them,
 - (f) if the document to be issued is an estate grant, all fees payable in relation to the application, including all probate fees, have been paid,
 - (g) there is no notice of dispute in effect in relation to the estate, and
 - (h) there is no reason to require a hearing in relation to the application.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Application must be in relation to will**Mar 31/14

- (3) If the registrar is not satisfied that the making, revocation, alteration or revival of a testamentary document complies with the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* or with the corresponding requirements of any law to which reference may be made under section 80 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, the registrar must not issue an authorization to obtain estate information under subrule (1) (a) of this rule or an estate grant under subrule (1) (b) until
 - (a) the registrar is satisfied that the making, revocation, alteration or revival of the testamentary document complies with those requirements,

- (b) the court orders, under section 58 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, that the testamentary document is effective as a will, or
- (c) the court orders that the testamentary document is proved as a will in solemn form. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Registrar must provide notice of refusal Mar

31/14

- (4) If, under subrule (3), the registrar refuses to issue an estate grant or an authorization to obtain estate information, the registrar must provide to the applicant notice, in writing, of
 - (a) any defect in the application materials, including, without limitation, in
 - (i) the form of the application materials,
 - (ii) the information contained or not contained in the application materials, or
 - (iii) any exhibit or other document attached or not attached to, or filed or not filed with, the application materials,
 - (b) any other question or matter relating to the application that prevents the registrar from approving it, and
 - (c) any further information or material that the registrar requires in order to be satisfied in relation to a matter of which he or she must be satisfied before issuing an estate grant or an authorization to obtain estate information.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)How notice is to be provided

Mar 31/14

(5) The registrar may provide to the applicant the notice required under subrule (4) by any convenient means, including, without limitation, by sending the notice to the applicant at the mailing address, fax number or e-mail address, if any, provided as an address for service by the applicant in the submission for estate grant.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Procedure after refusal by registrar to approve application Mar

31/14

- (6) If, on an application for an estate grant, the registrar refuses to issue an estate grant or an authorization to obtain estate information, the applicant may do one or both of the following:
 - (a) file further information and material
 - (i) to correct a defect of which the applicant was informed under subrule (4) (a) or (b), or
 - (ii) required by the registrar under subrule (4) (c);
 - (b) proceed under Rule 25-9 to request an order of the court.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

(ADD)Subrules (1) to (6) applicable after filing of revised or additional material

31/14

(AM)

Jul 01/15

(7) Subrules (1) to (6) of this rule apply to a reconsideration by the registrar of an application after revised or additional material is filed under subrule (6) (a).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

$\mbox{(ADD)}\mbox{\bf Application}$ by one or more of several co-executors $_{\mbox{\scriptsize Mar}}$

31/14

(8) A grant of probate issued on an application for an estate grant brought by one or more, but not all, co-executors must reserve the right of a co-executor who does not join in the application to apply at a later time unless that co-executor has renounced executorship.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 25-5 – Corrections, Amendments and Revocations of Estate Documents

Corrections

(ADD)Applications to correct

Mar 31/14

(AM) Jul 01/15 (1) If the person to whom an estate grant is issued or on whose behalf a foreign grant is resealed, or who was issued an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information, determines that there is a clerical mistake, or an error arising from an accidental slip or omission, in the estate grant, resealed foreign grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information, the person may apply to the registrar to correct the estate grant, resealed foreign grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

$^{\rm (ADD)}\!Application$ to correct name of deceased $^{\rm Jul}_{01/19}$ in style of proceeding

(1.1) Without limiting subrule (1), a person who has applied for an estate grant or to reseal a foreign grant may request that the registrar correct the deceased's name in the style of proceeding of the grant or authorization by complying with Rule 23-1 (9) and filing an affidavit explaining the error and indicating the deceased's correct name.

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

(ADD)Registrar may correct

Mar 31/14

(AM) Jul 01/15 (2) If, on an application under subrule (1) respecting an estate grant, a resealed foreign grant, an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information, the registrar is satisfied that a clerical mistake or an error has occurred in the estate grant, resealed foreign grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information, the registrar may correct the clerical mistake or error by issuing to the applicant a correction record in Form P20.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

$^{\rm (ADD)}$ Registrar may correct name of deceased $^{\rm Jul}_{01/19}$ in style of proceeding

- (2.1) If, before the issuance of a grant or authorization or the resealing of a foreign grant,
 - (a) an applicant makes a request under subrule (1.1), and

(b) the registrar is satisfied that the deceased's name is incorrectly set out in the style of proceeding of the instrument referred to in the request and that the deceased's name is correctly set out elsewhere in the submission for estate grant in Form P2 or the submission for resealing in Form P21 and that the deceased's name in the notice in Form P1 is not seriously misleading,

the registrar must issue a Form P20.1 and, when issuing the grant or authorization or resealing the foreign grant, may use the corrected name in the style of proceeding.

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

Amendment Applications

(ADD)Application for amendment

Mar 31/14

(3) On application, the court may order that an authorization to obtain estate information, an authorization to obtain resealing information, an estate grant or the resealing of a foreign grant be amended and,

(AM) Jul 01/15

- (a) if the person applying for the amendment is the person to whom the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information was issued or on whose application the foreign grant was resealed, that person must provide to the registry the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant, along with all certified and notarial copies of it, concurrently with the filing of the application record provided under Rule 8-1 (15), or
- (b) if the person applying for the amendment is not the person to whom the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information was issued or on whose application the foreign grant was resealed,
 - (i) that person must, without limiting Rule 8-1, ensure that the person who has possession or control of the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant is served with the notice of application and supporting materials, and

(ii) the person who has possession or control of the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant must file the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant no later than 4 p.m. on the business day that is one full business day before the date set for the hearing.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 103/2015; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(AM) Sep 01/23

(ADD)**Issue of new grant**

Mar 31/14

(4) If a document is amended under subrule (3), the amended document replaces the original document and, unless the court otherwise orders, that original document and the certified and notarial copies provided to the registry under subrule (3) are not to be returned to any person.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Revocation Applications

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Page 279 of 611

(ADD)Filing of grant in revocation application

Mar 31/14

(AM)

01/15

Jul

- (5) On application, the court may order that an estate grant, an authorization to obtain estate information, an authorization to obtain resealing information or the resealing of a foreign grant be revoked and,
 - (a) if the person applying for revocation is the person to whom the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information was issued or on whose application the foreign grant was resealed, that person
 - (i) must provide to the registry the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant, along with all certified and notarial copies of it, concurrently with the filing of the notice of application, and
 - (ii) after complying with subparagraph (i), must not act under the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant without leave of the registrar until the application is decided, or
 - (b) if the person applying for revocation is not the person to whom the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information was issued or on whose application the foreign grant was resealed,
 - (i) the person who has possession or control of the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant must file the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant within 7 days after being served with the notice of application for the revocation, and
 - (ii) after being served with the notice of application, the person to whom the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant was issued must not act under the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information, authorization to obtain resealing information or resealed foreign grant without leave of the registrar until the application is decided.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

(ADD)When leave may be granted

Mar 31/14

- (6) The registrar may grant leave to a person under subrule (5) (a) (ii) or (b) (ii) if
 - (a) a request for leave is made by filing

(AM) Sep 01/23

- (i) a requisition in Form 19.1, and
- (ii) affidavit or other evidence in support of the request, and
- (b) the registrar is satisfied that the harm that will occur if the leave is granted is less than the harm that will occur if leave is not granted.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)No revocation by default

Mar 31/14 (7) A default in the filing of an application response or, if the court orders service and filing of pleadings in an application under Rule 25-14 (1) (c), in the filing of a response to civil claim, does not, of itself, justify an order revoking the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information or revoking the resealing of the foreign grant.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 25-6 – Applications for Resealing

(ADD) Definition

Mar 31/14

(1) In this rule, **"foreign will"**, in relation to an application under subrule (2), means the will in relation to which the foreign grant referred to in that subrule was issued.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Application for resealing

Mar 31/14

- (2) If a grant of probate or equivalent, or a grant of administration or equivalent, was issued in a jurisdiction prescribed for the purposes of section 138 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, the foreign personal representative to whom the foreign grant was issued may, after the documents referred to in Rule 25-2 (1) have been delivered in accordance with Rule 25-2, apply for a resealing of the foreign grant by filing the following:
 - (a) a submission for resealing in Form P21;
 - (b) a copy of the foreign grant that has been certified by the issuing court, and, if the foreign will is not attached to the foreign grant, a copy of the foreign will that has been certified by the issuing court;
 - (c) an affidavit from the applicant or, if there are 2 or more applicants, from at least one of the applicants, as follows:
 - (i) if the application is for resealing a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed, in Form P22;
 - (ii) if the application is for resealing a grant of administration without will annexed, in Form P23;
 - (d) if there are 2 or more foreign personal representatives to whom the foreign grant was issued, an affidavit in Form P24 from each of the foreign personal representatives who has not sworn an affidavit referred to in paragraph (c);
 - (e) 2 copies of a certificate from the chief executive officer under the *Vital Statistics Act* indicating the results of a search for a wills notice filed by or on behalf of the deceased;
 - (f) one or more affidavits, in Form P9, that, collectively, confirm that the documents referred to in Rule 25-2 were delivered to all of the persons to whom, under that rule, the documents were required to be delivered;
 - (g) in accordance with subrule (6) of this rule, an affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing in Form P25 from the applicant, or, if there is more than one applicant, from at least one of the applicants;
 - (h) in accordance with subrule (8), for each of the documents that are filed with the submission for resealing and that are not written in the English language, an affidavit of translator in Form P12.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD) Multiple applicants

Mar 31/14

- (3) If there are 2 or more foreign personal representatives to whom the foreign grant was issued, all of those foreign personal representatives must be applicants in the application for resealing and those applicants
 - (a) must adopt a single address for service that is applicable to them all, which address for service must be an accessible address that complies with Rule 4-1 (1), and
 - (b) may adopt additional addresses for service under Rule 4-1 (2) provided that each additional address for service is applicable to all of the applicants.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD) Domicile of deceased on resealing

Mar 31/14

(4) If the submission for resealing referred to in subrule (2) (a) specifies a different ordinary residence for the deceased at the time of his or her death than does the foreign grant, the registrar may require further evidence as to the domicile of the deceased.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD) Documents to be separate

Mar 31/14

(5) None of the documents referred to in a paragraph of subrule (2) may be attached to any document referred to in any other paragraph of subrule (2).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Filing of affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing Mar

31/14

(6) An affidavit required under subrule (2) (g) may be filed concurrently with or subsequent to the filing of the other documents referred to in subrule (2).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing

31/14

- (7) Whether or not a foreign grant has been resealed in response to an application under subrule (2), if the applicant determines, after filing the affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing required in relation to the application, that
 - (a) there are assets or liabilities of the estate that are neither referred to in that affidavit nor referred to in an affidavit filed under this subrule, or
 - (b) information contained in the affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing, or in a supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing filed under this subrule, is incorrect or incomplete,

the applicant must file a supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing in Form P26 promptly after making that determination and must pay all fees payable in relation to that filing, including all applicable probate fees.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Filing of affidavit of translator

Mar 31/14 (8) An affidavit of translator in Form P12 must be filed concurrently with any document referred to in subrule (2) that is the subject of a translation.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Delivery to Public Guardian and Trustee**

31/14

(9) Subject to subrule (10) of this rule, if, under Rule 25-2, the applicant was required to deliver to the Public Guardian and Trustee the documents referred to in Rule 25-2 (1), the applicant must, promptly after filing a document referred to in subrule (2) of this rule, deliver a copy of that filed document to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD) Exceptions to delivery to Public Guardian and Trustee

31/14

- (10) An applicant referred to in subrule (9) need not, under that subrule, deliver to the Public Guardian and Trustee the following:
 - (a) a copy of any document filed under subrule (2) (b) if a copy of that document was delivered to the Public Guardian and Trustee under Rule 25-2;
 - (b) the exhibit to the affidavits of delivery filed under subrule (2) (f) of this rule;
 - (c) any affidavit of delivery filed under subrule (2) (f) that relates solely to delivery of the notice of proposed application to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(SUB)Search for will

Dec 01/21

- (11) The applicant in an application brought under this rule must swear or affirm in the affidavit required under subrule (2) (c) that the applicant is satisfied that
 - (a) a diligent search for a testamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place that could reasonably be considered to be a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, without limitation,
 - (i) in all places where the deceased usually kept important documents, and
 - (ii) on electronic devices or in third-party electronic repositories used by the deceased, and
 - (b) as a result of that search,
 - (i) if the foreign grant is a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed, one of the following:
 - (A) no testamentary document of the deceased that is dated later than the date of the foreign will has been found;
 - (B) one or more testamentary documents of the deceased dated later than the date of the foreign will have been found, and the reasons why the applicant believes that those testamentary documents are invalid or otherwise not relevant to the application, or
 - (ii) if the foreign grant is a grant of administration without will annexed, one of the following:
 - (A) no testamentary document of the deceased has been found;
 - (B) one or more testamentary documents of the deceased have been found, and the reasons why the applicant believes that those testamentary documents are invalid or otherwise not relevant to the application.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

Rule 25-7 – Procedure After Filing Application Materials for Resealing

(ADD)**Approval by registrar of application**Mar 31/14

- (1) Subject to subrule (3), the registrar must, on an application to reseal a foreign grant, do the following:
 - (a) if the application materials filed under Rule 25-6 do not include the affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing required in relation to that application, issue to the applicant an authorization to obtain resealing information in Form P27 to recognize the applicant as the person to whom a resealed grant will be issued once
 - (i) the affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing has been filed, and
 - (ii) all fees payable in relation to that filing, including all applicable probate fees, have been paid;
 - (b) subject to section 124 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*, if the affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing required in relation to the application is filed with or after the filing of the other application materials filed under Rule 25-6, reseal the foreign grant once all fees payable in relation to the application, including all applicable probate fees, have been paid.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Certification of resealing

Mar 31/14

(2) To reseal a foreign grant, the registrar must attach a Form P28 to the certified copy of the foreign grant that was filed under Rule 25-6 (2) (b).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)When registrar must refuse to approve application Mar

- (3) The registrar must not issue an authorization to obtain resealing information under subrule (1) (a) of this rule or reseal a foreign grant under subrule (1) (b) unless the registrar is satisfied that
 - (a) notice of the application had been delivered in accordance with Rule 25-2,
 - (b) the application materials comply with Rule 25-6,
 - (c) the information in the foreign grant respecting the name of the deceased and the other names by which the deceased was known exactly matches the information in the submission for resealing respecting those names,
 - (d) each of the persons to whom the foreign grant was issued is an applicant in the submission for resealing, and the names of the applicants in the submission for resealing exactly match the names of the persons to whom the foreign grant was issued,
 - (e) if the document to be issued is an authorization to obtain resealing information, the only document that remains to be filed is the affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing and the applicant requires the authorization to obtain resealing information to facilitate the applicant's ability to determine the assets in the estate and the liabilities applicable to them,
 - (f) if the registrar intends to reseal the foreign grant, all fees payable in relation to the application have been paid,

- there is no notice of dispute in effect in relation to the estate, and (g)
- (h) there is no reason to require a hearing in relation to the application. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Registrar must provide notice of refusal Mar

31/14

- (4) If, under subrule (3), the registrar refuses to approve an application for the resealing of a foreign grant, the registrar must provide to the applicant notice, in writing, of
 - any defect in the application materials, including, without limitation, in
 - (i) the form of the application materials,
 - the information contained or not contained in the application materials, or (ii)
 - any exhibit or other document attached or not attached to, or filed or not filed with, the application materials,
 - any other question or matter relating to the application that prevents the registrar (b) from approving it, and
 - any further information or material that the registrar requires in order to be satisfied (c) in relation to a matter of which he or she must be satisfied before resealing the foreign grant.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)How notice is to be provided

Mar 31/14

> (5) The registrar may provide to the applicant the notice required under subrule (4) by any convenient means, including, without limitation, by sending it to the applicant at the mailing address, fax number or e-mail address, if any, provided as an address for service by the applicant in the submission for resealing.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Procedure after refusal by registrar to approve application Mar

31/14

- (6) If, on an application for the resealing of a foreign grant, the registrar refuses to issue an authorization to obtain resealing information or to reseal a foreign grant, the applicant may do one or both of the following:
 - file further information and material (a)
 - to correct a defect of which the applicant was informed under subrule (4) (a) (i) or (b), or
 - (ii) required by the registrar under subrule (4) (c);
 - (b) proceed under Rule 25-9 to request a hearing by the court.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Subrules (1) to (6) applicable after filing of revised or additional material Mar

31/14

(7) Subrules (1) to (6) of this rule apply to a reconsideration by the registrar of an application after revised or additional material is filed under subrule (6) (a).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD) Notice to issuing court of resealing

Mar

(8) After the resealing of a foreign grant, the registrar must provide notice of the resealing to the court that issued the foreign grant.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Notice of revocation or amendment of resealed grant

31/14

(9) If the registrar knows that a British Columbia grant has been resealed in another jurisdiction, the registrar must notify the resealing court of any revocation or amendment of the British Columbia grant.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 25-8 – Effect of Authorization to Obtain Estate Information or Authorization to Obtain Resealing Information

(ADD)Authorizations may be delivered

Mar 31/14

- (1) An applicant to whom an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information has been issued may deliver a copy of that authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information to the following:
 - (a) any person whom the applicant believes has possession or control of one or more assets of the estate of the deceased;
 - (b) any person whom the applicant believes has possession or control of one or more documents relating to assets of the estate of the deceased.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Order to provide information

Mar 31/14

- (2) A person to whom a copy of an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information is delivered under subrule (1) must, within 30 days after the date of delivery,
 - (a) deliver to the applicant information as to the nature and value of those assets of the deceased's estate that are in the person's possession or control, or
 - (b) if the person
 - (i) has possession or control of a safety deposit box, a safe, a storage locker or any other thing or place where the deceased kept or may have kept records or assets, and
 - (ii) does not have a document that itemizes the contents of that thing or place, allow the holder of the authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information to have access to that thing or place for the purposes of listing its contents.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Powers of court if information or access not provided

Mar

- (3) If a person to whom a copy of an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information is delivered under subrule (1) does not comply with subrule (2), the applicant may, on notice to the person, apply to the court for an order that the required information or access be provided, and the court may, on the application,
 - (a) make an order that the information or access be provided in the manner and at the time or within the period ordered by the court, and
 - (b) make such other orders as the court considers will further the objects of these Supreme Court Civil Rules, including, without limitation, an order that the person pay the costs of the application.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 25-9 – Application to Court for Grant or Resealing

(ADD)**Applicant may apply to court**

31/14

(1) If the registrar refuses to issue an estate grant, an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information or refuses to reseal a foreign grant, the applicant may apply to the court for the authorization, grant or resealing.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Application materials

Mar 31/14

- (2) An applicant wishing to apply to the court under subrule (1) must file
 - (a) a requisition in Form 31,
 - (b) a draft of the proposed order in Form 35,
 - (c) affidavit or other evidence in support of the application, and
 - (d) any material provided by the registrar in relation to the application.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Powers of the court

Mar 31/14

- (3) An application under subrule (1) in relation to a will is not in the nature of an appeal from the registrar and, on that application, the court may
 - (a) approve the application,
 - (b) direct that an application be made for the will to be proved in solemn form, or
 - (c) direct that the application be heard by the court and give directions respecting that hearing.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Registrar to issue authorization or grant following disposition of application Mar

маr 31/14

(4) If an application under subrule (1) is approved by the court under subrule (3) (a) or at a hearing referred to in subrule (3) (c), the registrar must issue the estate grant, authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information or reseal the foreign grant, as the case may be, in accordance with the order.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 25-10 – Notices of Dispute

(ADD)Notice of dispute

Mar 31/14

(AM) Jul 01/19

- (1) To oppose the issuance of an estate grant, an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information or to oppose the resealing of a foreign grant, a person to whom documents have been or are to be delivered under Rule 25-2 (2) or a person who claims an interest under a prior or subsequent will must file a notice of dispute that accords with subrule (3) of this rule before the earlier of
 - (a) the issuance of an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information, and
 - (b) the issuance of an estate grant or the resealing of a foreign grant.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

(ADD)Only one notice of dispute to be filed

Mar 31/14

(2) A person must not file more than one notice of dispute in relation to any one estate. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Contents of notice of dispute

Mar 31/14

(3) A notice of dispute referred to in subrule (1) must be in Form P29, must provide an address for service of the disputant, which address for service must be an accessible address that complies with Rule 4-1 (1), and must disclose

(AM) Jul 01/19

- (a) that the disputant is a person to whom documents have been or are to be delivered under Rule 25-2 (2) or a person who claims an interest under a prior or subsequent will, and
- (b) the grounds on which the notice of dispute is filed. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

(ADD)Amendment of notice of dispute

Mar 31/14

(4) A notice of dispute may be amended once without leave of the court, and after that only with leave of the court.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Amendment of notice of dispute

Mar 31/14

(5) Rule 6-1 (2) and (3) applies to an amendment of a notice of dispute without leave of the court and, for that purpose, a reference in that rule to a pleading is deemed to be a reference to the notice of dispute.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Renewal of notice of dispute

Mar 31/14

- (6) The court may renew a notice of dispute, for any period the court considers appropriate, as follows:
 - (a) if the application for renewal is brought before the notice of dispute ceases to be in effect, if the court is satisfied that it is appropriate to make an order for renewal;
 - (b) if the application for renewal is brought after the notice of dispute ceases to be in effect, if the court is satisfied that
 - (i) there were good reasons that the application for renewal could not be brought before the notice of dispute ceases to be in effect,
 - (ii) substantial prejudice would be suffered by the person seeking renewal of the notice of dispute if the order for renewal is not made, and
 - (iii) no other person interested in the estate would suffer substantial prejudice if the order for renewal is made.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Application for renewal of notice of dispute

31/14

- (7) Subject to Rule 8-5 (6), an application to renew a notice of dispute filed in relation to an estate must be made on notice to
 - (a) each person who has submitted for filing a submission for estate grant, or a submission for resealing, in relation to the estate,
 - (b) each person who has filed a notice of dispute in relation to the estate, and
 - (c) any other interested person to whom the court directs notice be given.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)No grant while notice of dispute in effect

Mar 31/14

- (8) While a notice of dispute is in effect in relation to the estate of a deceased, the registrar must not, with respect to that estate,
 - (a) issue an estate grant, an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information, or
 - (b) reseal a foreign grant.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Withdrawal of notice of dispute

Mar 31/14

(9) A disputant may withdraw a notice of dispute by filing a withdrawal of notice of dispute in Form P30.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Application to remove notice of dispute**

31/14

(10) A person who is interested in an estate in relation to which a notice of dispute has been filed, including, without limitation, an applicant for an estate grant or for the resealing of a foreign grant, may apply on notice to the disputant for an order removing the notice of dispute.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

$^{ m (ADD)}$ Grounds on which notice of dispute may be removed $^{ m Mar}$

31/14

(11) On an application under subrule (10), the court may, by order in Form P31, remove a notice of dispute if the court determines that the filing is not in the best interests of the estate.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD) When notice of dispute ceases to be in effect $_{\mbox{\scriptsize Mar}}$

маг 31/14

- (12) A notice of dispute in relation to an estate ceases to be in effect as follows:
 - (a) subject to paragraph (b), on the date that is one year after the date on which the notice of dispute was filed;
 - (b) if the notice of dispute has been renewed under subrule (6), at the end of the renewal period;
 - (c) if the notice of dispute is withdrawn by the disputant under subrule (9);
 - (d) if the will in relation to which the notice of dispute relates is proved in solemn form;
 - (e) if the court orders, under subrule (11) or otherwise, that the notice of dispute is removed.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

Rule 25-11 – Citations

(ADD)Citation to apply for probate

Mar 31/14

(1) If a testamentary document is or may be in existence, a person interested in the estate may serve by personal service on each person named as an executor in the testamentary document a citation in Form P32 in respect of the testamentary document to require the served person to apply for a grant of probate in relation to that testamentary document.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Alternate executors

Mar 31/14

- (2) A citation under subrule (1) in relation to a grant of probate
 - (a) must be served by personal service on each alternate executor if an event, including, without limitation, an event referred to in subrule (5), occurs that entitles the alternate executor to assume the office of executor, and
 - (b) must not be served on an alternate executor until an event referred to in paragraph (a) occurs that entitles that alternate executor to assume the office of executor.

 [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Citation to be supported

Mar 31/14

- (3) A citation under subrule (1) in relation to a testamentary document must include
 - (a) an address for service of the citor, which address for service must be an accessible address that complies with Rule 4-1 (1), and
 - (b) a statement of the citor providing

- (i) the grounds for the citor's knowledge of or belief as to the existence of the testamentary document, and
- (ii) information available to the citor that will allow the testamentary document to be identified.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Answer to citation**

маг 31/14

- (4) A person who is cited by being served with a citation under subrule (1) must, within 14 days after being served with the citation,
 - (a) if the cited person has been issued a grant of probate in respect of the testamentary document in relation to which the citation was issued, serve on the citor, by ordinary service, a copy of the estate grant, or
 - (b) if the cited person has not yet been issued a grant of probate in respect of the testamentary document in relation to which the citation was issued, serve the citor as follows:
 - (i) if the cited person has filed a submission for estate grant under Rule 25-3 (2) in respect of the testamentary document, serve on the citor, by ordinary service, a copy of the filed submission for estate grant along with copies of the other documents filed under Rule 25-3 (2);
 - (ii) if subparagraph (i) does not apply but the cited person has delivered documents under Rule 25-2 (1) in relation to an application for a grant of probate that the cited person intends to pursue in respect of the testamentary document, serve on the citor, by ordinary service, a copy of those documents;
 - (iii) if the cited person has not taken any step under this Part in relation to the estate, serve on the citor, by ordinary service, an answer in Form P33 providing an address for service that is an accessible address that complies with Rule 4-1 (1) and stating that the cited person
 - (A) will apply for a grant of probate in respect of the testamentary document, or
 - (B) refuses to apply for a grant of probate in respect of the testamentary document.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD) Deemed renunciation of executorship

маr 31/14

- (5) A person who is cited under subrule (1) to apply for a grant of probate in relation to a testamentary document is deemed to have renounced executorship in relation to that testamentary document if
 - (a) he or she is a person referred to in subrule (4) (b) (i), (ii) or (iii) (A) and does not
 - (i) serve on the citor the document that, under that provision, he or she is required to serve, or
 - (ii) obtain a grant of probate within 6 months after the date on which the citation was served or within any longer period that the court on the application of the cited person may allow, or
 - (b) he or she is a person who serves on the citor an answer referred to in subrule (4) (b) (iii) (B).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Effect of failure to answer citation or give reason for refusing probate Mar 31/14

- (6) If each person who is cited under subrule (1) to apply for a grant of probate in relation to a testamentary document is deemed under subrule (5) to have renounced executorship in relation to the testamentary document, the citor or another person interested in the estate may, without limiting any other right the citor or other person may have, apply for one or more of the following:
 - (a) a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed in relation to the testamentary document or another testamentary document;
 - (b) an order under section 58 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* curing any deficiencies in the testamentary document;
 - (c) an order that the testamentary document is a will proved in solemn form;
 - (d) if the testamentary document is in the possession of a cited person, the issuance of a subpoena under Rule 25-12 to require the cited person to file the testamentary document.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Affidavit of deemed renunciation for grant of probate Mar 31/14

(7) The citor may swear an affidavit of deemed renunciation in Form P34 if the person who has been served with a citation in respect of a testamentary document is deemed under subrule (5) to have renounced executorship in relation to the testamentary document.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 25-12 – Subpoena for Testamentary Document or Grant

(ADD)How to obtain a subpoena for testamentary document or grant Mar

31/14

(1) A person may apply for a subpoena to be issued to require a person to deliver to the registry one or more of a testamentary document, an authorization to obtain estate information, an authorization to obtain resealing information, an estate grant, a foreign grant, a resealed foreign grant and a certified or notarial copy of such a document.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Filings required**Mar

31/14

- (2) An application may be brought under subrule (1) by filing
 - (a) a requisition for subpoena in Form P35 that provides for the applicant an address for service that is an accessible address that complies with Rule 4-1 (1), and
 - (b) an affidavit in support of the request.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Subpoena may be issued**Mar

31/14

- (3) On being satisfied that
 - (a) the document in relation to which the subpoena is sought is required for the purpose of any application or other matter under this Part, and

(b) the person to whom the subpoena is addressed failed to comply with a request of the applicant to provide the document to the applicant,

the registrar may issue the subpoena, in Form P37, sought by the application. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2103.]

(ADD)Service of subpoena

Mar 31/14

(4) A subpoena issued under this rule must be personally served and, if an affidavit is filed for the purpose of proving the service, the affidavit must state when, where, how and by whom service was effected.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Certification of non-compliance

Mar 31/14

- (5) The registrar may endorse a copy of the requisition for subpoena in Form P35 with a notation that the person to whom the subpoena was directed has not, within a specified period, done either of the following:
 - (a) delivered to the registry the document referred to in the subpoena;
 - (b) provided to the registrar an affidavit indicating that the document referred to in the subpoena is not in the person's possession or control and setting out what knowledge the person has respecting that document.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Failure of subpoenaed person to file document

маг 31/14

- (6) On receipt of
 - (a) proof that a subpoena was served on a person (the "served person"),
 - (b) proof that the delivery of the documents required by the subpoena is required for the purpose of any application or other matter under this Part, and
 - (c) a copy of the requisition for subpoena in Form P35 that has been endorsed by the registrar in accordance with subrule (5),

the court, by its warrant in Form P36 directed to a peace officer, may cause the served person to be apprehended and promptly brought before the court and to be detained in custody or released on terms the court may order, and the court may order the served person to pay the costs arising from his or her failure to file the document.

[en. B.C. Reg.149/2013.]

(ADD)Release of apprehended person

Mar 31/14

(7) The court may, by release order in Form 117, order the release of a person apprehended under subrule (6) on receiving an undertaking in Form 116 from that person.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Order setting aside subpoena**

31/14

(8) A person who has been served with a subpoena under this rule may apply to the court for an order setting aside the subpoena on the grounds that compliance with it is unnecessary or that it would work a hardship on the person, and the court may make any order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Rule 25-13 – Remuneration and Passing of Accounts

$^{(ADD)}$ Remuneration and passing of accounts Mar

- (1) A personal representative or a person interested in an estate administered by a personal representative may apply, in accordance with subrule (2), for an order for one or both of the following:
 - (a) an order for the passing of the personal representative's accounts in relation to the estate;
 - (b) an order to fix and approve the personal representative's remuneration.

 [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Application process

Mar 31/14

31/14

- (2) An application under subrule (1)
 - (a) may be brought
 - (i) in accordance with Rule 25-14 (1) (o), (p) or (q),
 - (ii) in conjunction with an application referred to in Rule 25-14 (1) (d), (e) or (f), or
 - (iii) in accordance with Rule 8-3 if each interested person other than the applicant has consented to the accounts to be passed or the remuneration to be fixed and approved, as the case may be, and
 - (b) must, if brought by the personal representative, be supported by an affidavit in support of application to pass accounts in Form P38.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Directions and referrals

Mar 31/14

- (3) In an application under subrule (1), the court may do one or more of the following:
 - (a) hear and decide any matter relating to the accounts or the remuneration of the personal representative;
 - (b) direct the registrar to conduct an inquiry, assessment or accounting in relation to any matter relating to the accounts or the remuneration of the personal representative;
 - (c) make any other order or give any direction that the court considers appropriate in the circumstances.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Effect of referral to registrar

Mar 31/14

(4) Subject to subrule (5), after a direction is made under subrule (3) (b), Rule 18-1 applies as if the application and the direction had been made under Rule 18-1.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Certification of results

Mar 31/14

- (5) Unless the court otherwise orders, if the court directs the registrar to conduct an inquiry, assessment or accounting under subrule (3) (b),
 - (a) the registrar must, by certificate in Form P39, certify the result of the inquiry, assessment or accounting, and
 - (b) if filed under Rule 18-1 (9), the certificate is binding, subject to appeal, on the persons interested in the estate who
 - (i) had notice of the inquiry, assessment or accounting,
 - (ii) consented to the accounts or the remuneration, or
 - (iii) are the subject of an order made under Rule 18-1 (20) (b). [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Affidavit required for passing of accounts and remuneration Mar 31/14

- (6) In addition to any other materials that may be required for an application under subrule (1) of this rule, the applicant must file the following:
 - (a) if the applicant is the personal representative, he or she must file a statement of account affidavit in Form P40
 - (i) describing the assets and liabilities of the estate as at the later of
 - (A) the date of the deceased's death, and
 - (B) the last day of the period covered by the most recent of the accounts passed under this Part or approved and consented to in writing by all beneficiaries,
 - (ii) describing, in chronological order, capital transactions that occurred after the applicable date referred to in subparagraph (i),
 - (iii) describing, in chronological order, income transactions that occurred after the applicable date referred to in subparagraph (i),
 - (iv) describing the assets and liabilities of the estate as at the last day of the period covered by the accounts to be passed,
 - (v) describing all distributions made and any distributions anticipated to be made out of the estate.
 - (vi) including a calculation of the remuneration, if any, claimed by the applicant for
 - (A) the applicant, and
 - (B) any current and previous personal representative or trustee for whom a claim for remuneration has not yet been made, and
 - (vii) including any other details or information the court may require or the applicant may consider relevant;
 - (b) if the applicant is a person other than the personal representative, he or she must file an affidavit explaining why an accounting is required.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)**Special costs** Mar

31/14

- (7) Unless the court on an application otherwise orders, if costs are payable under an application under subrule (1), those costs
 - (a) must be assessed as special costs, and
 - (b) may be assessed without an order of the court, and Rule 14-1 (3) and (5) applies.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

Rule 25-14 – Applications

Applications Relating to Grants

(ADD)How to apply for most applications

Mar 31/14 (AM) Jul 01/19 (REP) Jul

01/19

(AM)

01/15

(REP)

Jul 01/15

Jul

- (1) If there has been an application for estate grant, a person may apply in accordance with Part 8 for an order
 - (a) *Repealed*. [B.C. Reg. 115/2019]
 - (b) granting administration with or without will annexed in circumstances in which the right to be appointed as the administrator is contested,
 - (c) revoking an authorization to obtain estate information or estate grant or an authorization to obtain resealing information or the resealing of a foreign grant,
 - (d) subject to subrule (1.2), removing or substituting a personal representative or, if different, the holder of an authorization to obtain estate information or the holder of an authorization to obtain resealing information,
 - (e) discharging a personal representative or, if different, the holder of an authorization to obtain estate information or the holder of an authorization to obtain resealing information,
 - (f) passing over an executor,
 - (g) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 103/2015]
 - (h) removing or renewing a notice of dispute,
 - (i) that a foreign grant of probate or administration not be resealed,
 - (j) requiring security for the administration of an estate,
 - (k) varying or substituting security for the administration of an estate,
 - (l) directing that security be assigned to a person named in the order,
 - (m) respecting production, delivery or filing of
 - (i) a testamentary document,
 - (ii) a certified or notarial copy of an authorization to obtain estate information,
 - (iii) an estate grant,
 - (iv) an authorization to obtain resealing information, or
 - (v) a resealed foreign grant,
 - (n) Not in force. Repealed. [B.C. Regs. 149/2013; 41/2014, Sch. 1]
 - (o) for the passing of accounts,
 - (p) fixing and approving the remuneration of a personal representative,
 - (q) subject to subrule (2), respecting any other matter concerning
 - (i) an authorization to obtain estate information,
 - (ii) an authorization to obtain resealing information,
 - (iii) a grant of probate,
 - (iv) a grant of administration with or without will annexed,
 - (v) an ancillary grant,
 - (vi) a resealing, or
 - (vii) the office of personal representative,

other than a question or matter covered by Rule 2-1 (2) (c) or (d),

(ADD) Jul 01/19	(r)	appointing a trustee to hold and administer a minor's interest in an estate until the minor reaches 19 years of age,
(ADD) Dec 01/21	(s)	waiving an obligation under Rule 25-3 (14) to search an electronic device if the person does not have access to it, or
(ADD) Dec 01/21	(t)	allowing a person to apply to amend an application in a manner other than as set out in Rule 25-3.1.
0 = 7 = =	[en. B	3.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015; 115/2019; 250/2021.]

(ADD)How to apply by petition for orders

01/15

- (1.1) If there has been no application for estate grant, a person may, with notice, apply by petition to the court for an order
 - (a) passing over an executor,
 - (b) appointing an administrator of the estate under section 132 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act.*
 - (c) respecting production, delivery or filing of a testamentary document, and
 - (d) subject to subrule (2), respecting any other matter referred to in subrule (1). [en. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

(ADD)**Applications by requisition**

Jui 01/19

- (1.11) If there has been an application for estate grant, a person may apply in accordance with Part 8, or, if nothing has been filed in relation to the estate, by requisition in Form P41, for an order
 - (a) under Rule 25-2 (14), or
 - (b) to shorten the 21-day waiting period referred to in Rule in 25-2 (1) or to authorize a filing made before that period has expired.

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

(ADD)Substitution of personal representative in the event of death Jul

Jul 01/15

- (1.2) If a deceased's personal representative dies, a person may apply in accordance with Part 8, subject to any directions given by the court under subrule (8) of this rule, to be substituted as the personal representative by filing
 - (a) a copy of the death certificate of the personal representative,
 - (b) an affidavit setting out the request to be substituted as the personal representative and specifying the right to be appointed as personal representative on the basis that the person is one of the following:
 - (i) the alternate executor;
 - (ii) entitled to apply for administration of the estate in accordance with section 130 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*;
 - (iii) entitled to apply for administration with will annexed in accordance with section 131 of that Act, and
 - (c) an affidavit confirming delivery of the affidavit referred to in paragraph (b) to
 - (i) every person who was entitled to notice under the original application, and
 - (ii) any executors who
 - (A) did not receive notice of the original application, and

have an equal or greater right to apply to be the personal (B) representative.

[en. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

(ADD) How to apply for spousal home and will deficiencies orders Mar

- (2) To apply to the court for any of the following orders:
 - an order under section 30 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act determining the value of a deceased's interest in a spousal home within the meaning of that Act;
 - an order under section 33 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act relating to a (b) spousal home within the meaning of that Act;
 - an order under section 58 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act respecting (c) deficiencies in a document that does or may disclose a testamentary intention or testamentary disposition of a deceased;
 - an order under section 59 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act rectifying a will, (d) a person
 - (e) may, if there is an existing proceeding within which, under these Supreme Court Civil Rules, it is appropriate to seek that order, apply for that order in accordance with Part 8 by notice of application in Form P42 in that proceeding, or
 - must, if there is no existing proceeding within which it is appropriate to seek that (f) order, apply by petition in Form P43.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 115/2019.]

(ADD)Address for service

Mar 31/14

(AM)

01/19

Jul

31/14

(AM) Jul 01/19

(3) An applicant who makes an application under subrule (1.11) by filing a requisition in Form P41 must include an address for service that is an accessible address that complies with Rule 4-1 (1).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 115/2019.]

(ADD)Proceeding for proof of a will in solemn form Mar

31/14

- **(4)** To apply to the court for an order proving a will in solemn form, a person
 - may, if there is an existing proceeding within which, under these Supreme Court Civil Rules, it is appropriate to seek that order, apply for that order by notice of application in that proceeding, or
 - (b) must, if there is no existing proceeding within which it is appropriate to seek that order, start a proceeding by petition under Rule 16-1 and seek the order within that proceeding.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Personal representative to be served Mar

31/14

- Subject to subrule (6) of this rule, a person applying to the court under any of paragraphs (5) (b) to (q) of subrule (1) must, unless Rule 17-1 applies or the court otherwise orders, serve the notice of application and the other application materials referred to in Rule 8-1 (7) on
 - each personal representative of the deceased unless that personal representative is the applicant, and

(b) any other person who may be affected by the order sought.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)When personal service is required

Mar 31/14

(6) A notice of application in an application referred to in paragraph (c), (d), (e) or (f) of subrule (1) of this rule must be personally served on a personal representative or, in the case of a reference in subrule (1) (f) to a person with a right to administration in priority to the applicant, that person.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Disputant to receive notice of proceeding relating to a grant

маг 31/14

(7) While a notice of dispute is in effect in relation to the estate of a deceased, a person who, in relation to that estate, brings any application under this rule must, without limiting any other service obligations applicable to the person, serve on the disputant, by ordinary service, a copy of all documents the applicant is required to file in connection with the application.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Court may give directions as to procedure

31/14

- (8) Without limiting any other power of the court under this or any other Part of these Supreme Court Civil Rules, the court may, on its own motion or on application, give directions concerning the procedure to be followed in any matter under this Part and, without limiting this, may give directions respecting any of the following:
 - (a) the issues to be decided;
 - (b) who the parties will be, including directions for the addition or substitution of a party;
 - (c) how evidence may or must be presented;
 - (d) summary disposition of any or all issues in the matter;
 - (e) the trial of any or all of the issues in the matter;
 - (f) pleadings;
 - (g) examinations for discovery and discovery of documents;
 - (h) service or delivery of a notice, process, order or document on any person;
 - (i) dispensing with service or delivery;
 - (i) representation of any person or interest.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)General civil petition rule applies

Jul 01/19

(9) Rule 16-1 applies to all applications by petition under this rule. [en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

Rule 25-15 – Miscellaneous

(ADD) Grant of administration to guardians

Mar 31/14

> (1) If the individual who would be entitled to be a personal representative of an estate is a minor, the court may, with the consent of the Public Guardian and Trustee, make a grant of administration, for the minor's use and benefit, to the guardian who has, in relation to the minor, the parental responsibilities referred to in section 41 (k) of the Family Law Act. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Changing address for service

Mar 31/14

- (2) Rule 4-1 (3) applies to this Part and, for that purpose,
 - a reference in Rule 4-1 (3) to a party of record who has provided an address for service is deemed to refer in this Part to a person who has provided, by service, delivery or otherwise, a document under this Part in which the person has included an address for service, and
 - a reference in Rule 4-1 (3) to other parties of record is deemed to be a reference to (b) any other person to whom the person referred to in paragraph (a) provided the document referred to in that paragraph.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)If no address for service given

Mar 31/14

> (3) Rule 4-2 (7) applies to this Part and, for that purpose, a reference in Rule 4-2 (7) to a party of record is deemed to refer in this Part to a person who has delivered, served or otherwise provided a document under this Part in which the person ought to have included an address for service.

> > [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Costs if only solemn form required

Mar 31/14

- (4) A respondent to a petition or application brought under this Part is not liable for costs if
 - the respondent merely requires that the will be proved in solemn form, and
 - the respondent only intends to cross-examine the witnesses produced in support of (b) the will.

unless the court determines that there was no reasonable ground for requiring proof in solemn form.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Costs for accessing electronic will in

 $^{\mathrm{Dec}}_{01/21}$ third-party electronic repository

If a recipient of a notice of proposed application in relation to an estate is required to incur (5) expenses in order to access a third-party electronic repository for the purpose of viewing an electronic will, the person applying for the estate grant must reimburse the recipient of the notice for those expenses.

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

Rule 25-16 – Transition

(ADD)**Definition**

Mar 31/14

- (1) In this rule, "former rule" means
 - (a) Rule 61 or Rule 62 of the Supreme Court Rules, B.C. Reg. 221/90, that was repealed on the coming into force of the Supreme Court Civil Rules, B.C. Reg. 168/2009, or
 - (b) Rule 21-4 or Rule 21-5 that was repealed on the coming into force of this rule. [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

(ADD)Application for grant or resealing under former rule Mar

31/14

- (2) If, before the coming into force of this rule, an application was brought under a former rule for a grant of probate or administration, ancillary grant of probate or administration or resealing of a foreign grant,
 - (a) the application is deemed to be an application for an estate grant or a resealing, as the case may be, under this Part,
 - (b) if that application met all of the notice, delivery and service requirements of the former rule, it is deemed to meet all of the notice, delivery and service requirements of this Part, and
 - (c) the court or the registrar may issue an estate grant or reseal a foreign grant, as the case may be, in response to the application if that estate grant could have been issued, or that foreign grant could have been resealed, under the former rule.

 [en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Caveat filed under former rule

Mar 31/14

- (3) If a caveat filed under a former rule in relation to an estate is in effect on the coming into force of this rule, the caveat
 - (a) is deemed to be a notice of dispute filed under this Part, and
 - (b) expires
 - (i) when it is withdrawn,
 - (ii) if it is not withdrawn but has been renewed by order of the court, when the renewal period ceases, or
 - (iii) if it is not withdrawn and has not been renewed by order of the court, on the date that is 6 months after the date on which it was filed.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

$\ensuremath{^{\text{(ADD)}}}\mbox{Citation}$ to accept or refuse probate served under former rule $_{\mbox{\scriptsize Mar}}$

31/14

(4) If a citation to accept or refuse probate or to propound an alleged will was served under a former rule, the citation is deemed to be a citation under Rule 25-11, and, for that purpose, the citation is deemed to have been served on the coming into force of this rule.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Probate actions under former rule

Mar

31/14

(5) A probate action brought under a former rule, or a petition proceeding brought under a former rule for proof of a will in solemn form, that was ongoing when this rule came into effect is deemed to continue as a proceeding under this Part and, for that purpose, all steps that could have been taken in the probate action or petition proceeding under the former rule, including, without limitation, steps in respect of pleadings, examinations for discovery, discovery of documents and the trial of any or all issues, may be taken in the proceeding under this Part subject to any contrary directions under subrule (6).

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

(ADD)Court may decide

Mar 31/14

(6) The court may give directions if there is any dispute in relation to the procedure to be applied to, or followed in, a proceeding referred to in this Part.

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

,		
	APPENDIX A – FORMS	
	Form 1 (Rule 3-1 (1))	
	[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]	
		No
		Registry
	In the Supreme Court of British Columbia	
Between		
		Plaintiff(s)
and		
		Defendant(s)

NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

This action has been started by the plaintiff(s) for the relief set out in Part 2 below.

If you intend to respond to this action, you or your lawyer must

- (a) file a response to civil claim in Form 2 in the above-named registry of this court within the time for response to civil claim described below, and
- (b) serve a copy of the filed response to civil claim on the plaintiff.

If you intend to make a counterclaim, you or your lawyer must

- (a) file a response to civil claim in Form 2 and a counterclaim in Form 3 in the above-named registry of this court within the time for response to civil claim described below, and
- (b) serve a copy of the filed response to civil claim and counterclaim on the plaintiff and on any new parties named in the counterclaim.

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to file the response to civil claim within the time for response to civil claim described below.

Time for response to civil claim

A response to civil claim must be filed and served on the plaintiff(s),

- (a) if you were served with the notice of civil claim anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after that service,
- (b) if you were served with the notice of civil claim anywhere in the United States of America, within 35 days after that service,
- (c) if you were served with the notice of civil claim anywhere else, within 49 days after that service, or
- (d) if the time for response to civil claim has been set by order of the court, within that time.

CLAIM OF THE PLAINTIFF(S)

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the material facts giving rise to the plaintiff's(s') claim.]

1 2

[If any party sues or is sued in a representative capacity, identify the party and describe the representative capacity.]

Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the relief sought and indicate against which defendant(s) that relief is sought. Relief may be sought in the alternative.]

1

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise summary of the legal bases on which the plaintiff(s) intend(s) to rely in support of the relief sought and specify any rule or other enactment relied on. The legal bases for the relief sought may be set out in the alternative.]

1 2

Plaintiff's(s') address for service: [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an email address may be given as additional addresses for service.]

Fax number address for service (if any):

E-mail address for service (if any):

Place of trial:

The address of the registry is:

Date		[dd/mmm/yyyy]
Daic	•••••	Signature of
		[] plaintiff [] lawyer for plaintiff(s)
		[type or print name]
Rule 7-1	(1) c	of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states:
(1)		less all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of record to an action must, hin 35 days after the end of the pleading period,
	(a)	prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists
		(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to prove or disprove a material fact, and
		(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and
	(b)	serve the list on all parties of record.
		APPENDIX
		[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]
		[The following information is provided for data collection purposes only and is of no legal effect.]
Part 1: CO	ONC	CISE SUMMARY OF NATURE OF CLAIM:
D . A	ша	CLADA ADIGEO ED CLATUE POLA CAMBIO
Part 2: 11	HIS	CLAIM ARISES FROM THE FOLLOWING:
		[Check one box below for the case type that best describes this case.]
A perso	onal	injury arising out of:
[]		a motor vehicle accident
[]		medical malpractice
[]		another cause
A disp	ute	concerning:
[]		contaminated sites
[]		construction defects
[]		real property (real estate)
[]		personal property

	r 1	the provision of goods or services or other general commercial matters		
	[]			
	[]	investment losses		
	[]	the lending of money		
	[]	an employment relationship		
	[]	a will or other issues concerning the probate of an estate		
[]	a matte	r not listed here		
D4-2	THE	N ADA DINOLVEG.		
Part 3	HISC	CLAIM INVOLVES:		
		[Check all boxes below that apply to this case.]		
[]	a cla	ss action		
[]	mari	maritime law		
[]	abori	ginal law		
[]	const	constitutional law		
[]	confl	ict of laws		
[]	none	of the above		
[]	do no	ot know		
Dont 4				
Part 4				
		[If an enactment is being relied on, specify. Do not list more than 3 enactments.]		

Form 2 (Rule 3-3 (1))

[Style of Proceeding]

RESPONSE TO CIVIL CLAIM

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Filed by: [party(ies)] (the "defendant(s)")

Part 1: RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM FACTS

Division 1 — Defendant's(s') Response to Facts

[Indicate, for each paragraph in Part 1 of the notice of civil claim, whether the fact(s) alleged in that paragraph is(are) admitted, denied or outside the knowledge of the defendant(s).]

- 1 The facts alleged in paragraph(s) [list paragraph numbers] of Part 1 of the notice of civil claim are admitted.
- The facts alleged in paragraph(s) [*list paragraph numbers*] of Part 1 of the notice of civil claim are denied.
- 3 The facts alleged in paragraph(s) [*list paragraph numbers*] of Part 1 of the notice of civil claim are outside the knowledge of the defendant(s).

Division 2 — Defendant's(s') Version of Facts

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the defendant's(s') version of the facts alleged in those paragraphs of the notice of civil claim that are listed above in paragraph 2 of Division 1 of this Part.]

Division 3 — Additional Facts

[If additional material facts are relevant to the matters raised by the notice of civil claim, set out, in numbered paragraphs, a concise statement of those additional material facts.]

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT

1

2

1

2

[Indicate, for each paragraph in Part 2 of the notice of civil claim, whether the defendant(s) consent(s) to, oppose(s) or take(s) no position on the granting of that relief.]

1	The defendant(s) consent(s) to the granti of Part 2 of the notice of civil claim	ing of the relief sought in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers] n.
2	The defendant(s) oppose(s) the granting of Part 2 of the notice of civil claim.	of the relief sought in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers]
3	The defendant(s) take(s) no position on to numbers] of Part 2 of the notice of	the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs [list paragraph civil claim.
Part 3	: LEGAL BASIS	
		concise summary of the legal bases on which the defendant(s) oppose(s) pecify any rule or other enactment relied on. The legal bases for set out in the alternative.]
1		
2		
	dant's(s') address for service: [Set out the standards may be given as additional addresses	reet address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an es for service.]
Fax n	umber address for service (if any):	
E-mai	l address for service (if any):	
Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] defendant [] lawyer for defendant(s)
		[type or print name]
Rule 7	7-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules sta	tes:

- (1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period,
 - (a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists
 - (i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to prove or disprove a material fact, and
 - (ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and
 - (b) serve the list on all parties of record.

Form 3 (Rule 3-4 (1))

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

[Add the following to the style of proceeding to identify each person, not named as party in the notice of civil claim, against whom the counterclaim is brought.]

and

Defendant(s) by way of counterclaim

COUNTERCLAIM

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

To: [name(s) of party(ies) against whom the	counterclaim is brought]	
This action has been brought by the plaintiff(s) against this action.	inst the defendant(s) for the re	lief set out in the notice of civil claim filed in
TAKE NOTICE that the defendant(s)set out in Part 2 below.	[state name(s)]	claim(s) against you for the relief

IF YOU INTEND TO RESPOND to the claim made against you in this counterclaim, or if you have a set-off or counterclaim that you wish to have taken into account at the trial, YOU MUST FILE a response to counterclaim in Form 4 in the abovenamed registry of this court within the time for response to counterclaim described below and SERVE a copy of the filed response to counterclaim on the address for service of the defendant(s) bringing this counterclaim.

YOU OR YOUR LAWYER may file the response to counterclaim.

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to file the response to counterclaim within the time for response to counterclaim described below.

Time for response to counterclaim

Filed by: [party(ies)]

A response to counterclaim must be filed and served on the defendant(s) bringing this counterclaim,

- (a) if you were served with the counterclaim anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after that service,
- (b) if you were served with the counterclaim anywhere in the United States of America, within 35 days after that service,

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Page 309 of 611

- (c) if you were served with the counterclaim anywhere else, within 49 days after that service, or
- (d) if the time for response to counterclaim has been set by order of the court, within that time.

CLAIM OF THE DEFENDANT(S) BRINGING THE COUNTERCLAIM

Part	1:	STA	TEMENT	OF	FA	CTS

	[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a co	oncise statement of the material facts giving rise to the counterclaim.]
1		
2		
	[If any party sues or is sued in a represent capacity.]	tative capacity, identify the party and describe the representative
Par	t 2: RELIEF SOUGHT	
	[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the Relief may be sought in the alternative.]	relief sought and indicate against which party(ies) that relief is sought.
1		
2		
Par	t 3: LEGAL BASIS	
		oncise summary of the legal bases on which the defendant(s) bringing port of the relief sought and specify any rule or other enactment relied may be set out in the alternative.]
1		
2		
	ress for service of the defendant(s) bringing the of a fax number and an e-mail address may be	nis counterclaim: [Set out the street address of the address for service. One one given as additional addresses for service.]
Fax	number address for service (if any):	
E-m	ail address for service (if any):	
The	address of the registry is:	
Date	e: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
		[type or print name]
Rule	e 7-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules sta	tes:

- (1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period,
 - (a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists
 - (i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to prove or disprove a material fact, and
 - (ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and
 - (b) serve the list on all parties of record.

Form 4 (Rule 3-4 (5))

[Style of Proceeding]

RESPONSE TO COUNTERCLAIM

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Filed by: [party(ies)] (the "responding party(ies)")

Part 1: RESPONSE TO COUNTERCLAIM FACTS

Division 1 — Response to Facts

[Indicate, for each paragraph in Part 1 of the counterclaim, whether the fact(s) alleged in that paragraph is(are) admitted, denied or outside the knowledge of the responding party(ies).]

- 1 The facts alleged in paragraph(s) [list paragraph numbers] of Part 1 of the counterclaim are admitted.
- The facts alleged in paragraph(s) [list paragraph numbers] of Part 1 of the counterclaim are denied.
- The facts alleged in paragraph(s) [*list paragraph numbers*] of Part 1 of the counterclaim are outside the knowledge of the responding party(ies).

Division 2 — Responding Party's(ies') Version of Facts

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the responding party's(ies') version of the facts alleged in those paragraphs of the counterclaim that are listed above in paragraph 2 of Division 1 of this Part.]

Division 3 — Additional Facts

[If additional material facts are relevant to the matters raised by the counterclaim, set out, in numbered paragraphs, a concise statement of those additional material facts.]

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT

1

2

1

2

[Indicate, for each paragraph in Part 2 of the counterclaim, whether the responding party(ies) consent(s) to, oppose(s) or take(s) no position on the granting of that relief.]

1	The responding party(ies) consent(s) to the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers] of Part 2 of the counterclaim.
2	The responding party(ies) oppose(s) the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs [<i>list paragraph numbers</i>] of Part 2 of the counterclaim.
3	The responding party(ies) take(s) no position on the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers] of Part 2 of the counterclaim.
Part	3: LEGAL BASIS
	[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise summary of the legal bases on which the responding party(ies) oppose(s) the relief sought by the party(ies) bringing the counterclaim and specify any rule or other enactment relied on. The legal bases for opposing the claimed relief may be set out in the alternative.]
1	
2	
numl	ss for service of the responding party(ies): [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax er and an e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service.] umber address for service (if any):
E-ma	l address for service (if any):
Date	[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]
Rule	7-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states:
	 Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period,
	(a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists
	(i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to prove or disprove a material fact, and
	(ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and

(b) serve the list on all parties of record.

Form 5 (Rule 3-5 (3))

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

[Add the following to the style of proceeding.]

and

Third Party(ies)

THIRD PARTY NOTICE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
Filed by: [party(ies)] (the "claiming party(ies)")
To:

THIS ACTION has been brought by the plaintiff(s) against the defendant(s) for the relief set out in the notice of civil claim filed in this action.

TAKE NOTICE that the claiming party(ies) claim(s) against you for the relief set out in Part 2 below.

IF YOU INTEND TO RESPOND TO this claim against you, or if you have a set-off or counterclaim that you wish to have taken into account at the trial, YOU MUST FILE a response to third party notice in Form 6 in the above-named registry of this court within the time for response to third party notice provided for below and SERVE a copy of the filed response to third party notice on the claiming party's(ies') address for service.

YOU OR YOUR LAWYER may file the response to third party notice.

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to file the response to third party notice within the time for response to third party notice described below.

Time for response to third party notice

A response to third party notice must be filed and served on the claiming party(ies),

- (a) if you were served with the third party notice anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after that service,
- (b) if you were served with the third party notice anywhere in the United States of America, within 35 days after that service,

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

- (c) if you were served with the third party notice anywhere else, within 49 days after that service, or
- (d) if the time for response to third party notice has been set by order of the court, within that time.

Claim of the Claiming Party(ies)

Part 1:	STAT	EMENT	OF	FA	CTS
---------	------	-------	----	----	-----

Part 1	I: STATEMENT OF FACTS
	[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the material facts giving rise to the claiming party's(ies') third party claim.]
1	
2	
	[If any party sues or is sued in a representative capacity, identify the party and describe the representative capacity.]
Part	2: RELIEF SOUGHT
	[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the relief sought against the third party(ies). Relief may be sought in the alternative.]
1	
2	
Part	3: LEGAL BASIS
	[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise summary of the legal bases on which the claiming party(ies) intend(s) to rely in support of the relief sought and specify any rule or other enactment relied on. The legal bases for the relief sought may be set out in the alternative.]
1	
2	
	ess for service of claiming party(ies): [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number on e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service.]
Fax n	number address for service (if any):
E-ma	il address for service (if any):
The a	address of the registry is:
Date	:

Rule 7-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states:

.....[type or print name]

- (1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period,
 - (a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists
 - (i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to prove or disprove a material fact, and
 - (ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and
 - (b) serve the list on all parties of record.

Form 6 (Rule 3-5 (9))

[Style of Proceeding]

RESPONSE TO THIRD PARTY NOTICE

	[Rule 22-3 of	the Supreme Court C	ivil Rules applies to	o all forms.]
Filed by:	[party(ies)]	(the "third party(ies)")	

Part 1: RESPONSE TO THIRD PARTY NOTICE FACTS

Division 1 — Response to Facts

[Indicate, for each paragraph in Part 1 of the third party notice, whether that fact(s) alleged in that paragraph is(are) admitted, denied or outside the knowledge of the third party(ies).]

- 1 The facts alleged in paragraph(s) [list paragraph numbers] of Part 1 of the third party notice are admitted.
- The facts alleged in paragraph(s) [*list paragraph numbers*] of Part 1 of the third party notice are denied.
- 3 The facts alleged in paragraph(s) [*list paragraph numbers*] of Part 1 of the third party notice are outside the knowledge of the third party(ies).

Division 2 — Third Party's(ies') Version of Facts

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the third party's(ies') version of the facts alleged in those paragraphs of the third party notice that are listed above in paragraph 2 of Division 1 of this Part.]

Division 3 — Additional Facts

[If additional material facts are relevant to the matters raised by the third party notice, set out, in numbered paragraphs, a concise statement of those additional material facts.]

Part 2: RESPONSE TO RELIEF SOUGHT

1

2

1

2

	[Indicate, for each paragraph in Part 2 of oppose(s) or take(s) no position on the g	of the third party notice, whether the third party(ies) consent(s) to, granting of that relief.
1	The third party(ies) consent(s) to the gra of Part 2 of the third party notice.	anting of the relief sought in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers]
2	The third party(ies) oppose(s) the granti of Part 2 of the third party notice.	ing of the relief sought in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers]
3	The third party(ies) take(s) no position of numbers] of Part 2 of the third party	on the granting of the relief sought in paragraphs [list paragraph rty notice.
Part	3: LEGAL BASIS	
	oppose(s) the relief sought by the party(concise summary of the legal bases on which the third party(ies) (ies) who filed the third party notice and specify any rule or other r opposing the claimed relief may be set out in the alternative.]
1		
2		
	ess for service of third party(ies): [Set out the il address may be given as additional address	he street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and sees for service.]
Fax n	umber address for service (if any):	
E-ma	il address for service (if any):	
Date:	: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
		[type or print name]
Rule	7-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules sta	ates:
((1) Unless all parties of record consent of within 35 days after the end of the pl	or the court otherwise orders, each party of record to an action must, leading period,
	(a) prepare a list of documents in Fo	orm 22 that lists

(b) serve the list on all parties of record.

(i)

(ii)

all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or control and that could, if

available, be used by any party at trial to prove or disprove a material fact, and

all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and

an

Form 7 (Rule 3-6 (1))

[Style of Proceeding]

REPLY

[Rule 22-3 of the S	Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
Filed by: [party(ies)]	
In reply to:	
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]

- Rule 7-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states:
 - (1) Unless all parties of record consent or the court otherwise orders, each party of record to an action must, within 35 days after the end of the pleading period,
 - (a) prepare a list of documents in Form 22 that lists
 - (i) all documents that are or have been in the party's possession or control and that could, if available, be used by any party at trial to prove or disprove a material fact, and
 - (ii) all other documents to which the party intends to refer at trial, and
 - (b) serve the list on all parties of record.

Form 8 (Rule 3-8 (2), (3), (5) and (6))

[en. B.C. Reg. 58/2012, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

BEFORE A REGISTRAR

DEFAULT JUDGMENT

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Complete the form in accordance with the instructions found in the bracketed italicized wording and then remove all bracketed italicized wording so that it does not appear in the form when the form is filed.]

[Select whichever one of the 2 following provisions is correct, complete the selected provision and remove the provision that has not been selected so that it does not appear in the form when the form is filed.]

The plaintiff(s) having filed and served a notice of civil claim and the defendant(s)

	[name(s)] having failed to file and serve a response to civil claim within the time allowed;
	Pursuant to an order made by
-	thever one or more of the 4 following provisions is/are correct, complete the selected provision(s) and provision(s) that has/have not been selected so that it/they do(es) not appear in the form when the form is
	[Select and complete this provision if Rule 3-8 (3) is applicable] THIS COURT ORDERS that the defendant(s) [name(s)] pay to the plaintiff(s) the sum of \$;
	[Select and complete this provision if Rule 3-8 (5) is applicable] THIS COURT ORDERS that the defendant(s) [name(s)] pay to the plaintiff(s) damages to be assessed;
	[Select and complete this provision if Rule 3-8 (6) (a) (i) is applicable] THIS COURT ORDERS that the defendant(s)
	[Select and complete this provision if Rule 3-8 (6) (a) (ii) is applicable] THIS COURT ORDERS that the defendant(s)

THIS COURT FURTHER ORDERS that the de	efendant(s)	[name(s)]	pay to the pla	intiff(s)
[Set out one or more of the following	<i>ng as applicable:</i> i	nterest as claimed in the	amount of \$	/ interest under
the Court Order Interest Act in the amount of \$	/ costs in	the amount of \$	/ costs to be asses	sed]
Data [dd/mmm/gggg]				
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	•••••	,	•••••	
	Registrar			

Form 9 (Rules 4-1 (3) and 6-2 (11))

NOTICE OF ADDRESS FOR SERVICE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
TAKE NOTICE that the address for service of [party(ies)] (the "filing party(ies)") is:
[Check whichever one of the following boxes is correct and complete the required information.]
[] The filing party(ies) [is/are] represented by a lawyer in the proceeding.
Name and office address of party's lawyer: [This must be an accessible address.]
Additional addresses for service (optional):
Lawyer's fax number:
Lawyer's e-mail address:
[OR]
[] The filing party(ies) [is/are] not represented by a lawyer in the proceeding.
Residential address or business address: [This must be an accessible address.]
[If the residential address or business address noted above is more than 30 kilometres from the registry, the filing party must provide at least one of the following in addition to the address noted above. In any case, the filing party may provide one or more of the following as additional addresses for service.]
Postal address in British Columbia:
Fax number:
E-mail address:

Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Rule 1-1 (1) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules defines "accessible address" as follows:

"accessible address" means an address that describes a unique and identifiable location in British Columbia that is accessible to the public during normal business hours for the delivery of documents;

Form 10 (Rule 4-4 (3))

[Style of Proceeding]

ADVERTISEMENT

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

To: [party(ies)]
TAKE NOTICE THAT on [dd/mmm/yyyy] an order was made for service on you of a [document] issued from the [location]
In the proceeding, the
You must file a responding pleading/response to petition within the period required under the Supreme Court Civil Rules failing which further proceedings, including judgment, may be taken against you without notice to you.
You may obtain, from the [location] Registry, at [address], a copy of the [document] and the order providing for service by this advertisement.
This advertisement is placed by

Form 11 (Rule 4-5 (2))

ENDORSEMENT ON ORIGINATING PLEADING OR PETITION FOR SERVICE OUTSIDE BRITISH COLUMBIA

Гhe [<i>party(ies)</i>],	[name(s) of party(ies)], claim(s) the right to serve this
pleading/petition on the[party(ies)].	, outside
British Columbia on the ground that	state the circumstances, enumerated in section 10 of the Court Jurisdiction
and Proceedings Transfer Act, on which the plain	iff/petitioner relies]

Form 12 (Rule 4-5 (12))

REQUEST

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

FOR SERVICE ABROAD OF JUDICIAL OR EXTRAJUDICIAL DOCUMENTS

Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents in Civil or Commercial Matters, signed at The Hague, November 15, 1965.

Address of receiving authority

Artic	undersigned applicant has the honour to transmit — in duplicate — the documents listed below and, in conformity with cle 5 of the Convention, requests prompt service of one copy thereof on the addressee, i.e., [identity and address]
(a)	in accordance with the provisions of subparagraph (a) of the first paragraph of Article 5 of the Convention*.
(b)	in accordance with the following particular method (subparagraph (b) of the first paragraph of Article 5*)
(c)	by delivery to the addressee, if he or she accepts it voluntarily (second paragraph of Article 5*).
	authority is requested to return or to have returned to the applicant a copy of the documents — and of the annexes* — a certificate as provided in Form 14.
List	of documents:
•••••	[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	Signature and/or stamp.
*Del	elete if inappropriate.

Identity and address of the applicant

Form 13 (Rule 4-5 (12))

NOTICE AND SUMMARY OF DOCUMENT

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Identity and address of the addressee

IMPORTANT

The enclosed document is of a legal nature and may affect your rights and obligations. The "summary of the document to be served" will give you some information about its nature and purpose. You should, however, read the document itself carefully. It may be necessary to seek legal advice.

If your financial resources are insufficient, you should seek information on the possibility of obtaining legal aid or advice either in the country where you live or in the country where the document was issued.

Inquiries about the availability of legal aid or advice in the country where the document was issued may be directed to:

Legal Services Society Suite 400 - 510 Burrard Street Vancouver, BC V6C 3A8

(Phone) (604) 601-6000

Summary of document to be served
Name and address of the requesting authority
*Particulars of the parties
**Judicial document
Nature and purpose of the document
Nature and purpose of the proceedings and if appropriate the amount in dispute

**Date and place for entering response to civil claim
**Court which has given judgment
**Date of judgment
**Time limits stated in the document
**Extrajudicial document
Nature and purpose of the document
**Time limits stated in the document
*If appropriate, identity and address of the person interested in the transmission of the document.

^{**}Delete if inappropriate.

Form 14 (Rule 4-5 (13))

CERTIFICATE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

The undersigned authority has the honour to certify, in conformity with Article 6 of the Convention.

1	That the document has been served*				
	— the [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]				
	— at[place, street, number]				
	— in one of the following methods authorized by Article 5—				
	(a) in accordance with the provisions of subparagraph (a) of the first paragraph of Article 5 of the Convention*				
	(b) in accordance with the following particular method*:				
	(c) by delivery to the addressee, who accepted it voluntarily*.				
	The documents referred to in the request have been delivered to: — [relationship of person to addressee (family, business or other)]*				
2	That the document has not been served, by reason of the following facts*:				
	informity with the second paragraph of article 12 of the Convention, the applicant is requested to pay or reimburse that seems that the attached statement*	ne			
Ann	exes				
Doc	uments returned: Done at				
•••••	[dd/mmm/yyyy]				
In a	opropriate cases, documents Signature and/or stamp.				

*Delete if inappropriate.

Form 15 (Rule 4-6 (1))

[en. B.C. Reg. 120/2014; am. B.C. Regs. 103/2015; 149/2022, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF PERSONAL SERVICE

		[Traine 22 5 of the supreme source extra traines applies to this formal,
	 TRM) T	[name], of
1		[dd/mmm/yyyy], at [time of day], I served [name of person served] [Check the correct box(es) and provide the required information.]
	[]	the following documents that have been filed in this proceeding: [Using one line for each filed document served by personal service on the named person, describe the document including its date if available – e.g. notice of civil claim between[name(s)] and[name(s)] bearing court stamp dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], affidavit of[name] sworn[date] and bearing court stamp dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], etc.]
		[description of document]
		[description of document]
	[]	the following documents that have not been filed in this proceeding: [Using one line for each unfiled document served by personal service on the named person, identify and exhibit the document in the following manner.]
		[description of document], a copy of which is attached to this affidavit and marked as Exhibit A.
		[description of document], a copy of which is attached to this affidavit and marked as Exhibit[B, C, etc.]
2	I served each document referred to in section 1 of this affidavit by handing it to and leaving it with	
3		means by which I identified the person served is [Check whichever one of the following boxes is correct complete the required information.]
	[]	I know the person served because[set out the means of knowledge]
	[]	the person I served produced the following identification containing a photograph that was a true likeness of the person I served:[specify form of identification produced – e.g., "B.C. Drivers Licence No. XXX"], bearing the name of

	[describe other means by which the person was identified red that they were[name of person served])]
SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
ME at, British Columbia	
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])
A commissioner for taking	
affidavits for British Columbia)
[print name or affix stamp of commissioner]	

Form 16 (Rule 4-6 (1))

[en. B.C. Reg. 120/2014; am. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF ORDINARY SERVICE

		[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
	[IRM) TI	name] [occupation], SWEAR (OR HAT:
1		[dd/mmm/yyyy], at [time of day], I served [name of person served]
	[]	the following documents that have been filed in this proceeding: [Using one line for each filed document served by personal service on the named person, describe the document including its date if available – e.g. notice of civil claim between[name(s)] and[name(s)] bearing cour stamp dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], affidavit of[name] sworn[date] and bearing court stamp dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], etc.]
		[description of document]
		[description of document]
	[]	the following documents that have not been filed in this proceeding: [Using one line for each unfiled document served by personal service on the named person, identify and exhibit the document in the following manner.]
		[description of document], a copy of which is attached to this affidavit and marked as Exhibi A.
		[description of document], a copy of which is attached to this affidavit and marked as Exhibi[B, C, etc.]
2		ed each document referred to in section 1 of this affidavit by [Check whichever one of the following s is correct.]
	[]	leaving the document at[the party's address for service]
	[]	mailing the document by ordinary mail to[the party's address for service]
	[]	faxing the document to[fax number] together with a fax cover sheet
	[]	e-mailing the document to[e-mail address]

SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE

)

ME at	, British Columbia)
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyy</i>]	v])
	•)
	•••••)
A commissioner for taking	•)
affidavits for British Columbia		
[print name or affix stamp of	f commissioner]	

Form 17 (Rules 4-6 (1), 5-4 (1), 8-1 (21.1) and (22), 9-4 (1), 13-3 (25), 16-1 (16.1) and (17), 20-5 (3), 23-1 (9) and 23-3 (10))

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 120/2014; 236/2022, Sch. 1; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

REQUISITION – GENERAL

Filed by: [party(ies)]	
Required:	
This requisition is supported by the fol	lowing:
identified as follows: "Affiday	orting document(s). Each affidavit included on the list must be vit # [sequential number, if any, recorded in the top right hand
1	
2	
Date: [<i>date</i>]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Form 17.1 (Rule 8-5 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 120/2014; am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

REQUISITION – SHORT NOTICE

Filed by: [party(ies)]				
Required: an order under Rule 8-5 (1) that the main application be brought on short notice.				
This requisition is supported by the following:				
[Include a description of supporting document(s). Each affidavit included on the list must be identified as follows: "Affidavit # [sequential number, if any, recorded in the top right hand corner of the affidavit] of [name]				
2				
Date: [<i>date</i>] Signature of				
[] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)				
[type or print name]				
ORDER BY ENDORSEMENT (to be completed by a judge, master or registrar)				
Date set for hearing of main application:[date]				
Conditions for Service:				
Service by applicant of Notice of Application and applicant's affidavits with this order on the respondent(s) beforea.m./p.m on				
Service of respondent(s)'s Application Response and affidavits on applicant beforea.m./p.mon				
Other Conditions:				
Findorsed:				

Judge/Master/Registrar	
Date[date]	

	Form 17.2 (Rule 2-2 (3))	
	[en. B.C. Reg. 120/2014; am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]	
		Court File No.:
		Court Registry:
	In the Supreme Court of British Columbia	
Claimant:		
Respondent:		
	REQUISITION – TRIBUNAL AWARD	
[Rule 22-3	3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]	
Filed by: [party(ies)]		
Required: The filing of the attached tribu	nal award made under the [name of Act]	
My address for service is [Set out the streaddress may be given as additional address	eet address of the address for service. One or both of a fax a esses for service.]	number and an e-mail
Address for service:		
Fax number address for service (if any):		
E-mail address for service (if any):		
S	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)	

..... [type or print name]

Form 18 (Rule 4-6 (2))

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY SHERIFF

I, [name] certify that on [d document at [specify place of service]	d/mmm/yyyy], at [time of day], I left a copy of this with
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of sheriff or deputy sheriff

Form 19 (Rules 5-1 (1) and 23-2 (4))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF CASE PLANNING CONFERENCE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

A case planning conference has been set for this action: [Check whichever one of the following boxes is correct and complete any required information.] []at the request of [party(ies)] [] at the direction of the court The case planning conference will be held at [address of the registry in which the proceeding is being conducted] at [time of day] on [dd/mmm/yyyy] This case planning conference has been set to consider: [Check whichever one of the following boxes is correct and complete any required information.] [in the case of a first case planning conference] the matters set out in the parties' respective case plan []proposals [in the case of a subsequent case planning conference] [Using numbered paragraphs, set out a []brief summary of the matters to be considered.] 1 2 Date: [*dd/mmm/yyyy*] Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)

..... [type or print name]

Form 19.1 (Rule 5-1 (4) and 25-5 (6))

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

REQUISITION – GENERAL (APPLICATION)

Filed by: [party(ies)] .	
Required:	
[Set out order or relief sought]	
This order/relief is sought because:	
[Set out the reasons why the ord	ler or relief is sought]
This requisition is supported by the fol	lowing documents:
	ting document(s). Each affidavit included on the list must be identified as tial number, if any, recorded in the top right hand corner of the affidavit] [date]
1	
2	
Position of the other party(ies):	
[State whether other parties have a pos	sition with respect to this application]
Date: [<i>date</i>]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)[type or print name]
ORDER BY ENDORSEMENT (to be Order granted [] / refused []	completed by a judge, master or registrar)
Conditions or directions:	

Endorsed:	
Judge/Master/Registrar	
Date[date]	

Form 20 (Rule 5-1 (6))

[Style of Proceeding]

CASE PLAN PROPOSAL

·	te the party's proposal with respect to the following		
Item	Step	If parties agree, step agreed to and its timing [set out details or refer to attachment]	If parties disagree, party's proposal respecting step and its timing [set out details or refer to attachment]
1	Discovery of documents [when list is to be produced, where documents are to be made available for inspection, electronic document protocol, etc.]		
2	Examinations for discovery [person to be discovered, date of discovery, duration of discovery, etc.]		
3	Dispute resolution procedures under Part 9 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules [what procedures to be used and when, etc.]		
4	Expert witnesses [area of expertise of expert, date report to be served, etc.]		
5	List of witnesses [date list to be served]		
6	Proposed mode of trial		
7	Estimated trial length		
8	Preferred period(s) for trial date		
9	Other [specify]		
Date:	[] pa	nture of rty [] lawyer for party [<i>type or print nar</i>	ne]



Form 20.1 (Rule 5-2 (4), 12-2 (6), 23-5 (5) and 23.1-1 (4))

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

REQUISITION – METHOD OF ATTENDANCE

Filed by: [party(ies)]		
Required:		
[] Order to exempt [name of party] from attending the:		
[] case planning conference on		
[] trial management conference on [date] [Rule 12-2 (6)]		
[] Order to permit attendance [] in person or by way of [] video conference or [] telephone by [name of lawyer or party]		
[] case planning conference on [date] [Rule 5-2 (4)]		
[] trial management conference on [date] [Rule 12-2 (6)]		
[] Order that the following application be heard [] in person or by way of [] video conference [] telephone or [] other communication medium (please specify below):		
[identify application (including filing date)] [Rule 23-5 (5)]		
[] Order that the following hearing before a registrar be heard [] in person or by way of [] video conference [] telephone or [] other communication medium (please specify below):		
[identify hearing] [Rule 23-5 (5)]		
[] Order that the following application, conference or hearing be heard in person:		
[identify application (including filing date), conference or hearing] [Rule 23.1-1 (4)]		
This order/relief is sought because:		
[Set out the reasons why the order or relief is sought]		
Position of the other party(ies):		
[State whether other parties have a position with respect to this application]		
Contact information for any person whose participation is to be by video conference or telephone:		
[provide e-mail address (for video conference) or telephone number (for telephone)]		

Date: [<i>date</i>]	
	Signature of
	[] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]
ORDER BY ENDORSEMENT (to be	completed by a judge, master or registrar)
Order granted [] / refused []	
Conditions or directions:	
Endorsed:	
Judge/Master/Registrar	
Date[<i>date</i>]	

Rule 5-3 (4))
0, Sch. A; 149/2022, Sch. 1.]
Proceeding]
[dd/mmm/yyyy]
AN ORDER
rt Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
[dd/mmm/yyyy] by [judge/master] in the;
ched case plan.
THIS ORDER If signed by or for each approving party.]

Case Plan

Registrar

By the Court.

1 Dispute resolution procedures

The parties have discussed resolution options including those under Part 9 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules and have agreed to the following:

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

[Check the box to the left of each step to be taken and fill in the agreed date.]

Step	Date by which step to be completed [dd/mmm/yyyy]
Offer to settle	
Mediation	
Special Case	
Proceeding on point of law	
Summary trial	
Summary judgment application	
Other [identify]	

A party may undertake any of the steps provided for in Part 9 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules whether or not the step is noted above.

2 Document production (Rule 7-1 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules)

The following steps will be completed by the date set out next to each step:

Step	Date by which step to be completed [if dates differ by party, indicate a date for each party] [dd/mmm/yyyy]
Delivery of the lists of documents required under Rule 7-1	
Completion of an electronic document protocol	
Other [identify]	

3 Examinations for discovery (Rule 7-2 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules)

The following examinations for discovery will be conducted, not exceed the time limits indicated and be completed by the date indicated:

Examination by (party name)	Examination of (party and person name)	Time Limit	Date by which step to be completed [dd/mmm/yyyy]

4 Applications

The following applications are anticipated:

[Identify each anticipated application and fill in the proposed date.]

Application	Date by which application anticipated to be brought [dd/mmm/yyyy]

A party may bring any other application whether or not that application is noted above.

5 Expert witnesses (Part 11 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules)

[For the following, complete the following Parts 1 and 2 for any expert evidence that the parties anticipate introducing at trial, and if the parties are unable to provide the information required under Part 1 or 2, complete the following Part 3.]

Part 1

Each party may tender the report of, or call to give oral opinion evidence, an expert with the following expertise:

Name of party who intends to call the expert [if expert is being called jointly, specify "Joint"]	Area of Expertise

Part 2

The following steps will be taken by the date set out next to each step:

Step	Date by which step to be completed [if dates differ by party, indicate a date for each party] [dd/mmm/yyyy]
Joint expert's report served	
Expert reports served	
Responding expert reports served	
Notices of objection to expert evidence served (Rule 11-6 (10))	
Experts confer and serve report summarizing points of difference	

Other [identify]	
Other [identify]	

Part 3

If the information set out in the foregoing Part 1 or 2 is incomplete, the parties will apply to amend this order to complete that information by [dd/mmm/yyyy]

6 Witnesses

The following steps will be completed by the date set out next to each step:

Step	Date by which step to be completed [if dates differ by party, indicate a date for each party] [dd/mmm/yyyy]
Serve lists of witnesses to be called at trial	
Other [identify]	
Other [identify]	

7 Trial (Part 12 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules)

(2	a)	Estimated	lenoth	of the	trial·	[davs]	•

(b)	[party(ies)], will file a Notice of Trial in Form 40 to secure the trial date by
	[dd/mmm/yyyy]

8 Other

Form 22 (Rule 7-1 (1))

[en. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A; am. B.C. Regs. 95/2011, Sch. A; 3/2016.]

[Style of Proceeding]

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

Prepared by:	[party]	(the	"listing party"
pur			

Part 1: DOCUMENTS THAT ARE OR HAVE BEEN IN THE LISTING PARTY'S POSSESSION OR CONTROL AND THAT COULD BE USED BY ANY PARTY AT TRIAL TO PROVE OR DISPROVE A MATERIAL FACT

[Do not include documents listed under Part 2, 3 or 4.]

No.	Date of document [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Description of document	Indicate by a check mark if the document is no longer in the listing party's possession or control	Indicate, for each document listed in this Part by way of an amendment to this List of Documents under Rule 7-1(9), (12) or (14), the date on which the document was listed
1.1			[]	
1.2			[]	

Part 2: OTHER DOCUMENTS TO WHICH THE LISTING PARTY INTENDS TO REFER AT TRIAL

[Do not include documents listed under Part 1, 3 or 4.]

No.	Date of document [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Description of document	Indicate by a check mark if the document is no longer in the listing party's possession or control	Indicate, for each document listed in this Part by way of an amendment to this List of Documents under Rule 7-1(9), (12) or (14), the date on which the document was listed
2.1			[]	
2.2			[]	

Part 3: DOCUMENTS THAT RELATE TO A MATTER IN QUESTION IN THE ACTION

[List here all documents that are listed in response to a demand under Rule 7-1 (11) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules, and all documents that are listed in response to a court order under Rule 7-1 (14) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules, that have not been listed under Part 1 or 2. Do not include documents listed under Part 1, 2 or 4.]

No.	Date of document [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Description of document	Indicate by a check mark if the document is no longer in the listing party's possession or control	Indicate, for each document listed in this Part by way of an amendment to this List of Documents under Rule 7-1(9), (12) or (14), the date on which the document was listed
3.1			[]	
3.2			[]	

Part 4: DOCUMENTS FOR WHICH PRIVILEGE FROM PRODUCTION IS CLAIMED

No.	Date of document [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Description of document	Grounds on which privilege is claimed	Indicate, for each document listed in this Part by way of an amendment to this List of Documents under Rule 7-1(9), (12) or (14), the date on which the document was listed
4.1				
4.2				

•	r 3 of this List of Documents that are not shown as no longer being in ad and copied, during normal business hours, at
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	
until the scope of the undertaking is varied by a cou	r party(ies) except for the purposes of this litigation unless and order or other judicial order, consent or statutory override or a This implied undertaking continues despite settlement or
	Signature of [] listing party [] lawyer for listing party
	[type or print name]

Form 23 (Rule 7-2 (13))

[am. B.C. Regs. 95/2011, Sch. A; 3/2016.]

[Style of Proceeding]

APPOINTMENT TO EXAMINE FOR DISCOVERY

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Train 22 5 of the Supreme Court Civil Raises applies to all forms.
To: [name of person to be examined]
TAKE NOTICE that you are required to attend for your examination for discovery at the place, date and time set out below. If you are not a named party, or a representative of a named party, to this action, you must, unless the court otherwise orders, bring with you all documents in your possession or control, not privileged, relating to the matters in question in this action. Please note the provisions of the Supreme Court Civil Rules reproduced below.
Place:
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]
Time:
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]
Implied undertaking to the court Documents produced are not to be used by the other party(ies) except for the purposes of this litigation unless and until the scope of the undertaking is varied by a court order or other judicial order, consent or statutory override or a situation of immediate and serious danger emerges. This implied undertaking continues despite settlement or completion of the litigation.
Signature of [] party wishing to conduct examination
[] lawyer for party(ies) wishing to conduct examination
[type or print name]
Rules 22-7 (5) and 22-8 (4) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules state in part:

"22-7 (5) ... if a person, contrary to these Supreme Court Civil Rules and without lawful excuse,

(a) refuses or neglects to obey a subpoena or to attend at the time and place appointed for his or her examination for discovery, ...

then

- (f) if the person is the plaintiff or petitioner, a present officer of a corporate plaintiff or petitioner or a partner in or manager of a partnership plaintiff or petitioner, the court may dismiss the proceeding, and
- (g) if the person is a defendant, respondent or third party, a present officer of a corporate defendant, respondent or third party or a partner in or manager of a partnership defendant, respondent or third party, the court may order the proceeding to continue as if no response to civil claim had been filed.
- 22-8 (4) A person who is guilty of an act or omission described in Rule 12-5 (25) or 22-7 (5), in addition to being subject to any consequences prescribed by those rules, is guilty of contempt of court and subject to the court's power to punish contempt of court."

Form 24 (Rule 7-3 (1))

[Style of Proceeding]

INTERROGATORIES

Interrogatories on behalf of [party(ie to answer]	s)] for the examination of [person(s) required
[Set out numbered questions to be answered specific person.]	lying the person to answer, if the questions are directed to more than one
1	
2	
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] party serving interrogatories
	[] lawyer for party(ies) serving interrogatories
	[type or print name]

Form 25 (Rules 7-5 (5), 7-8 (5) and 12-5 (32) and (36))

[Style of Proceeding]

SUBPOENA TO WITNESS

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

To: [name and address]	
*	estify as a witness at the place, date and time set out below. You are also essession or control relating to the matters in question in this proceeding
Please note the provisions of the Supreme Court Ci	vil Rules reproduced below.
Place:	
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
Time:	
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] party serving subpoena [] lawyer for party(ies) serving subpoena[type or print name]
Rules 22-7 (5) and 22-8 (4) of the Supreme Court C	Civil Rules state in part:

"22-7 (5) ... if a person, contrary to these Supreme Court Civil Rules and without lawful excuse,

(a) refuses or neglects to obey a subpoena or to attend at the time and place appointed for his or her examination for discovery,

then

- (f) if the person is the plaintiff or petitioner, a present officer of a corporate plaintiff or petitioner or a partner in or manager of a partnership plaintiff or petitioner, the court may dismiss the proceeding, and
- (g) if the person is a defendant, respondent or third party, a present officer of a corporate defendant, respondent or third party or a partner in or manager of a partnership defendant, respondent or third party, the court may order the proceeding to continue as if no response to civil claim had been filed.
- 22-8 (4) A person who is guilty of an act or omission described in Rule 12-5 (25) or 22-7 (5), in addition to being subject to any consequences prescribed by those rules, is guilty of contempt of court and subject to the court's power to punish contempt of court."

Form 26 (Rule 7-7 (1))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE TO ADMIT

To: [party(ies)]		
TAKE NOTICE that the	[party(ies)], to admit, for t	the purpose of
AND TAKE NOTICE that, unless the court otherwise orders, if the par written statement, as provided in Rule 7-7 (2) of the Supreme Court Civnotice on him or her, then the truth of the facts and the authenticity of the	il Rules, within 14 days after service of	f a copy of this
Signature of [] [] lawyer for pa	party serving notice to admit arty(ies) serving notice to admit [type or print name]	
The facts, the admission of which is requested, are: [Set out facts, using to be admitted.]	g a separate numbered paragraph for eac	ch fact requeste
1		
2		
The documents, the authenticity of which admission is requested, are: [this notice to admit.]	List documents and attach copies of the	documents to
1		
2		

Form 27 (Rule 7-8 (9))

[Style of Proceeding]

ORDER FOR EXAMINATION OF PERSONS OUTSIDE THE JURISDICTION

$ BEFORE \left. \begin{array}{l} \text{THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE} \\ \text{or} \\ \text{MASTER} \end{array} \right\} \ \dots \left[\frac{dd}{mmm} \frac{dyyyy}{yyy} \right] \dots $
THE APPLICATION of
THIS COURT ORDERS that:
1
2 the lawyer for the applicant give to the lawyer for each of the other parties days' notice in writing of the date on which the lawyer proposes to send this order to the examiner for execution, and that days after service of the notice the lawyers for the parties respectively exchange the names of their lawyers or agents at to whom notice relating to the examination of the persons may be sent;
3 days' notice (exclusive of Saturday and Sunday) before the examination of any person must be given by the examine to the lawyer for or agent of each of the parties and to each person to be examined unless the notice is waived;
4 the examination be conducted in accordance with the enclosed instructions, with such modifications as may be necessary;
5 the depositions, together with any document referred to in them, or certified copy of or extract from the document, be sent promptly by the examiner to the Registrar of the Supreme Court of British Columbia at the courthouse at

By the Court.
Registrar

Form 28 (Rule 7-8 (9))

[Style of Proceeding]

INSTRUCTIONS TO EXAMINER

To: [name and address]	
You have been appointed Examiner to take the evider. The law of British Columbia will apply to the taking of	nce of
	to be examined] before you is required to serve [him/her] ewer than days before the date you fix for the examination.
The witness and any interpreter will be sworn or affirm	med in accordance with the form set out below.
	transcribed and the transcript certified by you as correct, you are to send to the registrar, courthouse
Oath (o	or Affirmation) of Witness
Do you swear that the evidence that you will give in the truth, so help you God?	hese proceedings will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
	[OR]
Do you affirm that the evidence that you will give in t truth?	these proceedings will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
	Interpreter's Oath
	party in this proceeding, and to the best of your ability, interpret and ered and all questions that may be asked of any witness and his or her
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] party [] lawyer for party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Form 29 (Rule 7-8 (10))

[Style of Proceeding]

ORDER FOR ISSUE OF A LETTER OF REQUEST TO JUDICIAL AUTHORITY OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION

BEFORE THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE [dd/m	<i>ımm/yyyy</i>]
ON THE APPLICATION of[party(ie. [dd/mmm/yyyy], and on hearing	[name of party/lawyer] and [name of
THIS COURT ORDERS that:	
1 the attached letter of request be issued;	
2 the registrar, on receipt of the deposition takes provide copies to any party on request.	n under the letter of request, must deliver them to the applicant and
	By the Court.
	Registrar

Form 30 (Rule 7-8 (10))

[Style of Proceeding]

LETTER OF REQUEST FOR EXAMINATION OF WITNESS OUT OF JURISDICTION

To the judicial authority of in the of
Whereas this proceeding is now pending in the Supreme Court of British Columbia in which the plaintiff claims:
And whereas it appears to me that it is necessary for the purposes of justice and for the due determination of the matters in question between the parties that the following persons should be examined on oath or affirmation relating to those matters, namely
Now I,, a Judge of the Supreme Court of British Columbia, hereby request that, for the assistance of the court, you will be pleased to summon the lawyers or agents of the parties and the witnesses to be examined, to attend at such time and place as you appoint, either before you or such other person as according to your procedure is competent to take the deposition examination of witnesses, and that you will cause the witnesses to be examined orally or by interrogatories relating to the matters in question, in the presence of the lawyers or agents of the parties or such of them as, on due notice given, attend the examination:
And I further request that you permit the lawyer or agent of any party present to examine any witness called by the lawyer or agent and the lawyer or agent of any opposing party to cross-examine the witness and the lawyer or agent of the party calling the witness to re-examine the witness:
And I further request that you will be pleased to cause the evidence of each witness to be recorded verbatim, and any document produced on the examination to be marked for identification, and that you will be further pleased to authenticate the depositions taken on the examination and any document, or certified copy of the same or any extract therefrom by the seal of your tribunal or in such other way as is in accordance with your procedure, and to return the same, together with any interrogatories and a note of the charges and expenses payable in respect of the execution of this request to the Under Secretary of State for External Affairs of Canada at Ottawa, Canada [or, if the judicial authority to whom the letter is addressed is in Canada, to the Deputy Attorney General for the Province of British Columbia, Parliament Buildings, Victoria, British Columbia], for transmission to the Registrar of the Supreme Court of British Columbia at the courthouse at
Dated:
A Judge of the Supreme Court of British Columbia
VI DITUSII CUTUITUIA

Form 30.1 (Rule 19-5)

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

[Style of Proceeding]

REQUEST FOR DOCUMENT REQUIRED BY JUDICIAL AUTHORITY OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

[OR]

[] The production of certification or formal documentation, as set out in Part 2

Part 1: CERTIFIED COPY WITH ADDITIONAL FORMALITIES

This request is for a certified copy of [identify document by nature and, if available, date], with the following additional formalities in the circumstance that the formalities are required by the judicial authority of [name of foreign jurisdiction] in accordance with [cite relevant foreign rule, enactment or other requirement].

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the additional formalities that are required for the requested certified copy. If the formalities require supplies other than blue or black ink, a Supreme Court adhesive seal, a Supreme Court impression seal or an ink stamp certifying a document to be a true copy, include those supplies with your submission.]

1

2

[Using numbered paragraphs, provide information about the foreign rule, enactment or other requirement relied on in this request that necessitates additional formalities for the requested certified copy by the judicial authority of another jurisdiction.]

1

2

Part 2: PRODUCTION OF CERTIFICATION OR FORMAL DOCUMENTATION

This request is for the production of certification of the attached document or for other formal documentation for [identify document by nature and, if available, date] in the circumstance that the certification or other formal documentation is required by the judicial authority of [name of foreign jurisdiction] in accordance with [cite relevant foreign rule, enactment or other requirement].

[Using numbered paragraphs, describe the requ	uested certification or other formal documentation.]
1	
2	
	tion about the foreign rule, enactment or other requirement relied on ification or other formal documentation by the judicial authority of
1	
2	
Date:[<i>dd/mm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of person filing request
	[type or print name]

in

Form 31 (Rules 7-8 (17), 8-3 (1), 8-4 (1), 17-1 (2) and 25-9 (2))

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 149/2013.]

[Style of Proceeding]

REQUISITION FOR CONSENT ORDER OR FOR ORDER WITHOUT NOTICE

			i-und and the state of the stat
Filed	l by:		[party(ies)]
Requ	iired	:[]A	an order by consent
[OR]]		
[]	An	orde	r without notice
	1	The	e rule or other enactment relied on is
	2	Atta	ached to this requisition is a draft of the order required.
[Ch	neck	whic	hever one of the following boxes is correct and complete any required information.]
	3	[]	Each party affected has consented to the order.
		[]	The evidence in support of the application is
[Ch	neck	whic	hever one of the following boxes is correct and complete any required information.]
	4	[]	No party is under a legal disability.
		[]	
[Con	nplet	te the	following if the filing of this requisition starts a proceeding]
addr	ess fo	or ser	in is filed by
Fax	numł	oer ad	dress for service (if any):
E-ma	ail ad	ldress	for service (if any):

Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Form 32 (Rule 8-1 (4))

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 241/2010, Sch. A; 115/2019.]

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF APPLICATION

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Name	e(s) of applicant(s):
То:	[name(s) of party(ies) or person(s) affected]
	E NOTICE that an application will be made by the applicant(s) to the presiding judge or master at the courthouse at
Part 1	: ORDER(S) SOUGHT
	[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the order(s) that will be sought at the application and indicate against which party(ies) the order(s) is(are) sought.]
1	
2	
Part	2: FACTUAL BASIS
	[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a brief summary of the facts supporting the application.]
1	
2	
	[If any party sues or is sued in a representative capacity, identify the party and describe the representative capacity.]
Part	3: LEGAL BASIS
	[Using numbered paragraphs, specify any rule or other enactment relied on and provide a brief summary of any other legal arguments on which the applicant(s) intend(s) to rely in support of the orders sought. If appropriate, include citation of applicable cases.]
1	
2	

Part 4: MATERIAL TO BE RELIED ON

	an	d oth	er documents alre	eady in the cou	ırt file on which the ap	pplicant(s) will re	ication and any other aft ly. Each affidavit includ r, recorded in the top rig.	ded on the
	co	rner (of the affidavit]	of	[name]	, made	[dd/mmm/yyyy]	.".]
1								
2								
The a	appli	cant(s) estimate(s) that t	he application	will take [<i>time o</i>	estimate]		
		·	rect box.]	11	·	-		
[]	Thi	is ma	tter is within the j	urisdiction of	a master.			
[]	Thi	s ma	tter is not within the	he jurisdiction	of a master.			
you 1	must	, with		after service of	f this notice of applicati	•	spond to this notice of app cation is brought under Ru	
	(a)	file	an application res	ponse in Form	n 33,			
	(b)	file	the original of eve	ery affidavit, a	and of every other doc	ument, that		
		(i)	you intend to ref	fer to at the he	earing of this application	on, and		
		(ii)	has not already b	peen filed in the	ne proceeding, and			
	(c)		e on the applicant owing:	2 copies of th	ne following, and on e	every other party of	of record one copy of the	e
		(i)	a copy of the file	ed application	response;			
		(ii)			davits and other docu ot already been served		tend to refer to at the he	aring of
		(iii)	if this applicatio (9).	n is brought u	nder Rule 9-7, any no	tice that you are r	required to give under R	ule 9-7
Date):	•••••	[<i>dd/mmm/yyy</i> y	v]	Signature of	lawyer for applic		
						[type or print na	ame]	

To be com	pleted by the court only:
Order mad	e
[] in the te	erms requested in paragraphs of Part 1 of this notice of application
[] with the	e following variations and additional terms:
Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy] Signature of [] Judge [] Master
	A 15
	Appendix
	[The following information is provided for data collection purposes only and is of no legal effect.]
THIS APPI	JICATION INVOLVES THE FOLLOWING:
[Check the	box(es) below for the application type(s) included in this application.]
[]	discovery: comply with demand for documents
[]	discovery: production of additional documents
[]	other matters concerning document discovery
[]	extend oral discovery
[]	other matter concerning oral discovery
[]	amend pleadings
[]	add/change parties
[]	summary judgment
[]	summary trial
[]	service
[]	mediation
[]	adjournments
[]	proceedings at trial
[]	case plan orders: amend
[]	case plan orders: other

[]	experts
[]	none of the above

Form 33 (Rule 8-1 (10))

[Style of Proceeding]

APPLICATION RESPONSE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Application response of: [party(ies)], (the "application respondent(s)")
THIS IS A RESPONSE TO the notice of application of
Part 1: ORDERS CONSENTED TO
The application respondent(s) consent(s) to the granting of the orders set out in the following paragraphs of Part 1 of the notic of application on the following terms: [set out paragraph numbers and any proposed terms]
Part 2: ORDERS OPPOSED
The application respondent(s) oppose(s) the granting of the orders set out in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers] Part 1 of the notice of application.
Part 3: ORDERS ON WHICH NO POSITION IS TAKEN
The application respondent(s) take(s) no position on the granting of the orders set out in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers] of Part 1 of the notice of application.
Part 4: FACTUAL BASIS
[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a brief summary of the facts on which the orders sought in the application should not be granted.]
1
2
Part 5: LEGAL BASIS
[Using numbered paragraphs, specify any rule or other enactment relied on and provide a brief summary of any other legal arguments on which the application respondent(s) intend(s) to rely in opposing the orders sought in the application. If appropriate, include citation of applicable cases.]
1
2

Part 6: MATERIAL TO BE RELIED ON

and inc top	d other documents already in the court eluded on the list must be identified as	idavits served with this application response and any other affidavits file on which the application respondent(s) will rely. Each affidavit follows: "Affidavit # [sequential number, if any, recorded in the of
1		
2		
The applic	cation respondent(s) estimate(s) that the a	application will take [time estimate]
[Check wi	hichever one of the following is correct a	and complete any required information.]
[]	The application respondent has fi respondent's address for service.	led in this proceeding a document that contains the application
[]	service. The application responde application respondent's address(ot filed in this proceeding a document that contains an address for ent's ADDRESS FOR SERVICE is:
Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] application respondent [] lawyer for application respondent(s)
		[type or print name]

Form 33.1 (Rule 13-1 (1.1))	
[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2022, Sch. 1.]	
	Court File No.:
	Court Registry:
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia	
Claimant:	
Respondent:	
ORDER SIGNING INSTRUCTIONS	
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]	
Notice to:	
You are requested to sign the attached draft order made by	
Judge/Master on	
I have drafted the order consistent with the terms prescribed by the judge/master as stated on the court	record.
[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required inform	mation.]
 [] I have attached the clerk's notes relating to the order of the judge/master [] I have not attached the clerk's notes relating to the order of the judge/master for the fol [briefly state the reasons] 	llowing reason(s):
You are requested to return the signed order within 14 days of receipt. Signing the order does not precl	ude your right to appeal.
If you disagree with the accuracy of the terms in the order you are required to deliver your written objed days of receiving the order.	ections to me within 14
I will consider your objections and if we are unable to agree on the terms to be included in the order and the order may be filed in accordance with Rule 13-1 (12).	appointment to settle
If the signed order is not returned to me, or written objection(s) to any of the terms are not delivered to receipt, the order may be submitted for entry in accordance with Rule 13-1 (1.4).	me, within 14 days of
Date Sent:[dd/mmm/yyyy]	

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Form 34 (Rules 8-3 (1), 13-1 (3) and 17-1 (2))

[Style of Proceeding]

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

CONSENT ORDER

BEFORE [] A JUDGE OF THE COURT or [] A MASTER OF THE COURT [dd/mmm/yyyy] or [] A REGISTRAR
ON THE APPLICATION of
THIS COURT ORDERS that:
1
2
3
THE FOLLOWING PARTIES APPROVE THE FORM OF THIS ORDER AND CONSENT TO EACH OF THE ORDER NOTED ABOVE:
[A signature line in the following form must be completed and signed by or for each consenting party.]
Signature of [] party [] lawyer for [name of party(ies)]
[type or print name]
Signature of
[] party [] lawyer for [name of party(ies)]
[type or print name]

By the Court.
Registrar

Form 35 (Rules 8-4 (1), 13-1 (3), 17-1 (2) and 25-9 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 58/2012, Sch. A.; am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

[Style of Proceeding]

ORDER MADE AFTER APPLICATION

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

[Complete the form in accordance with the instructions found in the bracketed italicized wording and then remove all bracketed italicized wording so that it does not appear in the form when the form is filed.]

BEFORE	THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE or A JUDGE OF THE COURT or MASTER
[Select wi	hichever one of the 3 following provisions is correct, complete the selected provision and remove the provisions that have not been selected so that they do not appear in the form when the form is filed.]
	ON THE APPLICATION of
	ON THE APPLICATION of
	ON THE APPLICATION of
If any of	URT ORDERS that: the following orders are by consent, indicate that fact by adding the words "By consent," to the beginning of the n of the order.]
1	
2	
3	

THE FOLLOWING PARTIES APPROVE THE FORM OF THIS ORDER AND CONSENT TO EACH OF THE ORDERS, IF ANY, THAT ARE INDICATED ABOVE AS BEING BY CONSENT:

[A signature line in the following form must be completed and signed by or for each approving party.]	
Signature of	
[] party [] lawyer for [name of party(ies)]	
[type or print name]	
Signature of [] party [] lawyer for [name of party(ies)]	
[type or print name]	
	By the Court.
	Registrar

Form 36 (Rule 9-8 (1))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF DISCONTINUANCE

Filed by:	[party(ies)]	
TAKE N	OTICE that[party(ies)]	
[Check v	whichever one of the following boxes is corn	rect and complete the required information.]
[]	discontinue(s) this proceeding against	[narty(ies)]
[]		this proceeding against [party(ies)]
r 1	(a)	ems proceeding against
	(b)	
	(c)	
[Check	the correct box(es).]	
[]	Notice of trial has not been filed	
[]		
	[] with the consent of all parties of rec	
	[] by leave of the court	
Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
		[type or print name]

Form 37 (Rule 9-8 (3))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL

Filed by:	: [party(ies)]	
TAKE N	NOTICE that the defendant(s),	[name(s)],
[Check v	whichever one of the following boxes is cor	rect and complete the required information.]
[]	withdraw(s) [his/her/their] re	esponse to civil claim in this proceeding
[]	withdraw(s) [his/her/their] reproceeding:	esponse to civil claim in respect of the following claim(s) in this
	(a)	
	(b)	
	(c)	
Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
		[type or print name]

Form 38 (Rule 10-2 (2))

[Style of Proceeding]

SECURITY FOR RECEIVER

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Date of this guarantee: [dd/mmm/yyyy]
Name and address of receiver:
Name and registered office of surety:
Liability of surety under this guarantee: \$
Annual premium: \$

This guarantee is made between the RECEIVER, THE SURETY AND HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN in right of British Columbia.

- The receiver and the surety hereby jointly and severally covenant with Her Majesty the Queen in right of British Columbia that the receiver will, from time to time, duly account for what the receiver has already received since the date of the order appointing the receiver and will hereafter receive or for what since the date of the order the receiver has or will hereafter become liable to pay or account for as receiver [and manager] and will pay every sum of money and deliver every property that the court may direct.
- If the receiver does not, for every successive 12 months computed from the date of the receiver's appointment, pay at the office of the surety the annual premium noted above, then the surety may apply to be relieved from all further liability under this guarantee, except in respect of any damage or loss occasioned by any act or default of the receiver in relation to the receiver's duties as receiver [and manager] prior to the hearing and determination of the application.
- A statement under the hand of the registrar of the amount that the receiver is liable to pay and has not paid under paragraph 1 and that the loss or damage has been incurred through the act or default of the receiver is conclusive evidence in any action by Her Majesty against the receiver and surety, or either of them, or by the surety against the receiver, of the truth of the contents of the statement and constitutes a binding charge not only against the receiver and the receiver's personal representatives, but also against the surety and its funds and property without it being necessary for Her Majesty to take any proceedings against the surety and the surety's funds and property and without it being necessary for Her Majesty to take any proceedings against the receiver for the recovery thereof and without any further or other proof being given in that behalf in any action to enforce this guarantee.

- The liability of the surety under this guarantee is limited to the sum noted above, provided that the registrar may give his or her approval in writing to the reduction of the liability of the surety, in which event the surety's maximum liability with respect to any acts or omissions of the receiver subsequent to the date of the approval is reduced accordingly and provided further that an endorsement executed by the surety increasing the liability of the surety will be binding on the surety with respect to any acts or omissions of the receiver subsequent to the date of that endorsement.
- The receiver will, on being discharged from office or on ceasing to act as receiver [and manager], promptly give written notice of that discharge to the surety, and also within 7 days after the notice give the surety a copy of any order discharging the receiver.
- The receiver and the receiver's personal representatives will at all times hereafter indemnify the surety against all loss, damage, costs, and expenses that the surety sustains by reason of the surety having executed this guarantee.

In witness whereon affixed [dd/n		t his or her hand and seal and the surety has ca	used its common seal to be
SURETY	[SEAL]		
RECEIVER	[SEAL]		
Date: [[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Approved:	 Registrar
	Er	ndorsement to Guarantee No.	registrar
•	,	s been increased from \$ to \$ omissions of the receiver subsequent to that da	*
SURETY	[SEAL]		

Form 39 (Rule 10-2 (2))

[Style of Proceeding]

SECURITY OF RECEIVER BY UNDERTAKING

	of, the receiver [and manager]
] by in this proceeding, hereby undertake to the cou
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	ed by me as receiver [and manager] or for which I may be held liable, and
	me and to deliver any property received by me as receiver [and manager]
such times and in such manner as the court directs.	
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
Receiver [Manager]	
court to be answerable for any default bysuch default to pay as the court directs any amounts	of sureties] hereby jointly and severally undertake to the
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	
	Surety
[dd/mmm/yyyy]	
	Surety
[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Approved:
	Registrar
	Endorsement to Security
The liability of the surety under this guarantee has [dd/mmm/yyyy] with respect to any acts or or	been increased from \$ to \$, effective, emissions of the receiver subsequent to that date.
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	
	Surety

Form 40 (Rule 12-1 (2))

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 95/2011, Sch. A; 103/2015.]

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF TRIAL

	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Cour	t Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
Filed by:	[party(ies)]	
TAKE NOT	ICE that the trial of this proceeding has been set do	own at the following place, date and time:
City		
Address of	Courthouse Courthouse	
Date [dd/m	nmm/yyyy]	
Time		
		Registrar
[Check whic	thever one of the following boxes is correct and co	mplete any required information.]
The place of	trial set out above is:	
[]	[] the place of trial set out in the notice of civil claim.	
[]		
[Check wh	ichever one of the following boxes is correct an	nd complete the required information.]
[]	[] All parties of record in this action agree that not more than is a reasonable time for the hearing of all evidence and argument in this action.	
[]	[] There is a disagreement as to the estimate of a reasonable time for the hearing of all evidence and argument in this action. The estimates of the parties of record are as follows:	
	Name of party	Time Estimate

Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
		[type or print name]
Contact inform	nation for the parties and their lawyers	is as follows:
_		nbers of all lawyers having conduct of this action and of all parties of ddition, any e-mail addresses or fax numbers that may be used for contact
		Appendix
	[The following information is provide	d for data collection purposes only and is of no legal effect.]
Part 1: THIS (CLAIM INVOLVES THE FOLLOWIN	NG:
	[Check one box below for the case	type that best describes this case.]
[]	a motor vehicle accident	
[]	a personal injury, other than one ar	ising from a motor vehicle accident
[]		
[]		
[]	the lending of money	
[]	the provision of goods or services of	or other general commercial matters
[]	an employment relationship	
[]	a dispute about a will or other issue	es concerning the probate of an estate
[]	a matter not listed here	
Part 2:		
[If an e	enactment is being relied on, specify	. Do not list more than 3 enactments.]

Form 41 (Rule 12-1.1 (1), (2) and (3))

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

TRIAL BRIEF

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

	L-10-1 == 0 01 11-1 0 0F-1	e construction of the construction
Filed by:	[party] (the "filing party")	
[The page	es of this trial brief must be consecutively numbe	ered.]
[Check th	e following box, if applicable] [] This is an ame	ended trial brief of the filing party.
begin on .		er of days scheduled for trial] days and is scheduled to ne needed respecting items 3, 4, 6, 9 and 11 (b), as applicable, is 9 and 11 (b) below]
[Check w	hichever one of the following boxes is correct an	nd complete any required information.]
[]	The filing party expects the trial to complete	within the scheduled time.
	ailable to continue for[number] cor	[number] days, and the filing party and counsel are asecutive days following the currently scheduled completion
1 Trial Ma	anagement Conference	
(a)	The filing party is represented by legal coun the trial: [] yes [] no	sel and anticipates being represented by counsel at
(b)	The trial is set for hearing for more than 15 o	days: [] yes [] no
	[See Rule 12-2 (1) for when trial manageme	nt conference is required.]
(c)	Has the filing party filed a jury notice: [] ye	s [] no
	If yes, does the filing party intend to proceed	l by: [] judge alone [] jury
(d)	The following orders or directions will be ap	oplied for at the trial management conference:
	Nature of order or direction	Time in hours needed for application
1		1

If a trial management conference is not held, the parties are encouraged to engage in pretrial communication that will result in the efficient conduct of the trial, including provisions for a joint book of authorities, agreed statement of facts, and common book of documents.

2 Summary of Issues and Positions

The following is a list, in numbered paragraphs, of the issues in dispute and the filing party's position on each:

Issue in dispute	Filing party's position
1	1
2	2

3 Witnesses to be Called

The following are the names and addresses of the lay and expert witnesses the filing party intends to call at trial, the issue(s) each will address, an estimate of the time each will need for giving direct evidence, and the filing party's opinion on whether, if the court so orders or the parties all consent, the witness's direct evidence could conveniently be given by affidavit:

Name	Address	Issue(s)	Evidence expected at trial: (a) attached as a schedule or (b) to be provided 14 days before trial	Time in hours needed	Direct evidence by affidavit (Y/N)	Video Attendance Proposed by Filing Party (Y/N)

4 Witnesses to be Cross-Examined

The following are the names of the witnesses the filing party anticipates cross-examining at trial, and an estimate of the time the filing party will need for each:

Name	Time in hours needed

5 Expert Reports

The following are the expert reports that will be offered as evidence at trial:

Name of expert	Area of expertise	Date of report

6 Objection to Admissibility

The filing party intends to object to the admissibility of all or a part of the following expert reports:

Name of expert	Area of expertise	Date of report	Basis of objection	Time in hours needed

7 Documents, Exhibits and Authorities

(a)	The parties [] have agreed on [] have not agreed on [] have not yet discussed a common book of documents.
(b)	The filing party [] is in favour or [] is not in favour of having a common book of documents. If not, provide reasons:
(c)	The parties [] have reached [] have not reached [] have not yet discussed an agreement governing the use and admissibility of documents.
(d)	The filing party [] is in favour or [] is not in favour of proceeding with an agreement governing the use and admissibility of documents.
	If yes, attach proposed form of document agreement.
	If not, provide reasons:
(e)	The filing party [] expects [] does not expect that there will be a joint book of authorities.

8 Admissions

The filing party will admit the following facts at trial (attach schedule if more space required):

1

9	Time	Rec	uired	for	Subr	nis	sions

The filing party estimates that[time estimate, in hours]...... will be needed for the filing party's opening statement and[time estimate, in hours]...... will be needed for that party's final submissions.

If a jury notice has been filed, the filing party estimates that......[time estimate, in hours] will be needed for jury selection, jury deliberations, jury charge and other jury specific related matters.

10 Orders That May Affect the Conduct of the Trial

The following orders may affect the conduct of the trial:

Date of order	Nature of order

11 Applications Anticipated

(a) The following applications are anticipated to be made prior to trial:

Nature of application	Time estimate

(b) The following applications are anticipated to be made during the trial:

Nature of application	Time estimate

12 Trial Logistics

(a)) Does this trial involve/require:	
	(i) out of town witnesses? yes [] no	
	If so, indicate where witnesses are	traveling from:
	(ii) interpreters? yes [] no []	
		1 fan aa de suitu aansa.
		d for each witnesses:
	(iii) security concerns? yes [] no []	
	If so, indicate whether sheriff requ	nired in the courtroom:
	(iv) special equipment/courtroom arra	ngements? yes [] no []
	Videoconferencing: yes [] no []	
	Teleconferencing: yes [] no []	
	Evidence Presentation System: ye	s [] no []
	Large courtroom: yes [] no []	
	Other requirements:	
(b)) How many people do you anticipate to	be in attendance in person at the trial?
	[] number of party attendees	
	[] number of non-party attend	ees
13 Readir	liness	
	ther amendments to the pleadings, application required before the trial? yes [] no []	is, examinations for discovery, interrogatories, admissions or expert
Date:	2 2	e of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party
		[type or print name]

Form 42 (Rule 12-4 (1))

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

TRIAL CERTIFICATE

Filed	l by:[party]	
		.,
1	I will be ready to proceed on the scheduled trial date, [date trial is scheduled to begin — dd/mmm/yy, at	'yy]
2	My current estimate is that the trial will last days.	
3	I have completed all examinations for discovery.	
4	A trial management conference has been conducted in this action.	
5	If the action is settled before trial, I will give the registrar prompt notice of the settlement.	
6	I will give the registrar prompt notice of any proposed adjournment of the trial.	
Date	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party	
	[type or print name]	

Form 43 (Rule 12-5 (8))

[en. B.C. Reg. 65/2013, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE TO PRODUCE

To:[party(ies)]	
TAKE NOTICE that [party(ies)]	require(s) you to produce at the trial of this action
[Check the correct box(es) and complete the require	ed information.]
[] the following document(s) listed by you in your l	list of documents prepared under Rule 7.1:
[] the following physical object(s) in your possession	
D-4	
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] party requiring production
	[] lawyer for party(ies) requiring production
	[type or print name]

Form 44 (Rules 12-5 (15) and 22-4 (4) and (5))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO PROCEED

Filed by:[party(ies)]	
To:[party(ies)]	
TAKE NOTICE that [party(ies)]	intend(s) to proceed with this proceeding.
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Form 45 (Rule 12-5 (21))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO CALL ADVERSE PARTY AS A WITNESS

To: [name and address]	
	at
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] party requiring appearance [] lawyer for party requiring appearance
	[type or print name]
Rule 12-5 (25) states:	

- (25) If a person called as a witness in accordance with subrule (21) or (22) refuses or neglects to attend at the trial, to be sworn or to affirm, to answer a proper question put to the person or to produce a document that the person is required to produce, the court may do one or more of the following:
 - (a) grant judgment in favour of the party who called the witness;
 - (b) adjourn the trial;
 - (c) make an order as to costs;
 - (d) make any other order it considers will further the object of these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Form 46 (Rule 12-5 (38))

[Style of Proceeding]

WARRANT AFTER SUBPOENA

To any Peace Officer	
WHEREAS [name and address of perproceeding and failed to attend [or failed to remain	rson] was subpoenaed to give evidence at the trial of this a in attendance];
THIS COURT ORDERS you to apprehend and bri	
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	A Judge of the Supreme Court of British Columbia
	[type or print name]

Form 47 (Rule 12-6 (3))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE REQUIRING TRIAL BY JURY

-	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
Filed by: [party(ies)] (th	ne "filing party(ies)")
TAKE NOTICE that the filing party(ies) require(s) the trial of this proceeding to be by a judge with a jury.
Scheduled trial date: [date trial is scheduled to	begin — dd/mmm/yyyy]
Date:[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Form 47.1 (Rule 13-1 (3))

[en. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

ORDER MADE AT TRIAL MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

BEFORE	MASTER/JUSTICE	[insert date of hearing]
THIS MAT	TER coming on for a Tr	al Management Conference at [insert location of registry] Law Courts on [insert

THIS MATTER coming on for a Trial Management Conference at [insert location of registry] Law Courts on [insert date of hearing] and on hearing [insert name of person appearing], [insert description of person appearing, i.e., counsel for the plaintiff(s), appearing on their own behalf], and [insert name of person appearing], [insert description of person appearing, i.e., counsel for the defendant(s)/appearing on their own behalf];

THIS COURT ORDERS that:

1 [set out details]

2

THE FOLLOWING PARTIES APPROVE THE FORM OF THIS ORDER:

[insert name of person appearing]

[insert name of person appearing]

[insert description of person appearing]

[insert description of person appearing]

By the Court

Registrar

Form 48 (Rule 13-1 (3))

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

ORDER AFTER TRIAL

BEFORE THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE [dd/mmm/yyyy]
THIS ACTION coming on for trial at, on [dd/mmm/yyyy], and on hearing
THIS COURT ORDERS that:
[If any of the following orders are by consent, indicate that fact by adding the words "By consent," to the beginning of the description of the order.]
1
2
3
THE FOLLOWING PARTIES APPROVE THE FORM OF THIS ORDER AND CONSENT TO EACH OF THE ORDERS, IF ANY, THAT ARE INDICATED ABOVE AS BEING BY CONSENT:
[A signature line in the following form must be completed and signed by or for each approving party.]
Signature of
[] party [] lawyer for[name of party(ies)]
[type or print name]
Signature of
[] party [] lawyer for[name of party(ies)]
[type or print name]

Form 49 (Rules 13-1 (12), 14-1 (21), (24) and (25) and 18-1 (6))

[Style of Proceeding]

APPOINTMENT

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

I appoint	
Time:	
Date:	
Place:	
as the tin	ne and place for the: [Check the correct box(es) and complete any required information.]
[]	assessment of the bill of costs of [party(ies)]
[]	review of the bill of [name of lawyer or law firm]
[]	examination of the agreement between
[]	settlement of the terms of the order of [Mr. Justice, Madam Justice or Master] made [dd/mmm/yyyy]
[]	passing of accounts of [executor, administrator, receiver or other]
[]	reference under the Court Order Enforcement Act
[]	reference ordered by [Mr. Justice, Madam Justice or Master]
[]	assessment of sheriff's fee
[]] other
[] agree	I to this Appointment [is/are] the [] bill(s) of costs [] lawyer's bill(s) [] sheriff's bill(s) ment(s) [] order(s) that [is/are] the subject of this Appointment. [dd/mmm/yyyy]
The pers	on seeking appointment believes the matter for which this appointment was sought:
Chack	all of the following haves that are correct and complete the required information

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

[] is [] is not of a time consuming or co	ontentious nature
[] will require approximately [time	estimate] to complete
5.11/	
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Cianatura of [] margan goalring ammaintment
	Signature of [] person seeking appointment [] lawyer for person seeking appointment
	[] lawyer for person seeking appointment
	[type or print name]
Address and telephone number of person seeking a	ppointment or lawyer for person seeking appointment:
Name:	
Address:	
Telephone:	

Form 50 (Rule 13-2 (1))

[Style of Proceeding]

WRIT OF SEIZURE AND SALE

Name and address of lawyer or person causing this writ to be issued:
To the Sheriff
You are commanded promptly to seize and sell at public auction or by tender for the best available price sufficient of the goods and chattels of the undermentioned person to realize the sums set out on the back of this writ, that are payable by virtue of the attached order of this Honourable Court, together with your costs, fees and expenses for executing this writ.
After carrying out the above instructions, you must pay to the person specified on the back of this writ from the amount realized the sum or sums that are payable to him or her and account therefor by return to the court.
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]
Registrar
[Back]
Name and address of person whose goods and chattels are to be seized:
Amount remaining due and payable on judgment: \$
Amount of costs remaining due and payable: \$
Amount of interest on judgment and costs remaining due and payable: \$
Costs of party entitled to execution: \$
Sheriff's costs [to be filled in by Sheriff]: \$
Total [to be filled in by Sheriff]: \$
Identity of person entitled to payment of judgment:

Form 51 (Rule 13-2 (2) and (4))

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

WRIT OF SEQUESTRATION

Name and address of lawyer or person causing this writ to be issued:	
To the Sheriff	
You are authorized and commanded to enter on and take possession of all the real and personal estate of	and has
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
Registrar	

Form 52 (Rule 13-2 (3))

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

WRIT OF POSSESSION

Name and address of lawyer or person causing this writ to be issued:
To the Sheriff
WHEREAS it was ordered, on [dd/mmm/yyyy], that
[Check whichever one of the following boxes is correct and complete the required information.]
[] the defendant,, deliver to the plaintiff,,
[] the plaintiff,, recover from the defendant,,
possession of [set out address and, if available, legal description of land] (the "land");
YOU ARE COMMANDED promptly to enter the land and cause [name] to have possession of i
AND YOU ARE ALSO COMMANDED promptly to seize and sell at public auction or tender for the best price available sufficient of the goods and chattels of
Date:
Registrar

Form 53 (Rule 13-2 (4))

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

WRIT OF DELIVERY

Name and address of lawyer or person causing this writ to be issued:
To the Sheriff
WHEREAS it was, on [dd/mmm/yyyy], ordered that the defendant,, deliver to the plaintiff,, the following goods: [describe the goods];
YOU ARE COMMANDED promptly to cause the goods to be delivered to;
AND YOU ARE ALSO COMMANDED promptly to seize and sell at public auction or tender for the best price available sufficient of the goods and chattels of to realize the plaintiff's costs, fees and expenses of execution and the costs, fees and expenses for executing this writ.
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]

Form 54 (Rule 13-2 (4))

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

WRIT OF DELIVERY OR ASSESSED VALUE

Name and address of lawyer or person causing this writ to be issued:
To the Sheriff
WHEREAS it was, on [dd/mmm/yyyy], ordered that the defendant,, deliver to the plaintiff,, the following goods:
YOU ARE COMMANDED promptly to cause the goods to be delivered to;
AND YOU ARE ALSO COMMANDED promptly to seize and sell at public auction or tender for the best price available sufficient of the goods and chattels of to realize the plaintiff's costs, fees and expenses of execution and the costs, fees and expenses for executing this writ;
If the goods that you are to have delivered to
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]

Form 55 (Rule 13-2 (29))

[Style of Proceeding]

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF PAYMENT

I ACKNOWLEDGE PAYMENT of \$ in [dd/mmm/yyyy]	n [] full [] partial satisfaction of the judgment dated
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of party receiving payment
	[type or print name]
Signed [dd/mmm/yyyy] in the presence	of
[name]	
[address]	
[occupation]	

Form 56 (Rules 13-3 (1) and 14-1 (8) and Section 6 (3) of Appendix B)

[Style of Proceeding]

SUBPOENA TO DEBTOR

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

To:[name]	
TAKE NOTICE that the amount set out in the endorsement below on the order dated [dd/mmm/yyyy], a cop	
YOU ARE REQUIRED TO APPEAR PERSONALLY at the couday] on [dd/mmm/yyyy] to be examined on oath	
(a) the income and property of the debtor,	
(b) the debts owed to and by the debtor,	
(c) the disposal the debtor has made of any property	y, and
(d) the means the debtor has, or has had, or in futur	e may have, of satisfying the order.
[3333]	of [] creditor [] lawyer for creditor(s)
	[type or print name]
Address for service of creditor(s):	
Endorsement of A	mount Payable
[Set out, in the form of an account, the amount of the debt or insta proceedings subsequent to the order, the amounts paid and dates of	<u>e</u> .
Subtotal	\$
Add Expenses of service by sheriff [to	
endorsed by officer serving at the time Total amount payable	\$

If the total amount payable is paid to the creditor or into court for the account of the creditor before the date of the hearing, you are excused from attending.

Form 57 (Rule 13-3 (8))

[Style of Proceeding]

EXAMINER'S REPORT

		, a registrar designated as an examiner by the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of British Columbia
unde	er Rule 13-3	(5) (c) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules, report:
1	that a sub attached;	poena was issued under Rule 13-3 (1) directed to A copy of the subpoena is
2	that the s	ubpoena was served in accordance with the provisions of Rule 13-3 (3) and proof of service filed;
3	that the p	erson subpoenaed:
	[Che	ck the correct box(es).]
	[]	did not attend as required at the hearing;
	[]	refused to be sworn or to affirm or to answer any question put to the person at the hearing;
	[]	after an order to that effect, refused or neglected to produce or permit to be inspected any document or property;
	[]	did not give answers that were to the satisfaction of the examiner;
4	that the la	awyer for the creditor appeared at the time and place and on the date fixed for the hearing;
5		r Rule 13-3 (8) I have fixed [dd/mmm/yyyy] at [time of day] at the courthouse at [address] as the time and place for appearance before the court.
Date	e:	[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		Examiner

Form 58 (Rules 13-3 (12) and 14-1 (8) and Section 6 (3) of Appendix B)

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR COMMITTAL

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

To: [name of person]	
	ditor,
TAKE NOTICE that an application will be made by [time of day] on [dd/mmm/yyyy].	y the creditor at the courthouse at [address] at for an order committing you to prison;
AND TAKE NOTICE that the creditor will rely on	the following affidavit(s) in support of the application:
	which the creditor will rely. Each affidavit included on the list must be I number, if any, recorded in the top right hand corner of the affidavit] [dd/mmm/yyyy]".]
1	
2	
WARNING: Failure to attend at the hearing of this SERVICE ON YOU OF ANY FURTHER NOTICE Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	application can result in your arrest and committal to prison WITHOUT E OR DOCUMENT. Signature of [] creditor [] lawyer for creditor(s)
	[type or print name]
Address for service of creditor(s):	
Endo	orsement of Amount Payable
	he debt or instalment owing, the costs incurred on the order and on aid and the dates of payment and the interest owing and how it was
Subtotal	\$

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Add Expenses of service	\$
Total amount payable	\$

If the total amount payable is paid to the creditor or into court for the account of the creditor before the date of the hearing, you are excused from attending.

Form 59 (Rules 13-3 (15) and 14-1 (8) and Section 6 (3) of Appendix B)

[Style of Proceeding]

ORDER OF COMMITTAL

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

BEFORE THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE [dd/mi	mm/yyyy]
THIS COURT ORDERS that:	
1 by reason of [grounds of committal] be committed to prison for days;	[person to be committed]
2 the sheriff and all peace officers arrest [person to promptly before this court at	and, unless otherwise ordered,
3 the warden receive [person to be committed] her arrest under this order or until he or she is sooner discha	
By the C	ourt.
Registrar	
This order is in force for one year only from the date of the order.	
Endorsement of Amo	ount Payable
[Set out, in the form of an account, the amount of the debt or instalm proceedings subsequent to the order, the amounts paid and the dates computed.]	
Subtotal	\$
Add — 1 Expenses of service	\$
2 Maintenance money [to be endorsed by	\$
warden at the time payment is tendered] Total amount payable	\$

If the total amount payable is paid to the registrar, or to the sheriff or peace officer or warden who has you in his or her custody, then this order will be discharged.

Form 59.1 (Rule 13-4 (10))

[en. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

APPOINTMENT FOR EXAMINATION IN AID OF EXECUTION

To:[name of person to be examined]	·····
	n examination for discovery in aid of execution at the place, date and time orders, bring with you all documents in your possession or control, not 13-4 (2), which rule is reproduced below.
Place:	
Date:[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	
Time:	
Date:[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] party wishing to conduct examination [] lawyer for party(ies) wishing to conduct examination
	[type or print name]
Rule 13-4 (2) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules state	
Examination of judgment debtor	

- - (2) If a judgment creditor is entitled to issue execution on or otherwise enforce an order of the court, the judgment creditor may examine the judgment debtor for discovery as to
 - any matter pertinent to the enforcement of the order, (a)
 - (b) the reason for nonpayment or nonperformance of the order,
 - the income and property of the judgment debtor, (c)
 - the debts owed to and by the judgment debtor, (d)
 - the disposal the judgment debtor has made of any property either before or after the making of the (e) order,
 - (f) the means the judgment debtor has, had or may have of satisfying the order, and

(g)	whether the judgment debtor intends to obey the order or has any reason for not doing so.

Form 60	(Rule	13-5	(6))	
---------	-------	------	-----	---	--

This is the	[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
of	[name]	in this case
and was made o	on [<i>dd/mn</i>	nm/yyyy]

Date of Sale

[Style of Proceeding]

CERTIFICATE OF RESULT OF SALE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Price

Amount Received

Name of Purchaser

		Totals				
I, AFFIRM)	= =	[address]	,	[occupation	<i>i</i>], SW	EAR (OR
••••	*	the provisions of the or ease may be] the p		_	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	•
2 The	e result of the sale is t	ruly set forth in the cert	ificate.			
ME at on	(OR AFFIRMED) BI [dd/mmm/yy	, British Columbia) (yyy])		ducting sale		
	ssioner for taking)				

Property Sold

affidavits for British Columbia

.... [print name or affix stamp of commissioner]

Form 61 (Rules 14-1 (1) and 15-1 (2))

[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF FAST TRACK ACTION

Filed by:[party(ies)]	 .
TAKE NOTICE that this action is a fast track action	on to which Rule 15-1 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
	Signature of [] person filing notice
	[] lawyer for person filing notice
	[type or print name]

Form 62 (Rule 14-1 (20))

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 92/2013, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

BILL OF COSTS

	L-10-1 - C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	reme count en	vil Rules applies to	an norms.j
	This is the bill of costs	of:	[name(s)]	
	Tariff scale		Unit value \$	
ARIFF ITEMS				
m# Descrip	tion	# of Units Claimed	# of Units Allowed	
			•••••	
			•••••	
	Total number of units:		•••••	
	Multiply by unit value:			
	Subtotal:	\$	\$	
	Applicable taxes:	\$	\$	
	Total:	\$	\$	\$
SBURSEMENTS				
Descrip	tion	Claimed	Allowed	
		\$	\$	
		\$	\$	
		\$	\$	
		\$	\$	
	Applicable taxes:	\$	\$	
	Total:	\$	\$	\$
			\$	\$

B.C. Reg. 168/2009



Form 63 (Rule 14-1 (20))

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 92/2013, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

DEFAULT JUDGMENT BILL OF COSTS

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
This is the default judgment bill of costs of: [name(s)]
Amount involved \$

COSTS				
Description To enter judgment under Rule 3-8			Allowed \$	
Additional costs, if any, ordered under section 6 (5) of Appendix B		\$	\$	
	Total:	\$	\$	\$
DISBURSEMENTS				
Description		Claimed	Allowed	
		\$	\$	
		\$	\$	
		\$	\$	
		\$	\$	
Aj	pplicable taxes:	\$	\$	
			\$	\$
TOTAL ALLOWED				\$
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]				
	ture of assessing	g officer	••••••	•

Form 64 (Rule 14-1 (27))

[Style of Proceeding]

CERTIFICATE OF COSTS

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

I CERTIFY	
[]	by consent of the parties
[]	following assessment
	[dd/mmm/yyyy], the costs of
Consented to	o:
[If this certific consenting p	ficate is filed by consent, a signature line in the following form must be completed and signed by or for each party.]
Signature of	lawyer for [name of party(ies)]
	[type or print name]
Signature of	
[] party []]	lawyer for [name of party(ies)]
	[type or print name]
Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy]

[This certificate may be set out in a separate document or may be endorsed on the bill of costs.]

Registrar

Form 65 (Rule 14-1 (28) and Legal Profession Act, s. 76)

[Style of Proceeding]

CERTIFICATE OF FEES

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

I certify that on [dd/mmm/yyyy] the bill(s) delivered by
reviewed, and that:
(a) the amount of fees, charges and disbursements allowed was \$
(b) the amount paid on account (if any) was \$
(c) the balance owing to [the lawyer/person charged] was \$
(d) the costs of the review allowed to [the lawyer/person charged] was \$
(e) interest allowed to this date was \$
(f) the total amount due to [the lawyer/person charged] is \$
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]

[NOTE: Under s. 73 (1) of the Legal Profession Act, the registrar may, on application, make an order for payment by instalments, or suspend execution on this certificate.]

Form 66 (Rule 16-1 (2))	
[am. B.C. Regs. 95/2011, Sch. A; 65/2013, Sch. A; 149/2013.]	
No	
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia	ı y
Between	
, Petitioner(S)
and	
, Respondent(s)
[or, if there is no person against whom relief is sought:	
Re: [State the person by whom, or the entity in respect of which, relief is sought.]]	
PETITION TO THE COURT	
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]	
ON NOTICE TO:	
[name and address of each person to be served]	
This proceeding is brought for the relief set out in Part 1 below, by	
[Check whichever one of the following boxes is correct and complete any required information.]	
[] the person(s) named as petitioner(s) in the style of proceedings above	
[][name(s)](the petitioner(s))	
If you intend to respond to this petition, you or your lawyer must	
(a) file a response to petition in Form 67 in the above-named registry of this court within the time for response to petition described below, and	

(b) serve on the petitioner(s)

- (i) 2 copies of the filed response to petition, and
- (ii) 2 copies of each filed affidavit on which you intend to rely at the hearing.

Orders, including orders granting the relief claimed, may be made against you, without any further notice to you, if you fail to file the response to petition within the time for response.

Time for response to petition

A response to petition must be filed and served on the petitioner(s),

- (a) if you were served with the petition anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after that service,
- (b) if you were served with the petition anywhere in the United States of America, within 35 days after that service,
- (c) if you were served with the petition anywhere else, within 49 days after that service, or
- (d) if the time for response has been set by order of the court, within that time.

(1)	The address of the registry is:
(2)	The ADDRESS FOR SERVICE of the petitioner(s) is: [Set out the street address of the address for service for each petitioner. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service.] Fax number address for service (if any) of the petitioner(s): E-mail address for service (if any) of the petitioner(s):
(3)	The name and office address of the petitioner's(s') lawyer is:

Claim of the Petitioner(s)

Part 1: ORDER(S) SOUGHT

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the order(s) that will be sought at the hearing of the petition and indicate against which respondent(s) the order(s) is(are) sought.]

Part 2: FACTUAL BASIS

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the material facts on which this petition is based.]

1 2

1

2

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS

	[Using numbered paragraphs, specify any rule or other enactment relied on and provide a brief summary of any other legal bases on which the petitioner(s) intend(s) to rely in support of the orders sought.]
1	
2	
Par	t 4: MATERIAL TO BE RELIED ON
	[Using numbered paragraphs, list the affidavits served with the petition. Each affidavit included on the list must be identified as follows: "Affidavit # [sequential number, if any, recorded in the top right hand corner of the affidavit] of [name], made [dd/mmm/yyyy]".]
1	
2	
The	petitioner(s) estimate(s) that the hearing of the petition will take[time estimate]
Date	Signature of [] petitioner [] lawyer for petitioner(s)
	[type or print name]
	To be completed by the court only:
	Order made [] in the terms requested in paragraphs of Part 1 of this petition
	[] with the following variations and additional terms:
	Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]
	Signature of [] Judge [] Master

Form 67 (Rule 16-1 (5) and Rule 25-14 (2))

[am. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

[Style of Proceeding]

RESPONSE TO PETITION

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Filed by: [party(ies)] (the "petition respondent(s)")			
THIS IS A RESPONSE TO the petition filed [dd/mmm/yyyy]			
Part 1: ORDERS CONSENTED TO			
The petition respondent(s) consent(s) to the granting of the orders set out in the following paragraphs of Part 1 of the petition: [set out paragraph numbers]			
Part 2: ORDERS OPPOSED			
The petition respondent(s) oppose(s) the granting of the orders set out in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers] of Part 1 of the petition.			
Part 3: ORDERS ON WHICH NO POSITION IS TAKEN			
The petition respondent(s) take(s) no position on the granting of the orders set out in paragraphs [list paragraph numbers] of Part 1 of the petition.			
Part 4: FACTUAL BASIS			
[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a brief summary of the material facts on which the orders sought in the petition should not be granted.]			
1			
2			
Part 5: LEGAL BASIS			
[Using numbered paragraphs, specify any rule or other enactment relied on and provide a brief summary of any other legal bases on which the petition respondent(s) intend(s) to rely in opposing the orders sought in the petition. In addition, a written argument may be provided to the court in opposition to the petition.]			

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Part 6: MATERIAL TO BE RELIED ON

1

2

and other documents already in the court to included on the list must be identified as for	lavits served with this response to petition and any other affidavits lile on which the petition respondent(s) will rely. Each affidavit lollows: "Affidavit # [sequential number, if any, recorded in the [name], made [dd/mmm/yyyy]".]
1	
2	
The petition respondent(s) estimate(s) that the application of the petition respondent (s) estimate(s) that the application is a second of the petition respondent (s) estimate(s) that the application is a second of the petition respondent (s) estimate(s) that the application is a second of the petition respondent (s) estimate(s) that the application is a second of the petition respondent (s) estimate(s) that the application is a second of the petition respondent (s) estimate(s) that the application is a second of the petition of the petition respondent (s) estimate(s) that the application is a second of the petition of the petitio	cation will take [time estimate]
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] petition respondent [] lawyer for petition respondent(s)
	[type or print name]
Petition respondent's(s') address for service: [Set out and an e-mail address may be given as additional address for service:	t the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number ddresses for service.]
Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	
Name of the petition respondent's(s') lawyer, if any:	

Form 68 (Rule 16-1 (8))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF HEARING

To:		[<i>n</i>	ame((s) of petition respondent(s), is	f any]	
				_	<i>ty(ies)</i>] dated [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>] will be heard at the [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>] at [<i>time of day</i>]	
1	Da	te of hea	aring	;		
	[CI]	heck wh	iche	ver one of the following box	xes is correct.]	
	[]	The pa	arties	have agreed as to the date of	of the hearing of the petition.	
	[]	-		9	as to the date of the hearing but notice of the hearing will be given to with Rule 16-1 (8) (b) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules.	
	[]	The petition is unopposed, by consent or without notice.				
2	Duration of hearing					
	$[C_{i}]$	heck the	cori	rect box(es) and complete th	ne required information.]	
	[]	[] It has been agreed by the parties that the hearing will take [time estimate]				
	[]	[] The parties have been unable to agree as to how long the hearing will take and				
		(a) th	e tim	ne estimate of the petitioner((s) is minutes, and	
		(b) []		the time estimate of the per	tition respondent(s) is minutes.	
		[]		the petition respondent(s) h	has(ve) not given a time estimate.	
3	Jur	isdiction	n			
	$[C_{i}]$	heck wh	iche	ver one of the following box	xes is correct.]	
		[] Tl	his m	natter is within the jurisdiction	on of a master.	
D /				natter is not within the jurisd	liction of a master.	
Dat	e:	••••••	. [<i>aa</i>	/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of	
					[] petitioner [] lawyer for petitioner(s)	
					[type or print name]	

Form 69 (Rule 18-1 (18))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF ORDER

To: [name and address of each person to be	e served]
TAKE NOTICE of the order of dated	[dd/mmm/yyyy], a copy of which is attached.
You may apply to court within 28 days after service of	of this notice on you to discharge, vary or add to the order.
Alternatively, you may file a form entitled "Notice of Interest" in the above registry of this court and serve a copy of the "Notice of Interest" on each of the following parties at their respective addresses for service set out below, following which you are entitled to take part in the proceeding taken under the order.	
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] party serving this notice
	[] lawyer for party(ies) serving this notice [type or print name]
Name and address for service of each party serving th both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be ga	is notice: [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or iven as additional addresses for service.]
Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	

Form 70 (Rules 18-1 (22), 18-2 (8) and 18-3 (8))

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF INTEREST

TAKE NOTICE that I have an interest in this proces	eding.
Name:	
Address for service: [Set out the street address of the may be given as additional addresses for service.]	e address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address
Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
	Signature of
	[] filing person [] lawyer for filing person(s)
	[type or print name]

Form 71 (Rule 18-2 (3))
No
Registr
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia
IN THE MATTER OF A STATED CASE UNDER [insert statutory provision under which the stated case is being referred to in court]
Between
[Name of person who requested the stated case.]
Applica
and
[Name of all parties to the original proceeding and, if the original tribunal is not the Applicant, name of original tribunal.]
Respondent(s
NOTICE OF STATED CASE
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
To:
THIS CASE STATED by [name of original tribunal] under [name and section number(s) of the enactment under which the stated case is being referred to the court] [If the original tribunal is not the Applicant, add ", at the request of the Applicant, ".] seeks the determination of the Supreme Court on the question(s) of law set out below that arise(s) out of the following facts:
Part 1: RELEVANT FACTS
The following facts are relevant to the questions of law to be determined by the Supreme Court: [Using numbered paragraphs set out a concise statement of the relevant facts on which the questions of law are to be determined.]
1
2
Part 2: QUESTIONS OF LAW
The question(s) of law to be determined by the Supreme Court [is/are] as follows: [Using numbered paragraphs, so

out the question(s) of law to be determined.]	
1	
2	
Part 3: EVIDENCE	
The evidence relevant to the stated case is as follows <i>the stated case</i> .]	: [Using numbered paragraphs, set out all the evidence that is relevant to
1	
2	
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
	Signature of authorized signatory for Original Tribunal
	[type or print name]
Address for service of the original tribunal: [Set out and an e-mail address may be given as additional address.]	the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number dresses for service.]
Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	
[If the original tribunal is not the Applicant, complete	e the following:]
Address for service of the person requesting the state of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given	ed case: [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or both as additional addresses for service.]
Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	

Form 72 (Rule 18-2 (9))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF HEARING OF STATED CASE

Filed by: [party(ies)]	
TAKE NOTICE that this stated case will be heard a [time of day]	t [address] on [dd/mmm/yyyy] at
Time estimate:	
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Form 73 (Rule 18-3 (2))	
[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 95/2011, Sch. A.]	
No	
Registry	
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia	
Between	
Appellant	
and	
[person or body appealed from]	
Respondent	
NOTICE OF APPEAL IF DIRECTIONS REQUIRED	
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]	
To: [name of person or body appealed from]	
And to: [name(s) of all other persons who may be affected by the order sought]	
WHEREAS on [dd/mmm/yyyy] [name of person or body from whose decision/direction/order appeal is brought]	
AND WHEREAS an appeal lies to [] this court [] a judge of this court under [name and section of enactment allowing appeal];	
TAKE NOTICE that [name(s) of appellant(s)] appeal(s) from the [] decision [] direction [] order on the following grounds: [concisely set out grounds of appeal];	
AND TAKE NOTICE that on [dd/mmm/yyyy], at the courthouse at [address], an application will be made to the presiding judge at [time of day] for directions as to the conduct of the appeal [or as the case may be].	
The appellant(s) estimate(s) that the hearing of the appeal will take[time estimate]	
If you intend to oppose the appeal, you or your lawyer must	

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

- (a) file a Notice of Interest in Form 70 in the above-named registry of this court within the time for Notice of Interest described below, and
- (b) serve a copy of the Notice of Interest on the appellant's(s') address for service set out in this Notice of Appeal.

Time for Notice of Interest

A Notice of Interest must be filed and served on the appellant(s),

- (a) if you were served with the notice of appeal anywhere in Canada, within 14 days after that service,
- (b) if you were served with the notice of appeal anywhere in the United States of America, within 28 days after that service,
- (c) if you were served with the notice of appeal anywhere else, within 42 days after that service, or
- (d) if the time for Notice of Interest has been set by order of the court, within that time.

The appellant's(s') address for service is: [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service.]

Fax number for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of
	[] appellant [] lawyer for appellant(s)
	[type or print name]

Form 74	(Rule	18-3	(2))
---------	-------	------	-----	---

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 95/2011, Sch. A.]
No
Registry
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia
Between
Appellant
and
[person or body appealed from]
Respondent
NOTICE OF APPEAL — STANDARD DIRECTIONS
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
To: [name of person or body appealed from]
And to: [name(s) of all other persons who may be affected by the order sought]
WHEREAS on [dd/mmm/yyyy] [name(s) of person or body from whose decision/direction/order appeal is brought] made the following [] decision [] direction [] order [add, if applicable, in [Action Number/File Number]]: [state concisely the decision, direction, or order];
AND WHEREAS an appeal lies to [] this court [] a judge of this court under
TAKE NOTICE that [name(s) of appellant(s)] appeal(s) from the [] decision [] direction [] order on the following grounds: [concisely set out grounds of appeal]
ATTACHED is the standard set of directions, in the form directed by the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of British Columbia, governing the conduct of the appeal.
The appellant(s) estimate(s) that the hearing of the appeal will take[time estimate]
If you intend to oppose the appeal, you or your lawyer must
(a) file a Notice of Interest in Form 70 in the above-named registry of this court within the time for Notice of Interest described below, and

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

(b) serve a copy of the Notice of Interest on the appellant's(s') address for service set out in this Notice of Appeal.

Time for Notice of Interest

A Notice of Interest must be filed and served on the appellant(s),

- (a) if you were served with the notice of appeal anywhere in Canada, within 14 days after that service,
- (b) if you were served with the notice of appeal anywhere in the United States of America, within 28 days after that service,
- (c) if you were served with the notice of appeal anywhere else, within 42 days after that service, or
- (d) if the time for Notice of Interest has been set by order of the court, within that time.

The appellant's(s') address for service is: [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service.]

Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] appellant [] lawyer for appellant(s)
	[type or print name]

Form 75 (Rule 18-3 (9))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF HEARING OF APPEAL

TAKE NOTICE that this appeal will be heard a [address]	at [time of day] on [dd/mmm/yyyy], at
Registrar	
Time estimate:	
	Signature of
	[] appellant [] lawyer for appellant(s)
	[type or print name]

Form 76 (Rule 18-3 (10))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF ABANDONMENT OF APPEAL

TAKE NOT	FICE that the appellant, [name]	, abandons this appeal.
[Check the	correct box and complete any required	information .]
[]	This appeal has not yet been set for	for hearing.
[] The date scheduled for the hearing of this appeal is [dd/mmm/yyyy]		g of this appeal is [dd/mmm/yyyy]
Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of
		[] appellant [] lawyer for appellant(s)
		[type or print name]

Form 77 (Rule 19-3 (5))

[Style of Proceeding]

ORDER TO REGISTER FOREIGN JUDGMENT

BEFORE }	THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE or MASTER	} [dd/mmm/yyyy]
		coming on before me on [dd/mmm/yyyy] and on [name of party/lawyer];
which it was a	djudged that [name and address of judged sum of \$ for debt [or as the case is	dd/mmm/yyyy] of [name of court], by dgment creditor] recover from [judgment debtor] may be] and [] costs to be assessed [] \$ for costs, be
		By the Court.
		Registrar

Form	78 (Rule 20-2 (12))
	This is the [1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit of
[S	tyle of Proceeding]
AFFIDAVIT OF	ATTAINMENT OF MAJORITY
[Rule 22-3 of the Supren	ne Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
I, [name] of [address] .	[occupation], SWEAR (OR AFFIRM) THAT:
1 I attained the age of majority on [dd/mm 2 I am under no other legal disability. 3 I intend to act in this action without a litigation SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE ME at	n guardian.)

Form 79 (Rule 20-5 (3))

[en. B.C. Reg. 58/2012, Sch. A; am. B.C. Reg. 112/2012, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

ORDER TO WAIVE FEES

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

[Complete the form in accordance with the instructions found in the bracketed italicized wording and then remove all bracketed italicized wording so that it does not appear in the form when the form is filed.]

BEFORE THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE or MASTER [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
ON THE APPLICATION of	
[Select whichever one of the 4 following provisions is correct, complete the selected provision and remove the provisions the have not been selected so that they do not appear in the form when the form is filed.]	hat
THIS COURT ORDERS that no fee is payable by	er
THIS COURT ORDERS that no fee is payable by	er
THIS COURT ORDERS that no fee is payable by	
THIS COURT ORDERS that no fee is payable by	

By the Court.
Registrar

Form 80 (Rule 20-5 (3))

 $[am.\ B.C.\ Regs.\ 95/2011,\ Sch.\ A;\ 112/2012,\ Sch.\ A;\ 103/2015.]$

This is the	[1st/2nd/3rd/	etc.] affidavit
of	[<i>name</i>]	in this case
and was made	on [<i>dd/n</i>	nmm/yyyy]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF ORDER TO WAIVE FEES

	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
, ΓΗΑ	
1	I am the [party] in this proceeding.
2	I make this affidavit in support of my application for an order directing that I am not required to pay any fees to the government under Schedule 1 of Appendix C of the Supreme Court Civil Rules.
3	I am years old.
4	I have the following dependants: [List all the dependants in the household.]
5	The following persons contribute to my household expenses: [List all in the household who contribute to expenses.]
6	I am [] amalanad [] amamalanad
6	I am [] employed [] unemployed.
7	Attached as Exhibit A is [Check whichever one of the following boxes is correct and attach the required exhibit.]
	[] a financial statement that accurately sets out the monthly income, expenses and assets of my household. [] proof that I receive benefits under the <i>Employment and Assistance Act</i> or the <i>Employment and Assistance for Persons with Disabilities Act</i> .
8	Attached as Exhibit B is an accurate description of my educational and employment history.
9	Attached as Exhibit C is an accurate description of my workplace skills.

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

10

Attached as Exhibit D is a copy of the document I wish to file or with which I wish to proceed.

SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)	
ME at, British Columbia)	
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]))	
A commissioner for taking))	
affidavits for British Columbia)	
[print name or affix stamp of commissioner]		
	This is Exhibit A referred	d to in the affidavit of
	before me on[
	A commissioner for takin British Columbia	ng affidavits for
FINAN	NCIAL STATEMENT	
ESTIMATED	NET MONTHLY INCOME	:
[Attach proof— i.e. most recent	t pay stubs or payment advice	e, etc., if available.]
Estimated not monthly income from all sources		
Estimated net monthly income from all sources: Employment		\$
Pension		\$
Dividends		\$
Interest		\$
Other		\$
TOTAL (Estimate	ated net monthly income)	\$
ESTIMATE	D MONTHLY EXPENSES	
[Attach receipts	for the following, if available	e.]
Estimated monthly expenses related to housing		\$
Estimated monthly expenses related to transpor	rtation	\$
Estimated monthly expenses related to househo	old expenses	\$
Estimated monthly expenses related to medical	and dental expenses	\$

	Estimated monthly expenses, not include				\$
	Estimated monthly debt payments [spec				\$
	Estimate of other monthly expenses [sp				
		TOTAL (Estimated	monthly exp	enses)	\$
		ASSETS			
	[Specify assets and set out their estimated value.]				
				\$ \$ \$ \$	
••		TOTAL (Estimated as	ugat valvag)	\$	
		TOTAL (Estimated as	sset values)	\$	•
					erred to in the affidavit of, sworn (or affirmed)
			before me	on	[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]
					aking affidavits for
	EDUCATI	IONAL AND EMPLOY	MENT HIST	ORY	
[Set	out details of education and employment h	istory.]			
1	Highest level of education attained and	l date completed:			
2	Employment history:				
Em	ployer	Dates	Position		

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

	This is Exhibit C referred to in the affidavit of, sworn (or affirmed) before me on
	A commissioner for taking affidavits for British Columbia
WORKPLACE SKII	LLS
[specify]	

Form 81 (Rule 21-1 (3))	
	No
	Registry
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia	
Admiralty Action in Rem Against	
The Ship [specify] (and/or property))
Between	
	Plaintiff(s)
and	
The Owners and all Others Interested in the Ship (and/or other property)	

NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM — ADMIRALTY (IN REM)

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Name and address of each plaintiff:

Description of Ship and/or other property:

To the defendant(s):

TAKE NOTICE that this action has been started against you by the plaintiff(s) for the claim(s) set out in this notice of civil claim.

IF YOU INTEND TO RESPOND TO this action, or if you have a set-off or counterclaim that you wish to have taken into account at the trial, YOU MUST FILE a response to civil claim in Form 2 in the above registry of this court within 21 days after being served with a copy of the filed notice of civil claim and SERVE a copy of the filed response to civil claim on the plaintiff's(s') address for service.

YOU OR YOUR LAWYER may file the response to civil claim.

APPLICATION FOR JUDGMENT AGAINST THE SHIP OR OTHER PROPERTY MAY BE MADE IF YOU FAIL to file the response to civil claim within 21 days after being served with a copy of the filed notice of civil claim.

Claim of the Plaintiff

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the material facts giving rise to the plaintiff's(s') claim.]

Defendant(s)

1	
2	
[If any party sues or is sued in a representati capacity.]	ive capacity, identify the party and describe the representative
Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT	
[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the relation sought. Relief may be sought in the alternation	ief sought and indicate against which defendant(s) that relief is ive.]
1	
2	
Part 3: LEGAL BASIS	
	ise summary of the legal bases on which the plaintiff(s) intend(s) to fy any rule or other enactment relied on. The legal bases for the e.]
1	
2	
Plaintiff's(s') address for service: [Set out the street ad mail address may be given as additional addresses for	dress of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an eservice.]
Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	
Place of trial:	
The address of the registry is:	
	Signature of [] plaintiff [] lawyer for plaintiff(s)
	[type or print name]

Form 82 (Rule 21-1 (4))

		[am. B.C. Reg. 95/2011, Sch	n. A.]	
				No
				Registry
	In the	Supreme Court of Brit	tish Columbia	
	Ad	miralty Action in Ren	n Against	
	The Ship	[specify]	(and/or property)	
		And in Personar	n	
Between				
				Plaintiff(s)
and				
	The Owne	rs and all Others Inter (and/or other prope	_	

NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM — ADMIRALTY (IN REM AND IN PERSONAM)

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Name and address of each plaintiff:

Description of ship and/or other property:

Name and address of the defendant(s) in personam:

To the defendant(s):

TAKE NOTICE that this action has been started against you by the plaintiff(s) for the claim(s) set out in this notice of civil claim.

IF YOU INTEND TO RESPOND TO this action, or if you have a set-off or counterclaim that you wish to have taken into account at the trial, YOU MUST FILE a response to civil claim in Form 2 in the above registry of this court within the time for response to civil claim described below and SERVE a copy of the filed response to civil claim on the plaintiff's(s') address for service.

YOU OR YOUR LAWYER may file the response to civil claim.

APPLICATION FOR JUDGMENT AGAINST THE SHIP OR OTHER PROPERTY MAY BE MADE AND JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to file the response to civil claim within the time for response to civil claim described below.

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Defendant(s)

Time for response to civil claim

Service on ship:

The time for response to civil claim is 21 days from the service of this notice of civil claim on the ship or other property described in this notice of civil claim (not including the day of service).

Service on defendant in personam:

A response to civil claim must be filed and served on the plaintiff(s),

- (a) if you were served with the notice of civil claim anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after that service,
- (b) if you were served with the notice of civil claim anywhere in the United States of America, within 35 days after that service.
- (c) if you were served with the notice of civil claim anywhere else, within 49 days after that service, or
- (d) if the time for response to civil claim has been set by order of the court, within that time.

A response to civil claim filed on behalf of a ship or other property must set out the nature of the interest that you claim in the ship or other property.

Claim of the Plaintiff

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the material facts giving rise to the plaintiff's(s') claim.]

[If any party sues or is sued in a representative capacity, identify the party and describe the representative capacity.]

Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the relief sought and indicate against which defendant(s) that relief is sought. Relief may be sought in the alternative.]

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise summary of the legal bases on which the plaintiff(s) intend(s) to rely in support of the relief sought and specify any rule or other enactment relied on. The legal bases for the relief sought may be set out in the alternative.]

1 2

1

2

1

2

Plaintiff's(s') address for service: [Set out the street ac mail address may be given as additional addresses for	ddress of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e- r service.]
Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	
The address of the registry is:	
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] plaintiff [] lawyer for plaintiff(s)[type or print name]

Form 83	(Rule	21-1	(8)))
---------	-------	------	------	---

Thi	s is t	he	[1st/2nd	l/3rd/etc.] af	fidavit
	of	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	[<i>name</i>	e]	in thi	s case
and	was	made	on	[dd/mmi	m/yyyy	ا

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT TO LEAD WARRANT

		[Kaic 22-5 of the Supreme Court Civil Kaics applies to all forms.]
I, TH <i>A</i>		. [name], of [address] [occupation], SWEAR (OR AFFIRM
1	basis	[describe relationship to the party at whose instance the ship or other property is to be arrested and the s of the knowledge of the person swearing or affirming the affidavit] and accordingly have knowledge facts to which I depose in this affidavit save and except where such are stated to be on information and ef.
2		party making application for a warrant for the arrest of the ship or other property named in this affidavit is [name]
3		nature of the claim that is the subject of the action against the ship or other property named in this affidavi
4	The	claim has not been satisfied.
5	-	property to be arrested is
[Cl	neck wi	hichever one of the following boxes is correct and attach the exhibit if required.]
6	[]	No notice of this action is required.
	[]	The notice of this action required has been given and a copy of the notice is attached to this my affidav and marked Exhibit A.
ME on	at	OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
A co	mmiss	Sioner for taking) For British Columbia)
[print na	ame or affix stamp of commissioner]

Form 84 (Rule 21-1 (10))

[Style of Proceeding]

WARRANT TO ARREST SHIP

You are commanded to arrest the ship [name of ship], her cargo and freight etc. [or as the case may be] and to keep the same under arrest until you are otherwise ordered.		
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Registrar	
•	son at whose instance this warrant is issued or his or her lawyer] of vice. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given as	
Fax number address for service (if any):		
E-mail address for service (if any):		

Form 85 (Rule 21-1 (18))

[Style of Proceeding]

CAVEAT — ADMIRALTY

, her cargo and freight etc. [or as the ca	the issue of a release from arrest of the ship
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
	Signature of [] person filing caveat
	[] lawyer for person(s) filing caveat
	[type or print name]
Address for service of person filing caveat: [Set a and an e-mail address may be given as additional	out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number laddresses for service.]
Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	

Form 86 (Rule 21-1 (19))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL OF CAVEAT

TAKE NOTICE that [name] withdraws the caveat file [dd/mmm/yyyy]	ed in this proceeding on
Date caveat is withdrawn: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] filing party [] lawyer for filing party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Form 87 (Rule 21-1 (24))

[Style of Proceeding]

PAYMENT INTO COURT AS BAIL

The amount of \$ is hereby paid into court or as the case may be] together with interest an	as bail to answer judgment granted against [name of defendant ship nd costs.
Given at, British Columbia, on	[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	Signature of [] person making payment [] lawyer for person(s) making payment
	[type or print name]

Form 88 (Rule 21-1 (24))

[Style of Proceeding]

BANK GUARANTEE OR BAILBOND

We, [name of bank or surety company], submit to the jurisdiction of this court and consent that if a judgment granted in this proceeding against [name of defendant ship or as the case may be] is not satisfied or stayed, execution may issue against us for a sum not exceeding \$ inclusive of interest and costs.	
Given on: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of authorized signatory for bank or surety company
	[type or print name and title]
Contact information for Bank or Surety Company	
Bank or Surety Name:	
Attention:	
Address:	
Fax:	
E	

Form 89 (Rule 21-1 (28))

[Style of Proceeding]

RELEASE

WHEREAS, by our warrant issued in this action on	. [dd/mmm/yyyy], you were commanded to arrest the ship
, her cargo and freight etc. [or as the case may be], and to keep the same under arrest until you
should receive a further order, you are commanded to rel	lease the ship [name], her cargo and freight etc.
[or as the case may be], from arrest on payment being ma	ade to you of all fees due and all charges incurred by you in respect of
the arrest and custody of the ship [name]	, her cargo and freight etc. [or as the case may be].
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
R	egistrar

Forms 90 to 107 – Repealed

Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

Form 108 (Rule 21-8 (1) and (3))

[Style of Proceeding]

JURISDICTIONAL RESPONSE

The defenda	ant, [name],
[Check one	or both of the following boxes as applicable.]
[]	disputes that this court has jurisdiction over this defendant
[]	submits that this court ought not to exercise its jurisdiction over this defendant
Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy] Signature of [] defendant [] lawyer for defendant [type or print name]
D 6 1 4	
	address for service: [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an es may be given as additional addresses for service.]
Fax number	address for service (if any):
E-mail addr	ess for service (if any):

		_
	Form 109 (Rule 22-2 (2) and (7))	
	This is the [1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affida of	ıs
	[Style of Proceeding]	
	AFFIDAVIT	
	[Rule 22-2 applies to affidavits and Rule 22-3 applies to all forms.]	
I, THA		1)
1		
2		
3		
ME	ORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE) at, British Columbia)[dd/mmm/yyyy])	
)	
A cc	ommissioner for taking) davits for British Columbia)	
[/	print name or affix stamp of commissioner]	
[The	e following endorsement must be completed if required under Rule 22-2 (7) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules.]	
	Endorsement of Interpreter	
	[if applicable]	
I,		
1	I have a knowledge of the English and languages and I am competent to interpret from one to the other.	
2	I am advised by the person swearing or affirming the affidavit and believe that the person swearing or affirming the affidavit understands the language.	
3	Before the affidavit on which this endorsement appears was made by the person swearing or affirming the affidavit I correctly interpreted it for the person swearing or affirming the affidavit from the English language into the language and the person swearing or affirming the affidavit appeared to fully understand the contents.	

Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]

Signature of interpreter



Form 110 (Rule 22-6 (1))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF APPOINTMENT OR CHANGE OF LAWYER

TAKE NOTICE that
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>] Signature of new lawyer
Party's address for service: [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service.]
Fax number address for service (if any):
E-mail address for service (if any):

Form 111 (Rule 22-6 (1))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ACT IN PERSON

<u>r</u>	11
TAKE NOTICE that I now intend to act personall	y in this proceeding in place of [name of lawyer]
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
	Signature of party
	[type or print name]
My address for service is: [Set out the street address may be given as additional addresses for s	ess of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail service.]
Fax number address for service (if any):	
E-mail address for service (if any):	

Form 112 (Rule 22-6 (4))

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 95/2011, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO WITHDRAW AS LAWYER

Party] in this proceeding.
Notice to the client and to all parties of record
If you object to the lawyer withdrawing from this proceeding you may, within 7 days after service of this notice, file in the registry and serve on the lawyer an objection in Form 113.
Notice to the client
If you do not object to the lawyer withdrawing from the proceeding, then you may file in the registry and serve on the other parties of record a notice of change of lawyer in Form 110, or a notice of intention to act in person in Form 111.
If you fail either to object or to file a notice in Form 110 or Form 111, service of all further documents on you may be made b other parties to the proceeding by mail to your last known address which is [set out last known address of the client]
Lawyer's address for service: [Set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service.]
Fax number address for service (if any):
E-mail address for service (if any):
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]
Signature of lawyer intending to withdraw

Form 113 (Rule 22-6 (5))

[Style of Proceeding]

OBJECTION

[Rule 22-3 of the S	Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
[party(ies)] objector proceeding.	(s) to [name of the lawyer] withdrawing from this
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] objecting party [] lawyer for objecting party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Form 114 (Rule 22-6 (6))

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL OF LAWYER

1 1	dress of each party for whom the lawyer has ceased to act]
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	
	Signature of lawyer

Form 115 (Rule 22-8 (5) and (7))

[Style of Proceeding]

To any Peace Officer	
WHEREAS this court is of the opinion that contempt of court;	[name and address of person or corporation] may be guilty o
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	name and address of person or director, officer, or employee of corporation judge of the Supreme Court, and, after that, to deal with him or her as
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of a Judge of the Supreme Court of British Columbia
	[type or print name]

Form 116 (Rules 22-8 (9) and 25-12 (7))

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

[Style of Proceeding]

UNDERTAKING

		[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
	_	[name], of
Γo be	release	ed from custody, I give the following undertaking to the court:
	(a)	I promise that I will attend before a judge of the Supreme Court on [dd/mmm/yyyy] at [time of day] at [location] and will attend at the other times required by the court to be dealt with according to law,
	(b)	I promise that I will strictly comply with the terms of the attached order and will otherwise keep the peace, and
	(c)	I promise that [add conditions here].
		[OR]
	(c)	I promise that I will obey the attached conditions.
		that if I breach any of the promises made in this undertaking I may be arrested and brought before the court to rotherwise dealt with according to the law.
Date:		[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		Signature of person being released

Form 117 (Rules 22-8 (10) and 25-12 (7))

[am. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

[Style of Proceeding]

RELEASE ORDER

BEFORE THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE [dd/	/mmm/yyyy]
ON THE APPLICATION of [name [he/she] violated an order of the Supreme Court	e] who has been apprehended on an allegation that dated [dd/mmm/yyyy];
THIS COURT ORDERS that made and dated [dd/mmm/yyyy], a copy	be released from custody on [his/her] undertaking of which undertaking is attached to this order.
	By the Court.
	Registrar

Form 118 (Rule 23-2 (3))

[en. B.C. Reg. 112/2012, Sch. A; am. B.C. Regs. 104/2019; 149/2022, Sch. 1; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

No
Registry

In the Supreme Court of British Columbia

FAX COVER SHEET

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

This form must be used when transmitting documents to the court registry by fax for filing. This form is not to be emailed.

The ability to transmit documents by fax to a court registry for filing is subject to the limitations set out in the Supreme Court Civil Rules and Practice Directives. Additional information on this filing service is available on the Court Services Branch website at www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/justice/courthouse-services/documents-forms-records/submit-court-documents-forms/fax-filing/how-to-fax-file.

It is the responsibility of the person transmitting a document by fax to ensure that the document is filed in the court registry within the required filing time. The registry takes no responsibility for difficulty experienced when transmitting a document by fax to the registry. The registry cannot guarantee that any document will be filed on the day it is received by fax in the registry.

Documents transmitted to the court registry by fax will be processed in the order they are received. Confirmation of acceptance or refusal will be forwarded as soon as possible to you at the return fax number set out below or by mail if indicated.

То:	court location	available through the of www2.gov.bc.ca/gov.bc	ting documents to court registries are Court Services Branch website at ov/content/justice/courthouse- ns-records/submit-court-documents-
	fax number	forms/fax-filing or throu	igh Enquiry BC at 1-800-663-7867
From:	name – firm or individual	address	
	contact name	city	
	phone number	province	postal code

Confirmation of acceptance or refusal of this filing will be sent as follows:

Check whichever one of the following boxes is c	correct and complete any required information.]		
*	; or		
[insert fax number to	which confirmation is to be sent]		
[] by mail to the address provided a	above.		
Attached:	Type of document: (e.g. notice of	No. of	Statutory
File number or name (style of	application, notice of civil claim, response to civil claim)	pages in document	fee amoun
proceeding) e.g 013654 or "Steward vs. Parakeet"			
Comments:	total no. of pages in submission (maximum 30 including the cover sheet)		Fee total
		plus confirmation fee	\$10.00
		total statutory fees due	
	Registry use only – in	nprint	
Court Services Branch may use your contact infor	mation for the purposes of conducting an evalu	ation of the fax	service.
Payment Information:			
I authorize you to bill to my credit card the tot include the payment information for that purpose.	•	rmation fee. I	
card type(Visa, MasterCard)			
print name as it appears on credit card			
authorizing signature (credit card)			

credit card account number	expiry date on credit card

Please note: The credit card information provided on this form will not be retained. Upon authorization of the payment request, all credit card information will be destroyed.

Form 119 (Rule 23-3 (6))

[am. B.C. Reg. 112/2012, Sch. A.]

[Style of Proceeding]

ELECTRONIC FILING STATEMENT

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

		train 22 3 of the Sup-	teme court errit reales applies to air formisig	
[Che	ck which	hever one of the following is correct an	d complete the required information.]	
	[]	I,, am [name(s) of party(ies)]	the lawyer acting for the [party(ies)]	
	[]	I,, am lawyer.	the [party] and I am not represented by a	
I adv	ise as fo	llows:		
1	electro		btion of document] is being submitted for filing ble] on behalf of the [party(ies)],	
2	The original paper version of the document being submitted for filing electronically appears to bear an original signature of the person identified as the signatory and I have no reason to believe that the signature placed on the document is not the signature of the identified signatory.			
3	The version of the document that is being submitted for filing electronically appears to be a true copy of the original paper version of the document and I have no reason to believe that it is not a true copy of the original paper version.			
Date	:	[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] party [] lawyer for party(ies)	
			[type or print name]	

Form 120 (Rule 23-4 (17))

[Style of Proceeding]

DECLARATION

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Re Application for Payment out of Infant's Funds

I,	[current name in full], of [address], DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE:				
1	that I am the person for whom funds are held in court and I am the person named in the order of				
2	that I attained the full age of 19 years on [dd/mmm/yyyy] and submitted with this declaration is a copy of my birth certificate [or] my birth certificate for examination by the registry;				
3	that I am entitled to payment of the funds;				
_	ne applicant's name has changed since the date of the order referred to in paragraph 1 of this declaration, check collowing and provide the required proof.]				
4	[] that my name has been changed from that shown on the original court order. Proof is attached				
	e this solemn declaration conscientiously believing it to be true, and knowing that it is of the same force and effect as if under oath and by virtue of the <i>Canada Evidence Act</i> .				
	LARED BEFORE ME at)British Columbia)				
on	[dd/mmm/yyyy]				
	nmissioner for taking)				
affida	vits for British Columbia)				
[pi	rint name or affix stamp of commissioner]				
If che	que is to be mailed to other than above address, state here:				
	Authorization for Payment Out				
	[to be completed by the registry]				
Origin	nal name [if changed]:				
Regist	try:				
Date p	paid into court: [dd/mmm/yyyy] Treasury No.:				

Amount (including accrued interest): \$	
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Registrar

Form 121 (Rule 23-6 (8.1))

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 104/2019.]

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM MASTER, REGISTRAR OR SPECIAL REFEREE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

WHEREAS on [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>] [<i>na</i> [] decision [] order: [<i>state concisely</i>	the decision or order]; made the following
TAKE NOTICE that [party(ies)] appeal(s) concisely the grounds of appeal];) from that [] decision [] order on the following grounds: [set out
This appeal will be heard at [time of day] by the presiding judge.	on [dd/mmm/yyyy] at the courthouse at
The appellant(s) estimate(s) that the hearing of the ap	opeal will take[time estimate]
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] appellant [] lawyer for appellant(s)
	[type or print name]

	Form 121.1 (Rule 23-6 (8.2))	
	[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]	
		No
		Registry
	In the Supreme Court of British Columbia	
Between		
		Appellant
and		

APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF ARGUMENT

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.] [Not to exceed 10 pages]

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case are as follows:

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the material facts giving rise to the appellant's statement of argument.]

1

2

Part 2: ISSUES ON APPEAL

The appellant agrees with the order appealed from except as follows:

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the legal bases from the decision or order which give rise to the appellant's appeal.]

1

2

Respondent

Part 3: STANDARD OF REVIEW
[This part must set out the standard of review that the appellant says governs the appeal.]
Part 4: ARGUMENT
The decision or order appealed from is opposed because:
[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the appellant's argument in opposition to the decision or order.]
1
2
Part 5: ORDER SOUGHT
[This part must set out the order sought by the appellant.]

Signature of [] filing person(s) [] lawyer for filing person(s)

.....[type or print name]

Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]

	Form 121.2 (Rule 23-6 (8.4))	
	[en. B.C. Reg. 104/2019.]	
		No
		Registry
	In the Supreme Court of British Columbia	
Between		
		Appellant
and		
		Respondent

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF ARGUMENT

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
[Not to exceed 10 pages]

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent's position on the appellant's statement of facts is as follows:

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the opposed relevant material facts in the appellant's statement of argument and a concise statement of any other relevant facts to be considered.]

1

2

Part 2: ISSUES ON APPEAL

The respondent's position on the appellant's statement of issues on appeal is as follows:

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the opposed legal bases in the decision or order.]

1

2

Part 3: STANDARD OF REVIEW

[This part must set out the standard of review which the respondent says governs the appeal.]

Part	4.	AR	GU	ME)	NT

The appellant's argument is opposed because:

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out a concise statement of the respondent's argument in opposition to the decision or order sought by the appellant.]

1

2

Part 5: ORDER SOUGHT

[This part must set out the order sought by the respondent.]

Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] filing person(s)	
	[tvpe or print n	ame]

Form 122 (Rule 24-1 (10))

[Style of Proceeding]

DEMAND

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

To: [party]				
YOU ARE HEREBY REQUIRED to amend the [specify document to be amended — e.g. notice of civil claim, respons to civil claim, etc.] in accordance with Rule 24-1 (10) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules.				
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] party making demand [] lawyer for party(ies) making demand			
	[type or print name]			
Rule 24-1 (10) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules stat	res:			

Demand for amendment

(10) A party to a transitional proceeding may, by demand in Form 122, demand that a document that is deemed under this rule to be a pleading, petition or response to petition be amended by the party who filed it to make it accord with these Supreme Court Civil Rules.

Form 123 (Appendix B Section 8)

[Style of Proceeding]

OFFER TO SETTLE COSTS

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

To:[party(ies)]	
TAKE NOTICE that [party(ies)] for the sum of \$	offer(s) to settle the amount of the bill of costs of [party(ies)]
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	Signature of [] offering party [] lawyer for offering party(ies)
	[type or print name]

Form 124 (Appendix C, Schedule 1, Section 2 (2))

CERTIFICATE OF MEDIATION

[Rule 22-3 (2) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to this form.]

I,	[name of mediator], certify that:
1	I am a member of a roster organization as defined in the Notice to Mediate (General) Regulation, B.C. Reg. 4/2001.
2	I conducted a mediation session in which the following persons participated:
3	The parties to the mediation were unable to resolve all of the issues at the mediation session and I terminated the mediation.
Date	: [dd/mmm/yyyy]
	Signature of mediator
	[type or print name, address and phone number of mediator]

Form 125

[en. B.C. Reg. 321/2021, Sch. 1.]

INFORMATIONAL NOTICE FOR FORECLOSURE PROCEEDINGS

This is a foreclosure proceeding. You have been served with the enclosed materials because you appear to have an interest in the property described in the petition to the court.

Within this proceeding, the court may make orders concerning distribution of sale proceeds that impact you.

To ensure that you are informed of any court orders concerning distribution of funds, you must make the court and the petitioner aware of your contact information. This can be done by filing a response to petition or notifying the petitioner in writing of your current contact information.

If at any stage of this proceeding you wish to take a position on the relief sought in this proceeding, a response to petition and supporting affidavit must be filed and served on the petitioner within the timelines set out in the Supreme Court Civil Rules.

APPENDIX A.1 – PROBATE FORMS

Form P1 (Rule 25-2 (3))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 250/2021.]

NOTICE OF PROPOSED APPLICATION IN RELATION TO ESTATE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

The applicant(s)			
Full leg	gal name of deceased:		
	[first name] [middle name(s)] [last name/family name]		
	dential address of the deceased: [Include street number or post office box, city/town, province, country and postal		
[Check	whichever one of the immediately following 4 boxes is correct.]		
[]	This application does not relate to a will or a foreign grant.		
[]	This application relates to the physical will of the deceased dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], a copy of which will is provided with this notice.		
[An elec	etronic will is a will that has been signed, and is being stored, electronically.]		
[]	This application relates to the electronic will of the deceased dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], a copy of which will is provided with this notice. You are entitled to the will or access on demand to the will in its original electronic form, using Form P46.		
[]	This application is to reseal a foreign grant or for an ancillary grant and a copy of the foreign grant is provided with this notice. If the foreign grant relates to the will of the deceased, and that will does not form part of the foreign grant, a copy of the will is provided with this notice. In addition, if the grant relates to the electronic will of the deceased, you are entitled to the will or access on demand to the will in its original electronic form, using Form P46.		

* [Select

"grant of probate" if there is a will and the applicant is named as executor or alternate executor in the will

"grant of administration with will annexed" if there is a will and the applicant is not named as executor or alternate executor in the will

"grant of administration without will annexed" if there is no will

"ancillary grant of probate" if a grant of probate or equivalent grant was obtained in relation to the deceased in a jurisdiction other than a jurisdiction prescribed for the purposes of section 138 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act

"ancillary grant of administration with will annexed" if a grant of administration with will annexed or equivalent grant was obtained in relation to the deceased in a jurisdiction other than a jurisdiction prescribed for the purposes of section 138 of the Wills. Estates and Succession Act

"ancillary grant of administration without will annexed" if a grant of administration without will annexed or equivalent grant was obtained in relation to the deceased in a jurisdiction other than a jurisdiction prescribed for the purposes of section 138 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act

"the resealing of a foreign grant" if a grant of probate or equivalent, or a grant of administration or equivalent, was obtained in relation to the estate of the deceased in a jurisdiction prescribed for the purposes of section 138 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act.]

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT:

- (1) Before obtaining the foregoing grant or resealing, the applicant may be granted an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information, as the case may be, in relation to that grant or resealing for the purposes of obtaining financial information in relation to the grant or resealing.
- (2) You have a right to oppose, by filing a notice of dispute in accordance with Rule 25-10 (1),
 - (a) if the intended application is for an estate grant, the granting of either or both of an authorization to obtain estate information and the estate grant, or
 - (b) if the intended application is for a resealing, the granting of either or both of an authorization to obtain resealing information and the resealing.
- (3) You may or may not be entitled to claim against the estate for relief, including a claim under
 - (a) the Family Law Act, or
 - (b) Division 6 of Part 4 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act.
- (4) If you choose to take a step referred to in paragraph (2) or (3), you must do so within the time limited by any relevant rule of court or other enactment.
- (5) You may consult with your own lawyer concerning your interest in, or rights against, the estate.
- (6) After the applicant has filed a submission for estate grant or submission for resealing, you may apply for an order requiring the applicant to provide security unless the applicant is the Public Guardian and Trustee. Filing a notice of dispute will prevent a grant from being issued before you are able to apply for the order requiring security.

- (7) An authorization to obtain estate information, an authorization to obtain resealing information or a grant may issue to the applicant, or a foreign grant may be resealed, on any date that is <u>at least 21 days</u> after the date on which this notice is delivered to you or on any earlier date ordered by the court.
- (8) If an authorization to obtain estate information issues to the applicant, the applicant may apply for a grant without further notice. If an authorization to obtain resealing information issues to the applicant, the applicant may apply for the resealing of the foreign grant without further notice to you.
- (9) If a grant issues to the applicant, the applicant must provide, if there is a will, to the beneficiaries or, if there is no will, to intestate successors of the deceased, an accounting as to how the estate was administered and how the estate assets were distributed, and if a foreign grant is resealed as a result of the application, the intended applicant must provide, if there is a will, to the beneficiaries or, if there is no will, to intestate successors of the deceased, an accounting as to how the estate comprising the assets to which the resealed grant applies was administered and how those assets were distributed.

[If this notice of proposed application is required to be delivered to the Public Guardian and Trustee under Rule 25-2, ensure all additional information required under Rule 25-2 (13) is provided to the Public Guardian and Trustee.]

[A copy of the deceased's will, if any, identified above, must be delivered with this notice if the application is for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed. A copy of the foreign grant, and, if a copy of the will is not attached to the foreign grant, a copy of the will, must be delivered with this notice if the application is for a resealing of a foreign grant or for an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed. Note that a reference to "will" includes all documents that are included within the definition of "will" in the Wills, Estates and Succession Act.]

INFORMATION ABOUT EACH APPLICANT

[Compi	ete the following to	ог еасп аррисапі.	Add additional sneets as required.]
Name: .			
[first	t name] [midd	le name(s)]	[last name/family name]
Mailing a	address: [<i>Include str</i>	eet number or post	office box, city/town, province, country and postal code.]
•••••			
Check v	vhichever one of the	immediately follo	wing 2 boxes is correct.]
[]	This applicant is a	not an individual	
[]	This applicant is a	an individual and	ordinarily lives
	checked the second is correct and prov		ely preceding 2 boxes, check whichever one of the immediately following information.]
[]	at the mailing add	lress noted above	
[]	in the following c	ity and country:	

ADDRESS FOR SERVICE OF APPLICANT(S)

[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information. If there are 2 or more applicants, they must share the same address(es) for service.]

[]	The applicant's(s') address for service is the mailing address noted above.
[]	The applicant's(s') address for service is
-	ust set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address given as additional addresses for service.]
	Street address for service:
	Fax number address for service (if any):
	E-mail address for service (if any):
	Telephone number:
Date:	[dd/mmm/yyyy] Signature of [] applicant [] lawyer for applicant(s)
	[type or print name]

FORM P2 (Rule 25-3 (2))		
[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015; 115/2019; 250/2021; 8/2022; 148/2022; 87/2023.]		
No		
Registry		
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia		
In the Matter of the Estate of[legal name of deceased], deceased		
SUBMISSION FOR ESTATE GRANT		
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]		
This submission for estate grant is submitted by/on behalf of:[name(s) of applicant(s)]		
I am/We are/I,[name of lawyer for applicant(s)], am applying for the following in relation to the estate of the deceased described in Part 1 of this submission for estate grant (the "deceased"):		
[Check whichever one of the immediately following 5 boxes is correct and complete and attach the required schedule.]		
[] Grant of probate [Complete and attach the Schedule for Grant of Probate or Grant of Administration with Will Annexed.]		
[] Grant of administration with will annexed [Complete and attach the Schedule for Grant of Probate or Grant of Administration with Will Annexed.]		
[] Grant of administration without will annexed [Complete and attach the Schedule for Grant of Administration without Will Annexed.]		
[] Ancillary grant of probate or ancillary grant of administration with will annexed [Complete and attach the Schedule for Ancillary Grant of Probate or Ancillary Grant of Administration with Will Annexed.]		
[] Ancillary grant of administration without will annexed [Complete and attach the Schedule for Ancillary Grant of Administration without Will Annexed.]		
[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]		
[] I am/We are submitting with this submission for estate grant an affidavit of assets and liabilities in Form P10 or P11 and therefore do not require an authorization to obtain estate information.		
[] I am/We are seeking an authorization to obtain estate information so that I/we can secure the information necessary to prepare and submit an affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant.		
[Indicate how many court certified copies of the estate grant/authorization to obtain estate information you require.]		
[] I/we request[number of copies] certified copy(ies) of the estate grant.		
[] I/we request[number of copies] certified copy(ies) of the authorization to obtain estate information.		

[] I/we request[number of copies] certified copy(ies) of the affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant.	or domiciled			
[] I/we request[number of copies] certified copy(ies) of the affidavit of assets and liabilities for domiciled estate grant.	or non-			
This submission for estate grant has 4 Parts:				
Part 1: Information about the Deceased Part 2: Contact Information for the Applicant(s) Part 3: Documents filed with this submission for estate grant Part 4: Schedule				
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]				
Signature of [] applicant [] lawyer for applicant(s)				
[type or print name]				
PART 1 – INFORMATION ABOUT THE DECEASED				
Full legal name of deceased:				
[first name] [middle name(s)] [last name/family name]				
Other names in which the deceased held or may have held an interest in property:				
1				
2				
3 <i>etc</i> .				
Last residential address of the deceased:				
Street number and street name:				
[OR]				
Post office box:				
City/Town:				
Province:				
Country:				
Postal Code:				
Deceased's date of death:[dd/mmm/yyyy]				
[Check whichever one of the immediately following 3 boxes is correct and provide any required inform	ation.]			
[] The deceased was neither a Nisga'a citizen nor a member of a treaty first nation.				

		The deceased was a Nisga'a citizen.
	[]	The deceased was a member of the[name] treaty first nation.
PAR	T 2	- CONTACT INFORMATION FOR THE APPLICANT(S)
lawy	er. (est set out the street address of the address for service. This may be your lawyer's office if you are represented by a One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service. If there is more applicant, all applicants must share the same address(es) for service.]
		Street address for service:
		Fax number address for service (if any): E-mail address for service (if any): Telephone number:
PAR	Т3-	– DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THIS SUBMISSION FOR ESTATE GRANT
1	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immediately following 3 boxes is correct and file the specified affidavit(s).]
	[]	There is one applicant to this submission for estate grant and a [Select whichever one of the following 5 choices is correct: P3/P4/P5/P6/P7] affidavit is filed with this submission for estate grant.
	[]	There are 2 or more applicants to this submission for estate grant and a joint [Select whichever one of the following 5 choices is correct: P3/P4/P5/P6/P7] affidavit on behalf of all applicants is filed with this submission for estate grant.
	[]	There are 2 or more applicants to this submission for estate grant and a [Select whichever one of the following 5 choices is correct: P3/P4/P5/P6/P7] affidavit is filed with this submission for estate grant and [indicate number] affidavit(s) in Form P8 is/are filed with this submission for estate grant.
2	_	neck the box for whichever one of the immediately following section 2's is correct and provide any required formation.]
	[]	Filed with this submission for estate grant is/are the following Affidavit(s) of Delivery in Form P9 that confirms/collectively confirm that the documents referred to in Rule 25-2 were delivered to all of the persons to whom, under that rule, the documents were required to be delivered:
		Affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy] Affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy] Affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[]	No affidavit of delivery is attached. In accordance with Rule 25-2, no one, other than the applicant(s), is entitled to notice.
3		ed with this submission for estate grant are 2 copies of the certificate of the chief executive officer under the cal Statistics Act indicating the results of a search for a wills notice filed by or on behalf of the deceased.
4	_	neck whichever one of the immediately following 5 boxes is correct, provide any required information and file specified documents.]
	[]	This application is for a grant of probate, or a grant of administration with will annexed, in relation to the

originally signed version of the will and 2 copies of the will.

will of the deceased dated[dd/mmm/yyyy]......, and filed with this submission for estate grant is the

	LJ	will of the deceased dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], and, because the originally signed version of the will is not available, filed with this submission for estate grant are 3 copies of the will.		
	[]	This application is for a grant of administration without will annexed.		
	[]	This application is for an ancillary grant of probate, or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed, in relation to the grant issued by the[name of issuing court] of[province or country of issuing court] on[dd/mmm/yyyy] (the "foreign grant"), which grant was issued in relation to the will of the deceased dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], and filed with this submission for estate grant is a copy of the following, each of which is certified by the court out of which probate or administration with will annexed has been granted:		
		(a) the foreign grant;		
		(b) if a copy of the will to which the foreign grant relates is not attached to the foreign grant, a copy of the will.		
	[]	This application is for an ancillary grant of administration without will annexed in relation to the grant issued by the		
_		the box for whichever one of the immediately following section 5's is correct and provide any required ation.]		
5	[]	This application is for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed and there are no orders affecting the validity or content of the will referred to in section 4.		
5	[]] This application is for a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed and the following order(s) affect(s) the validity or content of the will referred to in section 4:		
		[If you checked the immediately preceding box, describe any applicable orders, indicate if they have been filed in this proceeding and file any described orders that have not yet been filed in this proceeding.]		
		1 Order dated[dd/mmm/yyyy] [] This order has been filed in this proceeding		
		[] This order has not yet been filed in this proceeding and I am/we are therefore filing a copy of the order with this submission for estate grant		
		2 Order dated[dd/mmm/yyyy]		
		[] This order has been filed in this proceeding		
		[] This order has not yet been filed in this proceeding and I am/we are therefore filing a copy of the order with this submission for estate grant		
		3 etc.		
5	[]	This application is for an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed and there are no orders affecting the validity or content of the will referred to in section 4.		

5	[]	This application is for an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed and the following order(s) affect(s) the validity or content of the will referred to in section 4:			
		[If you checked the immediately preceding box, describe any applicable orders, indicate if they have been filed in this proceeding and file any described orders that have not yet been filed in this proceeding.]			
		1	Order dated[dd/mmm/yyyy] [] This order has been filed in this proceeding [] This order has not yet been filed in this proceeding and I am/we are therefore filing a copy of the order with this submission for estate grant		
		2	Order dated[dd/mmm/yyyy] [] This order has been filed in this proceeding [] This order has not yet been filed in this proceeding and I am/we are therefore filing a copy of the order with this submission for estate grant		
		3	etc.		
5			lication is for a grant of administration without will annexed or an ancillary grant of administration will annexed.		
6 [Check whichever one or more of the immediately following 5 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]					
	[]	pro	application is for a grant of probate, a grant of administration with will annexed, an ancillary grant of ate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed and the will referred to in section 4 does not to any documents or refers only to documents attached to the will.		
	[]	pro gra	application is for a grant of probate, a grant of administration with will annexed, an ancillary grant of ate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed and filed with this submission for estate tis/are the following document(s), which document(s) is/are all of the documents referred to in, but not hed to, the will referred to in section 4:		
		1			
		2			
		3	etc.		
	[]		application is for a grant of administration without will annexed or an ancillary grant of administration out will annexed.		
	[]	The	will refers to one or more documents not attached to the will that cannot be obtained by the applicant(s).		
	[]		will refers to one or more of the following documents not attached to the will that are not filed because locument mentioned in the will is not testamentary:		
		1	[Enter document name and briefly state why the document is not testamentary, for example, not witnessed or not related to the disposition of the deceased's estate.]		
		2			
		3	etc.		

7	_	heck whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and describe and file any specified cuments.]	
	[]	No documents other than those described elsewhere in this submission for estate grant are filed with this submission for estate grant.	
	[]	In addition to the documents described elsewhere in this submission for estate grant, the following documents are filed with this submission for estate grant:	
		1	
		2	
		3 etc.	
8	[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct, provide any required information and file any specified documents.]		
	[]	All documents filed with this submission for estate grant are written in the English language.	
	[]	Filed with this submission for estate grant is an affidavit of translator in Form P12 of	
PAF	RT 4	- SCHEDULE	
1 [Chec	k whichever one of the immediately following 4 boxes is correct and attach the specified Schedule.	
[_	tached to this submission for estate grant is a Schedule for Grant of Probate or Grant of Administration with ill Annexed.	
[] At	tached to this submission for estate grant is a Schedule for Grant of Administration without Will Annexed.	
[_	tached to this submission for estate grant is a Schedule for Ancillary Grant of Probate or Ancillary Grant of Iministration with Will Annexed.	
[_	tached to this submission for estate grant is a Schedule for Ancillary Grant of Administration without Will mexed.	
-		hedule is to be completed and attached to the submission for estate grant only if the application is for a grant of or a grant of administration with will annexed.]	
		Schedule for Grant of Probate or Grant of Administration with Will Annexed	
_		eate if there is any person, other than the applicant, who meets <u>all</u> of the following criteria and therefore is an attor whose right should be reserved on the grant.]	
C	ritei	ria	
(8	ı) tl	ne person is named in the will as executor or alternate executor;	
(l		ne person is a co-executor with the applicant(s) (i.e. has a right to make an application for an estate grant that s equal to the applicant's(s') right to make that application);	

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

(d) the person is alive at the date of this submission for estate grant;

(e) the person has not become incapable of managing the person's affairs.

(c) the person has not renounced executorship;

[]	There is no person who meets all of the foregoing criteria.
[]	The following person(s) meet(s) all of the foregoing criteria:
	1
	2
	3 etc.

2 Listed in each of the following paragraphs is every person who falls within the class of persons identified by that paragraph:

[Provide under each of the following paragraphs the full name of each person to whom the paragraph applies, whether or not that person is named elsewhere in this submission for estate grant.]

[List each named person on a separate line. Do not leave any paragraph blank or indicate "Not applicable"; clearly state why a paragraph does not apply.]

[A person who does not survive a deceased person by 5 days, or a longer period provided in an instrument, is conclusively deemed to have died before the deceased. If a person survives a deceased person by 5 days, or longer if required by the will, for the purposes of this Form, the person is referred to as "surviving".]

- (a) spouse, if any, of the deceased [see section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act] [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: spouse [provide name of spouse]/no currently surviving spouse as defined by section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act [provide name of spouse and indicate "(deceased)"]/never married.]:
- (b) child(ren), if any, of the deceased [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: surviving child(ren) of deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren)]/any child(ren) of the deceased who did not survive the deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren) and indicate "(deceased)"]/no children.]:
- (c) each person, if any, who is a beneficiary under the will and is not named in paragraph (a) or (b) [List each surviving beneficiary and all beneficiaries who did not survive the deceased in this application and indicate " (surviving)" or "(deceased)", as applicable.]:
- (d) each person, if any, who would have been an intestate successor if the deceased had not left a will and who is not named in paragraph (a), (b) or (c) [List all surviving persons who would be entitled to inherit on intestacy and their relationship to the deceased.]:
- (e) each citor, if any, not named in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) [see Rule 25-11] [List anyone who has filed a citation or indicate that no citation has been received.]:

[Include the following section if applicable]

3 The Attorney General has received notice because the government is entitled to all or part of the estate of the deceased.

[This Schedule is to be completed and attached to the submission for estate grant <u>only if</u> the application is for a grant of administration without will annexed.]

Schedule for Grant of Administration without Will Annexed

1 Listed in each of the following paragraphs is every person who falls within the class of persons identified by that paragraph:

[Provide under each of the following paragraphs the full name of each person to whom the paragraph applies, whether or not that person is named elsewhere in this submission for estate grant.]

[List each named person on a separate line. Do not leave any paragraph blank or indicate "Not applicable"; clearly state why a paragraph does not apply.]

[A person who does not survive a deceased person by 5 days is conclusively deemed to have died before the deceased. If a person survives a deceased person by 5 days, for the purposes of this Form, the person is referred to as "surviving".]

- (a) spouse, if any, of the deceased [see section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act] [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: spouse [provide name of spouse]/no currently surviving spouse as defined by section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act [provide name of spouse and indicate "(deceased)"]/never married.]:
- (b) child(ren), if any, of the deceased [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: surviving child(ren) of deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren)]/any child(ren) of the deceased who did not survive the deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren) and indicate "(deceased)" // no children.]:
- (c) each person, if any, not named in paragraph (a) or (b), who is entitled to receive all or part of the estate of a person who dies without a will [see section 23 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act] [List all surviving persons who would be entitled to inherit on intestacy and their relationship to the deceased.]:
- (d) each creditor of the deceased, if any, not named in paragraph (a), (b) or (c) whose claim exceeds \$10 000:
- (e) each citor, if any, not named in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) [see Rule 25-11] [List anyone who has filed a citation or indicate that no citation has been received.]:

[Include the following section if applicable]

2 The Attorney General has received notice because the government is entitled to the estate of the deceased.

[This Schedule is to be completed and attached to the submission for estate grant only if the application is for an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed.]

Schedule for Ancillary Grant of Probate or Ancillary Grant of Administration with Will Annexed

- Each person to whom the foreign grant was issued is an applicant under this submission for estate grant or is represented by an attorney who is an applicant under this submission for estate grant.
- 2 Listed in each of the following paragraphs is every person who falls within the class of persons identified by that paragraph:

[Provide under each of the following paragraphs the full name of each person to whom the paragraph applies, whether or not that person is named elsewhere in this submission for estate grant.]

[List each named person on a separate line. Do not leave any paragraph blank or indicate "Not applicable"; clearly state why a paragraph does not apply.]

[A person who does not survive a deceased person by 5 days, or a longer period provided in an instrument, is conclusively deemed to have died before the deceased. If a person survives a deceased person by 5 days, or longer if required by the will, for the purposes of this Form, the person is referred to as "surviving".]

- (a) spouse, if any, of the deceased [see section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act] [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: spouse [provide name of spouse]/no currently surviving spouse as defined by section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act [provide name of spouse and indicate " (deceased)"/never married.]:
- (b) child(ren), if any, of the deceased [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: surviving child(ren) of deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren)]/any child(ren) of the deceased who did not survive the deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren) and indicate "(deceased)" // no children.]:
- (c) each person, if any, who is a beneficiary under the will and is not named in paragraph (a) or (b) [List each surviving beneficiary and all beneficiaries who did not survive the deceased in this application and indicate " (surviving)" or "(deceased)", as applicable.]:
- (d) each person, if any, who would have been an intestate successor if the deceased had not left a will and who is not named in paragraph (a), (b) or (c) [List all surviving persons who would be entitled to inherit on intestacy and their relationship to the deceased.]:
- (e) each citor, if any, not named in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) [see Rule 25-11] [List anyone who has filed a citation or indicate that no citation has been received.]:

[Include the following section if applicable]

The Attorney General has received notice because the government is entitled to all or part of the estate of the deceased.

[This Schedule is to be completed and attached to the submission for estate grant <u>only if</u> the application is for an ancillary grant of administration without will annexed.]

Schedule for Ancillary Grant of Administration without Will Annexed

- Each person to whom the foreign grant was issued is an applicant under this submission for estate grant or is represented by an attorney who is an applicant under this submission for estate grant.
- 2 Listed in each of the following paragraphs is every person who falls within the class of persons identified by that paragraph:

[Provide under each of the following paragraphs the full name of each person to whom the paragraph applies, whether or not that person is named elsewhere in this submission for estate grant.]

- [List each named person on a separate line. Do not leave any paragraph blank or indicate "Not applicable"; clearly state why a paragraph does not apply.]
- [A person who does not survive a deceased person by 5 days is conclusively deemed to have died before the deceased. If a person survives a deceased person by 5 days, for the purposes of this Form, the person is referred to as "surviving".]
- (a) spouse, if any, of the deceased [see section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act] [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: spouse [provide name of spouse]/no currently surviving spouse as defined by section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act [provide name of spouse and indicate " (deceased)"/never married.]:
- (b) child(ren), if any, of the deceased [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: surviving child(ren) of deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren)]/any child(ren) of the deceased who did not survive the deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren) and indicate "(deceased)"]/no children.]:

- (c) each person, if any, not named in paragraph (a) or (b), who is entitled to receive all or part of the estate of a person who dies without a will [see section 23 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act] [List all surviving persons who would be entitled to inherit on intestacy and their relationship to the deceased.]:
- (d) each creditor of the deceased, if any, not named in paragraph (a), (b) or (c) whose claim exceeds \$10 000:
- (e) each citor, if any, not named in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) [see Rule 25-11] [List anyone who has filed a citation or indicate that no citation has been received.]:

[Include the following section if applicable]

3 The Attorney General has received notice because the government is entitled to the estate of the deceased.

FORM P3 (Rule 25-3 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 148/2022]

This is the	.[<i>1st/2nd/3rd/e</i>	etc.] affidavit
of	[<i>name</i>]	in this case
and was made	on[<i>dd/m</i>	mm/yyyy]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF APPLICANT FOR GRANT OF PROBATE OR GRANT OF ADMINISTRATION WITH WILL ANNEXED (SHORT FORM)

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

identified in section 4 of Part 3 of the submission for estate grant as the will (the "will"), and am applying for:

[Check whichever one of the following 2 boxes is correct.]

[]	a grant of probate.
Г٦	a grant of administration with will annexed

[Check the box for whichever one of the following section 2's is best and provide any required information. The first four section 2's provide a guided response for the most common situations and the last two section 2's provide a more flexible alternative.]

[If you checked the immediately preceding boxes, check whichever one of the immediately following 3 boxes is correct and complete any required information.]

- [] No other persons are named in the will as executor.
- [] No other persons are named in the will as executor who are not parties to this application.
- [] Other persons are named in the will as executor and, of those, the following person(s) is/are not named as an applicant on the submission for estate grant for the reason shown after that/those person('s/s') name(s):

[Complete the following for each named person.]

		[name] is not named as an applicant on the submission for estate grant because
		that person
		[] has renounced executorship
		[] is deceased
		[] other[briefly set out reason]
2	[]	I am not named as an executor or alternate executor in the will, and am a person referred to in paragraph of section 131 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> .
2	[]	[name of organization] is not named as an executor or alternate executor in the will, and [name of organization] is a beneficiary or nominee referred to in paragraph of section 131 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act. I am the [organizational title] of [name of organization] and I am authorized by [name of organization] to swear this affidavit on [name of organization]'s behalf as applicant.
2	[]	My relationship to the deceased is[state your relationship]
2	[]	[name of organization]'s relationship to the deceased is[state the organization's relationship]. I am the [organizational title] of [name of organization] and I am authorized by [name of organization] to swear this affidavit on [name of organization]'s behalf as applicant.
3	[Cl	heck whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]
	[]	I am not obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public Guardian and Trustee.
	[]	I am obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public Guardian and Trustee.
4		n satisfied that a diligent search for a testamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place that ald reasonably be considered to be a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, without

I believe that the will is the last will of the deceased that deals with property in British Columbia.

that no testamentary document that is dated later than the date of the will has been found.

6 I believe that the will complies with the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act* and

limitation, in all places, both physical and electronic, where the deceased usually kept important documents and

- (a) I am not aware of there being any issues that would call into question the validity or contents of the will,
- (b) I am not requesting that the will be recognized as a military will executed in accordance with the requirements of section 38 of the *Wills, Estates and Succession Act*,
- (c) I am not aware of there being any interlineations, erasures or obliterations in, or other alterations to, the will, and
- (d) I am not aware of there being any issues arising from the appearance of the will.
- 7 An originally signed version of the will is being filed with the submission for estate grant.
- A certificate from the chief executive officer under the Vital Statistics Act indicating the results of a search for a wills notice filed by or on behalf of the deceased is filed with this application, and the certificate indicates that no testamentary document that is dated later than the date of the will has been found.
- 9 All documents referred to in the will are attached to the will.
- 10 I have read the submission for estate grant and the other documents referred to in that document and I believe that the information contained in that submission for estate grant and those documents is correct and complete.

- I will administer according to law all of the deceased's estate, I will prepare an accounting as to how the estate was administered and I acknowledge that, in doing this, I will be subject to the legal responsibility of a personal representative.
- 12 I am not aware of there being any application for a grant of probate or administration, or any grant of probate or administration, or equivalent, having been issued, in relation to the deceased, in British Columbia or in any other jurisdiction.

SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE	
ME at, British Columbia)
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])
)
)
A commissioner for taking)
affidavits for British Columbia)
[print name or affix stamp of commissioner].	

FORM P4 (Rule 25-3 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015; 115/2019; 250/2021; 148/2022.]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF APPLICANT FOR GRANT OF PROBATE OR GRANT OF ADMINISTRATION WITH WILL ANNEXED (LONG FORM)

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.] 1 I am the applicant/one of the applicants referred to in the submission for estate grant in relation to the estate of[legal name of deceased]........... (the "deceased") and in relation to the document that is identified in section 4 of Part 3 of the submission for estate grant as the will (the "will"), and am applying for: [Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.] [] a grant of probate. [] a grant of administration with will annexed. Check the box for whichever one of the following section 2's is best and provide any required information. The first four section 2's provide a guided response for the most common situations and the last two section 2's provide a more *flexible alternative.*] the will and my appointment has not been revoked under section 56 (2) of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act or by a codicil to the will. will..... in the will and the appointment of [name of organization] has not been revoked under section 56 (2) of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act or by a codicil to the will. I am the [organizational title]

[If you checked the immediately preceding boxes, check whichever one of the immediately following 3 boxes is correct and complete any required information.]

of [name of organization] and I am authorized by [name of organization] to swear this affidavit on [name of

[] No other persons are named in the will as executor.

organization]'s behalf as applicant.

- [] No other persons are named in the will as executor who are not parties to this application.
- [] Other persons are named in the will as executor and, of those, the following person(s) is/are not named as an applicant on the submission for estate grant for the reason shown after that/those person('s/s') name(s):

[Complete the following for each named person.]

	[name] is not named as an applicant on the submission for estate grant because that
	person
	[] has renounced executorship
	[] is deceased
	[] other[briefly set out reason]
2	[] I am not named as an executor or alternate executor in the will, and am a person referred to in paragraph of section 131 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> .
2	[] [name of organization] is not named as an executor or alternate executor in the will, and [name of organization] is a beneficiary or nominee referred to in paragraph of section 131 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act. I am the [organizational title] of [name of organization] and I am authorized by [name of organization] to swear this affidavit on [name of organization]'s behalf as applicant.
2	[] My relationship to the deceased is[state your relationship]
2	[] [name of organization]'s relationship to the deceased is[state the organization's relationship]. I am the [organizational title] of [name of organization] and I am authorized by [name of organization] to swear this affidavit on [name of organization]'s behalf as applicant.
3	[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]
	[] I am not obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public Guardian and Trustee.
	[] I am obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public Guardian and Trustee.
4	A certificate from the chief executive officer under the <i>Vital Statistics Act</i> indicating the results of a search for a wills notice filed by or on behalf of the deceased is filed with this application, and the certificate indicates that
	[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]
	[] no wills notice has been filed in relation to a testamentary document that is dated later than the date of the will included with this application.
	[] no wills notice has been filed at all.
5	I am satisfied that a diligent search for a testamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place that could reasonably be considered to be a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, without limitation, in all places both physical and electronic where the deceased usually kept important documents and
	[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[] no testamentary document of the deceased dated later than the will has been found.
	[] one or more testamentary documents dated later than the will have been found. A copy of the testamentary document(s) is attached as an exhibit to the affidavit. I believe that the later testamentary document(s) is/are invalid or otherwise not relevant to this application for the following reasons:[briefly state the reasons]
6	[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]
	[] I am not aware of there being any issues respecting execution of the will. [Go to section 7.]

of

		hecked the second of the immediately preceding 2 boxes, complete each of the following paragraphs (a required.]
(a)	Atte	estation Clause [the portion of the will that identifies the persons who signed the will as witnesses to
, ,	the	will-maker's signature]
	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]
	[]	None of this paragraph (a) applies to the will.
	[]	The will does not contain an attestation clause or contains an attestation clause that is not sufficient to show that the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> were met when the will was signed.
		you checked the second of the immediately preceding 2 boxes, check whichever one of the immediately lowing 5 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[]	pursuant to Rule 25-3 (15), submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant is an affidavit of
	[]	an affidavit from a subscribing witness cannot be obtained, and pursuant to Rule 25-3 (16) (a), submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant, is an affidavit of[name]
	[]	neither an affidavit from a subscribing witness nor an affidavit sworn by a person present when the will was signed can be obtained, and pursuant to Rule 25-3 (16) (b), submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant is/are the following affidavit(s) confirming the signatures of the will-maker and subscribing witnesses:
		1 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		2 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[]	none of an affidavit from a subscribing witness, an affidavit sworn by a person present when the will was signed and an affidavit confirming the signatures of the will-maker and subscribing witnesses can be obtained, and pursuant to Rule 25-3 (16) (c), submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant, is an affidavit of
	[]	the will is valid as to the formal requirements for making the will and is admissible to probate under section 80 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> , and submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant is/are the following affidavit(s) confirming that validity:
		1 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		2 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
(b)	Mil	itary Will

	[]	I believe that the will was made by a person referred to in Rule 25-3 (17) and is in a form permitted by section 38 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> , and attached as Exhibit to this affidavit is[describe nature of evidence attached] as evidence that the will-maker was authorized to make a will in that form at the time the will was made and that the will was executed in accordance with the requirements of section 38 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> .
(c)	<u>Spe</u>	ecial circumstances
	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]
	[]	None of this paragraph (c) applies to the will.
	[]	I believe that at the time of the making of the will, the will-maker
		you checked the second of the immediately preceding 2 boxes, check whichever one or more of the mediately following 5 boxes is correct.]
	[]	was blind
	[]	was illiterate
	[]	did not fully understand the language in which the will was written
	[]	signed by a means of a mark instead of handwritten words
	[] and	directed another person to sign the will on behalf of the will-maker in the will-maker's presence
		you checked one or more of the immediately preceding 5 boxes, check whichever one of the nediately following 3 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[]	the attestation clause in the will indicates that the circumstance(s) referred to above applied to the will-maker at the time of the signing of the will.
	[]	the following affidavit(s) is/are submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant as evidence that the requirements of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> relating to the execution of the will were met and that the will-maker knew and approved of the content of the will:
		1 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		2 the affidavit of
	[]	the will is valid as to the formal requirements for making the will and is admissible to probate under section 80 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> , and submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant is/are the following affidavit(s) confirming that validity:
		1 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		2 the affidavit of
(c.1)	<u>Cor</u>	by of the Will
	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immediately following 5 boxes is correct.]
	[]	The will being filed is the physical original.

	ΙJ	the originally signed physical version of the will[if you have first hand knowledge of the reason the original cannot be filed, enter that here][if you do not have direct knowledge of all reasons why the original cannot be attached, include the following text and affidavit] Submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant is an affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy] explaining why a copy is available, but the original is not.
	[]	The will being filed is a PDF and the original electronic form of the will was a PDF.
	[]	The will being filed is a physical copy or PDF copy of an electronic original and, in addition, I am providing access information for a third-party electronic repository where the will in its original electronic form is stored[insert information about electronic repository, for example: URL, user ID, password, etc.]
	[]	The will being filed is a physical copy or PDF copy of an electronic original. The applicant(s) cannot file the will in its original electronic form because:
		[If you checked the immediately preceding box, check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
		[] the will in its original electronic form is in a format other than PDF and therefore is not able to be electronically filed in the court registry.
		[] the will in its original electronic form cannot be submitted[if you have first hand knowledge of the reason the original cannot be filed, enter that here] [if you do not have direct knowledge of all reasons why the original cannot be attached, include the following text and affidavit] Submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant is an affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy] explaining why a copy is available but the original is not.
(c.2)	<u>For</u>	eign Will
	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immediately following 3 boxes is correct.
	[]	The will was made in British Columbia.
	[]	The will was made outside of British Columbia, but complies with the requirements for making a will that are set out in Division 1 of Part 4 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> .
	[]	The will was made outside of British Columbia and does not comply with the requirements for making a will that are set out in Division 1 of Part 4 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> , but the will was validly made in accordance with paragraph [set out paragraph] of section 80 of that Act. Submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant is an affidavit of[name] sworn [dd/mmm/yyyy] explaining why section 80 applies
(d)	<u>Oth</u>	ner Issues
	$\Gamma C h$	neck whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.
		There are no other issues relating to proper execution of the will.
	[]	The following is/are the other issue(s) relating to proper execution of the will:
		[set out the issue] and attached as Exhibit to this affidavit is
hech	whi	chever one of the immediately following 2 hoves is correct and provide any required information 1

_			are of there being any interlineations, erasures or obliterations in, or other alterations to, the will. [If ectronic, go to section 7.1, otherwise go to section 8.]
			erlineations, erasures or obliterations in, or other alterations to, the will.
	immedia the will,	ately , para	ked the second of the immediately preceding 2 boxes, complete whichever one or more of the following paragraphs that apply. Complete paragraph (a) if there are one or more interlineations in agraph (b) if there are one or more erasures or obliterations in the will, and paragraph (c) if there are alterations in the will.]
	(a) Int	erlin	eations
	[]		ere are one or more interlineations in the will, and the following applies to each of those erlineations:
		boz wii tha	You checked the immediately preceding box, check whichever one of the immediately following 4 xes is correct and provide any required information. If there is more than one interlineation in the II, and none of the following boxes applies to all of those interlineations, then select each check box at applies and specify the page number and, if necessary, location of the interlineation to which each each box you have selected applies.]
		[]	I believe that the interlineation was made in accordance with the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> relating to the execution of a will.
		[]	I believe that the interlineation was authenticated by the re-execution of the will or by the subsequent execution of a codicil.
		[]	I cannot confirm that the interlineation was made in accordance with the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the <i>Wills</i> , <i>Estates and Succession Act</i> relating to the execution of a will or was authenticated by the re-execution of the will or by the subsequent execution of a codicil but believe that the interlineation should form part of the will as it was present when the will was signed, and, pursuant to Rule 25-3 (20) (a), submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant is/are the following affidavit(s):
			1 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
			2 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		[]	I have no information to suggest that the interlineation reflects the will-maker's intentions.
	(b) <u>W</u>	ords]	Erased or Obliterated
	[C]	heck	whichever one of the immediately following 3 boxes is correct.]
	[]		each erasure or obliteration in the will, the words erased or obliterated are entirely effaced and mot be ascertained on inspection.
	[]		least some of the words erased or obliterated are not entirely effaced and can be read, and none of following boxes apply to all of those erasures or obliterations.
	[]	Wo	ords in the will were erased or obliterated and
		fol	you checked the immediately preceding box, check whichever one or more of the immediately lowing 4 boxes is correct and provide any required information. If multiple boxes apply, indicate a page number and location of the erasure or obliteration to which you are referring.]
		[]	I believe that the erasure or obliteration was made in accordance with the requirements of Division 1 of Part 4 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> relating to the execution of a will.

[

		[]	I believe that the erasure or obliteration was authenticated by the re-execution of the will or by the subsequent execution of a codicil.
		[]	I believe that the words erased or obliterated should not form part of the will and, pursuant to Rule 25-3 (21) (a), submitted for filing with the submission for estate grant is/are the following affidavit(s):
			1 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
			2 the affidavit of[name]sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		[]	I have no information to suggest that the erasures or obliterations reflect the will-maker's intentions.
	(c) <u>Ot</u>	ther is	<u>ssues</u>
	[]	[<i>If</i>	elieve that the following issue(s) arise from the appearance of the will: fyou checked the immediately preceding box, check whichever one or more of the immediately lowing 5 boxes are correct.]
		[]	It appears that an attempt was made to revoke the will.
		[]	It appears that a page or document was previously attached to the will but is missing.
		[]	It appears that the will is incomplete.
		[]	It appears that the will has been altered by an alteration that was not made by the will-maker in compliance with the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> .
		[]	It appears that[specify]
		and	I submitted for filing in support of the submission for estate grant is/are the following affidavit(s):
			1 the affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
			2 the affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
7.1	The electro	onic v	vill has the following issues:
	[Check wh	nichev	ver one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[] I am no	t awa	re of there being any issues in relation to the electronic will.
	[If you	check	g issues arise in relation to the electronic will: end the immediately preceding box, check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is provide any required information.]
			tronic signatures do not appear visually in the will[state how will was
	[]		[briefly state any other issues]
8	[Check wh	nichev	ver one of the following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
			physical will, and hever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]
	[] the	e will	does not refer to any documents or refers only to documents attached to the will.
	[] the	e will	refers to one or more documents not attached to the will, and
			ted the second of the immediately preceding boxes, complete the following for each document that in, but not attached to, the will.]
	[] a c	сору с	of[identify document]
	[6	heck	whichever one of the immediately following 3 boxes is correct.]
	ГТ	is a	ttached as Exhibit to this affidavit.

[] cannot be obtained by the appl	icant.				
[] is not attached, because it is no					
[] The will is an electronic will, and	•				
	nents or refers only to documents saved as part of the same file as the				
[] the will refers to one or more document	ments not saved as part of the same file as the will, and				
[If you checked the second of the immed that is referred to in, but not attached to,	diately preceding 2 boxes, complete the following for each document the will.]				
[] a copy of[identify docume.	nt]				
[Check whichever one of the in	mmediately following 3 boxes is correct.]				
[] is attached as Exhibit	to this affidavit.				
[] cannot be obtained by the	applicant.				
[] is not attached, because it	is not testamentary.				
9 [Check whichever one of the immediately i	following 3 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]				
other jurisdiction.	en issued, in relation to the deceased, in British Columbia or in any ninistration, or equivalent, has/have been issued, in relation to the her jurisdiction:				
	ant is/those grants are not relevant to this application for the following as]				
[] The following person/people has/have al	so applied for a grant of probate or administration:[insert name(s)]				
10 I have read the submission for estate grant a	and the other documents referred to in that document and I believe that n for estate grant and those documents is correct and complete.				
_	1 I will administer according to law all of the deceased's estate, I will prepare an accounting as to how the estate was administered and I acknowledge that, in doing this, I will be subject to the legal responsibility of a personal representative.				
SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)				
ME at, British Columbia)				
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])				
)				
)				
A commissioner for taking)				
affidavits for British Columbia)				
[print name or affix stamp of commissioner]					

FORM P5 (Rule 25-3 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 148/2022.]

This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
of
and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
ANT OF
NNEXED
lies to all forms.l

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF APPLICANT FOR GRANT OF ADMINISTRATION WITHOUT WILL ANNEXED

		[[Rule 22-3 of the Su	preme Court Civil Ru	les applies to all forms.]	
		[<i>name</i>] () THAT:	, of	[address]	,[occupation]	, SWEAR (OR
1	I am the applicant/one of the applicants referred to in the submission for estate grant in relation to the estate of[legal name of deceased] (the "deceased") and am applying for a grant of administration without will annexed.					
2	[Ch	neck one of the immed	liately following (boxes and provide	the required information.]	
	[]	I am a person referre Estates and Succession		[select (a), (b), ((d), (e), (f) or (g)] of se	ection 130 of the Wills,
	[]	I am a person nomina and Succession Act.	ated under paragr	aph[select (a), (c) or (e.1)] of section 13	0 of the Wills, Estates
	[]	My relationship to th	e deceased is	state your relationsh	<i>nip</i>]	
	[]	Succession Act. I am	the [organization	nal title] of [name of	(g) of section 130 of the <i>Viorganization</i>] and I am authion]'s behalf as applicant.	
	[]	of the Wills, Estates	and Succession A	ct. I am the [organiz	raph[select (a), (c) or (e rational title] of [name of or it on [name of organization	rganization] and I am

- affidavit on the [name of organization]'s behalf as applicant.

 [Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]
- [] I am not obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

[] [name of organization]'s relationship to the deceased is[state the organization's relationship]. I am the [organizational title] of [name of organization] and I am authorized by [name of organization] to swear this

[] I am obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

3

I am satisfied that a diligent search for a testamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place or could reasonably be considered to be a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, will limitation, in all places, both physical and electronic, where the deceased usually kept his or her important documents and			e a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, without
	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immed	diately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[]	no testamentary document of th	e deceased has been found.
	[]	as an exhibit to the affidavit. I b	ments have been found. A copy of the testamentary document(s) is attached believe that the testamentary document(s) is/are invalid or otherwise not the following reasons:[briefly state the reasons]
5	I be	elieve that there is no will of the	deceased.
6	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immed	diately following 3 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[]		ny application for a grant of probate or administration, or any grant of probat , having been issued, in relation to the deceased, in British Columbia or in
	[]	deceased in British Columbia o	te or administration, or equivalent, has/have been issued in relation to the r in another jurisdiction:
	[]	The following person(s) has/ha	we also applied for a grant of probate or administration:[insert name(s)]
7	I have read the submission for estate grant and the other documents referred to in that document and I believe that the information contained in that submission for estate grant and those documents is correct and complete.		
8	was		of the deceased's estate, I will prepare an accounting as to how the estate e that, in doing this, I will be subject to the legal responsibility of a personal
SW	ORN	N (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE	
		, British Columbia	1)
on		[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])
)
A c	omn	nissioner for taking	
affi	davi	ts for British Columbia	
[print	t name or affix stamp	
of	comi	nissioner]	

FORM P6 (Rule 25-3 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015; 148/2022.]

This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
of
and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF APPLICANT FOR ANCILLARY GRANT OF PROBATE OR ANCILLARY GRANT OF ADMINISTRATION WITH WILL ANNEXED

	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
1	I am the applicant/one of the applicants referred to in the submission for estate grant in relation to the estate of[legal name of deceased] (the "deceased") and in relation to the document that is identified in section 4 of Part 3 of the submission for estate grant as the will (the "will"), and am applying for an ancillary grant of probate or an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed.
2	[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[] The applicant on whose behalf this affidavit is sworn is not an individual and I am authorized by the applicant to swear this affidavit on the applicant's behalf.
	[] I am an individual and ordinarily live at the following location:
	City/town:

- 3 All of the persons to whom the foreign grant was issued are applicants in the submission for estate grant.
- 4 [Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]
 - [] I am not obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public Guardian and Trustee.
 - [] I am obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public Guardian and Trustee.
- I am satisfied that a diligent search for a testamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place that could reasonably be considered to be a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, without limitation, in all places, both physical and electronic, where the deceased usually kept his or her important documents and

[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]

[] no testamentary d	ocument of the deceased other than the will has been found.		
document(s) is at	mentary documents other than the will have been found. A copy of the testamentary tached as an exhibit to the affidavit. I believe that the other testamentary document(s therwise not relevant to this application for the following reasons:[brief		
	f executive officer under the Vital Statistics Act indicating the results of a search for		
wills notice filed by or on	behalf of the deceased is filed with this application, and the certificate indicates that		
[Check whichever one	e of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]		
	s been filed in relation to a testamentary document that is dated later than the date o with this application.		
[] no wills notice ha	s been filed at all.		
	have read the submission for estate grant and the other documents referred to in that document and I believe at the information contained in that submission for estate grant and those documents is correct and complet		
I will administer according to law the deceased's estate to which the submission for estate grant relates and acknowledge that, in doing this, I will be subject to the legal responsibility of a personal representative.			
SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BE	EFORE)		
ME at, British	Columbia)		
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])		
	···················)		
A commissioner for taking)		
affidavits for British Columbia)		
	·		
[print name or affix stamp of	Commissioner]		

FORM P7 (Rule 25-3 (2))

	[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 148/2022.]
	This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
	of[name] in this case
	and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[Style of Proceeding]
	FFIDAVIT OF APPLICANT FOR ANCILLARY GRANT OF ADMINISTRATION WITHOUT WILL ANNEXED
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
1	I am the applicant/one of the applicants referred to in the submission for estate grant in relation to the estate of
2	 [Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.] [] The applicant on whose behalf this affidavit is sworn is not an individual and I am authorized by the applicant to swear this affidavit on the applicant's behalf. [] I am an individual and ordinarily live at the following location: City/town: Province/state:
3	Country:
4	 [Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.] I am not obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public Guardian and Trustee. I am obliged under Rule 25-3 (11) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for estate grant to the Public
	1 1 am obliged under Kule 23-3 (11) to deriver a filed copy of this submission for estate graft to the Fublic

I am satisfied that a diligent search for a testamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place that could reasonably be considered to be a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, without limitation, in all places, both physical and electronic, where the deceased usually kept his or her important documents and

[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required *information.*]

Guardian and Trustee.

I,

	[]	no testamentary document of the	ne deceased has been found.		
	[]	•	ments have been found. I believe that the testamentary document(s) is/are at to this application for the following reasons:[briefly state the		
6	wills no	A certificate from the chief executive officer under the <i>Vital Statistics Act</i> indicating the results of a search for a wills notice filed by or on behalf of the deceased is filed with this application, and the certificate indicates that			
	$\lfloor Ch \rfloor$	neck whichever one of the immed	diately following 2 boxes is correct.]		
	[]	no wills notice has been filed in the will included with this appl	relation to a testamentary document that is dated later than the date of ication.		
	[]	no wills notice has been filed a	t all.		
7	I have read the submission for estate grant and the other documents referred to in that document and I believe that the information contained in that submission for estate grant and those documents is correct and complete.				
8	I will administer according to law the deceased's estate to which the submission for estate grant relates and I acknowledge that, in doing this, I will be subject to the legal responsibility of a personal representative.				
SW	ORN (O	R AFFIRMED) BEFORE)		
ME at, British Columbia)		
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])		
)		
)		
A commissioner for taking)		
affi	davits for	r British Columbia)		
[print name or affix stamp of commissioner]					

FORM P8 (Rule 25-3 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
of[name] in this case
and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
[Style of Proceeding]
AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATION FOR ESTATE GRANT
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
I,

- I am one of the applicants referred to in the submission for estate grant in relation to the estate of [legal name of deceased]..... (the "deceased"). I have read the affidavit in Form ... [Set out whichever one of the following 5 choices is correct -
- affidavit...... and there is nothing in that affidavit that I know to be inaccurate.]
- 3 I have read the submission for estate grant and the other documents referred to in that document and I believe that the information contained in that submission for estate grant and those documents is correct and complete.
- I will administer according to law the deceased's estate to which the submission for estate grant relates and I acknowledge that, in doing this, I will be subject to the legal responsibility of a personal representative.

SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
ME at, British Columbia)
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])
)
)
A commissioner for taking)
affidavits for British Columbia)
[print name or affix stamp of commissioner]	

	FORM P9 (Rule 25-3 (2))
	[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015; 115/2019; 250/2021; 148/2022.]
	This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
	of[name] in this case
	and was made on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]
	[Style of Proceeding]
	AFFIDAVIT OF DELIVERY
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
	THAT:
"no I de	ached to this affidavit and marked as Exhibit A is a copy of a notice of proposed application in Form P1 (the tice"). Elivered a copy of the notice, along with[identify the document(s), if any, that the applicant is required deliver under Rule 25-2 (1.1)] to the following persons as follows:
_	neck whichever one or more of the immediately following 3 boxes are correct and provide the required formation.
[]	by mailing it/them to the following persons by ordinary mail:
	[name of person who received delivery by ordinary mail on[date of delivery – dd/mmm/yyyy]]
	[name of person who received delivery by ordinary mail on[date of delivery – dd/mmm/yyyy]]
[]	by handing it/them to and leaving it/them with the following persons:
	[name of person who received personal delivery on[date of delivery – dd/mmm/yyyy]]
	[name of person who received personal delivery on[date of delivery – dd/mmm/yyyy]]
[]	by sending it/them to the following persons by e-mail, fax or other electronic means to that person:
	[name of person who received delivery by e-mail, fax or other electronic means on[date of delivery – dd/mmm/yyyy]]

delivery – dd/mmm/yyyy]...]......

I,[name]...

AFFIRM) THAT:

.....[name of person who received delivery by e-mail, fax or other electronic means on[date of

[] Each of the persons who received delivery by e-mail, fax or other electronic means has, in writing, acknowledged receipt of the document(s) referred to in this section. [] I will retain a copy of those acknowledgements until the personal representative of the deceased is discharged and will produce those acknowledgements promptly after being requested to do so by the registrar. [Complete the following phrase for each person referred to in section 2 who received delivery of the notice on behalf of another person under Rule 25-2 (8), (10) or (12).] I delivered the document(s) referred to in section 2 to		[If you checked the third of the immediately preceding 3 boxes, check both of the immediately following boxes. If you cannot check both of the immediately following boxes in relation to any person to whom the notice was sent by e-mail, fax or other electronic means, because he or she has not provided the required acknowledgement, you must re-deliver the notice and Rule 25-2 (1.1) documents by mail or personal delivery and swear to that delivery under the first or second of the boxes in this section 2.]
discharged and will produce those acknowledgements promptly after being requested to do so by the registrar. [Complete the following phrase for each person referred to in section 2 who received delivery of the notice on behalf of another person under Rule 25-2 (8), (10) or (12).] I delivered the document(s) referred to in section 2 to		
I delivered the document(s) referred to in section 2 to		discharged and will produce those acknowledgements promptly after being requested to do so by the
[Include the following sections if applicable.] In accordance with Rule 25-2, I delivered a copy of the document(s) referred to in section 2 was (were) required to be delivered and on whose behal the person referred to in this section received delivery of the document(s)]	3	
In accordance with Rule 25-2, I delivered a copy of the document(s) referred to in section 2 to the Public Guardian and Trustee as follows: [Check whichever one or more of the immediately following 3 boxes are correct] [] by mailing it/them to the Public Guardian and Trustee by ordinary mail. [] by handing it/them to and leaving it/them with the Public Guardian and Trustee. [] by sending it/them to the Public Guardian and Trustee by e-mail, fax or other electronic means to that person. In accordance with Rule 25-2 (1.1) (b): [] No person who received notice demanded the will in its original electronic form. [] I provided the will or access to the will in its original electronic form to the following person(s)[insert name(s)] SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE ME at		[identify capacity, e.g. parent, guardian, committee, etc.] of[name of person to whom, under Rule 25-2 (2), the document(s) referred to in section 2 was (were) required to be delivered and on whose behalf
Guardian and Trustee as follows: [Check whichever one or more of the immediately following 3 boxes are correct] [] by mailing it/them to the Public Guardian and Trustee by ordinary mail. [] by handing it/them to and leaving it/them with the Public Guardian and Trustee. [] by sending it/them to the Public Guardian and Trustee by e-mail, fax or other electronic means to that person. In accordance with Rule 25-2 (1.1) (b): [] No person who received notice demanded the will in its original electronic form. [] I provided the will or access to the will in its original electronic form to the following person(s)[insert name(s)] SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE ME at, British Columbia on		[Include the following sections if applicable.]
[] by mailing it/them to the Public Guardian and Trustee by ordinary mail. [] by handing it/them to and leaving it/them with the Public Guardian and Trustee. [] by sending it/them to the Public Guardian and Trustee by e-mail, fax or other electronic means to that person. In accordance with Rule 25-2 (1.1) (b): [] No person who received notice demanded the will in its original electronic form. [] I provided the will or access to the will in its original electronic form to the following person(s)[insert name(s)] SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE ME at	ļ	
[] by handing it/them to and leaving it/them with the Public Guardian and Trustee. [] by sending it/them to the Public Guardian and Trustee by e-mail, fax or other electronic means to that person. In accordance with Rule 25-2 (1.1) (b): [] No person who received notice demanded the will in its original electronic form. [] I provided the will or access to the will in its original electronic form to the following person(s)[insert name(s)] SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE ME at, British Columbia on		[Check whichever one or more of the immediately following 3 boxes are correct]
[] by sending it/them to the Public Guardian and Trustee by e-mail, fax or other electronic means to that person. In accordance with Rule 25-2 (1.1) (b): [] No person who received notice demanded the will in its original electronic form. [] I provided the will or access to the will in its original electronic form to the following person(s)[insert name(s)] SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE ME at		[] by mailing it/them to the Public Guardian and Trustee by ordinary mail.
person. In accordance with Rule 25-2 (1.1) (b): [] No person who received notice demanded the will in its original electronic form. [] I provided the will or access to the will in its original electronic form to the following person(s)[insert name(s)] SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE ME at		[] by handing it/them to and leaving it/them with the Public Guardian and Trustee.
[] No person who received notice demanded the will in its original electronic form. [] I provided the will or access to the will in its original electronic form to the following person(s)[insert name(s)] [] WORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE		•
[] I provided the will or access to the will in its original electronic form to the following person(s)[insert name(s)] SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE) ME at	,	In accordance with Rule 25-2 (1.1) (b):
name(s)] SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE) ME at		[] No person who received notice demanded the will in its original electronic form.
ME at		
on[dd/mmm/yyyy]	SW	ORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
) A commissioner for taking)	ИE	at, British Columbia)
,	n	[dd/mmm/yyyy])
,)
,)
ffidavits for British Columbia)	A c	ommissioner for taking)
)	ffi	davits for British Columbia)
[print name or affix stamp of commissioner]	[print name or affix stamp of commissioner]

FORM P10 (Rule 25-3 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015; 250/2021; 8/2022; 148/2022.]

This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
of
and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOR DOMICILED ESTATE GRANT

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

I,	[name]	of	[address]		etion], SW	EAR (OR
	IRM) THAT:	,		, []	,	`
1	I am an applicant for .		chever one of the follo	owing 6 choices is co	orrect: a grant of	f probate/a
	1.1	-	1/	U	_	r

- grant of administration with will annexed/a grant of administration without will annexed/an ancillary grant of probate/an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed/an ancillary grant of administration without will
- I have made a diligent search and inquiry to find the property and liabilities of the deceased.
- 3 Attached to this affidavit as Exhibit A is a Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Distribution that discloses
 - (a) the real property and tangible personal property within British Columbia, and intangible personal property anywhere in the world, that passes to the applicant in the applicant's capacity as the deceased's personal representative,
 - (b) the value of that property, and
 - (c) the liabilities that charge or encumber that property.

[Check the box for whichever one of the immediately following section 4's is correct and provide any required information.]

- [] Attached to this affidavit as Exhibit B is a Statement of Real and Tangible Property Outside of British Columbia that discloses
 - (a) the real property and tangible personal property outside of British Columbia that passes to the applicant in the applicant's capacity as the deceased's personal representative,
 - (b) the value of that property, and
 - (c) the liabilities that charge or encumber that property.
- There is no real property or tangible personal property outside of British Columbia that passes to the applicant in the applicant's capacity as the deceased's personal representative.
- If I determine that there is any property or liability that has not been disclosed in Exhibit A, or that information contained in this affidavit is incorrect or incomplete, I will promptly after learning of the same file an affidavit of assets and liabilities in Form P14 to disclose the correct and complete information.

In addition to the probate fees payable in relation to any property disclosed in Exhibit A, I promise to pay the

Minister of Finance the probate fees pay deceased's personal representative, and the value of that asset.	*		
SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)		
ME at, British Columbia)		
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])		
)		
)		
A commissioner for taking)		
affidavits for British Columbia)		
[print name or affix stamp of commission	<i>er</i>]		
	EXHIBIT A		
		This is Exhibit A referred to in	the affidavit of
		, 9	sworn/affirmed
Statement of Assets, Liabilities an	nd Distribution	before me on[dd/mn	
		A commissioner for taking aff British Columbia	
Full legal name of the deceased:			
[first name]	[middle name(s)]	[last name/family name]	
Other names in which the deceased held or may [Include all names that have been listed in Form 1. 2. 3. etc.		property:	
Part I Real Property within British Columbia purchasers' interests in agreements for s		and vendors' and	Value at Death
List item details and then list secured departial interest in the property, list the mand specify the interest that each owner	names of all registered	owners, including the deceased,	

For example:		
123 Main Street, Victoria, BC		
Registered owners:		
[the deceased], as to an undivided 1/2 interest;		
[legal name of co-owner], as to an undivided 1/2 interest.		
PID		
Legal Description		
Market Value		
as per 2021 Assessment Notice	\$1,000,000.00	
Less: Prime Mortgage Company –		
Mortgage registered under No. 23456	- \$600,000.00	\$400,000
TOTAL REAL PROPERTY WITHIN BRITISH COLUMI	BIA	\$400,000
Part II		Value at
Tangible Personal Property within British Columbia (including vehicles,		Death
furniture and other physical items)		Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items		
TOTAL TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY		
WITHIN BRITISH COLUMBIA		
Part III		
Intangible Personal Property within British Columbia, and Intangible Person	al Property outside	Value at
British Columbia, that is not dealt with by a foreign grant (including bank ac	counts, intellectual	Death
property and other valuable items that cannot be touched by hand)		
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items		
TOTAL INTANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY		
GROSS VALUE OF ASSETS LESS SECURED DEBT	S	\$400,000

EXHIBIT B

This is Exhibit B referred to in the affidavit of
, sworn/affirmed
before me on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]
A commissioner for taking affidavits for British Columbia

Statement of Real and Tangible Property Outside of British Columbia

Full legal name of the deceased:				
	[first name]	[middle name(s)]	[last name/family name]	

Other names in which the deceased held or may have held an interest in property: [Include all names that have been listed in Form P2.]

- 1.
- 2.
- 3. *etc.*

Part I Real Property outside British Columbia (including mortgages and vendo and purchasers' interests in agreements for sale)	Value at Death	
List item details; it is unnecessary to list debts or liabilities that charge of property. If the deceased only has a partial interest in the property, list the registered owners, including the deceased, and specify the interest that eather property as a fraction expressed in numerals.	e names of all	
For example: 123 Main Street, Calgary, AB Registered owners: [the deceased], as to an undivided 1/2 interest; [legal name of co-owner], as to an undivided 1/2 interest. PID Legal Description Market Value [as per method determined] TOTAL REAL PROPERTY OUTSIDE BRITISH COLUM	\$2,000,000.00 MBIA	\$500,000
Part II Tangible Personal Property outside British Columbia (including vehicles, furniture and other physical items)		Value at Death
List item details; it is unnecessary to list secured debts		
TOTAL TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY OUTSIDE BRITISH COLUMBIA		
GROSS VALUE OF ASSETS OUTSIDE BRITISH COLUMBIA	\$500,000	

APPENDIX A.1 – PROBATE FORMS

FORM P11 (Rule 25-3 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 250/2021; 8/2022; 148/2022.]

This is the[<i>1st/2nd/3rd/etc.</i>] affidavi
of
and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOR NON-DOMICILED ESTATE GRANT

[Kule 22-3 of the Supre	eme Court Civii Kuid	es applies to all forms.]

I	[name]	of	[address]	,[occupation]	SWEAR (OR
AFFIRM)		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	[]	······, ·····[,

- 2 The deceased was not ordinarily resident in British Columbia at the time of death.
- All property of the deceased situated outside British Columbia, if any, has been, is being or will be administered by a foreign personal representative or otherwise under the law of a foreign jurisdiction.
- 4 I have made a diligent search and inquiry to find the property and liabilities of the deceased within British Columbia.
- 5 Attached to this affidavit as Exhibit A is a Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Distribution that discloses
 - (a) all of the property of the deceased within British Columbia, irrespective of its nature or value, that passes to the applicant in the applicant's capacity as the deceased's personal representative,
 - (b) the value of that property, and
 - (c) the liabilities that charge or encumber that property.
- If I determine that there is any property or liability within British Columbia that has not been disclosed in Exhibit A or that information contained in this affidavit is incorrect or incomplete, I will promptly after learning of the same file a supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for non-domiciled estate grant in Form P15 to disclose the correct and complete information.

7	In addition to the probate fees payable in Minister of Finance the probate fees payable in deceased's personal representative, and the value of that asset.	yable with respect to th	e value of any property that passes	s to me as the
SW	ORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)		
ME	E at, British Columbia)		
on	[dd/mmm/yyyy])		
)		
)		
Αc	commissioner for taking)		
aff	idavits for British Columbia)		
[print name or affix stamp of commission	er]		
		EXHIBIT A		
			This is Exhibit A referred to i	in the affidavit o
			,	sworn/affirmed
			before me on[dd/m	mm/yyyy]
			A commissioner for taking af British Columbia	fidavits for
	Stateme	nt of Assets, Liabilities a	and Distribution	
Ful	ll legal name of the deceased:			
	_		[last name/family name]	
[Inc	er names in which the deceased held or may clude all names that have been listed in Form 1. 2. 3. etc.		property:	
	Part I Real Property within British Columbia purchasers' interests in agreements for		and vendors' and	Value at Death
	List item details and then list secured a partial interest in the property, list the land specify the interest that each owner	debt details below those names of all registered	owners, including the deceased,	

For example:		
123 Main Street, Victoria, BC		
Registered owners:		
[the deceased], as to an undivided 1/2 interest;		
[legal name of co-owner], as to an undivided 1/2 interest.		
PID		
Legal Description		
Market Value		
as per 2021 Assessment Notice		
Less: Prime Mortgage Company –	\$1,000,000.00	
Mortgage registered under No. 23456		
	- \$600,000.00	\$400,000
TOTAL REAL PROPERTY WITHIN BRITISH COLUME	BIA	\$400,000
Part II		37-14
Tangible Personal Property within British Columbia (including vehicles,		Value at
furniture and other physical items)		Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items		
TOTAL TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY		
WITHIN BRITISH COLUMBIA		
Part III		
Intangible Personal Property within British Columbia, and Intangible Person	al	Value at
Property outside British Columbia, that is not dealt with by a foreign		Death
grant (including bank accounts, intellectual property and other valuable items		Death
that cannot be touched by hand)		
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items		
TOTAL INTANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY		
GROSS VALUE OF ASSETS LESS SECURED DEBTS	S	\$400,000

FORM P12 (Rule 25-3 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
of
and was made on[dd/mmm/vvvv]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF TRANSLATOR

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

I,, of, of, of	[occupation], SWEAR (OR
1 I have a knowledge of the English and other.	languages and I am competent to translate from one to the
the language and attache best of my ability, accurately translates	s a[identify document] which document is written in ed to this affidavit as Exhibit B is my translation of Exhibit A which, to the Exhibit A into the English language. [Repeat this section for each een prepared by this deponent, providing new Exhibit letters as required.]
SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
ME at, British Columbia)
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])
)
A commissioner for taking)
affidavits for British Columbia)
[print name or affix stamp of commission	ner]

FORM P13 (Rule 25-3 (13))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

DIRECTION OF PUBLIC GUARDIAN AND TRUSTEE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Pursuant to Rule 25-3 (13) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules, the	e Public Guardian and Trustee hereby directs that the court
file in this proceeding [add, if required: including the following in	related material[identify]] be sealed
in the manner and for the period referred to in section 125 of the	Wills, Estates and Succession Act.
Date: [dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] Public Guardian and Trustee [] authorized signatory for the Public Guardian and Trustee[type or print name]

FORM P14 (Rule 25-3 (9))

	[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015; 250/2021; 8/2022; 148/2022.]
	This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
	of[name] in this case
	and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[Style of Proceeding]
	SUPPLEMENTAL AFFIDAVIT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOR DOMICILED ESTATE GRANT
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
1	I am an applicant for
2	An affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant has been filed in this proceeding.
3	Attached to this affidavit as Exhibit A is a Supplemental Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Distribution that discloses
	(a) the real property and tangible personal property within British Columbia, and intangible personal property anywhere in the world, of the deceased that was not disclosed or was inaccurately disclosed in any earlier affidavit of assets and liabilities filed in this proceeding,
	(b) the value of that property, and
	(c) the liabilities that charge or encumber that property.
4	If I determine that there is any property or liability that has not been disclosed in Exhibit A or in any previous affidavit of assets and liabilities in Form P10 or P14 filed in this proceeding or that information contained in this affidavit or in any of those previous affidavits is incorrect or incomplete, I will promptly after learning of the same file a supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for domiciled estate grant in Form P14 to disclose the correct and complete information.
5	In addition to the probate fees payable in relation to any property disclosed in Exhibit A, I promise to pay the Minister of Finance the probate fees payable with respect to the value of any property that passes to me as the deceased's personal representative, and that is not disclosed in Exhibit A, on a determination being made as to the value of that asset.
SW	VORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
	E at, British Columbia)
on	[dd/mmm/yyyy])

)		
)		
A commissioner for taking)		
affidavits for British Columbia)		
[print name or affix stamp of commission	oner]		
	EXHIBIT A		
		This is Exhibit A referred to	in the affidavit or
			, sworn/affirmed
		before me on[dd/n	nmm/yyyy]
		A commissioner for taking a British Columbia	ffidavits for
Supplemental	Statement of Assets, Liab	oilities and Distribution	
Full legal name of the deceased:			
		[last name/family name]	
Other names in which the deceased held or ma Include all names that have been listed in For 1. 2. 3. etc.	-	property:	
Part I Real Property within British Columbi mortgages and vendors' and purchase		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Value at Death

Real Property within British Columbia not disclosed or inaccurately disclosed (including mortgages and vendors' and purchasers' interests in agreements for sale)	Value at Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items. If the deceased only has a partial interest in the property, list the names of all registered owners, including the deceased, and specify the interest that each owner has in the property as a fraction expressed in numerals.	

For example:		
123 Main Street, Victoria, BC		
Registered owners:		
[the deceased], as to an undivided 1/2 interest;		
[legal name of co-owner], as to an undivided 1/2 interest.		
PID		
Legal Description		
Market Value		
as per 2021 Assessment Notice	\$1,000,000.00	
Less: Prime Mortgage Company –		
Mortgage registered under No. 23456	- \$600,000.00	\$400,000
TOTAL REAL PROPERTY WITHIN BRITISH COLUMI	BIA	\$400,000
Part II		Value at
Tangible Personal Property within British Columbia not disclosed or inaccurately disclosed		
(including vehicles, furniture and other physical items)	•	Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items		
TOTAL TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY		
WITHIN BRITISH COLUMBIA		
Part III		
Intangible Personal Property within British Columbia, and Intangible Personal		
Property outside British Columbia, not disclosed or inaccurately disclosed that is not dealt with		
by a foreign grant (including bank accounts, intellectual property and other valuable items		
that cannot be touched by hand)		
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items		
TOTAL INTANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY		
GROSS VALUE OF ASSETS LESS SECURED DEBTS	 S	\$400,000

	FORM P15 (Rule 25-3 (9))			
	[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015; 250/2021	; 8/2022; 148/202	22.]	
		This is the	[1st/2nd/3	3rd/etc.] affidavit
		of	[name]	in this case
		and was ma	ıde on[<i>a</i>	ld/mmm/yyyy]
	[Style of Proceeding]		L	7,77,1
	SUPPLEMENTAL AFFIDAVIT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOR NO	ON-DOMIC	CILED ESTA	ATE GRANT
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies			
			_	SWEAR (OR
•	I am an applicant for[Set out whichever one of the following 6 choice administration with will annexed/a grant of administration without will a ancillary grant of administration with will annexed/an ancillary grant of a in relation to the estate of[legal name of deceased]	nnexed/an administra	ancillary gr tion without	ant of probate/an
2	The deceased was not ordinarily resident in British Columbia at the time	of death.		
3	An affidavit of assets and liabilities for estate grant has been filed in this	proceeding	g.	
	Attached to this affidavit as Exhibit A is a Supplemental Statement of As discloses	ssets, Liabi	lities and Di	istribution that
((a) all of the property of the deceased within British Columbia that was disclosed in any earlier affidavit of assets and liabilities filed in this			naccurately
((b) the value of that property, and			
((c) the liabilities that charge or encumber that property.			
; 1 ;	If I determine that there is any property or liability that has not been disc affidavit of assets and liabilities filed in this proceeding or that information those previous affidavits is incorrect or incomplete, I will promptly after affidavit of assets and liabilities for non-domiciled estate grant in Form F information.	on containe learning o	ed in this aff f the same fi	idavit or in any of le a supplemental
]	In addition to the probate fees payable in relation to any property disclos Minister of Finance the probate fees payable with respect to the value of deceased's personal representative, and that is not disclosed in Exhibit A the value of that asset.	any proper	rty that pass	es to me as the
SWC	VORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)			
ME a	E at, British Columbia)			
on	[dd/mmm/yyyy])			

)		
)		
A commissioner for taking)		
affidavits for British Columbia)		
[print name or affix stamp of commissi	ioner]		
	EXHIBIT A		
		This is Exhibit A referred to	in the affidavit or
			, sworn/affirmed
		before me on[dd/m	nmm/yyyy]
		A commissioner for taking at British Columbia	ffidavits for
Supplementa	al Statement of Assets, Lia	bilities and Distribution	
Full legal name of the deceased:			
[first nar	me] [middle name(s)]	[last name/family name]	
Other names in which the deceased held or manufacture all names that have been listed in Formula. 1. 2. 3. etc.	•	property:	
<i>5. cic.</i>			
Part I Real Property within British Columb mortgages and vendors' and purchase		` `	Value at Death

Real Property within British Columbia not disclosed or inaccurately disclosed (including mortgages and vendors' and purchasers' interests in agreements for sale)	Value at Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items. If the deceased only has a partial interest in the property, list the names of all registered owners, including the deceased, and specify the interest that each owner has in the property as a fraction expressed in numerals.	

	1	
For example:		
123 Main Street, Victoria, BC		
Registered owners:		
[the deceased], as to an undivided 1/2 interest;		
[legal name of co-owner], as to an undivided 1/2 interest.		
PID Local Description		
Legal Description Market Value		
	¢1,000,000,00	
as per 2021 Assessment Notice	\$1,000,000.00	
Less: Prime Mortgage Company –	\$600,000,00	\$400,000
Mortgage registered under No. 23456	- \$600,000.00	\$400,000
TOTAL REAL PROPERTY WITHIN BRITISH COLUME	BIA	\$400,000
Part II		77.1
Tangible Personal Property within British Columbia not disclosed or inaccur	ately	Value at
disclosed (including vehicles, furniture and other physical items)	•	Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items		
TOTAL TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY		
WITHIN BRITISH COLUMBIA		
Part III		
Intangible Personal Property within British Columbia, and Intangible Person	al Property outside	Value at
British Columbia, not disclosed or inaccurately disclosed that is not dealt with by a foreign		Death
grant (including bank accounts, intellectual property and other valuable items that cannot be		Death
touched by hand)		
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items		
TOTAL INTANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY		
WITHIN BRITISH COLUMBIA		
GROSS VALUE OF ASSETS LESS SECURED DEBTS	S	\$400,000

FORM P16 (Rule 25-3 (20))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

[cm Bioliteg, 119/2015, ann Bioliteg, 11/2011, bom 11]	
	This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
	of
8	and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
[Style of Proceeding]	
EATION, ERASURE, OBLITERATION	N OR OTHER ALTERATION

AFFIDAVIT OF INTERLINE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

	[address], SWEAR (OR
AFFIRM) THAT:	
[dd/mmm/yyyy] contains an interlineat	ceased], deceased (the "will-maker"), dated [describe the iteration or other alteration at[describe the iteration or other alteration in the text of the will by reference to page treference]
I was present when the will was signed an alteration when the will was signed.	d the will contained the interlineation, erasure, obliteration or other
SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
ME at, British Columbia)
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])
)
)
A commissioner for taking)
affidavits for British Columbia)
[print name or affix stamp of commissioner]

[Note that a reference to "will" in this affidavit includes all documents that are included within the definition of "will" in the Wills, Estates and Succession Act.]

FORM P17 (Rule 25-3 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

In the Matter of the Estate of[legal name of deceased]....., deceased

NOTICE OF RENUNCIATION

[Rule 22-3 of the Supi	reme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
	province], died on[dd/mmm/yyyy], having made and (the "will"), and appointed
I,	torship in relation to the will and declare that I have not intermeddled in it with the intent to defraud creditors.
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of renouncing executor[type or print name]
This notice of renunciation was signed by the ren	ouncing executor in the presence of
WITNESS [The witness to this acknowledgement	t must be at least 19 years of age.]
Name:	
Address:	
	Signature of witness
Occupation:	[type or print name]

FORM P18 (Rule 25-4 (1))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

	AUTHORIZATION TO OBTAIN ESTATE INFORMATION
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
TA	KE NOTICE THAT[name(s)](the applicant(s))
1	has/have applied for[Set out whichever one of the following 6 choices is correct: a grant of probate/a grant of administration with will annexed/a grant of administration without will annexed/an ancillary grant of probate/an ancillary grant of administration with will annexed/an ancillary grant of administration without will annexed] in respect of the estate of[legal name of deceased], also known as[indicate any other names by which the deceased was known] (the "deceased"), whose last residential address was
2	is/are recognized as the person(s) to whom the grant will be issued once the court is satisfied that all remaining filings and fee payments have been made, and
3	is/are authorized to obtain information about the assets and liabilities of the deceased.
to o	D TAKE NOTICE THAT, unless you provide to the applicant(s), within 30 days after the date on which this authorization obtain estate information is delivered to you, information respecting the nature and value of any assets of the estate of the eased that are in your possession or control, the applicant(s) may make application under Rule 25-8 (2), set out below, for order requiring delivery of that information and seeking costs from you for that application.
	IS AUTHORIZATION TO OBTAIN ESTATE INFORMATION DOES NOT AUTHORIZE THE APPLICANT(S) TO KE DELIVERY OF ANY OF THE ASSETS OF THE DECEASED.
	Registrar
Rul	le 25-8 (2) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states:
Ord	ler to provide information
(2)	A person to whom a conv of an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing

- (2) A person to whom a copy of an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information is delivered under subrule (1) must, within 30 days after the date of delivery,
 - (a) deliver to the applicant information as to the nature and value of those assets of the deceased's estate that are in the person's possession or control, or
 - (b) if the person
 - (i) has possession or control of a safety deposit box, a safe, a storage locker or any other thing or place where the deceased kept or may have kept records or assets, and
 - (ii) does not have a document that itemizes the contents of that thing or place,

to have access to that thing or place for the purposes of listing its contents.

FORM P19 (Rule 25-4 (1))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015.]

No
Registry
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia
In the Matter of the Estate of[legal name of deceased], deceased
In Probate
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
WHEREAS
Administration of the estate of the deceased is granted to
[If this grant is a grant of probate, add the following if required.]
reserving the right of
[Add whichever of the following is/are correct.]
The will in relation to which this grant is issued is to be read in conjunction with an order dated [dd/mmm/yyyy], a copy of which is attached.
This grant is limited pursuant to an order dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], a copy of which is attached.
This grant is issued pursuant to an order dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], a copy of which is attached.
This grant is ancillary to a foreign grant dated[dd/mmm/yyyy], a copy of which is attached, and is limited to property in British Columbia.
Sealed by the Supreme Court of British Columbia on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
By the Court.
Registrar

Form P20 (Rule 25-5 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 103/2015.]

[Style of Proceeding]

CORRECTION RECORD

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

The[Set out whichever one of the following 9 choices is correct: grant of probate/grant of administration with will
annexed/grant of administration without will annexed/ancillary grant of probate/ancillary grant of administration with will
annexed/ancillary grant of administration without will annexed/resealing of a foreign grant/authorization to obtain resealing
information/authorization to obtain estate information] dated[dd/mmm/yyyy] is corrected by[indicate the correction]
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]
Registrar

Form P20.1 (Rule 25-5 (1.1))

[en. B.C. Reg. 115/2019.]

[Style of Proceeding]

CORRECTION RECORD FOR STYLE OF PROCEEDING

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

The[Set out whichever one of the following 2 of	choices is correct: submission for estate grant/submission for resealing]
dated[dd/mmm/yyyy]with the current style	of proceeding[current style of proceeding]dated[dd/mm/yyyy]
is corrected to read[new style of proceed	ling]
Date:[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]	
	Registrar

APPENDIX A.1 – PROBATE FORMS

	FORM P21 (Rule 25-6 (2))
	[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 103/2015; 115/2019; 250/2021; 8/2022; 148/2022; 87/2023.]
	No
	Registry
	In the Supreme Court of British Columbia
	In the Matter of the Estate of[legal name of deceased], deceased
	SUBMISSION FOR RESEALING
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
This	s submission for resealing is submitted by:[name of applicant(s)]
[nai	n/We are applying for the resealing under Part 6 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> of the grant issued by the me and province or country of issuing court] on[dd/mmm/yyyy] (the "foreign grant") in relation to the deceased cribed in Part 1 of this submission for resealing.
[Ch	neck whichever one of the following 2 boxes is correct.]
[]	I am/We are submitting with this submission for resealing an affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing in Form P25 and therefore do not require an authorization to obtain resealing information.
	[] I/We request[number of copies] certified copy(ies) of the resealed estate grant.
	[] I/We request[number of copies] certified copy(ies) of the affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing.
[]	I am/We are seeking an authorization to obtain resealing information so that I/we can secure the information necessary to prepare and submit an affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing.
	[] I/We request[number of copies] certified copy(ies) of the authorization to obtain resealing information.
Thi	is submission for resealing has 4 Parts:
	Part 1: Information about the Deceased Part 2: Information about the Applicant(s)
	Part 3: Documents Filed with this Submission for Resealing Part 4: Schedule

Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]		
_ www	Signature of [] applicant [] lawye	er for applicant(s)
	[type or print nar	ne]
PART 1 – INFORMATION ABOUT THE DECEA	ASED	
Name of the deceased as it appears on the foreign g	grant to be resealed:	
[first name]	[middle name(s)]	[last name/family name]
Last residential address of the deceased:		-
Street number and street name:		
[OR] Post office box: City/Town: Province/State: Country: Postal Code/Zip Code: Deceased's date of death: [dd/mmm/yyyy] Deceased's place of ordinary residence at the da[location] [Check whichever one of the immediately follo and provide any required information.] [The deceased was neither a Nisga'a citizen treaty first nation. [The deceased was a Nisga'a citizen. [The deceased was a member of the	ate of death: wing 3 boxes is correct nor a member of a	
PART 2 – INFORMATION ABOUT THE APPLIC	CANT(S)	
Applicant's(s') address for service:		
[You must set out the street address of the address agiven as additional addresses for service. If there is service.]		
Street address for service:		

PART 3 – DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THIS SUBMISSION FOR RESEALING

Telephone number:

l	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immediately following 3 boxes is correct and file the specified affidavit(s).]
	[]	There is one applicant to this submission for resealing and a[Select whichever one of the following 2 choices is correct: P22/P23] affidavit is filed with this submission for estate grant.
	[]	There are 2 or more applicants to this submission for resealing and a joint[Select whichever one of the following 2 choices is correct: P22/P23] affidavit on behalf of all applicants is filed with this submission for estate grant.
	[]	There are 2 or more applicants to this submission for resealing and a[Select whichever one of the following 2 choices is correct: P22/P23] affidavit is filed with this submission for estate grant and [indicate number] affidavit(s) in Form P24 is/are filed with this submission for estate grant.
2	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[]	Filed with this submission for resealing is/are the following Affidavit(s) of Delivery in Form P9 that confirms/collectively confirm that the documents referred to in Rule 25-2 were delivered to all of the persons to whom, under that rule, the documents were required to be delivered:
		Affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy] Affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy] Affidavit of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[]	No affidavit of delivery is attached. In accordance with Rule 25-2, no one, other than the applicant(s), is entitled to notice.
3		ed with this submission for resealing are 2 copies of the certificate of the chief executive officer under the al Statistics Act indicating the results of a search for a wills notice filed by or on behalf of the deceased.
1	[Ch	neck whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct, provide any required information and file
	any	specified documents.]
	[]	The foreign grant was issued in relation to the will of the deceased dated[dd/mmm/yyyy] and filed with this submission for resealing is a copy of the following, each of which is certified by the court out of which probate or administration with will annexed has been granted:
		(a) the foreign grant;
		(b) if a copy of the will to which the foreign grant relates is not attached to the foreign grant, a copy of the will.
	[]	The foreign grant is a grant of administration without will annexed and filed with this submission for resealing is a copy of the foreign grant certified by the court out of which administration without will annexed has been granted.
		the box for whichever one of the immediately following section 5's is correct and provide any required tion.]
5	[]	The foreign grant is a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed and there are no orders affecting the validity or content of the will referred to in section 4.
5	[]	The foreign grant is a grant of probate or a grant of administration with will annexed and the following orders affect the validity or content of the will referred to in section 4:
		[If you checked the second of the immediately preceding 2 boxes, describe any applicable orders, indicate if they have been filed in this proceeding and file any described orders that have not yet been filed in this proceeding.]
		1 Order dated[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		[] This order has been filed in this proceeding.

			[]	This order has not yet been filed in this proceeding and I am/we are therefore filing a copy of the order with this submission for resealing.
		2	Orc	ler dated[dd/mmm/yyyy]
			[]	This order has been filed in this proceeding. This order has not yet been filed in this proceeding and I am/we are therefore filing a copy of the order with this submission for resealing.
		3	etc.	
5	[]	The	e fore	eign grant is a grant of administration without will annexed.
6	[Ch	eck	whic	thever one of the immediately following 4 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[]			I referred to in section 4 does not refer to any documents or refers only to documents I to the will.
	[]	File	ed wi	th this submission for resealing is/are the following document(s):
		1		
		2		
		3	etc.	
				ocument(s) is/are referred to in, but not attached to, the will referred to in section 4.
	[]		t file	d with this submission for resealing is/are the following document(s),
		1		
		2	,	
		3	etc.	
		test	amei	ocument(s) is/are referred to in, but not attached to, the will referred to in section 4, but which are not ntary and are not relevant to this application for the following reasons: [briefly state the
	[]	The	e fore	eign grant is a grant of administration without will annexed.
7	_		whic ents.]	chever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and describe and file any specified
	[]			iments other than those described elsewhere in this submission for resealing are filed with this ion for resealing.
	[]			ion to the documents described elsewhere in this submission for resealing, the following documents with this submission for resealing:
		1		
		2		
		3	etc.	
8	_			chever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct, provide any required information and file addocuments.]
	[]	All	docı	uments filed with this submission for resealing are written in the English language.
	[]			th this submission for resealing is an affidavit of translator in Form P12 of
		_	<i>me</i>]	, who translated the[identify document] filed with this submission for g.

PART 4 – SCHEDULE

- 1 [Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and attach the specified Schedule.]
 - [] Attached to this submission for resealing is a Schedule for Resealing of Grant of Probate or Grant of Administration with Will Annexed.
 - [] Attached to this submission for resealing is a Schedule for Resealing of Grant of Administration without Will Annexed.

[This Schedule is to be completed and attached to the submission for resealing <u>only if</u> the application is for the resealing of a grant of probate or for the resealing of a grant of administration with will annexed.]

Schedule for Resealing of Grant of Probate or Grant of Administration with Will Annexed

- 1 Each person to whom the foreign grant was issued is an applicant under the submission for resealing.
- 2 Listed in each of the following paragraphs is every person who falls within the class of persons identified by that paragraph:

[Provide under each of the following paragraphs the full name of each person to whom the paragraph applies, whether or not that person is named elsewhere in this submission for estate grant.]

[List each named person on a separate line. Do not leave any paragraph blank or indicate "Not applicable"; clearly state why a paragraph does not apply.]

[A person who does not survive a deceased person by 5 days, or a longer period provided in an instrument, is conclusively deemed to have died before the deceased. If a person survives a deceased person by 5 days, or longer if required, for the purposes of this Form, the person is referred to as "surviving".]

- (a) spouse, if any, of the deceased [see section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act] [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: spouse [provide name of spouse]/no currently surviving spouse as defined by section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act [provide name of spouse and indicate " (deceased)"]/never married.]:
- (b) child(ren), if any, of the deceased [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: surviving child(ren) of deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren)]/any child(ren) of the deceased who did not survive the deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren) and indicate "(deceased)"|/no children.]:
- (c) each person, if any, who is a beneficiary under the will and who is not named in paragraph (a) or (b) [List each surviving beneficiary and all beneficiaries who did not survive the deceased in this application and indicate "(surviving)" or "(deceased)", as applicable.]:
- (d) each person, if any, who would have been an intestate successor if the deceased had not left a will and who is not named in paragraph (a), (b) or (c) [List all surviving persons who would be entitled to inherit on intestacy and their relationship to the deceased.]:
- (e) each citor, if any, not named in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) [see Rule 25-11] [List anyone who has filed a citation or indicate that no citation has been received.]:

[Include the following section if applicable]

3 The Attorney General has received notice because the government is entitled to all or part of the estate of the deceased.

[This Schedule is to be completed and attached to the submission for resealing <u>only if</u> the application is for the resealing of a grant of administration without will annexed.]

Schedule for Resealing of Grant of Administration without Will Annexed

- 1 Each person to whom the foreign grant was issued is an applicant under the submission for resealing.
- 2 Listed in each of the following paragraphs is every person who falls within the class of persons identified by that paragraph:

[Provide under each of the following paragraphs the full name of each person to whom the paragraph applies, whether or not that person is named elsewhere in this submission for estate grant.]

[List each named person on a separate line. Do not leave any paragraph blank or indicate "Not applicable"; clearly state why a paragraph does not apply.]

[A person who does not survive a deceased person by 5 days is conclusively deemed to have died before the deceased. If a person survives a deceased person by 5 days, for the purposes of this Form, the person is referred to as "surviving".]

- (a) spouse, if any, of the deceased [see section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act] [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: spouse [provide name of spouse]/no currently surviving spouse as defined by section 2 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act [provide name of spouse and indicate " (deceased)"]/never married.]:
- (b) child(ren), if any, of the deceased [Provide the appropriate response(s), as applicable: surviving child(ren) of deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren)]/any child(ren) of the deceased who did not survive the deceased [provide name(s) of child(ren) and indicate "(deceased)"|/no children.]:
- (c) each person, if any, not named in paragraph (a) or (b), who is entitled to receive all or part of the estate of a person who dies without a will [see section 23 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act] [List all surviving persons who would be entitled to inherit on intestacy and their relationship to the deceased.]:
- (d) each creditor of the deceased, if any, not named in paragraph (a), (b) or (c) whose claim exceeds \$10 000:
- (e) each citor, if any, not named in paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) [see Rule 25-11] [List anyone who has filed a citation or indicate that no citation has been received.]:

[Include the following section if applicable]

3 The Attorney General has received notice because the government is entitled to the estate of the deceased.

	FORM P22 (Rule 25-6 (2))
	[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 250/2021; 148/2022.]
	This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavi
	of[name] in this case
	and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[Style of Proceeding]
AF	FIDAVIT OF APPLICANT FOR RESEALING OF GRANT OF PROBATE OR GRANT OF ADMINISTRATION WITH WILL ANNEXED
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
1	I am the applicant/one of the applicants referred to in the submission for resealing in relation to the estate of
2	[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[] The applicant on whose behalf this affidavit is sworn is not an individual and I am authorized by the applicant to swear this affidavit on the applicant's behalf.
	[] I am an individual and ordinarily live at the following location:
	City/town:
	Province/state:
	Country:
3	All of the persons to whom the foreign grant was issued are applicants in the submission for resealing.
4	[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]

- 3
- - [] I am not obliged under Rule 25-6 (9) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for resealing to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

	[] I am obliged under Rule 25-6 (9) to delive and Trustee.	ver a filed copy of this submission for resealing to the Public Guardian
5	could reasonably be considered to be a place	tamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place that e where a testamentary document may be found, including, without ectronic where the deceased usually kept important documents and
	[Check whichever one of the immediately t	Collowing 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information.]
	[] no testamentary document of the decease	ed that is dated later than the date of the will has been found.
	·	er than the will have been found. I believe that the other testamentary not relevant to this application for the following reasons:[briefly
6		er under the <i>Vital Statistics Act</i> indicating the results of a search for a eased is filed with this application, and the certificate indicates that
	[Check whichever one of the immediately t	Collowing 2 boxes is correct.]
	[] no wills notice has been filed in relation that forms part of the grant included with	to a testamentary document that is dated later than the date of the will a this application.
	[] no wills notice has been filed at all.	
7	I am not aware of there being any application	on for a grant of probate or administration in British Columbia.
8		of this application, I am not aware of a grant of probate or ssued in relation to the deceased in any jurisdiction.
9	•	If the other documents referred to in that document and I believe that in for resealing and those documents is correct and complete.
10	_	sed's estate to which the submission for resealing relates and I bject to the legal responsibility of a personal representative.
S	WORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
M	IE at, British Columbia)
or	n[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])
)
)
A	commissioner for taking)
af	ffidavits for British Columbia)
	.[print name or affix stamp of commissioner]	

	FORM P23 (Rule 25-6 (2))
	[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 250/2021; 148/2022.]
	This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
	of[name] in this case
	and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[Style of Proceeding]
AFF	TIDAVIT OF APPLICANT FOR RESEALING OF GRANT OF ADMINISTRATION WITHOUT WILL ANNEXED
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
a is 2 [am the applicant/one of the applicants referred to in the submission for resealing in relation to the estate of
	Country:
	All of the persons to whom the foreign grant was issued are applicants in the submission for resealing. Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct. I am not obliged under Rule 25-6 (9) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for resealing to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Guardian and Trustee.

[] I am obliged under Rule 25-6 (9) to deliver a filed copy of this submission for resealing to the Public

5	I am satisfied that a diligent search for a testamentary document of the deceased has been made in each place the could reasonably be considered to be a place where a testamentary document may be found, including, without limitation, in all places both physical and electronic where the deceased usually kept important documents and				
[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct and provide any required information					
	[] no testamentary document of the dece	ased has been found.			
		have been found. I believe that the testamentary document(s) is/are is application for the following reasons:[briefly state the			
6		er under the <i>Vital Statistics Act</i> indicating the results of a search for a ceased is filed with this application, and the certificate indicates that			
	[Check whichever one of the immediately	following 2 boxes is correct.]			
	[] a wills notice has been filed in relation 5.	n to one or more testamentary documents that are addressed in section			
	[] no wills notice has been filed at all.				
7	I am not aware of there being any applicati	on for a grant of probate or administration in British Columbia.			
8	Other than the grant I am submitting as part of this application, I am not aware of a grant of probate or administration, or equivalent, having been issued in relation to the deceased in any jurisdiction.				
9	I have read the submission for resealing and the other documents referred to in that document and I believe that the information contained in that submission for resealing and those documents is correct and complete.				
10	I will administer according to law the deceased's estate to which the submission for resealing relates and I acknowledge that, in doing this, I will be subject to the legal responsibility of a personal representative.				
SW	ORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)			
ME	E at, British Columbia)			
on .	[dd/mmm/yyyy])			
)			
A c	commissioner for taking)			
affi	idavits for British Columbia)			
[print name or affix stamp of commissioner].				

	FORM P	24 (Rule 25-6 (2))	
	[en. B	.C. Reg. 149/2013.]	
			This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
			of[name] in this case
			and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[Style	of Proceeding]	
AFF	IDAVIT IN SUPPORT C	OF APPLICATION FO	OR RESEALING
[Rı	ule 22-3 of the Supreme (Court Civil Rules appli	es to all forms.]
I,[<i>name</i>] AFFIRM) THAT:	, of[add	dress],	[occupation], SWEAR (OR
	<i>urt</i>] on[<i>dd/mmi</i>		te/grant of administration issued by the to the estate of[legal name of
2 I have read the affidavit in <i>affidavit</i>] and there is no			by[name of person who swore that curate.
	_		ed to in that document and I believe that cuments is correct and complete.
_			bmission for resealing relates and I lity of a personal representative.
SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BE	EFORE)		
ME at, British	Columbia)		
on[dd/mmm/yyyy])		
)		
)		
A commissioner for taking)		
affidavits for British Columbia)		
[print name or affix stamp of	fcommissioner]		

FORM P25 (Rule 25-6 (2))

 $[\mathsf{en.\ B.C.\ Reg.\ 149/2013;\ am.\ B.C.\ Regs.\ 44/2014,\ Sch.\ 1;\ 250/2021;\ 148/2022.}]$

	of[name] in this case
	and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[Style of Proceeding]
	AFFIDAVIT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOR RESEALING
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
1	I am an applicant for the resealing of a grant issued by the[name of issuing court] on [dd/mmm/yyyy] in relation to the estate of[legal name of deceased] (the "deceased").
2	The deceased was not ordinarily resident in British Columbia at the time of death.
3	All property of the deceased situated outside British Columbia, if any, has been, is being or will be administered by a foreign personal representative or otherwise under the law of a foreign jurisdiction.
4	I have made a diligent search and inquiry to find the property and liabilities of the deceased within British Columbia.
5	Attached to this affidavit as Exhibit A is a Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Distribution that discloses
	(a) all of the property of the deceased within British Columbia, irrespective of its nature or value, that passes to the applicant in the applicant's capacity as the deceased's personal representative,
	(b) the value of that property, and
	(c) the liabilities that charge or encumber that property.
6	If I determine that there is any property or liability within British Columbia that has not been disclosed in Exhibit A or that information contained in this affidavit or in any supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing is incorrect or incomplete, I will promptly after learning of the same file a supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing in Form P26 to disclose the correct and complete information.
7	In addition to the probate fees payable in relation to any property disclosed in Exhibit A, I promise to pay the Minister of Finance the probate fees payable with respect to the value of any property that passes to me as the deceased's personal representative, and that is not disclosed in Exhibit A, on a determination being made as to the value of that asset.
SW	VORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
ME	E at, British Columbia)
on	[dd/mmm/yyyy])

This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.]..... affidavit

)		
)		
A commissioner for taking)		
affidavits for British Columbia)		
[print name or affix stamp of commissi	ioner]		
	EXHIBIT A		
		This is Exhibit A referred to in	the affidavit o
		, 5	sworn/affirmed
		before me on[dd/mn	nm/yyyy]
		A commissioner for taking affi British Columbia	
States	ment of Assets, Liabilities	and Distribution	
Full legal name of the deceased:			
[first nat	me] [middle name(s)]	[last name/family name]	
Other names in which the deceased held or manufacture all names that have been listed in Fo. 1. 2.	•	n property:	
3. etc.			
Part I Real Property within British Columb purchasers' interests in agreements for	,	and vendors' and	Value at Death
List item details and then list secure	d debt details below thos	e items. If the deceased only has a	

Real Property within British Columbia (including mortgages and vendors' and purchasers' interests in agreements for sale)	Value at Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items. If the deceased only has a partial interest in the property, list the names of all registered owners, including the deceased, and specify the interest that each owner has in the property as a fraction expressed in numerals.	

For example:			
123 Main Street, Victoria, BC			
Registered owners:			
[the deceased], as to an undivided 1/2 interest;			
[legal name of co-owner], as to an undivided 1/2 interest.			
PID			
Legal Description			
Market Value			
as per 2021 Assessment Notice	\$1,000,000.00		
Less: Prime Mortgage Company –			
Mortgage registered under No. 23456	- \$600,000.00	\$400,000	
TOTAL REAL PROPERTY WITHIN BRITISH COLUME	BIA	\$400,000	
Part II			
Tangible Personal Property within British Columbia (including vehicles,			
furniture and other physical items)		Death	
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items			
TOTAL TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY			
WITHIN BRITISH COLUMBIA			
Part III			
Intangible Personal Property within British Columbia, and Intangible Personal			
Property outside British Columbia, that is not dealt with by the foreign			
grant (including bank accounts, intellectual property and other valuable items			
that cannot be touched by hand)			
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items			
TOTAL INTANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY			
GROSS VALUE OF ASSETS LESS SECURED DEBTS	3	\$400,000	

FORM P26 (Rule 25-6 (7))

	[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Regs. 44/2014, Sch. 1; 250/2021; 148/2022.]
	This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
	of[name] in this case
	and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[Style of Proceeding]
	SUPPLEMENTAL AFFIDAVIT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOR RESEALING
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
	[name], of
1	I am an applicant for the resealing of a grant issued by the[name of issuing court] on [dd/mmm/yyyy] in relation to the estate of[legal name of deceased], also known as [indicate any other names by which the deceased was known] (the "deceased").
2	An affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing has been filed in this proceeding.
3	Attached to this affidavit as Exhibit A is a Supplemental Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Distribution that discloses
	(a) all of the property of the deceased within British Columbia that was not disclosed or was inaccurately disclosed in any earlier affidavit of assets and liabilities filed in this proceeding,
	(b) the value of that property, and
	(c) the liabilities that charge or encumber that property.
4	If I determine that there is any property or liability within British Columbia that has not been disclosed in Exhibit A or in any earlier affidavit of assets and liabilities filed in this proceeding or that information contained in this affidavit or in any of those previous affidavits is incorrect or incomplete, I will promptly after learning of the same file a supplemental affidavit of assets and liabilities for resealing in Form P26 to disclose the correct and complete information.
5	In addition to the probate fees payable in relation to any property disclosed in Exhibit A, I promise to pay the Minister of Finance the probate fees payable with respect to the value of any property that passes to me as the deceased's personal representative, and that is not disclosed in Exhibit A, on a determination being made as to the value of that asset.
SW	VORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
ME	E at, British Columbia)
on	[dd/mmm/yyyy]
)

)	
A commissioner for taking)	
affidavits for British Columbia)	
[print name or affix stamp of commission	oner]	
	EXHIBIT A	
		This is Exhibit A referred to in the affidavit of
		, sworn/affirmed
		before me on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
		A commissioner for taking affidavits for
		British Columbia
Supplemental	Statement of Assets, Li	abilities and Distribution
Full legal name of the deceased:		
[first nam	ne] [middle name(s)]	[last name/family name]
Other names in which the deceased held or ma Include all names that have been listed in Foundation	•	n property:
1.		
2.		
3. <i>etc</i> .		

Part I Real Property within British Columbia not disclosed or inaccurately disclosed (including mortgages and vendors' and purchasers' interests in agreements for sale)		Value at Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items. If the partial interest in the property, list the names of all registered owners, included and specify the interest that each owner has in the property as a fraction exp	ding the deceased,	
For example: 123 Main Street, Victoria, BC Registered owners: [the deceased], as to an undivided 1/2 interest; [legal name of co-owner], as to an undivided 1/2 interest. PID Legal Description Market Value as per 2021 Assessment Notice Less: Prime Mortgage Company — Mortgage registered under No. 23456	\$1,000,000.00	\$400,000
Mortgage registered under No. 23456	-\$600,000.00	\$400,000

TOTAL REAL PROPERTY WITHIN BRITISH COLUMBIA	\$400,000
Part II Tangible Personal Property within British Columbia not disclosed or inaccurately disclosed (including vehicles, furniture and other physical items)	Value at Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items	
TOTAL TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY WITHIN BRITISH COLUMBIA	
Part III Intangible Personal Property within British Columbia, and Intangible Personal Property outside British Columbia, not disclosed or inaccurately disclosed that is not dealt with by the foreign grant (including bank accounts, intellectual property and other valuable items that cannot be touched by hand)	Value at Death
List item details and then list secured debt details below those items	
TOTAL INTANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY	
GROSS VALUE OF ASSETS LESS SECURED DEBTS	\$400,000

	FORM P27 (Rule 25-7 (1))
	[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]
	No
	Registry
	In the Supreme Court of British Columbia
	In the Matter of the Estate of[legal name of deceased], deceased
	AUTHORIZATION TO OBTAIN RESEALING INFORMATION
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
TA	KE NOTICE THAT[name(s)]
1	has/have applied for the resealing of a grant issued by the[name of issuing court] on[dd/mmm/yyyy] in relation to the estate of[legal name of deceased], also known as[indicate any other names by which the deceased was known] (the "deceased"), whose last residential address was
2	is/are recognized as the person(s) for whom the grant will be resealed once the court is satisfied that all remaining filings and fee payments have been made, and
3	is/are authorized to obtain information about the assets and liabilities of the deceased.
to o the	D TAKE NOTICE THAT, unless you provide to the applicant(s), within 30 days after the date on which this authorization btain resealing information is delivered to you, information respecting the nature and value of any assets of the estate of deceased that are in your possession or control, the applicant(s) may make application under Rule 25-8 (2), set out below, an order requiring delivery of that information and seeking costs from you for that application.
	IS AUTHORIZATION TO OBTAIN RESEALING INFORMATION DOES NOT AUTHORIZE THE APPLICANT(S) TAKE DELIVERY OF ANY OF THE ASSETS OF THE DECEASED.
	Registrar
R	ule 25-8 (2) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules states:

Order to provide information

- (2) A person to whom a copy of an authorization to obtain estate information or an authorization to obtain resealing information is delivered under subrule (1) must, within 30 days after the date of delivery,
 - (a) deliver to the applicant information as to the nature and value of those assets of the deceased's estate that are in the person's possession or control, or
 - (b) if the person

- (i) has possession or control of a safety deposit box, a safe, a storage locker or any other thing or place where the deceased kept or may have kept records or assets, and
- (ii) does not have a document that itemizes the contents of that thing or place,

Allow the holder of the authorization to obtain estate information or authorization to obtain resealing information to have access to that thing or place for the purposes of listing its contents.

FORM P28 (Rule 25-7 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

No
Registry
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia
In the Matter of the Estate of[legal name of deceased], deceased
IN PROBATE
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
The[describe grant]
(Place seal below) By the Court.
Registrar

FORM P29 (Rule 25-10 (3))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 148/2022.]

NOTICE OF DISPUTE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

TA	KE NOTICE THAT I,	[name of p	erson filing notice of disp	ute] (the "disputant"), oppose the taking o
				on [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>]
Fu	ll legal name of the decea	ased:		
	_	[first name]	[middle name(s)]	[last name/family name]
Oth	ner names in which the dec	eased held or may hav	ve held an interest in prop	erty:
1				
2				
3	etc.			
[Ch	heck whichever one of the	immediately following	g 2 boxes is correct and p	rovide any required information.]
[]	A court file has been of[registry location	=		der court file[court file number] at the
[]	The disputant does not	know if a court file	has been opened in relat	ion to the deceased's estate.
[C]	heck whichever one of th	e immediately follo	wing 3 boxes is correct.]	
	[] The dispute does n	ot relate to a will.		
	[] The dispute relates	s to a physical will.		
	[] The dispute relates	s to an electronic wil	1.	
The	e disputant is a person refer	rred to in Rule 25-2 (2	2)[indicate paragraph	of Rule 25-2 (2) that applies to the disputant]
The	e disputant is filing this not	cice of dispute because	e[state the grounds	for the notice of dispute]
Ado	dress for service of the disp	outant:		
-	ou must set out the street ac en as additional addresses		for service. One or both o	f a fax number and an e-mail address may be
	Street address for servi Fax number address for			
	E-mail address for serv			

SUPREME COURT CIVIL RULES (B.C. Reg. 168/2009) Early Consolidation Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy].......

Signature of [] disputant [] lawyer for disputant(s)
.....[type or print name].....

FORM P30 (Rule 25-10 (9))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

	[Style of Proceeding]
	ng if the person filing this withdrawal of notice of dispute has no knowledge been brought in relation to the estate of the deceased
In the Matter of the Estate of	[legal name of deceased], deceased
WITHDRA	AWAL OF NOTICE OF DISPUTE
[Rule 22-3 of the Sup	preme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
	otice of dispute] withdraw the notice of dispute filed by me with in relation to the estate of[legal name of deceased],
	Signature of [] person filing withdrawal of notice [] lawyer for person filing withdrawal of notice

.....[type or print name].....

APPENDIX A.1 – PROBATE FORMS

FORM P31 (Rule 25-10 (11))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

ORDER FOR REMOVAL OF NOTICE OF DISPUTE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

)	THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE	
)	or A JUDGE OF THE COURT	
BEFORE)	or)[dd/mmm/yyyy]
BEFORE	,)[<i>aa/mmm/yyyy</i>]
)	MASTER	
)	or A MASTER OF THE COURT)
_		ever one of the immediately following 3 provision have not been selected so that they do not appear	ns is correct, complete the selected provision and remove the r in the form when the form is filed.]
[dd/	mn		coming on for hearing at
		ICATION of [<i>person(s)</i>]	without notice coming on for hearing at on ame of person/lawyer];
		[<i>person(s)</i>]	without a hearing and on reading the materials filed by [name of person/lawyer];
		ORDERS that the notice of dispute filed in relati [name of disputant] is removed.	on to the estate of [legal name of deceased],
		By the Cou	ırf
		By the Cot	и
		Registrar	

FORM P32 (Rule 25-11 (1))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

CITATION

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

10:[name and address]	
This citation is issued by[name of citodeceased] (the "deceased"), who died o	r] (the "citor") regarding the estate of:[legal name of on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
This citation is issued in relation to the following document and its location, if known]	document that is/is alleged to be a will of the deceased:[describe
I believe the document exists because:	[set out basis for citor's belief]
You are required to obtain a grant of probate in reset out below.	elation to the above-noted will and comply with Rule 25-11 (4) in the manner
The citor's address for service is	
[You must set out the street address of the addres given as additional addresses for service.]	ss for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be
Street address for service:	
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] citor [] lawyer for citor
	[type or print name]
[Note that a reference to "will" in this citation inc	cludes all documents that are included within the definition of "will" in the

Wills, Estates and Succession Act.]

TAKE NOTICE THAT you must comply with Rule 25-11 (4) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules.

To comply with Rule 25-11 (4), you must do the following within 14 days after being served with this citation:

- (a) if you have been issued a grant of probate, serve on the citor, by ordinary service, a copy of the grant;
- (b) if paragraph (a) does not apply but you have filed a submission for estate grant, serve a copy of the filed application materials on the citor;

- (c) if paragraphs (a) and (b) do not apply but you have delivered a notice under Rule 25-2 (1), serve a copy of the notice documents on the citor;
- (d) if none of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) apply, serve on the citor an answer in Form P33.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT, if you do not comply with Rule 25-11 (4), one or more of the following may occur:

- (a) you may be deemed to have renounced executorship under Rule 25-11 (5);
- (b) the citor or another person may apply for an estate grant in relation to the estate;
- (c) an order under Rule 25-11 (6) may be obtained.

FORM P33 (Rule 25-11 (4))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

In the Matter of the Estate of[legal name of deceased]....., deceased

ANSWER TO CITATION	
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]	
In answer to the citation to apply for probate, which citation was issued by[name] and dated[dd/mmm/yyyy]]
[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]	
[] I will apply for a grant of probate and will obtain that grant within 6 months after the date on which the citar was served or within any longer period that the court may allow.	tior
[] I refuse to apply for a grant of probate in respect of the document referred to in the citation and understand to by this refusal, I am deemed to have renounced executorship.	that
The address for service of the executor is	
[You must set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service.]	be
Street address for service: Fax number address for service (if any): E-mail address for service (if any): Telephone number:	
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy] Signature of [] cited person [] lawyer for cited person	
[type or print name]	

FORM P34 (Rule 25-11 (7))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

	This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
	of[name] in this case
	and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]
	[Style of Proceeding]
	AFFIDAVIT OF DEEMED RENUNCIATION
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
I,	[name], of
1	Attached to this affidavit and marked as Exhibit A is a copy of the citation I prepared (the "citation") in relation to the estate of
2	On[dd/mmm/yyyy], at[time of day], I served[name of person served] with the citation by handing it to and leaving it with that person at[city and country]
	[OR]
2	In support of this affidavit is filed the affidavit of service dated[dd/mmm/yyyy] of[name of person swearing affidavit of service] in which that person swears that the citation was served on[name of person served]
3	I have not received service of any of the documents referred to in Rule 25-11 (4) and at least 14 days have elapsed since the citation was served on
	[OR]
3	
	[OR]
3	[name of person served] served on me the document referred to in Rule 25-11 (4)[Set out whichever one of the following 3 choices is correct: (b) (i)/(b) (ii)/(b) (iii) (A)] and has not, alone or with others, obtained a grant of probate.
SW	VORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
ME	E at, British Columbia)
on	[dd/mmm/yyyy]

)

)
A commissioner for taking)
affidavits for British Columbia)
[print name or affix stamp of commission	oner]

FORM P35 (Rule 25-12 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

	Registry
	In the Supreme Court of British Columbia
	In the Matter of the Estate of[legal name of deceased], deceased
	REQUISITION FOR SUBPOENA
	[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
File	d by:[person(s)]
	uired: A subpoena requiring to deliver to the registrar the following document(s):
1	This requisition for subpoena is filed under Rule 25-12 (2).
2	Attached to this requisition for subpoena is a draft of the subpoena required.
3	The evidence in support of the application is
[Co	mplete the following if the filing of this requisition starts a proceeding.]
Thi	s requisition for subpoena is filed by, whose address for service is as follows:
-	ou must set out the street address of the address for service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be en as additional addresses for service.]
	Street address for service: Fax number address for service (if any): E-mail address for service (if any): Telephone number:
Da	te:[dd/mmm/yyyy] Signature of [] filing person(s) [] lawyer for filing person(s)
	[type or print name]

No.

FORM P36 (Rule 25-12 (6))

1 010.1 100 (2.0.2 20 12 (0))	
[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]	
	No
	Registr
In the Supreme Court of British Columbi	ia
In the Matter of the Estate of[legal name of decease	ed], deceased
WARRANT AFTER SUBPOENA	
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies	to all forms.]
To any Peace Officer	
WHEREAS	- · ·
THIS COURT ORDERS you to apprehend and bring him or her promptly before th	
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]	
A Judge of the Supreme Court	of British Columbia
[type or print na	nme]

FORM P37 (Rule 25-12 (3))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

[Style of Proceeding]

SUBPOENA

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

To:[name and address	55]
1 &	stry at the courthouse at[location] the following:
noted probate registry whichever of the specia	our possession or control, you are, within the same time, to deliver to the above- fied documents that are in your possession or control and to file in the above- which of the specified documents are not in your possession or control and ing those documents.
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Registrar

WARNING: Failure to deliver the specified documents as required by this subpoena can result in your arrest and committal to prison WITHOUT DELIVERY TO YOU OF ANY FURTHER NOTICE OR DOCUMENT.

FORM P38 (Rule 25-13 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

This is the[1st/2nd/3rd/etc.] affidavit
of
and was made on[dd/mmm/yyyy]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATION TO PASS ACCOUNTS

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

I,	, of[<i>name</i>], of[<i>addi</i>	ress]	,	[occupation].	•••••	, SWEAR (OR AFFIRM))
	AT:	-				,	
1	A[specify the type of estate grant name of deceased], deceased, was						
2	I have administered the estate to the best	t of my ab	ility.				
3	I have filed with the registrar a full and of and the proceeds from them that have constatement of all disbursements, with a full	me into n	ny hands as	personal repres	sentative	e, and also a full and corre	
4	I have not been awarded any compensation except	ion for my	services as	personal repre	sentativ	e by this or any other cou	ırt
5	The persons interested in the administrat						
6	I know of no creditors of the estate who	still have	unsettled cl	aims against it	that I co	onsider to be valid except	
7	The only portion of the estate that remai been administered is	ns unadm	inistered is a	as follows:		, and the reason it has	not
SW	VORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)					
MI	E at, British Columbia)					
on	[dd/mmm/yyyy])					
)					
)					
A	commissioner for taking)					
aff	idavits for British Columbia)					
	print name or affix stamp of commissione	er]					

FORM P39 (Rule 25-13 (5))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013.]

[Style of Proceeding]

CERTIFICATE

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

I CERTIFY that the results of the inquiry, assessment or accounting ordered under Rule 25-13 (3) (b) are as follows:

The accounts of[name] being the executor/administrator of the estate of[name of deceased],
covering the period[dd/mmm/yyyy] to[dd/mmm/yyyy], which accounts are attached to the affidavit
of[name] sworn[dd/mmm/yyyy] are approved
[] as presented.
[] subject to[describe condition(s)]
[name] receive the sum of \$ as remuneration.
The costs of the passing of the accounts of[name] be payable from the estate as[special costs/specified basis]
This certificate is binding on the beneficiaries without further order of the court.
e:[dd/mmm/yyyy]
Registrar

[This certificate may be set out in a separate document or may be endorsed on the bill of costs.]

	FORM P40 (Rule 25-13 (6	5))		
[en. B.	.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014			
			[<i>1st/2nd/3rd/e</i>	<i>etc.</i>] affidavi
			[name]	_
		and was made	e on[<i>dd/mi</i>	mm/yyyy]
	[Style of Proceeding]			
STATE	EMENT OF ACCOUNT AF	FIDAVIT		
[Rule 22-3 of the	Supreme Court Civil Rules	applies to all forms.]	
,, of[<i>addr</i> HAT:	ress][o	ccupation]	, SWEAR (OR	AFFIRM)
Attached and marked as Exhibit A is a S	statement of Account for t	he Estate of		
2 The information set out in this statement	of account is true and con	mplete to the best o	of my knowleds	ge.
SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)			
ME at, British Columbia)			
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])			
)			
)			
A commissioner for taking)			
affidavits for British Columbia)			
[print name or affix stamp of commissione	er]			
		This is Exhibit A	A referred to in 1	the affidavit of
		hafara ma an	,	
		before me on	[aa/mmm	<i>\(\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}</i>
			ssioner for takin B	
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNT	FOR THE ESTATE OF		, DECEASED	

In this Statement of Account, the "commencement date" means

- dd/mmm/yyyy]......

For the period from[insert commencement date – dd/mmm/yyyy]...... to[effective date of this statement of account

((a)	the deceased's date of death, or				
((b) if one or more statements of account have been filed in respect of the estate under Rule 25-13 (6) of the Supreme Court Civil Rules, the effective date of the most recent of those statements of account.					
2	Thi	s Statement of Account consists of the following:				
((a)	Statement of Assets and Liabilities of the Estate of		as at[commencement date –		
	(b)	Statement of Capital Transactions of the Estate of				
	(c)	Statement of Income Transactions of the Estate of		•;		
((d)	Statement of Assets and Liabilities of the Estate of; statement of account – dd/mmm/yyyy];		as at[effective date of this		
((e)	[include only if remuneration is sought at this time] Staten Estate of		osed Remuneration in relation to the		
((f)	Statement of Distribution of the Estate of		;		
((g)	Statement of Proposed Distribution of Residue of the Esta	te of			
Stater	nen	at of Assets and Liabilities of the Estate of				
as at .		[commencement date – dd/mmm/yyyy]				
Item		Assets		Asset Values		
		[Describe estate assets, or include that information in an attached Schedule and bring forward totals here.]	1 -	et out fair market value as at the nencement date of this statement of account.]		
A1						
A2						
			Total asset	t values \$		
	7		,			
Item		Liabilities		Liabilities		
	[.	Describe liabilities of estate, or include that information in Schedule and bring forward totals here.]	an attached	[Set out amount of liability as at the commencement date.]		
B1						
B2						
				Total amount of liabilities		

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

Statement of Capital Transactions of the Estate of

For the period from[commencement date – dd/mmm/yyyy]...... to[effective date of this statement of account – dd/mmm/yyyy].......

\$.....

Item [list in chronological order]	Date [date of transaction – dd/mmm/yyyy]	Transaction [Describe transactions, or include that information in an attached Schedule and bring forward totals here.]	Debit	Credit
C1				
C2				
			Total of debits \$	

Statement of Income	Transactions of the Estat	e or	

For the period from[commencement date – dd/mmm/yyyy]......to[effective date of this statement of account – dd/mmm/yyyy].......

Item [list in chronological order]	Date [date of transaction – dd/mmm/yyyy]	Transaction [Describe transactions, or include that information in an attached Schedule and bring forward totals here.]	Debit	Credit
D1				
D2				
			Total of debits \$	Total of credits

			_
Ctatamant of A	agata and Liabiliti	og of the Estate of	f
Statement of A	sseis and Liabilli	es of the estate of	

as at......[effective date of this statement of account – dd/mmm/yyyy].......

Item	Assets	Asset Values
	[Describe each estate asset, or include that information in an attached Schedule and bring forward totals here.]	[Set out fair market value as at the effective date of this statement of account.]
E1		
E2		
		Total asset values \$

Item	Liabilities	Liabilities
	[Describe each liability of estate, or include that information in an	[Set out amount of liability as at the effective
	attached Schedule and bring forward totals here.]	date of this statement of account.]
F1		

F2		
	Total amount of liabilities \$	
Statement of Proposed Remuneration in Relation to the Estate of		
Capital Fee		
(A) Proceeds of disposition of capital assets realized since the com	nmencement date	\$
(B) Market value of capital assets, realized or transferred since the of which no proceeds of disposition have been obtained	e commencement date, in respect	\$
(C) Current value of unrealized capital assets included, on the corr	nmencement date, in the estate	\$
(D) Gross aggregate value of capital assets of estate – [(A) + (B) +	- (C)]	\$
(E) Capital Fee – (D) x% [insert claimed percentage, up to a	maximum of 5%]	\$
Income Fee (F) Gross income earned by the estate for the period from[commencement date – dd/mmm/yyyy] to[effective date of this statement of account – dd/mmm/yyyy] except interest income already capitalized and included in (D)		
(G) Income Fee – (F) x% [insert claimed percentage, up to a maximum of 5%] \$		
Care Management Fee [Prepare one set of the following calculations for each reporting perporting period is each calendar year, or portion, from date of dea	e	· II
(H) Market value of estate assets as at the beginning of the reportion	ng period	\$
(I) Market value of estate assets at the end of the reporting period		\$
(J) Average market value of estate assets for the reporting period	\$	
(K) Care and Management Fee for reporting period [(J) x 0.4%]		
Total of Fees Claimed		
(L) Total remuneration sought $-[(E) + (G) + (the total of every (K) determined for a reporting period following the commencement date)] \$$		
Statement of Distribution of the Estate of		
Specific Bequests and I	Legacies	
Item Distribution (Yes/No) Date of distribution Beneficiary		

Residue of Estate

(R1) Market value of estate assets at the effective date of this statement of account	\$
(R2) Applicant's estimated reserve for final income tax, accounting and legal costs and remuneration	\$
(R3) Distributable estate (R1) - (R2)	\$

Statement of Proposed Distribution of Residue of the Estate of

Beneficiary	Assets	Cash
[Identify beneficiaries who	[Identify assets distributed to the named	[Indicate amount of cash
receive assets or cash from	beneficiary and the market value of those	distributed to the named
residue.]	assets.]	beneficiary.]
[Name]		\$

FORM P41 (Rule 25-14 (1))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

	Registry
In the Suprer	me Court of British Columbia
In the Matter of the Estate of	f[legal name of deceased], deceased
REQU	JISITION – ESTATES
[Rule 22-3 of the Supren	ne Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
Filed by:[<i>person(s)</i>]	
Required:	
Attached to this requisition is a draft of the ord The evidence in support of the application is [Complete the following if the filing of this requisition This requisition is filed by	starts a proceeding.], whose address for service is as follows: service. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be

No.

FORM P42 (Rule 25-14 (2))

[en. B.C. Reg. 149/2013; am. B.C. Reg. 44/2014, Sch. 1.]

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF APPLICATION (SPOUSAL HOME OR DEFICIENCIES IN WILL)

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Name(s)	of applicant(s):
То:	[name(s)]
	OTICE that an application will be made by the applicant(s) to the presiding judge or master at the courthouse at[address of registry in which the proceeding is being conducted] on[dd/mmm/yyyy] at the of day] for the order(s) set out in Part 1 below.
PART 1:	ORDER(S) SOUGHT
para	eck whichever one or more of the immediately following 4 boxes are correct and, using numbered agraphs, set out the order(s) that will be sought at the application and indicate against which person(s) the er(s) is(are) sought.]
[]	The applicant(s) seek(s) the following order(s) under section 30 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> : 1 2
[]	The applicant(s) seek(s) the following order(s) under section 33 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> : 1 2
[]	The applicant(s) seek(s) the following order(s) under section 58 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> : 1 2
[]	The applicant(s) seek(s) the following order(s) under section 59 of the <i>Wills, Estates and Succession Act</i> : 1 2
PART 2:	FACTUAL BASIS
[Us.	ing numbered paragraphs, set out a brief summary of the facts supporting the application.] 1 2

[If any person sues or is sued in a representative capacity, identify the person and describe the representative capacity.]

PART 3: LEGAL BASIS

Using numbered paragraphs, specify any rule or other enactment relied on and provide a brief summary of any other legal arguments on which the applicant(s) intend(s) to rely in support of the orders sought. If appropriate, include citation of applicable cases.

1 2

PART 4: MATERIAL TO BE RELIED ON

[Using numbered paragraphs, list the affidavits served with the notice of application and any other affidavits and			
other documents already in the court file on which the applicant(s) will rely. Each affidavit included on the list			
must be identified as follows: "Affidavit #[sequential number, if any, recorded in the top right hand corner			
of the affidavit] of[name], made[dd/mmm/yyyy]".]			
1			
2			
eck whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]			

[Cho

- [] I am not obliged under section 29 (1) (c) of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act to deliver a filed copy of this notice of application to the Public Guardian and Trustee.
- [] I am obliged under section 29 (1) (c) of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act to deliver a filed copy of this notice of application to the Public Guardian and Trustee.

The applicant(s) estimate(s) that the application will take[time estimate]...........

[Check whichever one of the immediately following 2 boxes is correct.]

- [] This matter is within the jurisdiction of a master.
- [] This matter is not within the jurisdiction of a master.

TO THE PERSONS RECEIVING THIS NOTICE OF APPLICATION: If you wish to respond to this notice of application, you must, within 5 business days after service of this notice of application or, if this application is brought under Rule 9-7, within 8 business days after service of this notice of application,

- (a) file an application response in Form 33,
- (b) file the original of every affidavit, and of every other document, that
 - (i) you intend to refer to at the hearing of this application, and
 - (ii) has not already been filed in the proceeding, and
- (c) serve on the applicant 2 copies of the following, and on every other person to whom notice of this application must be provided one copy of the following:
 - (i) a copy of the filed application response;
 - (ii) a copy of each of the filed affidavits and other documents that you intend to refer to at the hearing of this application and that have not already been served on that person;
 - (iii) if this application is brought under Rule 9-7, any notice that you are required to give under Rule 9-7 (9).

Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] applicant [] lawyer for applicant(
	[type or print name]	
To be completed by the court only:		
Order made [] in the terms requested in paragraphs of Part 1 of this notice of application [] with the following variations and additional terms:		
Date:[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>] Si	gnature of [] Judge [] Master	

FORM P43 (Rule 25-14 (2))	
[en. B.C. 115/2019.]	
No	0
	Registry
In the Supreme Court of British Columbia	
Between	
	, Petitioner(s)
1	, i ennoner(s)
and	
	, Respondent(s)
[or, if there is no person against whom relief is sought:	
Re: [State the person by whom, or the entity in respect of which, relief is sought.]]	
PETITION TO THE COURT – ESTATE PROCEEDINGS	
[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]	
ON NOTICE TO:	
[name and address of each person to be served]	
This proceeding is brought for the relief set out below, by	
[Check whichever one of the following boxes is correct and complete any required information.]	
[] the person(s) named as petitioner(s) in the style of proceedings above	
[][name(s)] (the petitioner(s))	
If you intend to respond to this petition, you or your lawyer must	
(a) file a response to petition in Form 67 in the above-named registry of this court within the time for response to petition described below, and	
(b) serve on the petitioner(s)	
(i) 2 copies of the filed response to petition, and	
(ii) 2 copies of each filed affidavit on which you intend to rely at the hearing.	
Orders, including orders granting the relief claimed, may be made against you, without any further notic	e to you, if

B.C. Reg. 168/2009

you fail to file the response to petition within the time for response.

Time for response to petition

A response to petition must be filed and served on the petitioner(s),

- (a) if you were served with the petition anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after that service,
- (b) if you were served with the petition anywhere in the United States of America, within 35 days after that service,
- (c) if you were served with the petition anywhere else, within 49 days after that service, or
- (d) if the time for response has been set by order of the court, within that time.

(1)	The address of the registry is:
	The ADDRESS FOR SERVICE of the petitioner(s) is: [Set out the street address of the address for service for each petitioner. One or both of a fax number and an e-mail address may be given as additional addresses for service.]
	Fax number address for service (if any) of the petitioner(s): E-mail address for service (if any) of the petitioner(s):
(3)	The name and office address of the petitioner's(s') lawyer is:

Claim of the Petitioners

Part 1: ORDER(S) SOUGHT

The	e peti	tioner(s) seek(s) the following order(s):
1	-	neck whichever one or more of the immediately following 4 boxes are correct and, using numbered agraphs,
	set	out the order(s) being sought and indicate against which person(s) the order(s) is(are) sought.]
	[]	The petitioner(s) seek(s) the following order(s) under section 30 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act.
		1
		2
	[]	The petitioner(s) seek(s) the following order(s) under section 33 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act:
		1
		2
	[]	The petitioner(s) seek(s) the following order(s) under section 58 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act:
		1
		2
	[]	The petitioner(s) seek(s) the following order(s) under section 59 of the Wills, Estates and Succession Act:
		1

Part 2: FACTUAL BASIS

[Using numbered paragraphs, set out the matern 1 2	al facts on which this petition is based.]	
Part 3: LEGAL BASIS [Using numbered paragraphs, specify any rule of legal bases on which the petitioner(s) intend(s) 1 2	r other enactment relied on and provide a brief summary of any of rely in support of the orders sought.]	other
Part 4: MATERIAL TO BE RELIED ON		
	served with the petition. Each affidavit included on the list must antial number, if any, recorded in the top right hand corner of the smmm/yyyy]".]	be
The petitioner(s) estimate(s) that the hearing of the	petition will take [time estimate]	
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] petitioner [] lawyer for petitioner(s)	
	[type or print name]	
To be completed by the court only: Order made [] in the terms requested in paragraphs	- I	
Date: [<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>] Sign	nture of [] Judge [] Master	

FORM P44 (Rule 25-3.2)

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

[Style of Proceeding]

NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL OF APPLICATION

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

Filed by:[applicant(s)]	
TAKE NOTICE that the applicant(s),applicant('s/s')] application for estate grant	[name(s)], withdraw(s)[the
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of [] applicant [] lawyer for applicant(s)
	[type or print name]

FORM P45 (Rule 25-3 (3))

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021; am. B.C. Reg. 148/2022.]

[Style of Proceeding]

AFFIDAVIT OF ELECTRONIC WILL

[Kule 22-3 of the	Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]
I,, of[add:	ress], SWEAR (OR AFFIRM)
[Use whichever of the immediately follow	wing 2 statements is correct and provide the required information.]
etc.] Before creating a physical copy Format (PDF) to submit to the court regis	of the will is[indicate format – MS Word, Apple Pages, Google Doc, or creating a digital reproduction of the will in a Portable Document stry as part of this application, I ensured that the last date the original he same date that the electronic will was signed and witnessed, by ovide explanation]
etc.] Before creating a physical copy of Format (PDF) to submit to the court regis	of the will is[indicate format – MS Word, Apple Pages, Google Doc, or creating a digital reproduction of the will in a Portable Document stry as part of this application, I ensured that the original electronic form in the following manner[describe how will was locked to prevent
SWORN (OR AFFIRMED) BEFORE)
ME at, British Columbia)
on[<i>dd/mmm/yyyy</i>])
)
)
A commissioner for taking)
affidavits for British Columbia)
[print name or affix stamp of commission	er]

FORM P46 (Rule 25-2(1.1))

[en. B.C. Reg. 250/2021.]

[Style of Proceeding]

DEMAND FOR ELECTRONIC WILL

[Rule 22-3 of the Supreme Court Civil Rules applies to all forms.]

I,, of, of, of, of	P1 notice] to provess to the third-party	ide me with either the will delectronic repository where	of[insert name of the will of[insert name of
If there are expenses in order to access the third-pastored for the purpose of viewing the will, then, in	•	-	<u> </u>
You have 7 days to comply with this demand.			
If I am concerned about the validity of the will, I a before the expiry of the 21-day notice period refer order to prevent a grant from issuing to you, so the be removed until it expires or is withdrawn by me	red to in Form P1 N at I have time to asso	lotice of Proposed Applications the electronic will. A No	ion in Relation to Estate, in
Date:[dd/mmm/yyyy]	Signature of notice	ce recipient	
	[ty]	pe or print name]	

APPENDIX B – PARTY AND PARTY COSTS

Interpretation

In this Appendix, "process" means the drawing, filing or service of a document and any amendment to it or particulars of it, but does not include an application made with respect to the process or any part of the process.

Scale of costs

- 2 (1) If a court has made an order for costs, it may fix the scale, from Scale A to Scale C in subsection (2), under which the costs will be assessed, and may order that one or more steps in the proceeding be assessed under a different scale from that fixed for other steps.
 - (2) In fixing the scale of costs, the court must have regard to the following principles:
 - (a) Scale A is for matters of little or less than ordinary difficulty;
 - (b) Scale B is for matters of ordinary difficulty;
 - (c) Scale C is for matters of more than ordinary difficulty.
 - (3) In fixing the appropriate scale under which costs will be assessed, the court may take into account the following:
 - (a) whether a difficult issue of law, fact or construction is involved;
 - (b) whether an issue is of importance to a class or body of persons, or is of general interest;
 - (c) whether the result of the proceeding effectively determines the rights and obligations as between the parties beyond the relief that was actually granted or denied.
 - (4) If, after December 31, 2006, a settlement is reached under which payment of assessed costs is agreed to or an order for costs is made, and if no scale is fixed or agreed to in that settlement or order, the costs must be assessed under Scale B, unless a party, on application, obtains an order of the court that the costs be assessed under another scale.
 - (5) If, after it fixes the scale of costs applicable to a proceeding under subsection (1) or (4), the court finds that, as a result of unusual circumstances, an award of costs on that scale would be grossly inadequate or unjust, the court may order that the value for each unit allowed for that proceeding, or for any step in that proceeding, be 1.5 times the value that would otherwise apply to a unit in that scale under section 3 (1).
 - (6) For the purposes of subsection (5) of this section, an award of costs is not grossly inadequate or unjust merely because there is a difference between the actual legal expenses of a party and the costs to which that party would be entitled under the scale of costs fixed under subsection (1) or (4).
 - (7) If costs may be assessed without order or agreement, the scale of costs must be fixed by the registrar on the assessment.
 - (8) If an offer to settle is made under Rule 9-1, any costs payable on acceptance of that offer must be assessed under Scale B.

Value of units

3 (1) The value for each unit allowed on an assessment conducted after December 31, 2006 in relation to orders and settlements made after that date is as follows:

- (a) Scale A \$ 60;
- (b) Scale B \$110;
- (c) Scale C \$170.
- (2) If maximum and minimum numbers of units are provided for in an Item in the Tariff, the registrar has the discretion to allow a number within that range of units.
- (3) If the Tariff indicates a range of units for a Tariff Item, the registrar must have regard to the following principles:
 - (a) one unit is for matters on which little time should ordinarily have been spent;
 - (b) the maximum number of units is for matters on which a great deal of time should ordinarily have been spent.

Daily rates

- 4 (1) If, in a Tariff Item, a number of units is allowed for each day but the time spent during a day is not more than 2 1/2 hours, only 1/2 of the number of units is to be allowed for that day.
 - (2) If, in a Tariff Item, a number of units is allowed for each day but the time spent during a day is more than 5 hours, the number of units allowed for that day is to be increased by 1/2 of the number.
 - (3) If, in a Tariff Item, a number of units is allowed for preparation for an attendance but the time spent on the attendance is not more than 2 1/2 hours, only 1/2 of the number of units for preparation is to be allowed.
 - (4) If, in the Tariff, units may be allowed for preparation for an activity, the registrar may allow units for preparation for an activity that does not take place or is adjourned up to the maximum allowable for one day.

Uncontested foreclosure proceedings

5 In a proceeding under Rule 21-7, uncontested at the hearing on any issue except costs, the costs must be assessed under Scale A.

Default judgment and process for execution

- 6 (1) Schedule 1 applies to the costs that may be assessed on a default judgment entered under Rule 3-8.
 - (2) The amount involved under subsection (1) is the amount for which the judgment is entered.
 - (3) If a writ of execution or garnishing order, or a process in Form 56, 58 or 59, is issued, the costs must be endorsed on the process and allowed in accordance with Schedule 2, instead of Item 42.
 - (4) The amount involved under subsection (3) is the amount payable, if any, that is endorsed on the process.
 - (5) In addition to the fees set out in Schedules 1 and 2, the costs of any application to the court relating to the judgment or to the process for execution may be ordered to be assessed under the Tariff.

Apportionment if proceedings tried together

- If 2 or more proceedings have, by order, been tried at the same time or tried one after the other and no order has been made as to apportionment of costs, the registrar may
 - (a) assess 2 or more bills as one bill,
 - (b) allow an item once or more than once, or
 - (c) apportion the costs of an item or of the whole bill between the proceedings.

Offer to settle bill of costs

- A party to an assessment may serve on another party an offer to settle the amount of the bill of costs in Form 123 and, after the assessment has been completed, may produce the offer to the registrar, and the registrar must determine whether the offer should have been accepted and, if so, may disallow items of the Tariff that relate to the assessment to the party presenting the bill, and
 - (a) allow, by way of set-off, items of the Tariff that relate to the assessment to the party making the offer, or
 - (b) allow double the value of items of the Tariff that relate to the assessment to the party presenting the bill and making the offer.

Transitional — orders, settlements and costs before 2007

- 9 Appendix B of the Supreme Court Rules, B.C. Reg. 221/90, as it read on December 31, 2006, applies to
 - (a) orders for costs made before January 1, 2007,
 - (b) settlements reached before January 1, 2007 under which payment of assessed costs is agreed to,
 - (c) costs payable on acceptance of an offer to settle made under Rule 37, if that offer to settle was made before January 1, 2007, and
 - (d) all assessments related to those orders, settlements and costs.

Transitional — orders, settlements and costs before [date]

- 10 Without limiting section 9, Appendix B of the Supreme Court Rules, B.C. Reg. 221/90, as it read on June 30, 2010, applies to
 - (a) orders for costs made after December 31, 2006 and before July 1, 2010,
 - (b) settlements reached after December 31, 2006 and before July 1, 2010 under which payment of assessed costs is agreed to,
 - (c) costs payable on acceptance of an offer to settle made under Rule 37 or 37B, if that offer to settle was made after December 31, 2006 and before July 1, 2010, and
 - (d) all assessments related to those orders, settlements and costs.

Item

1 If the amount involved is.

	(a) less than \$5 000	\$160
	(b) \$5 000 or more, but less than \$15 000	240
	(c) \$15 000 or more, but less than \$25 000	320
	(d) \$25 000 or more, but less than \$35 000	400
	(e) \$35 000 or more, but less than \$45 000	480
	(f) \$45 000 or more, but less than \$55 000	560
	(g) \$55 000 or more, but less than \$65 000	620
	(h) more than \$65 000	680
2	If no amount is involved	\$320

3 And, in addition, disbursements.

Item

I If the amount involved is.	
(a) less than \$5 000	\$30
(b) \$5 000 or more, but less than \$15 000	50
(c) \$15 000 or more, but less than \$25 000	75
(d) \$25 000 or more, but less than \$35 000	100
(e) \$35 000 or more, but less than \$45 000	125
(f) \$45 000 or more, but less than \$55 000	150
(g) \$55 000 or more, but less than \$65 000	170
(h) more than \$65 000	185
2 If no amount is involved	\$95

3 And, in addition, disbursements.

Item

1	If the application is unopposed	
	(a) Scale A	\$240
	(b) Scale B	440
	(c) Scale C	680
	And, in addition,	
	(d) instead of disbursements	\$120
	(e) if one or more taxes is payable in respect of legal services by the party entitled to costs, an additional amount to compensate for that tax, which additional amount must be determined by multiplying the amount of costs to which the party is entitled under this Item by the aggregate of the percentage rates of the taxes	
2	If the application is opposed and requires 1/2 day or less for the hearing	
	(a) Scale A	\$300
	(b) Scale B	550
	(c) Scale C	850
	And, in addition,	
	(d) instead of disbursements	\$120
	(e) if one or more taxes is payable in respect of legal services by the party entitled to costs, an additional amount to compensate for that tax, which additional amount must be determined by multiplying the amount of costs to which the party is entitled under this Item by the aggregate of the percentage rates of the taxes.	
3	If the application is opposed and requires more than 1/2 day for the hearing	
	(a) Scale A	\$540
	(b) Scale B	990
	(c) Scale C	1 530
	And, in addition,	
	(d) instead of disbursements	\$120
	(e) if one or more taxes is payable in respect of legal services by the party entitled to costs, an additional amount to compensate for that tax, which additional amount must be determined by multiplying the amount of costs to which the party is entitled under this Item by the aggregate of the percentage rates of the taxes.	

Tariff

[am. B.C. Reg. 119/2010, Sch. A.]

Item	Description	Units	
	Instructions and investigations	•	
1	Correspondence, conferences, instructions, investigations or negotiations by a party until the start of the proceeding, for which provision is not made elsewhere in this tariff	Minimum Maximum	1 10
2	Correspondence, conferences, instructions, investigations or negotiations by a party after the start of the proceeding to the completion of the trial or hearing, for which provision is not made elsewhere in this tariff	Minimum Maximum	1 30
3	Correspondence, conferences, instructions, investigations or negotiations by a party after the trial or hearing to enforce any final order obtained in that trial or hearing, for which provision is not made elsewhere in this tariff	Minimum Maximum	1 10
4	Instructions to an agent to appear at a trial, hearing, application, examination, reference, inquiry, assessment, or other analogous proceeding, if necessary or proper, and if held more than 40 km from the place where the instructing lawyer carries on business		1
5	Process for obtaining a consent case plan order	Minimum Maximum	1 10
	Court documents	,	
6	All process, for which provision is not made elsewhere in this tariff, for commencing and prosecuting a proceeding	Minimum Maximum	1 10
7	All process, for which provision is not made elsewhere in this tariff, for defending a proceeding, and for commencing and prosecuting a counterclaim	Minimum Maximum	1 10
8	All process for which provision is not made elsewhere in this tariff for commencing and prosecuting or defending a third party proceeding	Minimum Maximum	1 10
9	Response to counterclaim and, if necessary, reply	Minimum Maximum	1 10
	Discovery	•	
10	Process for obtaining discovery and inspection of documents		
	(a) 1 to 999 documents	(a) Minimum Maximum	
	(b) 1000 to 5000 documents	(b) Minimum Maximum	
	(c) over 5000 documents	(c) Minimum Maximum	

(b) 1000 to 5000 documents (b) Minimu Maximu (c) over 5000 documents (c) Minimu	Item	Description	Units	
Maximum	11	Process for giving discovery and inspection of documents		
(c) over 5000 documents (c) Minimum Maximum 12 Process for serving interrogatories Minimum Maximum 13 Process for answering interrogatories Minimum Maximum 14 Process for serving notices to admit Minimum Maximum 15 Process for making admission of facts Minimum Maximum 16 Process for preparation of accounts, statement of property or financial maximum information if required by enactment or by order of court Expert Evidence and Witnesses 17 All process and correspondence associated with retaining and consulting all experts for the purposes of obtaining opinions for use in the proceeding Maximum and issuing subpoenas to all witnesses Examinations 18 All process and correspondence associated with contacting, interviewing and issuing subpoenas to all witnesses Examinations 19 Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined 20 Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under		(a) 1 to 999 documents	(a) Minimum Maximum	
Process for serving interrogatories Minimum Maximum Process for answering interrogatories Minimum Maximum Process for serving notices to admit Process for serving notices to admit Process for making admission of facts Minimum Maximum Process for preparation of accounts, statement of property or financial information if required by enactment or by order of court Expert Evidence and Witnesses All process and correspondence associated with retaining and consulting all experts for the purposes of obtaining opinions for use in the proceeding All process and correspondence associated with contacting, interviewing and issuing subpoenas to all witnesses Examinations Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under		(b) 1000 to 5000 documents	(b) Minimum Maximum	10 20
Process for answering interrogatories Minimum Maximum Process for serving notices to admit Process for serving notices to admit Process for serving notices to admit Process for making admission of facts Minimum Maximum Process for preparation of accounts, statement of property or financial maximum information if required by enactment or by order of court Expert Evidence and Witnesses All process and correspondence associated with retaining and consulting all experts for the purposes of obtaining opinions for use in the proceeding Maximum All process and correspondence associated with contacting, interviewing maximum mand issuing subpoenas to all witnesses Examinations Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under		(c) over 5000 documents	(c) Minimum Maximum	10 30
Maximum 14 Process for serving notices to admit 15 Process for making admission of facts 16 Process for preparation of accounts, statement of property or financial maximum 16 Process for preparation of accounts, statement of property or financial maximum 17 Expert Evidence and Witnesses 18 All process and correspondence associated with retaining and consulting all experts for the purposes of obtaining opinions for use in the proceeding maximum 18 All process and correspondence associated with contacting, interviewing maximum mand issuing subpoenas to all witnesses 19 Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined 20 Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under	12	Process for serving interrogatories		1 10
Maximum	13	Process for answering interrogatories		1 10
Process for preparation of accounts, statement of property or financial information if required by enactment or by order of court **Expert Evidence and Witnesses** 17 All process and correspondence associated with retaining and consulting all experts for the purposes of obtaining opinions for use in the proceeding Maximum 18 All process and correspondence associated with contacting, interviewing and issuing subpoenas to all witnesses **Examinations** **Examinations** 19 Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined 20 Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under	14	Process for serving notices to admit		1 5
information if required by enactment or by order of court Expert Evidence and Witnesses All process and correspondence associated with retaining and consulting all experts for the purposes of obtaining opinions for use in the proceeding All process and correspondence associated with contacting, interviewing and issuing subpoenas to all witnesses Examinations Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under	15	Process for making admission of facts		1 10
All process and correspondence associated with retaining and consulting all experts for the purposes of obtaining opinions for use in the proceeding All process and correspondence associated with contacting, interviewing and issuing subpoenas to all witnesses Examinations Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under	16			1 5
all experts for the purposes of obtaining opinions for use in the proceeding All process and correspondence associated with contacting, interviewing and issuing subpoenas to all witnesses Examinations Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under		Expert Evidence and Witnesses		
and issuing subpoenas to all witnesses Examinations 19 Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined 20 Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under	17	1 1 2		1 10
Preparation for examination of a person coming under Item 20 for each day of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under	18	1 1 2		1 10
of attendance (a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined 20 Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under		Examinations		
Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under	19	of attendance (a) by party conducting examination		4 3
(a) by party conducting examination (b) by party being examined	20	Attendance on examination of a person for discovery, on affidavit, on a subpoena to debtor, or in aid of execution, or of a person before trial under Rule 7-5 or 7-8, or any other analogous proceeding, for each day (a) by party conducting examination		8 5
Applications, Hearings and Conferences		Applications, Hearings and Conferences		

Item	Description	Units	
21	Preparation for an application or other matter referred to in Item 22, for each day of hearing if hearing begun (a) if unopposed (b) if opposed		2 3
22	Application, other than an application referred to in Item 23 or 27, for each day (a) if unopposed (b) if opposed		4 5
23	Application by requisition or by written submission		1-5
24	Preparation for a hearing referred to in Item 25, for each day of hearing		3
25	Reference to, or inquiry, assessment, accounting or hearing before, or on appeal from, a master, registrar or special referee, with or without witnesses and whether before or after judgment, for each day		6
26	Preparation for an application or other matter referred to in Item 27, for each day of hearing (a) if unopposed (b) if opposed		4 5
27	Hearing of proceeding, including petition, special case, proceeding on a point of law, stated case, interpleader or any other analogous proceeding, and applications for judgment under Rule 7-7 (6), 9-6 or 9-7, for each day (a) if unopposed (b) if opposed		6 10
28	Preparation for a hearing referred to in Item 22 (b), 25 or 27 (b), which hearing was initially contested but for which no attendance was required as a result of an agreement reached as to the issues that would have been the subject of the hearing (a) for a hearing referred to in Item 22 (b) (b) for a hearing referred to in Item 25 (c) for a hearing referred to in Item 27 (b)		2 2 4
29	Preparation for attendance referred to in Item 30, for each day of attendance		2
30	Attendance before a registrar to settle an order or to assess costs, for each day		4
31	Preparation for attendance referred to in Item 32, for each day of attendance	Minimum Maximum	1 3
32	Attendance at a settlement conference, case planning conference or trial management conference	Minimum Maximum	1 5
	Public Guardian and Trustee		

Item	Description	Units	
33	All process for obtaining the comments and recommendations of the Public Guardian and Trustee	Minimum Maximum	1 10
	Trial	,	
34	Preparation for trial, if proceeding set down for each day of trial		5
35	Attendance at trial of proceeding or of an issue in a proceeding, for each day		10
36	Written argument	Minimum Maximum	1 10
37	Attendance at the court for trial or hearing if party is ready to proceed and when trial or hearing not started		3
38	Attendance to speak to trial or hearing list		1
	Attendance at Registry	7	,
39	Process for payment into or out of court		1
40	Process for setting down proceeding for trial		1
41	Process relating to entry of an order or a certificate of costs when Item 30 or 44 does not apply		1
42	All process, for which provision is not made elsewhere in this tariff, relating to execution on or enforcement of an order, exclusive of any application to the court		1
	Miscellaneous	•	
43	Conduct of sale if property sold by order of court	Minimum Maximum	1 10
44	Negotiations, including mediation, and process for settlement, discontinuance, or dismissal by consent of any proceeding if settled, discontinued, or dismissed by consent as a result of the negotiations		5
45	Attendance at mediation, per day		5
46	Preparation for a mediation, for each day of attendance		3
47	Preparation for a mediation if the mediation is not held due to a reason other than the party's refusal, failure or neglect to attend		3
48	Travel by a solicitor to attend at any trial, hearing, application, examination, reference, inquiry, assessment, or other analogous proceeding if held more than 40 km from the place where the lawyer carries on business, for each day on which the lawyer travels		2
In ad	dition, reasonable travelling and subsistence expenses are to be allowed as a disbu	ırsement	



APPENDIX C

Schedule 1

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 65/2013, Sch. A; 44/2014, Sch. 2; 90/2014, Sch. 1; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Fees Payable to the Crown

(Unless otherwise provided by statute)

Definitions

In this Schedule, "Item" means an Item in the table to this Schedule.

Amount payable

- 2 (1) Subject to subsection (2), for any Item, there must be paid to the government
 - (a) the fee shown in the table to this Schedule as being applicable to that Item, or
 - (b) if Part 1 of the table to this Schedule is amended under section 2 (4) of Schedule 4 of this Appendix C, the fee shown as being applicable to that Item in the table most recently published under section 2 (3) (b) of Schedule 4.
 - (2) A person filing a notice of civil claim or a response to civil claim need not pay the fee applicable to that filing if, at the time of filing, the person provides to the registry a certificate of mediation in Form 124 indicating,
 - (a) if the filing party is a named plaintiff, that that party or that party's representative engaged in mediation with one or more of the named defendants or a representative for one or more of the named defendants, or
 - (b) if the filing party is a named defendant, that that party or that party's representative engaged in mediation with one or more of the named plaintiffs or a representative for one or more of the named plaintiffs.

Electronic filing fee

- 3 (1) In addition to any other fees payable under this Schedule, a further fee of \$7.00 must be paid for transmitting a document package to a registry through the electronic filing service of Court Services Online.
 - (2) For the purposes of this provision, a "document package" is any document or, if a group of documents is transmitted at one time in relation to the same court file, that group of documents.

		Fees Applicable to the Supreme Court	
tem		Description	Fee (\$)
		Commencing proceedings	
1	an a	ject to section 2 (2) of this Schedule, for commencing a proceeding that is not ppeal under Rule 23-6 (8), an application under section 66, 67, 70, 77 or 85 of Legal Profession Act or under Rule 20-6 (3)	200
		fee is payable under this item to file for and obtain a grant of probate or inistration if a person dies leaving an estate that does not exceed \$25 000 in e	
2	For	filing a counterclaim or a third party notice	200
		Responding to proceedings	
3		ject to section 2 (2) of this Schedule, for filing a response to civil claim, a onse to counterclaim or a response to third party notice	25
		Application filings	
4	For	filing any one of the following:	80
	(a)	a notice of application;	
	(b)	an appointment for a hearing before a registrar or a special referee but not including a hearing, inquiry or reference under the <i>Court Order Enforcement Act</i> ;	
	(c)	a requisition for a desk order, including a requisition filed under Rule 20-6 (3);	
	(d)	a requisition for a default judgment	
5	No to	setting a matter for hearing for which a fee is not payable under this Schedule fee is payable under this item to set a matter for hearing by notice of hearing etition, notice of hearing of appeal or notice of hearing of stated case, or to edule a trial management conference or settlement conference	80
		Other filings	
6	For	filing a notice of case planning conference	80
7	For	filing a notice of trial	200
		Hearings	
8	For	resetting a trial or hearing	200

9	day app	is for licatio	day spent in whole or in part at a hearing, unless the attendance on that reasons for decision only, payable by the party who files the notice of n, appointment or other document by which the hearing was set, unless orders payment by another party	For the first 3 days: 0 For each of the 4th to 10th days: 500 For each day over 10: 800
10	for	judgm	day spent in whole or in part at trial, unless the attendance on that day is ent only, payable by the party who files the notice of trial, unless the ers payment by another party	For the first 3 days: 0 For each of the 4th to 10th days: 500 For each day over 10: 800
	,		Room Rentals	
11	For	rental	of examination for discovery room	100 per day
			Execution	
12		_	a notice of dispute, a garnishing order, a writ of execution or a to debtor	80
	*		Documents	,
13	For	taking	g or swearing an affidavit for use in the court unless	40
	(a)		erson swearing the affidavit does so in the course of the person's duties beace officer or as an agent or officer of the government, or	
	(b)	provi	sion is made elsewhere for a fee for that service	
14	For	a sear	ch of a record, other than	8
	(a)	an ele	ectronic search conducted from outside the registry, or	
	(b)	a sea	rch of a record of a proceeding by	
		(i)	a party to that proceeding,	
		(ii)	a party's lawyer, or	
		(iii)	an official reporter who, or a representative of a transcription firm that, is retained by a party to produce a transcript of the proceeding	
15			ing by mail, fax or electronic mail the results of a search of a record, the of the following:	
	(a)	fee fo	or returning the results	10
	(b)	cost p	per page faxed	1
16	limi crea	tation ited in	sing, without purchase, from outside the registry, including, without, viewing, printing or downloading, any document that is found by or response to an electronic search or request, including, without, an index of cases produced in response to a search query	6
17	For	access	sing any document referred to in Item 16 and purchasing that document	10
18	For	copies	s, per page	1

19	For	or		
	(a)	a cert	rified copy of a document	
		(i)	for 10 pages or less	40
		(ii)	for each additional page over 10 pages, per page	6
	(b) issuing a certificate of judgment		ng a certificate of judgment	40
	(c)	issuing a certificate of pending litigation or other certificate not otherwise provided for		40
	(d) a copy, produced by the registry, of a transcript filed within 5 years of the request, per page			4
20			ing by mail or by fax a confirmation of filing or rejection of a document by fax to a registry	10

Despite anything in this Schedule, if, after consultation with the Chief Justice, the Crown enters into an agreement with a person under which the person is authorized to access one or both of registry records and specified registry services and is exempted from payment of any or all of the fees provided under Items 14, 15, 16, 17 and 18 for such access, the person may, on payment of any fee required under the agreement and on compliance with any other terms and conditions imposed by the agreement, access, during the term of the agreement, the registry records and registry services to which the agreement applies without payment of the fees from which the person is exempted under the agreement.

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 125/2020; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Fees Payable to the Sheriff

Item			Description	Foo
ıcııı			Fee \$	
1	For	servic	e	
	(a)	receiving, filing, serving on one person and returning any process together with an affidavit of service or attempted service		100
	(b)	each	additional party served at the same address	20
	(c)	each	additional party served not at the same address	30
2	Nor	on-refundable deposit for civil jury trial		1 000
3	For	arrest	or execution on goods and chattels	
	(a)	for every arrest, execution or similar writ or order		140
	(b)	for attending, investigating, inventorying, cataloguing, taking possession, preparing for sale, per hour for each sheriff involved		85
	(c)	as commission on the sum realized, or on the sum settled for, as the case may be, net of disbursements properly incurred		
		(i)	if that net sum is \$10 000 or less	10%
		(ii)	if that net sum is more than \$10 000 but is less than \$100 000	\$1 000 plus 2 1/2% on the amount in excess of \$10 000
		(iii)	if that net sum is \$100 000 or over	\$3 250 plus 1% on the amount in excess of \$100 000
	(d)	(d) the amount of the commission payable under paragraph (c) must be reduced by 50% if an auctioneer, broker or other individual sells the goods and chattels for the sheriff and receives a fee or commission for doing so		
4	For	lien aı	nd recovery actions	
	(a)	executing a lien other than a repairer's lien or for recovering specific property other than land if the execution or recovery is accomplished in whole or in part		176
	(b)	attending, investigating, inventorying, cataloguing, taking possession, per hour for each sheriff involved		75
5	For sale or possession of land			

	(a)	for ex	xecuting an order for sale or possession of land, in part or in whole	150
	(b)		ttending, investigating, inventorying, cataloguing, taking possession, aring for sale, per hour for each sheriff involved	70
	(c)		mmission on the sum realized, or on the sum settled for, as the case be, net of disbursements properly incurred	
		(i)	if that net sum is \$10 000 or less	10%
		(ii)	if that net sum is more than \$10 000 but is less than \$100 0000	\$1 000 plus 2 1/2% on the amount in excess of \$10 000
		(iii)	if that net sum is \$100 000 or over	\$3 250 plus 1% on the amount in excess of \$100 000
6	For arrest of ships			
	(a)	for e	very warrant or order to arrest a ship, including release	175
	(b)	ı	ttending, investigating, inventorying, cataloguing, taking and taining possession, preparing for sale, per hour for each sheriff involved	75
7	For	or a search made by a sheriff including the certificate of result		10
8	For taking or swearing an affidavit for use in the court unless the person swearing the affidavit does so in the course of the person's duties as a peace officer or as an agent or officer of the government			
9	In respect of each of the foregoing items except item 1, the sheriff must be paid 50¢ for each kilometre traveled.			
10	For each of the foregoing items, all disbursements properly incurred.			

Schedule 3

[am. B.C. Reg. 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Fees Payable to Witnesses

In all cases in which a witness is required to attend an examination, hearing or trial, the following daily witness fees and fees for travel, meals and preparation are payable, and must, unless otherwise ordered, be tendered in advance by the party requiring the attendance of the witness:

Daily witness fee

- 1 (1) For any witness, other than a party or a present officer, director or partner of a party to a proceeding, for each day or part of a day, a daily witness fee of \$20.
 - (2) A witness who is a party or a present officer, director or partner of a party to the proceeding is not entitled to a daily witness fee.

Travel

- 2 (1) For any witness, if the examination, hearing or trial is held at a place
 - (a) within 200 km by road (including any ferry route within the Provincial road system) of where the witness resides, 30¢ per km each way by road between the witness' residence and the place of examination, hearing or trial; but no travel allowance will be made if the distance by road between that residence and the place of examination, hearing or trial is less than 8 km., or
 - (b) more than 200 km from where the witness resides, the minimum return air fare by scheduled airline plus 30¢ per km each way from the witness' residence to the departure airport and from the arrival airport to the place of examination, hearing or trial.
 - (2) The allowance described in subsection (1) (a) includes ferry fares and road tolls.

Allowances

For any witness, a reasonable allowance for meal expenses made necessary by the witness' attendance, and if the witness resides elsewhere than the place of examination, hearing or trial and is required to remain overnight, a reasonable allowance for overnight accommodation.

Preparation

4 For any witness other than a party or a present officer, director or partner of a party to a proceeding, a reasonable sum must be allowed for the time employed and expenses incurred by the witness in preparing to give evidence, when that preparation is necessary.

[am. B.C. Regs. 119/2010, Sch. A; 65/2013, Sch. A; 90/2014, Sch. 1; 104/2019; 176/2023, Sch. 1.]

Fee Calculations

Definitions

1 In this Schedule:

"actual fee", in relation to an Item, means the actual fee applicable to that Item determined under section 2;

"base CPI" means the number recorded as the "All-items Index" for British Columbia for April 2010 in the publication prepared for April 2010 under the *Statistics Act* by the director;

"base fee", in relation to an Item, means the fee shown in the table to this Schedule as being applicable to that Item;

"current CPI", in relation to any year in which a calculation of actual fees is to be made under section 2, means the number recorded as the "All-items Index" for British Columbia for April of that year in the publication prepared for that year under the *Statistics Act* by the director;

"director" has the same meaning as in the Statistics Act,

"Item" means an Item in the table to this Schedule.

Calculation of actual fee

- 2 (1) Until Part 1 of the table to Schedule 1 is amended under this section, the actual fee applicable to an Item is the fee shown for that Item in the table to this Schedule.
 - (2) In 2012, and in every second year after that, the actual fee applicable to an Item must be recalculated as follows:
 - (a) a preliminary fee must be determined for the Item in accordance with the following formula: preliminary fee = base fee x (current CPI/base CPI);
 - (b) the actual fee applicable to the Item is the preliminary fee determined for that Item under paragraph (a) rounded as follows:
 - (i) if the base fee applicable to the Item is less than or equal to \$10, the actual fee applicable to the Item is the preliminary fee for the Item rounded to the nearest \$1;
 - (ii) if the base fee applicable to the Item is greater than \$10 but less than \$100, the actual fee applicable to the Item is the preliminary fee for the Item rounded to the nearest \$5;
 - (iii) if the base fee applicable to the Item is \$100 or more, the actual fee applicable to the Item is the preliminary fee for the Item rounded to the nearest \$10.
 - (3) If, as a result of the recalculation referred to in subsection (2), there is a change to the actual fee applicable to one or more Items, the minister may notify the Registrar of Regulations of that change and the Registrar of Regulations may
 - (a) amend Part 1 of the table to Schedule 1 to reflect the change of which notice was given under this subsection, and

- (b) publish in Part 2 of the Gazette the amended table.
- (4) On the date that is 7 days after the date on which an amended table is published under subsection (3) (b) in Part 2 of the Gazette, Part 1 of the table to Schedule 1 is amended accordingly.

Item		Description	Fee (\$)
		Commencing proceedings	
1	an a	ject to section 2 (2) of this Schedule, for commencing a proceeding that is not ppeal under Rule 23-6 (8.1), an application under section 66, 67, 70, 77 or 85 to Legal Profession Act or under Rule 20-6 (3)	200
		fee is payable under this item to file for and obtain a grant of probate or inistration if a person dies leaving an estate that does not exceed \$25 000 in e	
2	For	filing a counterclaim or a third party notice	200
		Responding to proceedings	
3		ject to section 2 (2) of Schedule 1, for filing a response to civil claim, a onse to counterclaim or a response to third party notice	25
		Application filings	
4	For	filing any one of the following:	80
	(a)	a notice of application;	
	(b)	an appointment for a hearing before a registrar or a special referee but not including a hearing, inquiry or reference under the <i>Court Order Enforcement Act</i> ;	
	(c)	a requisition for a desk order, including a requisition filed under Rule 20-6 (3);	
	(d)	a requisition for a default judgment	
5	For	setting a matter for hearing for which a fee is not payable under this Schedule	80
		fee is payable under this item to set a matter for hearing by notice of hearing etition, notice of hearing of appeal or notice of hearing of stated case	
		Other filings	
6	For filing a notice of case planning conference		80
7	For	filing a notice of trial	200
		Hearings	
8	For resetting a trial or hearing		
9	day app	each day spent in whole or in part at a hearing, unless the attendance on that is for reasons for decision only, payable by the party who files the notice of ication, appointment or other document by which the hearing was set, unless court orders payment by another party	For the first 3 days: 0 For each of the 4th to 10th days: 500 For each day over 10: 800

10	for	judgm	day spent in whole or in part at trial, unless the attendance on that day is ent only, payable by the party who files the notice of trial, unless the ers payment by another party	For the first 3 days: 0 For each of the 4th to 10th days: 500 For each day over 10: 80
			Room Rentals	1
l 1	For	rental	of examination for discovery room	100 per day
	-		Execution	
.2		_	a notice of dispute, a garnishing order, a writ of execution or a to debtor	80
			Documents	
3	For	taking	g or swearing an affidavit for use in the court unless	40
	(a)	1 -	erson swearing the affidavit does so in the course of the person's duties beace officer or as an agent or officer of the government, or	
	(b)	provi	sion is made elsewhere for a fee for that service	
14	For a search of a record, other than			8
	(a)	an ele		
	(b)	a sea	rch of a record of a proceeding by	
		(i)	a party to that proceeding,	
		(ii)	a party's lawyer, or	
		(iii)	an official reporter who, or a representative of a transcription firm that, is retained by a party to produce a transcript of the proceeding	
15	For returning by mail, fax or electronic mail the results of a search of a record, the aggregate of the following:			
	(a) fee for returning the results			10
	(b)	cost	per page faxed	1
6	For accessing, without purchase, from outside the registry, including, without limitation, viewing, printing or downloading, any document that is found by or created in response to an electronic search or request, including, without limitation, an index of cases produced in response to a search query			6
7	For accessing any document referred to in Item 16 and purchasing that document			10
18	For	conies	s, per page	1

19	For			
	(a)	a certified copy of a document		
		(i)	for 10 pages or less	40
		(ii)	for each additional page over 10 pages, per page	6
	(b)	issuing a certificate of judgment issuing a certificate of pending litigation or other certificate not otherwise provided for		40
	(c)			40
	(d)	a copy, produced by the registry, of a transcript filed within 5 years of the request, per page		4
20		For returning by mail or by fax a confirmation of filing or rejection of a document submitted by fax to a registry		

Despite anything in this Schedule, if, after consultation with the Chief Justice, the Crown enters into an agreement with a person under which the person is authorized to access one or both of registry records and specified registry services and is exempted from payment of any or all of the fees provided under Items 14, 15, 16, 17 and 18 for such access, the person may, on payment of any fee required under the agreement and on compliance with any other terms and conditions imposed by the agreement, access, during the term of the agreement, the registry records and registry services to which the agreement applies without payment of the fees from which the person is exempted under the agreement.

[Provisions of the Court Rules Act, RSBC 1996, c. 80, relevant to the enactment of this regulation: section 1]